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Definitions

B

“AUD" Australian dollar, the lawful currency of Australia

RIT] RAMGETT  RAN T HPETE B

"Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

[EZEEg] ExgEnLEe

“Board” the board of directors of our Company

Exg] ARREEE

“China” or "PRC" the People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this annual

report and for geographic reference only, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

[ ) REARANE  EgAFERERMRB2EMET - TREES RIS
ATTER R K 5 &

“Company” or “our Company"” Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd. (A& k7% S B AR 2 &), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 24
November 2014

[AR 3 [ARAF SR EEBR AR - —MER 2014 F11 A24 HRHRASHEFMAIH
BHEAR IR

"Director(s)” the director(s) of our Company

[E%] ARAIES

"GFA" gross floor area

[E7E] REMEE

“Group”, "our Group”, “the Group”, our Company and its subsidiary(ies) from time to time or where the context

“we", “us" or "our” so requires, in respect of the period before our Company became the

holding company of our present subsidiaries, the business operated by
such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)

(S [R5 ] 3 [ ARBARENKOMBAR > MHXERT  RARRKREENBE LR
EVERR A RIBTHHIR - SERZEMB AR RER S AR (RFIERME) L8
e

"HK$" the lawful currency of Hong Kong

&) BEREEEER

“"Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[&%E] PEEBRFRITTERR

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

[ b PP AR 3P £ IR £

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Definitions

B

"Listing Date”

[ EFEE]
"Listing Rules”

[ Em#RAl

"o

m

NER-N

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRLEE]

“Prospectus”

[HERE]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEZEE]

"Reporting Period”
[¥REHA ]

“"RMB" or “Renminbi” or
“Renminbi Yuan”

AR

“Shareholder(s)”
[AR =]

“Shares”
[ &7 ]

"Sq.m"

[ 755K

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 2P

IIUS$II Or IIUSDII
E

IIY/YII
(R ]

u%u

Bl 8%

12 July 2016, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings in
the Shares were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

201657 A12 B REORBRMETL A EESHE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited
ERMERHMARARES LWRA

million
Er-

the nomination committee of the Board

EXxeRYZEY

the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2016
RRFIHEA2016 6 A28 AHHERE

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExgvMERe

the twelve months ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31 HIE+ =M@ A

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of China
ARETT  PEUEEEY

shareholder(s) of the Company
ViN/NE 1 323

ordinary shares of nominal value of HK$0.00001 each in the share capital of
the Company
ANA RIS G AR E {8 0.00001 & 7T 2 & Ak

square meter

FITK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARSMABR AR

US dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America
X0 ERRETER

year-on-year

FIEhN

percent

Bk
2023FEHE SWREEEERAF



8

Company Overview

NEE

The Group is a leading happy living service provider nationwide, and is
based on people's full range of life scenes and the entire life cycle of
real estate, and provides a wide range of services that are strongly
associated with life, which include four types of services, namely
property services, community living services, consulting services and
technology services, and provide our residents with access to a broad
portfolio of products and services that address the evolving daily needs
of our customers, property owners and residents.

OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES PORTFOLIO

J Property services. We provide a range of high quality property
management services, such as security, cleaning, gardening, and
repair and maintenance services, which we refer to collectively as
“standard” property management services, and charge the
residents and owners of our managed properties or real estate
developers management fees for such services. As at 31
December 2023, we managed properties located in 204 cities
across 30 provinces, direct-controlled municipalities and
autonomous regions across China with a total managed GFA
reached 448.4 million sgq m. which covers high-end residential,
government public construction, commercial office buildings,
urban complex.

° Consulting services. We offer consulting services to real estate
developers and local property management companies to
address various needs that arise during each major stage
throughout the course of their property development projects,
capitalizing on our brand equity and expertise. For example, we
provide real estate developers with project planning, design
management, construction management and marketing
management consulting services during the design and
development stages and display unit management services to
facilitate sales of their developed projects. We also provide
management consulting services with respect to delivered
properties to real estate developers and property management
companies.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Company Overview

NEHE

Community living services. Based on the needs of the property
owners’ full range of life scene, we provide property owners and
residents of our managed communities with access to an
extensive array of daily necessities complemented by a wide
assortment of life-style products and services through a variety of
channels. Our services under this segment include community
products and services, home living services, community space
services, property asset management services, cultural &
education services. As the needs of our property owners and
residents for better living have been evolving, on the basis of
innovation and promotion of traditional service, we will continue
to use the mobile Internet and the smart community portal, offer
a wider range of services and products to satisfy the customers,
and combine online and offline service, to broaden and
accelerate the flow of life services.

Technology services. Centering on the digitalization of services,
we have built all-round platform products and intelligent property
products for government, future communities, and property
enterprises. From the early stage of planning and design, smart
hardware construction to the development and operation of
digital system, technology services provide customers with
intelligent, inclusive and affordable integrated solutions, and
help customers in digital transformation. Technology services are
an important infrastructure to build the differentiated product
system of the Group, break the bottleneck of efficiency, and help
the Group achieve the strategic goal of being the most valuable
and happy living service provider in China.

BERRSE - RABEREFINERFER
LRENFR BRZBRREANBRMAEE
AROXEREFPEHSERTLEY
FRMSEREERERNRY - BR
R B EERERLRE - RELER
B EREERYE NMEEEETER
B XEHBERE - EEXINERS
FHMEEMITENEERE  &EE
BT EREERBOER L -
MEEEERBEHEMRPEETSHEA
A #RE SRR 4R 5 & A AR 75 A E m 2R
mMEERP RAKRLETHEaMIN A
BAMIEAERIBREZER o

MERS - HPEEREHBFE B
BT RRME - MECEFITERE
FoEMMRESWEEM - KAHRE
RE - BEREMRRIBF RGN
BREZ MERGAEFREHES .
BE BEN-RBEBRIR BAIT
FPH#FHER - M REEEENEE
EZRNERBER  WRMEME B
AEEERTPEZABEZRERRS
S B IR E R AR R

2023FEHE SWREEEERAA
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Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

mERE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%®TT AREFTT ARETT ARETR
Revenue WA 8,581,932 10,105,646 12,566,131 14,856,343 17,393,272
+-% /W% 27.9% 17.8% 24.3% 18.2% 17.1%
Gross profit EH 1,547,109 1,922,834 2,330,526 2,401,953 2,913,386
+/-% /B % 29.2% 24.3% 21.2% 3.1% 21.3%
Profit for the year FAFH 472,359 740,657 890,444 631,423 716,130
Net profit attributable to equity A FIERIRE
shareholders of the Company FE(EFF)E 477,405 710,414 846,275 547,501 605,374
+/-% #mmD % -1.2% 48.8% 19.1% -35.3% 10.6%
Earnings per share, (RMB) after ~ _FTi{& &R & T
listing (ARE) 0.17 0.23 0.26 0.17 0.19
% of overall revenue BB A RER
by service line
— Property services — MRS 63.5% 63.6% 61.8% 63.6% 63.8%
— Community living services — BERH 22.3% 20.0% 20.8% 19.2% 20.5%
— Consulting services — FHRTS 14.2% 14.9% 15.6% 13.9% 13.2%
— Technology services — BB TS - 1.5% 1.8% 3.3% 2.5%
Overall revenue FLTON 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Profitability =
Gross margin by service line REKEPNENE
— Property services — MERS 11.4% 12.8% 12.5% 12.1% 13.0%
— Community living services — B=R% 27.1% 25.4% 25.7% 20.8% 21.5%
— Consulting services — FHRRE 33.6% 32.6% 30.0% 22.7% 23.4%
— Technology services — BB RH - 64.6% 42.8% 40.9% 38.7%
Gross margin — overall EFE —qapz 18.0% 19.0% 18.5% 16.2% 16.8%
Net profit margin® FRERO 5.6% 7.0% 6.7% 4.3% 4.1%

(

Company divided by revenue.

i) Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity shareholders of the 0}

2023FEHE SWREEEERAF
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Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE12B3MBLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETR
PROFIT OR LOSS B
Revenue — by service line WA — REHK
Property services L 5,452,031 6,428,756 7,769,559 9,446,258 11,101,501
+/-% B,/ H % 22.2% 17.9% 20.9% 21.6% 17.5%
Community products and B I 2 im R RS
services 541,543 651,798 958,686 1,138,251 1,272,004
+/-% i m % 123.9% 20.4% 18.8% 18.7% 11.7%
Home living services KIE R RS 116,239 147,241 193,517 256,420 547,453
+/-% BH,/ Hd % 37.7% 26.7% 31.4% 32.5% 113.5%
Community space services B [ 2= fE AR 7% 203,726 194,632 223,971 249,788 280,635
+/-% B2,/ md % -10.9% -4.5% 15.1% 11.5% 12.3%
Property asset management MEEEEERY
services 859,568 711,076 779,142 661,700 777,642
+/-% /B % 19.5% -17.3% 9.6% -15.1% 17.5%
Cultural & education services LB RS 191,675 316,840 460,367 547,740 690,827
+/-% 0w % 436.3% 65.3% 45.3% 19.0% 26.1%
Community living services BRH% 1,912,751 2,021,587 2,836,485 2,853,899 3,568,561
+/-% =i,/ md % 46.0% 57% 30.3% 9.1% 25.0%
Property under construction YR
services 983,283 1,189,722 1,598,010 1,821,093 2,020,899
+/-% 2,/ m % 24.8% 21.0% 34.3% 14.0% 11.0%
% of total revenue of consulting 158 RIS AAA %
services 80.8% 79.3% 81.5% 88.1% 88.0%
Management consulting B AR
services 233,867 310,167 362,077 245,703 274,357
+/-% i,/ mL % 54.1% 32.6% 16.7% -32.1% 11.7%
% of total revenue of consulting 1578 RIS LA A %
services 19.2% 20.7% 18.5% 11.9% 12.0%
Consulting services AR 1,217,150 1,499,889 1,960,087 2,066,796 2,295,256
+/-% B,/ md % 29.6% 23.2% 30.7% 5.4% 11.1%
Technology services BRI - 155,414 220,802 489,390 427,954
+/-% 20, W % - - 42.1% 121.6% -12.6%

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12831HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARETR

OPERATING DATA BEYE
Property services LES RS
Total nos of contracts EERAH 1,454 1,759 2,132 2,630 3,105
+/- #m/ ma 218 305 373 498 475
+/-% o,/ mA % 17.6% 21.0% 21.2% 23.4% 18.1%
Reserved GFAs (m sq.m) REOR(BELHXK) 2332 284.3 347.7 379.0 371.6
+/- #hn/m 411 51.1 634 31.3 -7.4
+-% % 21.4% 21.9% 22.3% 9.0% -1.95%
Managed GFAs (m sq.m) EEEE(BEEEXK) 2124 250.5 304.1 384.1 448.4
+/- I - 420 38.1 536 80.0 64.3
+/-% o,/ mA % 24.6% 24.6% 21.4% 26.3% 16.7%
Terminated GFAs (m sq.m) BEER(BBEAK) 8.4 73 11.0 14.1 38.8
+/-% B/ Ed % -26.3% -13.1% 50.7% 28.2% 175.2%
% of managed GFAs in the year {FEFHEERE% 4.0% 2.9% 3.6% 3.7% 8.7%
Avg property service fee TOMERBE
(RMB/month/sq.m) (AR% 84
BEAXK) 315 3.20 3.21 3.20 3.24
+/-% o,/ H % 0% 1.6% 0.3% -0.3% 1.3%

0BFERE GHREEEERAT 13



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

FINANCIAL POSITION B i AR SR
As at 31 December
M12A31R
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 ~ RMB’000
17 AREBTT AREBTT ARBTT AR®TT AR®T:H
Current assets MEEE 5,204,290 8,609,335 9,278,237 10,840,595 12,111,712
Including: (2=
Cash & cash equivalents B4 RIRLZEY 2,641,334 4,437,192 4,306,619 4,183,381 4,530,836
Trade & other receivables & 5 & H v fE Utk 1,841,458 1,990,178 3,054,668 4,610,396 5,044,833
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,317,147 4,469,459 5,096,514 6,013,097 5,969,957
Total assets BEE 8,521,437 13,078,794 14,374,751 16,853,692 18,081,669
Current liabilities mENBE 4,149,275 4,685,813 5,788,719 7,387,474 8,557,525
Including: BE:
Bank loans RITER 46,822 6,000 5,205 124,294 267,406
Lease liabilities HEAE 148,832 163,730 184,745 257,762 287,750
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 1,418,113 1,280,938 1,215,770 1,590,075 1,298,940
Including: (2=
Bank loans RITER 435,992 140,456 147,282 186,638 23,018
Lease liabilities AEaE 833,395 1,037,449 965,593 1,257,608 1,129,962
Total liabilities HweE 5,567,388 5,966,751 7,004,489 8,977,549 9,856,465
Net assets BEE 2,954,049 7,112,043 7,370,262 7,876,143 8,225,204
Financial ratios B gL =
Current ratio BN &R 1.25x 1.84x 1.60x 1.47x 1.42x
Quick ratio REpLL & 1.17x 1.76x 1.53x 1.39x 1.19x
Net gearing ratio FEEARE Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash
FEE FERE FHRE FRE Fhe
Net cash per share BRERS 0.95 0.96 0.93 0.73 0.88
Rates of return Ik
Dividend per share (HK$), T ERIEE
after listing (#7T) 0.075 0.120 0.160 0.100 0.150
Special dividend (HK$) FRIRE (BT) - 0.080 0.040 - -
Return on net equity Py ey I B (@) 16.2% 10.0% 11.5% 6.9% 7.4%
Return on total assets BEER K (5) 5.6% 5.4% 5.9% 3.2% 3.3%

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

Notes:

Net gearing ratio is calculated as cash and cash equivalents minus bank loans and
lease liabilities, and then divided by net assets

Net cash per share is calculated as cash and cash equivalents minus bank loans and
lease liabilities, then divided by total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December
2023

This is based on total number of Shares issued as at 31 December 2023: 3,194,113,627
Shares

Return on net equity is calculated as net profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company divided by net assets

Return on total assets is calculated as profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company divided by total assets

f

FEERBEXRAENARURSRESSEMRE
RITERRAERE  AEBRIVFEE
ERFESNAEHNEARUR S RESSEYR A
RITERREEEE REKRUAN2023F12A831
A B #ITERE

R E N N2023F 12 A31H 2 AT A B
3,194,113,627 &

R R R E AT E AR AR R s R R
PR AFEE

HE E R ET E AR AR R s IR A6
BARERE

2023FEHE SWREEEERAF
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Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOW

RERERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE12B3MBLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%®TT AREFTT ARETT ARETR
Net cash generated from KEEBMERSFE
operating activities 919,439 1,315,994 1,018,706 695,276 1,436,072
Net cash generated from/ REEZBME/
(used in) investing activities (FrR)IRe =4 (601,689)  (2,264,312) (301,513) (140,769) (377,530)
Net cash (used in)/generated MEEH (A,
from financing activities 3R e 5 152,501 2,977,020 (778,692) (720,423) (717,246)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash & RIS HEY
and cash equivalents #EEE/CRd) 470,251 2,028,702 (61,499) (165,916) 341,296
Cash & cash equivalents at the FHHEERBESEEY
beginning of the year 2,180,021 2,641,334 4,437,192 4,306,619 4,183,381
Effect of foreign exchange EXEHTE
rate changes (8,938) (232,844) (69,074) 42,678 6,159
Cash & cash equivalents at FERESRELSEEY
the end of the year 2,641,334 4,437,192 4,306,619 4,183,381 4,530,836
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Awards and Honors

RIENRE

2023 China’s Top100 Property Service Enterprises 2023 China Property Service quality leading Enterprises
2023 P EIY¥ERB HBEREE 2023 P EIY¥ERBEEELLE

2023 Top100 High-quality Service Property 2023 Top100 Brand Influential Property Management
Management Companies in China Companies in China

2023 P EIXBRERE H BRI 2023 R EI¥ K m hE

2 PINEE: Wit

2023 Independent Operative Leading Companies in 2023 China’s high-end Property Service power
Property Service Top20 Enterprises
2023 PEMETSICAREELHE 2023 PEI & m Y AR D Top20 3
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Awards and Honors

RIENRE

2023 China residential Property Service power
2023 Top10 Companies in City Service Enterprises Top20 Enterprises
2023 1 B YD 35 7 BR A 2 % Top10 2023 FEE W ERT 1 Top20 £

2023 Top10 Companies in IFM-Facility Management 2023 China Park Property Service in Top20 Enterprises
2023 FE IFM &R iEEE % Top10 2023 HEIEE YR S Top20 i3

2023 China Office Property Service power 2023 Top10 Companies in Industrial Park
Top20 Enterprises Property Service
2023 PEIH DAY EIRIE D Top20 B3 2023 P EIEXEEYXRBEHETop10
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Chairman’s Statement

ER|E

EMOEAIRR

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the report of annual results of
the Group for the year 2023.

Over the last year, the Company has undergone significant reform,
tackled challenges head-on and made comprehensive strides forward.
Driven by our idealism, we remain committed to high quality
development. With our investors’ support and understanding, we
remain steadfast and pragmatic, sparing no effort for more certainty in
our foundation.

Notwithstanding the times and value reshaping in the industry, we
remain steadfast with our belief in the industry’s enduring high growth
potential and boundless opportunities. As people’s aspirations for a
better life continue to grow, the government has strengthened the
innovation in the management of community grassroots. In the process
of urban renewal and the development of infrastructure leaves more
room for growth. Diversified and qualitative needs “coincide” with our
products, because providing high-quality integrated life service scene
is the core track which we have long explored and laid out.

We have a broad prospect and are determined to practice self-
discipline. Requirements of our Shareholders for the Company’s
business performance, expectation of our employees for the
Company's prospects for development, property owners’ desires for a
better lifestyle inspire our dedication and our customers’ demand for
win-win cooperation drives our business, which are the criteria of the
Company in the development of business, service and business
refinement.

AAERREZEREANF0BFEEF

BEN—FRARRESE  LHEMLE  2E
BN —F  RAAEEBERNEE IS
BEZRAIR ERUREENSIFEIEMR
T AL - W BN - RERTENEAR
TEHS -

BERRRREE  TEEEEL  BRMAK
ARBETEBHRE TR L EEME
B AMERFERSESELR  BFtRE
EBRIEMBIEREILS - W EEAR
RIGERERNZRETEEAX - 2T - BE
B RERMMER[TRME ] AREH
SEEN—BLAERBSSERRMFAR
REMBOROLEE

BTRANAE EE2EBERECHEE -
BREEEERNER - BTHERBROM
0 REHRFEENBEUARERPHHER
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Chairman’s Statement

ER|E

"Setting sail with anticipation, arriving with performance”
We return to the essence of lean operations. To ensure the quality of
operations with more streamlined management actions, through a
series of special actions such as the open competition mechanism,
Double Ten Action, and performance assistance, the continuous
improvement of a number of key business indicators has been
achieved; improve management efficiency with more comprehensive
digital transformation, continuous improvement of per capita efficiency
through a series of organizational optimization, such as upgrading the
digital organization, promoting the streamlining of the organization,
and transferring talents to the business circulation; plan the talent pool
with a longer term perspective, through the Huangpu New sharp plan
to focus on those with great potential, the Touyan project to
strengthen the “waist”, the Linhang plan to grasp the "head”, in order
to realize echelon construction, while through the Tianzi project, star
dormitory and other related food and housing improvement measures
to continue to improve the stability rate and satisfaction rate of the
frontline employees, so as to achieve talent self-sufficiency in the
Company.

"Setting sail with aspiration, arriving with satisfaction”

We return to the essence of quality service, and support more refined
systems for easier interaction between property owners and the
Company. Upon disclosure of contact telephone numbers of managers
at all levels and comprehensive upgrade of the chairman’s email, the
95059-customer service hotline and 3-15 National Property Owners
Conference, the response time for the reported issues and the
complaint resolution has decreased, with a timely completion rate of
97.2% and a complaint rate of 1.2% per thousand households. We
adopted more authentic feedback to drive timely improvements for
services. The Company has transitioned from surveys on multiple
platforms to an integrated customer evaluation system for customers’
feedback collection in improving quality and efficiency aspects, the
Saiwei satisfaction score and the property fee collection rate improved
continuously. We employed more efficient digital tools to facilitate
smoother channels. We have fully employed WeCom and launched a
platform for the entire lifecycle, which enables property owners to have
better perceptions, employees to be more efficient, and organizations
to be more convenient. We focused on solid team building to cultivate
a more fertile soil for happiness. We have set up a shared governance
team with 72,000 residential committee directors as the core and
received accolades for 92 properties with revolutionary history.
Additionally, we have established a service system centered around
the elderly and children, creating child and elderly-friendly
neighborhoods and establishing 55 beautiful homes.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Chairman’s Statement

ER|E

"Setting sail with demand, arriving with trust”

We return to the essence of high-quality development, and sustain
relatively stronger momentum on our own with stronger business
capabilities. The revenue of annualised newly signed contract was
RMB4.32 billion, with 32 management parks with investment over
RMB100 million across the country. In addition, we have earned more
opportunities with more sincere attitude to cooperate and achieve
mutually beneficial results. On the one hand, we worked together with
new customers and promoted equity cooperation and strategic
cooperation for 12 and 15 times, respectively. On the other hand, we
achieved the symbiotic development with existing customers and
cooperated with a total of 7 customers whose asset value reached
RMB100 million. We also create a better life scene with more
integrated service capability and enhance market ability in community
retail, education service, health care, assets, rental and sale and other
professional sectors so as to comprehensively increase market share
and recurring purchases by customers, which enabled us to achieve
rapid growth in internal market share; making use of the innovative
oasis model featuring three service offerings including the global
platform, services at the county level and new urban services enabling
us to preliminarily achieve self-sustainability, self-operating and self-
circulation in the area.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2024, the external environment remains tremendously challenging.
The transition of the economy is still tumbling at the bottom of the
cycle. However, as the saying goes, steep mountains are also
magnificent, roaring oceans are also spectacular, in line with the main
line of continuously promoting high quality development, we will
uphold a people-oriented principle by enabling all staff to better
manage our operations in a desirable working environment, and
thereby renewing the service system; uphold a philosophy of beginning
with the previous milestones to simultaneously conduct quality
enhancement and refined operation, and thereby improving service
value; emphasize the core role of innovation by making use of digital
technologies and management innovation to achieve the renewal of
service momentums. We will put an emphasis on community living
services by focusing on quality cities, quality clients and quality
projects, with a view to facilitating the transformation of property
services to living services and urban services.
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Chairman’s Statement

ER|E

Only through hardships can we demonstrate our courage and |HEERE - HEEBER  HEERE  1B5E/K -
perseverance, only through hard work can we achieve success. In 2024, 20244 » BT RIEAE - £5EALTF - T8A
we will improve services, pursue better life and take practical actions, B > £ESTHAEIH - HRIFHEE - £ ESD
seek innovation in persistence, seek development in innovation, seek B + FEFBEL A B & o

transcendence in development and seek fundamental change in

transcendence.
Yang Zhangfa BEFRTE
Chairman of the Board BEE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEEWAM oM

The Group is a leading happy living service provider nationwide. The
main business scope covers property services, community living
services, consulting services and technology services. The Group
', and the
strategic goal of the Group is to become the most valuable happiness
service provider in China. The Group adheres to the customer-oriented
and quality-oriented service strategy, the development strategy on

always adheres to the concept of “Service Makes Life Better"

human-oriented technological synergy, the business strategy of
improving the lean operational efficiency, and adheres to the original
intention of service and service innovation. The Group will complete
the same goal with employees, grow together with the property
owners, and make progress with the society.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group achieved the
following:

Revenue

Revenue was RMB17,393.3 million. Compared with that for the year of
2022, which was RMB14,856.3 million, the growth rate on Y/Y basis
reached 17.1%.

The Group's revenue comes from four major businesses: (i) property
services; (ii) community living services; (i) consulting services ; and (iv)
technology services. During the year, (i) revenue from the property
services reached RMB11,101.5 million, accounting for 63.8% of the
Group's overall revenue. Compared with RMB9,446.3 million for the
year of 2022, there was a Y/Y growth of 17.5%; (ii) revenue from
community living services reached RMB3,568.6 million, accounting for
20.5% of the Group's overall revenue. Compared with RMB2,853.9
million for the year of 2022, there was a Y/Y growth of 25.0%; (iii)
revenue from consulting services amounted to RMB2,295.3 million,
accounting for 13.2% of the Group's overall revenue. There was a Y/Y
growth of 11.1% compared with RMB2,066.8 million for the year of
2022; and (iv) revenue from technology services amounted to RMB428.0
million, accounting for 2.5% of the Group’s overall revenue,
representing a decrease of 12.6% from RMB489.4 million for the year of
2022.

AEEE2EER LA EREERGRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WM AT

2023 2022
% of % of
the total the total
RMB'000 revenue RMB'000 revenue Y/Y%
ARBTR EEBA % AR¥TT YA % FREM%
Property services MER
Property services M3 RIS 11,101,501 63.8% 9,446,258 63.6% 17.5%
11,101,501 63.8% 9,446,258 63.6% 17.5%
Community living services BER®
Community products & services [&l[& 2 & F R 7% 1,272,004 7.3% 1,138,251 7.6% 11.7%
Home living services B REERE 547,453 3.1% 256,420 1.7% 113.5%
Community space services Bl % 72 A AR 1% 280,635 1.6% 249,788 1.7% 12.3%
Property asset management ¥ EBEEERE
services 777,642 4.5% 661,700 4.5% 17.5%
Cultural & education services XL #E R 690,827 4.0% 547,740 37% 26.1%
3,568,561 20.5% 2,853,899 19.2% 25.0%
Consulting services BHRE
Property under construction ~ EE¥ERE
services 2,020,899 11.6% 1,821,093 12.2% 11.0%
Management consulting A AR
services 274,357 1.6% 245,703 1.7% 11.7%
2,295,256 13.2% 206679 139% 11.1%
Technology services PR
Technology services B IR 427,954 2.5% 489,390 3.3% -12.6%
427,954 2.5% 489,390 3.3% -12.6%
17,393,272 100.0% 14856343 100.0% 17.1%
Cost of sales SHER A

During the year, the cost of sales was RMB14,479.9 million, KX - $4ERRABARE144799BE T &
representing an increase of 16.3% compared with that of RMB12,454.4 20224 & F A R 1245445 & T 12 &
million for the year of 2022, which was slightly lower than revenue  16.3% + BRER UL AL R o

growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WM AT

Gross profit margin

Gross profit reached RMB2,913.4 million, representing a growth of
21.3% compared with RMB2,402.0 million for the year of 2022. Gross
profit margin was 16.8%, increased by 0.6 percentage points compared
with 16.2% for the year of 2022, which was mainly due to the fact that
the Group continued to strengthen the cost control through a series of
measures to improve quality and efficiency.

—  Gross profit margin for property services was 13.0%, which
increased by 0.9 percentage points compared with 12.1% for the
year of 2022;

—  Gross profit margin for community living services was 21.5%,
which increased by 0.7 percentage points as compared with
20.8% for the year of 2022,

—  Gross profit margin for consulting services was 23.4%, which was
higher than 22.7% for the year of 2022 by 0.7 percentage points;
and

—  Gross profit margin for technology services was 38.7%, which
decreased by 2.2 percentage points compared with 40.9% for the
year of 2022.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB342.6 million, representing
an increase of 28.7% compared with RMB266.3 million for the year of
2022. This was mainly due to the increase in costs associated with
developing the related business of community living services, including
the increases in sales staff and venue rental costs.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses were RMB1,274.8 million, representing an
increase of 10.4% compared with RMB1,154.8 million for the year of
2022, which was lower than the growth rate of the revenue. This was
mainly because the Group continued to streamline organs and the
control of administrative logistics costs, and administrative expenses
were effectively controlled.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WM AT

Core operation profit

Core operating profit was RMB1,296.0 million, representing an increase
of 32.1% compared with RMB980.9 million for the year of 2022, which
was mainly due to the Group's effective cost control measures that
have brought about continuous improvement in the profitability of the
principal operating business.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses increased by 127.9% to RMB168.2 million
from RMB73.8 million for the year of 2022, which was mainly due to the
provisions duly made by the Group for a claim relating to a legal
proceeding. For details of the legal proceeding, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 19 July 2022, 20 October 2022, 21
March 2023 and 21 August 2023.

Other net losses

Other net losses were RMB191.3 million, representing an increase of
RMB183.0 million from RMB8.3 million in 2022, which was mainly due
to changes in the market environment, and after prudent
consideration, we increased the provision for impairment of financial
instruments and other assets, which mainly included the unrealised
losses in relation to the Company’s interest in China CVS Holdings
Limited and convertible notes issued by China CVS Holdings Limited
of a combined total of about RMB154.4 million (for relevant details of
the latest update of the Company and China CVS Holdings Limited,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 October 2022).

Net finance costs

The net finance costs during the year were RMB2.1 million, which
decreased by RMB35.1 million compared with RMB37.2 million for the
year of 2022, which was mainly due to the increase in interest income.

ZORE RIE
BEOEEeFMBAARBEI2060HE T &
2002F2FEAREIQNIAE TIERK32.1% -
FTERAEBMARNKAEREHEERT E4
BTG NS ERTT

Ha&&Epx

HEE eI B ARKE1682EHE T 82022
FErFEAREIZEEELERI2ZII% T2
RASER —IEAEFDLMP RNRETIRT
HENEE  ARBEEZEAEFDLBERFREAE
~alHEIA202257 A198 ~ 2022410 A 20
H 202393 A21H K2023F8 A21 HHYAE o

HiFEE
HEiFEEAARK19138 8T 820224
WARKBIBETLIEMARK183.08E T
FEERTHRENE L  CBEEZE - &K
fHEME M T ANAMEENEERMER
- TEBRETHENAKRRFFA China CVS
Holdings Limited # @ & China CVS Holdings
Limited /TR AT EEH KR BIREE - &
AFHARE 1544 B BT (AR FHE China CVS
Holdings Limited HHE B & 1E R FRAR
ARER2022F 10 A26 AAE) °

BE R A FEE

FR BERANFEAARB215ET &
2002F2FEAREZ2EETLHD ARE 351
A& TEEFSURAIEM -

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 Y/Y%
AR¥ET T ARBTFIT Fb %
Interest income on financial assets ABER AT ER S RS E
measured at amortised cost B A (76,263) (48,267) 58.0%
Interest expense on bank loans RITEZRRERAY 22,559 28,327 -20.4%
Interest expense on lease liabilities FEB &R B H 74,576 68,265 9.2%
Less: interest expense capitalised 2% : ERLABEREERN
into assets under B
construction (18,796) (11,090) 69.5%
Net finance costs mhE R AR 2,076 37,235 -94.4%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE MO

Share of profits/losses of associates and joint ventures
During the year, share of profit of associates amounted to RMB145.2
million, compared to that of RMB26.5 million for the year of 2022,
representing an increase of 447.9%, which was mainly attributable to
the profitability of an associate of the Group during the year.

During the year, share of losses of joint ventures amounted to RMBO.1
million, representing a Y/Y decrease of RMB2.2 million compared with
the profit of RMB2.1 million for the year of 2022, which was mainly due
to the increase of losses in certain joint ventures.

Income Tax

The income tax for the year was RMB256.1 million, which increased by
10.2% from RMB232.5 million for the year of 2022. The effective income
tax rate was 26.3%, which was in line with 26.9% for the year of 2022.
For the applicable tax rate of income tax, please refer to Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 194 to 196 of this report.

Profit before taxation
During the year, profit before taxation reached RMB%72.2 million,
which increased by 12.5% from RMB863.9 million for the year of 2022.

Profit for the year
Profit for the year was RMB716.1 million, representing an increase of
13.4% compared with RMB631.4 million for the year of 2022.

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the
year was RMB605.4 million, representing an increase of 10.6% as
compared with RMB547.5 million for the year of 2022. Such growth rate
was slower than that of core operating profit, mainly due to changes in
the market environment, and after prudent consideration, we increased
the provision for impairment of financial instruments and other assets,
which mainly includes the unrealised losses in relation to the
Company'’s interest in China CVS Holdings Limited and convertible
notes issued by China CVS Holdings Limited of a combined total of
about RMB154.4 million (for relevant details of the latest update of the
Company and China CVS Holdings Limited, please refer to the
Company'’s announcement dated 26 October 2022).

Net profit margin for the year was 4.1%, representing a decrease of 0.2
percentage points compared with 4.3% for the year of 2022.
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Liquidity, reserves and capital structure

The Group maintained good financial condition during the year. The
current assets as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB12,111.7
million, which increased by 11.7% compared with RMB10,840.6 million
as at 31 December 2022. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB4,530.8 million as at 31 December 2023, which
increased by 8.3% Y/Y compared with RMB4,183.4 million as at 31
December 2022.

Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to RMB1,436.1
million during the year, which increased by 106.5% Y/Y from RMB695.3
million for the year of 2022, mainly because we continued to strengthen
the control of repayment during the year. Net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB377.5 million, which increased by 168.1%
compared with RMB140.8 million in 2022. Net cash used in financing
activities was RMB717.2 million, down by RMB3.2 million from
RMB720.4 million in 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, long-term loans amounted to RMB23.0
million, which were mainly borrowed by certain domestic subsidiaries
of the Group from a bank for the day-to-day operational needs. The
interest rate of the bank loan ranges from 4.35% to 5.10%. As at 31
December 2023, such subsidiaries did not breach the financing
covenants.

As at 31 December 2023, the short-term loans amounted to RMB267.4
million (equivalent to approximately AUD55.2 million), which were
mainly borrowed by Montessori Academy Group Holding Pty. Ltd.
("MAG") from a bank for the day-to-day operational needs. The bank
loan bears an interest rate ranging from 4.18% to 7.53% (31 December
2022: 3.47% to 6.55%). The loans will be repayable in May 2024 and
MAG will renew the loans. Such loans are subject fulfilment of certain
financial covenants of MAG. If MAG was to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facility would become payable on demand. MAG regularly
monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 December
2023, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facility had been
breached.

As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of approximately RMB72.2 million
(31 December 2022: RMB127.1 million) were at fixed interest rates, the
remaining balances were at variable rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the debt ratio (total liabilities divided by total

assets) of the Group was 54.5%, representing an increase of 1.2
percentage points compared with 53.3% as at 31 December 2022.
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Investment properties, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2023, investment properties, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets amounted to RMB2,339.6 million,
which decreased by 1.8% Y/Y from RMB2,383.3 million as at 31
December 2022, it was mainly due to the adjustment of the related
product structure of the Group and the withdrawal of some commercial
asset operation projects.

Intangible assets

As at 31 December 2023, intangible assets amounted to RMB592.3
million, representing an increase of 12.0% compared with RMB529.0
million as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase
of intangible assets brought by the internal information technology
construction.

Trade and other receivables

As at 31 December 2023, trade and other receivables amounted to
RMBS5,113.9 million, representing an increase of 6.0% from RMB4,826.0
million as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase
in receivable balances brought about by the growth in business scale.
During the year, we also strengthened the assessment and control of
repayment and further accelerated the rate of repayment.

Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2023, trade and other payables amounted to
RMB4,873.0 million, representing an increase of 2.8% from RMB4,738.7
million as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase
in the scale of purchases due to the growth in business scale.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, lease liabilities due within one year, which
were included in current liabilities, were RMB287.8 million, representing
an increase of 11.6% from RMB257.8 million as at 31 December 2022.
The lease liabilities due after one year, which were included in long-
term lease liabilities, were RMB1,130.0 million, representing a decrease
of 10.1% compared with RMB1,257.6 million as at 31 December 2022,
which was mainly due to the adjustment of the related product
structure of the Group and the withdrawal of some commercial asset
operation projects.
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Property Services — accounting for 63.8% of total revenue,
and 49.6% of total gross profit

Property services remain the Group's largest revenue and margin
source. The Group has been mainly adopting the overall rationing
system for service charging. Based on our management experience
and cost control capability over the past 20 years, property services
provide us with stable revenue and profit, as well as good reputation,
and is the cornerstone of the Group's implementation of its living
services strategy. We will continue to strengthen our core fundamental
services of “Security”, “Maintenance”, “Environmental” and
“"Greening”, while effectively integrating the service contents of the
Group's various product lines and empowering them with technology
to drive the orderly and steady growth of this business segment.
During the year:

—  Revenue reached RMB11,101.5 million, representing an increase
of 17.5% compared with RMB9,446.3 million for the year of 2022,
which was mainly due to the steady growth of the managed GFA.

—  Gross profit reached RMB1,444.7 million, representing an
increase of 26.7% from RMB1,140.4 million for the year of 2022.

MERY — LB A63.8% HHEER
49.6%

E S TP S SN ARSI P
IR o —HEAK - NS X ZREUE 8 IR
WETH  ERRMABE20ZFREIANER
REER TP AIE BIBE S - MERBRE /R IR
KIBERWRA - MBI EEQR  TEAEHE
EEABRRGBEBENELER - HASEER
A TR~ [#ER ] [RIR] R TRIR] B
DRERRT - ANARBRE AREREMR
RBAT - B EHZOBEBHNE
Frieigk - £

— WAEFAREBII015B8E T &
02F =2F AR 4M63BE TIE K
17.5% + T ERZEEMBERTEIZ RS
AR -

—  EFEARE14447HETT  820224F
2HFEANREN11404BETIER267%

2023 2022
% of % of
property % of property % of
service managed service managed
revenue GFA revenue GFA
(EL/ES HEE {(=EZ/ES HEE
BR & WA % & % RR 7 HA % EE %
Contracted GFA EEEHNEE
under management
— Residential —fF= 70.1 79.7 71.7 80.9
— Non-residential —IEEFE=E 29.9 20.3 28.3 19.1
Total F 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
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The managed GFA reached 448.4 million sg.m, representing an
increase of 16.7% or net increase of 64.3 million sq.m compared
with 384.1 million sq.m in 2022. During the year, we have always
been quality-oriented, and have gained customers’ recognition
and support through excellent service; adhered to the strategy of
deep urban cultivation, focused on developed areas, layout core
areas and core city clusters, and fully utilize regional competitive
advantages; adhered to product innovation and service
enhancement, through the optimization of service and product
structure, industrial linkage development, continued to promote
the steady improvement of the managed GFA.

Reserved GFA, as a major source of the future managed GFA,
reached 371.6 million sgq.m during the year, representing a
decrease of 1.95% compared with 379.0 million sq.m in 2022, or a
net decrease of 7.4 million sgq.m, mainly affected by the domestic
real estate market environment, we have taken the initiative to
withdraw from some non-core cities and reserve projects with
delivery risks. Nevertheless, our reserved GFA was still very
abundant and will continue to provide a solid foundation for the
Group's future growth.

Managed projects reached 3,105, covering 204 cities in 30
provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in China.

Regional distribution: as at 31 December 2023, our managed
GFA and revenue by region were distributed as follows:

— HEEEERAMLAEETFH K 82022
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RERERELRER - HRALERRZ
DT AN EEREBEFES B
FEMBMERB N  BBRBE
mEERL EXBBNR FEED
HEEEEMRBEET -

— RAEEEERRXEEHEMNEIZR

TR FRERI371.6AEF K 0 B12022
FH379.0B B F KA TFE1.95% -
FFRDTLABEFER K - TEZBRE
MEMSRREE  BAEHIEZL
B REERXNRBROEEEEETT
FHRL - BEOL  BRMNFEEERRE
RARIEE TN - WHEEERAEERNK
R R IR ERE ALY -

— HGEEHEBER3I05ME BET 2E30

g  BEEMMEIAR K204 {EHT o

— BE S M H2023F12A831H 0 H 1M

WAEE BB AR E DM

2023 2022
% of % of % of % of
managed total managed total
GFA revenue GFA revenue
EEE 14 HEE 1548
HE% WA % EE % WA %
Greater Hangzhou AAM 16.4 35.9 16.8 34.8
— Hangzhou — Hu 11.4 32.0 12.1 30.7
— Yuhang — B 5.0 3.9 4.7 4.1
Ningbo =i 7.1 5.8 6.8 6.0
Yangtze River Delta E=A& 35.0 27.5 355 27.4
Bohai Economic Rim BB/ &7 (= 15.4 11.6 16.1 12.3
Pearl River Delta ®K=AE 9.1 5.9 8.4 6.4
Others Hi 17.0 13.3 16.4 13.1
100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
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Community living services — accounting for 20.5% of total
revenue, and 26.3% of total gross profit

Community living services offer systematic product and service
solutions for all life service scenes of property owners throughout the
life cycle of real estate. They are an extension of property services and
an important area for us to build an ideal community that integrates

“recreation”, “learning”, “joy” and “longevity” (collectively referred to
as "Four Happiness”).

During the year, the community living services revenue was RMB3,568.6
million, representing an increase of 25.0% compared with RMB2,853.9
million in 2022. Among them:

(1) Community products and services (accounting for 35.6% of the
revenue from community living services): in 2023, the revenue
reached RMB1,272.0 million, representing an increase of
11.7% Y/Y compared with RMB1,138.3 million in 2022.

Home living services (accounting for 15.3% of the revenue from
community living services): in 2023, the revenue reached
RMB547.5 million, representing an increase of 113.5% Y/Y
compared with RMB256.4 million in 2022.

Community space services (accounting for 7.9% of the revenue
from community living services): in 2023, the revenue reached
RMB280.6 million, representing an increase of 12.3% Y/Y
compared with RMB249.8 million in 2022.

Property asset management services (accounting for 21.8% of the
revenue from community living services): in 2023, the revenue
reached RMB777.6 million, representing an increase of 17.5% Y/Y
compared with RMB661.7 million in 2022.

Cultural and education services (accounting for 19.4% of the
revenue from the community living services): in 2023, the revenue
reached RMB690.8 million, representing an increase of 26.1% Y/Y
compared with RMB547.7 million in 2022.

BEER®E — 58 KA20.5%  (hBEF
26.3%
BRREEENEINDLEEGSNEHERN
AP APRERGUENERMRBEIRS
£ EMERBOLEMH EILRMBEEE(E
ge] T2 [B%E R [B%E (5 LK)
—REAHENERNTF -

FR - BERBUAZEAREIS68.6FETT
2022 F I ANRE2,853.9 A& TIE R 25.0% ©
Hep:

B2 ESMRG(EE R RS WA
35.6%) : 2023 F WA RBARKE1,27208
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2023 2022
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
A revenue YIY % WA revenue
RMB’000 1L It RMB'000 h 8%
AR¥T R % %  AREFT %
Community products and B [& & G AR
services 1,272,004 35.6 1.7 1,138,251 39.8
Home living services BREERE 547,453 15.3 113.5 256,420 9.0
Community space services & [& 2= & R 7% 280,635 7.9 12.3 249,788 8.8
Property asset management #)3 & E B 12 715
services 777,642 21.8 17.5 661,700 23.2
Cultural and education UL E RS
services 690,827 19.4 26.1 547,740 19.2
Total @t 3,568,561 100.0 25.0% 2,853,899 100.0
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In light of the needs of property owners’ daily life, the Group
continued to establish a living service platform to cater for their
practical needs of daily life based on the integration of five
ecosystems, including community retail, home living, space
service, assets operation and culture and education. During the
year, we continued to optimize our service mix, focus on core
ecosystems and enhance operation capacity based on strategic
planning and actual conditions. Of which:

Community products and services

During the year, the Group relied on the support of the
" Accessibility + Relationship” community retail system, centering
on the demand of basic living products, effectively make use of
small programs, community pre-warehouse and community
market and other carriers to stimulate the vitality of the
community direct selling system, and provide complete logistics
service solutions according to different customer needs, and
cover high-quality scenes. At the same time, the Group continues
to improve the bargaining power over the supply chain, further
shorten the middle section of the product supply chain, allow
quality products to be shipped directly from the production area/
factory to the community, promote economy of scale and
strengthen the depth of self-owned brand construction, category
expansion, continue to enhance our product competitive
advantage of our products and provide quality products and
services to the customers.
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Home living services

The Group makes use of the “Four Seasons living” home service
platform, to facilitate the integration of existing home living
service products, proprietary + business cooperation mode to
build household service system, and fixed-point teaching to
achieve business, system and operation training to ensure due
provision of the services landing. During the year, the revenue of
this segment increased rapidly as a result of the equity
cooperation in relation to Zhejiang Greentown Housing Service
System Co., Ltd* (HT 4 FE E 7% R4 AR A F)). between the
Group and Greentown Ideal Life Service Group Co., Ltd* (4738
AEERBEBARAF). in November 2022 (2022: nil). In terms
of “property services + home-based elderly care services”, the
Group continues to promote the improvement of service
operation capabilities, and initially formed three service modes,
“Chun Yue Hui"* (515 %) as the representative of the institutional
care operation, “Tao Ran Li"* (F§9A £) as the representative of the
health care community operation and the “Chun Tian Li"* (%X
) as the representative of home care operation.
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Property asset management services

Based on the service value chain and the property owners’ asset
management service needs as the starting point, the Group
deeply cultivates the community covered by property services,
builds a community asset management service system, and takes
replacement services, marketing services and asset management
(such as parking space business) as the main service products.
During the year, we adopted a multi-model expansion strategy,
such as universal brokers and pipeline distribution, focused on
advantageous projects, continued to refine management, and
improved profitability while increasing revenue through
replacement services. At the same time, we will further optimize
the business structure of parking space business, vigorously
develop the agent sales and agency operation business of
parking spaces, shift toward asset-light direction, and pay
attention to cultivating and enhancing the core competitiveness
of asset management services, so as to promote the orderly and
healthy development of the business of the division.

Cultural and education services

The Group continued to implement the multi-brand strategy in
terms of childcare services through our three brand systems:
“Wonderful Garden Daycare Center + Lezhen Daycare Center +
Montessori Academy Daycare Center”* (4 FYWE + LTHEILEE
+ B BHPRE), and through in-depth exploration of the educational
service needs of the community under management, further
optimize the service content and curriculum system, improve the
operation efficiency of the single garden, and continuously enhance
the core competitiveness of the Group’s cultural and educational
services. While continuously strengthening the operational efficiency
of self-operated childcare services, we has also steadily promoted
the cooperation with government-related asset-light projects
(Lezhen Daycare Center). During the year, MAG's businesses in
Australia remained stable and consistently grown.
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Consulting services — accounting for 13.2% of total
revenue, 18.4% of total gross profit

We continued to focus on the full life cycle of real estate, continuously
improved the growth of consulting services and strengthened core
competitive advantages of our consulting services through methods
such as the integration of quality resources, construction of a
standardized system and business innovation. During the year:

Revenue reached RMB2,295.3 million, an increase of 11.1%
compared with RMB2,066.8 million in 2022.

AR — HARA13.2%  GEEF
18.4%

AEEEREHERAGBY  BRAEEER
Ee BRECRAEZRERBAF - AR
ARRBHANEIRR - L@ ARBZOEF
BE - FR:

WARAREE22953BETT » 820224
AR 20668 BETIER11.1% °

2023 2022
Revenue % of total Y Revenue % of total
WA revenue % ON revenue
RMB'000 HHRE Rkt RMB'000 {[SEGES
ARBTR % % AREFT %
Project under construction  7EiE¥) % R
services 2,020,899 88.0 11.0 1,821,093 88.1
Management consulting  EE & ARG
services 274,357 12.0 11.7 245,703 1.9
Total et 2,295,256 100.0 1.1 2,066,796 100.0

Our gross profit increased by 14.5% to RMB536.3 million from
RMB468.6 million in 2022.

ENRARKESIAHIT  H2022F
MWARM 468.6 BE T IER14.5% -

2023 2022

No. of Average No. of Average

projects as  revenue per projectsas  revenue per

at year end project Y/Y% atyear end project

£X =21 FR BEE

HEER R 2L ON Rt % T8 A 88 FHRA

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT
Project under construction TEE¥1% k%

services 714 2,830 12.5 724 2,515
Management consulting BB IR

services 390 703 92.0 672 366
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Property Under Construction Services

Our revenue reached RMB2,020.9 million, representing an
increase of 11.0% compared with RMB1,821.1 million in 2022.
During the year, the property under construction services
continued to upgrade the entirety of its products, integrated
Four Happiness life into marketing activities, continuously
improved the comprehensive competitiveness of service, and
combined with the business service scenarios, continuously
expanded the types of property under construction services, and
extended to the enterprise front desk service, conference service,
investment exhibition hall and other business scenarios.

Management Consulting Services

Our revenue reached RMB274.4 million, representing an increase
of 11.7% compared with RMB245.7 million in 2022. During the
year, the management consulting services made breakthroughs
in the future community consulting business and new business
services, which are also effective attempt to transform from
traditional property and real estate consulting services to urban
property consulting services. Going forward, we will continue to
adhere to the principle of “removing brand dependence,
strengthening value creation, emphasizing product supply, and
realizing deep market cultivation”, and continue to implement
the strategy of deep cultivation in urban areas and the
management of the whole process of customer development.
The Group focuses on the improvement of quality and expansion
of scope of our services, while consolidating existing customers
and products, optimizing the structure of customer groups and
continuing to enrich the product core, and gradually shift from
hardware consulting services focusing on buildings and spaces,
such as the traditional property consulting and real estate
consulting, to full-scale services focusing on the creation of
lifestyle (urban services, future community, etc.), such as top-level
design, the construction of service scenes, the introduction of
service resources and operational or on-the-ground guidance.
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Technology services — 2.5% of total revenue, 5.7% of total
gross profit

Technology services play an integral part in developing the product
differentiation system of the Group, breaking the bottleneck of
efficiency, and helping the Group achieve the strategic goal of being
the most valuable and happy living service provider in China. Centering
on the digitalization of services, we have built global platform products
and intelligent property products for government’s digital governance,
futuristic communities, and property enterprises. From the preliminary
planning and design, smart hardware construction to the development
and operation of digital system, technology services provide customers
with intelligent, inclusive and affordable integrated solutions, and help
customers in digital transformation. During the year:

—  Revenue reached RMB428.0 million, representing a decrease of
12.6% compared with RMB489.4 million in 2022.

—  Gross profit reached RMB165.7 million, representing a decrease
of 17.3% compared with RMB200.4 million in 2022.

Mainly due to the impact of the domestic market and the real estate
industry environment, some of our contracted businesses have been
delayed due to the requirement of the client and other reasons. And
we have also taken the initiative to adjust the product structure
according to the market demand. In the future, we will continue to
improve the standardization of core products, enhance product
replication capabilities, optimize customer structure and other ways to
promote business development.

Technology services mainly focus on the virtualization of space and the
digitalization of services to provide customers with digital product
and service solutions, and has formed three core businesses: (1)
Shanshu intelligent property* (& £ Z%)2): which reshapes the product
ecosystem matrix with digital system, and with the intelligent system
operated by the Group over the years, it provides systematic solutions
based on the demands of property service enterprises related to
business operation management and intelligent needs; (2) Shanshu
global platform* (Z# 21 ¥F & ): which is based on the foundation of
“platform + butler + governance” system to provide government
customers with digital tools for urban basic unit governance and
services, and support the digital renewal and development of urban
and rural areas; and (3) Digital intelligence space* (E{%5%2f#): which takes
building science and technology as the core, provides customers with
Building Information Modeling (BIM) design consulting, intelligent
design, community renewal and improvement and other building
technology life cycle services and comprehensive solutions in multiple
segments, such as intelligent buildings and smart cities.
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PLEDGED ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2023, MAG has obtained a loan of AUD45.0 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB218.2 million) from a bank for its
operational needs and has secured by certain property, plant and
equipment held by it with a carrying amount of AUD118.3 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB543.5 million) as collateral.

As at 31 December 2023, a subsidiary of the Group had borrowed
RMB10.2 million from a bank for the purchase of the office building,
and has secured it by the purchased property (the carrying amount was
RMB10.8 million) as collateral.

Save as disclosed above, during the year, there was no pledged asset
of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year.

ACQUISITION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

We have always adhered to the acquisition and investment strategy of
“maintaining overall stability while focusing on synergies with existing
businesses”. At the time of investment or equity cooperation, the
Company focuses on factors such as the extent to which the target
company’s business fits the Group's business, whether the target
company can increase the Group's market shares in key regions, the
extent to which the target company contributes to the scale of the
Group, and resources that the partner may bring in the future and
other factors. At the same time, the Company pays attention to details
such as the target company’s demand for living service output, whether
it can improve the coverage density of living service of the Group, and
the consideration of an acquisition.

Next, we will focus more on the cultivation of strategic core
capabilities, focus on the main business, and strictly implement the
investment principles, including: (i) in terms of investment strategy, we
will focus on the Group’s main businesses, strengthen the management
of the operational efficiency of the target company acquired, and
facilitate the stop loss and disposal of loss-making projects; (i) in terms
of investment direction, guided by the Group’s development strategy,
while focusing on synergies with the existing businesses; (iii) in the field
of investment, the Company'’s existing business shall be the main
focus, with its new business as complementary. We will pay attention to
the investment target’s management ability, business type and regions
that are complementary with the Company; (iv) in terms of the
investment model, focus on asset-light and steady investment projects,
pay attention to the quality expansion of the Company’s business, and
invest rationally and prudently.
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We believe that high quality development is more valuable than rapid
growth. We adhere to the current investment principles, which can
make investment as the assistance to our main businesses, keeping our
business scale and efficiency at the forefront of the industry, and
helping to facilitate the building of our living services alliance, the
construction and upgrade of core business ability, in order to bring a
better contribution to the development of the Group.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
At the Board meeting held on 26 March 2024, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend for 2023 of HK$0.150
per Share (2022: HK$0.100 per Share), subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company (the
“"AGM") to be held on 21 June 2024.

The final dividend will be paid on or before 11 July 2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held by the Company on 21 June 2024 and a notice
convening the AGM will be published and/or sent to the Shareholders
in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(@) For the purpose of determining the qualification of the
Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 18 June 2024 to 21
June 2024, both days inclusive. In order to qualify to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates are required to be lodged with the
Company'’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 June 2024.
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(b)  For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend (subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
AGM), the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 27 June 2024 to 28 June 2024, both days inclusive. In order
to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
unregistered holders of Shares are required to lodge all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates with
the Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 26 June 2024.

MAJOR LITIGATION RISK

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 19
July 2022, 20 October 2022, 21 March 2023 and 21 August 2023 (the
“Announcements”) in relation to the legal proceedings (the “Legal
Proceedings”) involving Greentown Real Estate Consulting Co., Ltd*
(W EEZ#HEEBR A ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. On 21 August 2023, the Group received a judgment from
the Shanghai High People’s Court* (/8 = & A RJERT) in relation
to the Legal Proceedings, the case no. being “(2023)J8 & #4265 ",
which stated that the appeal filed by the Company was dismissed and
the first instance judgment shall be upheld. The Legal Proceedings did
not have a significant impact on the development of the Group's core
operating business. At present, the Legal Proceedings is in the process
of litigation enforcement procedure and the Group has made
provisions, where appropriate, for what may be required for the
settlement of the Legal Proceedings.

As at the date of this report, to the knowledge of the Directors, other
than the above, there are no other outstanding or material legal
proceedings or claims would materially affect the normal operations of
the Group.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The Group conducts substantially all of its business in Mainland China,
with most of the transactions conducted in Renminbi. Therefore, the
Group is exposed to limited foreign currency exchange rate risk.
During the year, the Group has not employed any financial instruments
for hedging purposes or engaged in any forward foreign exchange
contracts for foreign exchange risk hedging purposes. As the business
of MAG, a subsidiary of the Company, is conducted primarily in
Australian dollars, the depreciation or appreciation of the Australian
dollar and the adjustment of interest rates will have an impact on the
Group's performance. The Group will continue to closely monitor its
exposure to exchange rate and interest rate risks and actively explore
foreign exchange hedging options with major banks, and may employ
derivative financial instruments to hedge against risks when necessary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has made provisions, where appropriate, for what may be
required for the settlement of the Legal Proceedings.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

TREASURY POLICY

To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group's
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group has established its human resources policies and systems to
provide a wide range of training and personal development
programmes to its employees. The remuneration package offered to
the staff is in line with the duties and the prevailing market terms.
Discretionary bonuses based on individual performance will be paid to
employees and options will be granted as recognition of and reward
for their contributions. Staff benefits, including pension, medical
coverage, and provident funds are also provided to employees of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 46,023 employees,
representing an increase of 3.43% compared with the year of 2022.The
total staff cost was RMB5,816.9 million, representing an increase of
14.9% compared with RMB5,064.5 million in 2022. This was mainly
because of the increase in staff costs brought by the equity
cooperation between the Group and Beijing Cinda Yue Life Service
Co., Ltd* (At Rz & U £ & BRI B R 2 7)) in June 2022 that were
reflected during the year. Meanwhile, the growth rate of total staff cost
was slower than the growth rate of revenue, and the salary cost was
effectively controlled.
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OBJECTIVES

Transparency in corporate information forms part of the basis for
investors’ confidence towards listed company, though it is also the
responsibility of a public company. The Company believes that a
stable, diversified Shareholders base in which communication is
effective, is essential to facilitate Shareholders value creation and
stabilize share price performance, and is also a valuable intangible
asset for the Company. Investor relation is the important bridge of two-
way communication between Shareholders, investment institutions and
the public at one end, whilst that of listed company at the other.
Externally, in compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company provides
regular, real- time, accurate and complete information and updates.
This facilitates Shareholders and the public alike to understand the
Company’s operation and value, as well as the status of business
development. Should this be well co-ordinated, this should contribute
to the establishment of a long term and mutual relationship between
the Company, Shareholders and the public. In the meantime, the
Company is able to make known of its corporate culture, business
philosophy, strategy and planning, as well as industry changes. This
would enable investors and the public to appreciate the Company'’s
positioning in the industry, business model and competitive
advantages, differentiating the Company from the peers further.
Internally, the Company takes the Shareholders’ and the public’s
independent and valuable opinion seriously, the Company would listen
and consider their views, aiming to enhance the corporate governance.

CAPITAL MARKET RECOGNITION

Since the Listing in 2016, the Company has been researching diligently
on the capital markets and its expectation towards the Company.
Through various communication channels, the Company has built
effective and two-way relationships with shareholders, investors, fund
managers and analysts, other related parties in the capital markets and
the public. The Company is very honoured to receive many
recognitions in the capital market in the past year:

— In the last year, the Company became the subject of the reports
prepared by 27 domestic and international brokers.
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MAJOR COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

1.

Brokers and investment banks organized investor marketing
activities

Reverse roadshows — regularly invite investors to visit our
headquarters and communities we manage to conduct onsite
research

Twice a year results announcement and public briefing

Marketing activities organized by brokers and
investment banks

The Company has participated in various roadshows and
conferences organized by brokers and investment banks in China,
met with a large number of investment institutions, and actively
maintained communication with the market. The Company is
pleased to interact with the investors and keep them informed of
the business development. During the year, the Company met
with 594 investors in total (including repeated visits) through
conference calls or face to face communication.

TEBRBERE

1.

HZE RITHEBN R EREAERLRY

RAEE — EREHHBREAKREE
BE - REERRE RN

FEMANEERGE
ZE RITASNSEERTES

RAZRZMFEMEITEBEFE AN
BERAMANE BXENRERER
| REBETMIGRAESE  FFREEHR
BREARR  BRAREBHRRBRLE
FILEAN FA - AAHFTESMUAR
MIREBEA(BREELEMN) BBEFEX
RER

Date Organizer Events Venue
EE: aEE f £ 1t B
1/M CGS 4th Annual China Property Management Virtual Corporate Day ~ Online
EayBll:l= FUEATEYEEECEA R
111 UBS Greater China Conference Online
HiiR RPEES R
4/26 Huatai Spring Conference Shanghai
FRES EERBE &
5/1 Huaan Interim Capital Market Summit 2023 Online
ERES 2023 FHHBEATISES gL
6/7 Dongwu Interim Summit 2023 Shanghai
RRE RHIRE S &
6/13 CicC Interim Summit 2023 Shanghai
ik N hHIRE S &
6/28 CITI Citi's Asia Pacific Property Conference 2023 Hong Kong
TEIE T TARPHERES BB
773 UBS APAC Property Conference 2023 Hong Kong
IR 2023 P HAR IR ® B
9/7 HUAAN Online
ELES ERITR R
11/7 CITl Citi's China Investor Conference 2023 Shenzhen
b{3)-YNC] 03 FEEFAREES el
11/9 HUATAI China Investment Conference 2024 Beijing
ERES 024 FEREES sl
11716 cicc CCIC ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY CONFERENCE 2023 Beijing
ik /N MRS — P2 AR FERERKS bR
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Reverse Roadshow and Open Day — regularly invite 2. REABEMBEKRBES — THHE
shareholders and investors to visit our headquarters BRER BREARGEAZREEEE
and communities we manage
During the year, the Company held various Open-Day activities FRN - REZRBRAMBIEE )
and proactively conducted reverse roadshows, inviting investors, AERMAEEBELE  BEREA ES
fund managers, and analysts to visit our headquarters as well as IR MR RAFIREREEE
communities under our management to conduct onsite research. REHWAFER  NFEBAHBEEART
It is an opportunity to showcase our various services and BRAAFNSEER  THEREE
operation openly to capital market, and follow up with 175 & ° ECOVID-19% 16 & £ 2023
management discussion. Due to the impact of COVID-19 2F - RAE|—HEBT 20 RERES -
epidemic, the Company organized 24 on-site visits in total
throughout 2023.
No. of reverse roadshows
R EHE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
No. of activities FEEIE 64 36 28 M 24
No. of visitors 2IMAB 135 83 115 15 157
Twice a year results announcement and public briefing 3. SFMXIEERHD
The two results announcements followed by briefing conducted BEMREBENENERNEHSEHL
in the financial year, are great opportunities for the Company to EENKE  BRAANMAKENRRFMIKZ
meet with a large number of shareholders and investors, EARE BENWESMER - AT
discussing business and prospects directly. Therefore the NEEREBMF AN B DT A E
Company actively engages, with great detail, in presenting our BEEIER URNEEKENESLS
core as well as the four service business lines. The impact is W BB REE
noticeable.
Investment report from brokers and investment banks 4. 5B - BRIVRERS

The Company is honoured to be recognized by the capital
market. In 2023, the Company received 62 reports.

RARRRE BREAMEE

2023 » REHABEFHRBHORE 62

{/'\ °
The main items are presented as follows: FEE25MT

NO. Brokers Rating
#H R

1 CITI buy
{3 SE] BA

2 CIcC outperform
kAN R AT

3 Goldman Sachs buy
= B A

4 HSBC buy
EEEE BEA
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NO. Brokers Rating
et} FPAR
5 Everbright Securities buy
TR BA
6 CMB International Capital Corp Ltd buy
REREI R gEA
7 BOC International Holdings Ltd. buy
hEREI R BA
8 Industrial Securities outperform
SR B AT
9 Huatai buy
ERTRIER BEA
10 SWS Research buy
HEZRIR BA
(N China Securities Co., Ltd. buy
PIEREIR BA
12 Zhongtai buy
TR EE BA
13 Dongwu buy
RRME gEA
14 Guangfa buy
EE% BA
15 Guotai Security (Hong Kong) buy
BZEE % EUN
16 Morgan Stanley hold
JEEAR £ FHA) H
17 DBS Bank hold
ERIRTT S
18 JP Morgan neural
AR KB Bt
19 Haitong International Research Ltd neural
BB Bt
20 UBS neural
I R it
21 Merril Lynch neural
EIRFEM it
22 CITIC Securities Co Ltd hold
hIEES A
5. Improvement of Roadshows Information BKEERME

Every roadshow represents a valuable opportunity for the
Company to communicate with the investors. Thus, the Company
strives to optimize investors education through various methods
including result presentation and corporate video. The Company
revises the presentation regularly and on-time, with reference to
the feedback from the investors, and the demand of the investors
at different stage.
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Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhangfa ({8 %7£), aged 52, has been an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company (“CEO") since 27
November 2015. He was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board
and ceased to be the chief executive officer of the Company with
effect from 23 March 2018. Mr. Yang has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Board on 30 December 2021, he is responsible for
making decisions for material operational matters, participating in
Board decisions and implementing the resolutions of the Board. Mr.
Yang joined our Group in February 2002 and has served in various
positions in Greentown Property Management Service Group Co., Ltd*
(EERIR M E RIS S B HBR A F)) ("Greentown Property Management”),
including the assistant to general manager from April 2002 to March
2003, the vice general manager from March 2003 to February 2008, the
executive vice general manager from February 2008 to January 2009,
the executive general manager from January 2009 to February 2011,
the general manager from February 2011 to March 2018 and the
chairman of its board of directors since May 2019.

In addition, Mr. Yang currently holds directorship in various subsidiaries
of our Company.

Mr. Yang is the vice president of China Property Management
Association* (P Bl ¥ B IR D), vice president of Zhejiang Real Estate
Industry Association* (/L& FEX &), vice president of Zhejiang
Property Management Association* (M TAWEEEHE), and
president of Hangzhou Property Management Association ({1 M #13
BB E). He graduated from Zhejiang University (/T K2) in
Hangzhou, the PRC and Hunan University (#iF A2 in Changsha, the
PRC majoring in real estate development and management, and
business administration, respectively. He has also attended study tours
at The Wharton Business School of the University of Pennsylvania in the
United States and The University of Tokyo in Japan.

=

HITES
BEEKE 525 H2015F 11 A27HE A
PMITEERARATHRAE ([TTHRAR] - &
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Ms. Jin Keli (£8LE), aged 41, served as the CEO since 21 June 2021,
and has been appointed as an executive Director since 1 February
2022. She joined the Group in May 2006, and held various positions in
the Group, including the secretary to chairman and director of the
general manager’s office of Greentown Property Management from
May 2007 to January 2012, an administrative director of the
Administrative Management Center of Greentown Property
Management from January 2012 to January 2014, and the executive
general manager of Zhejiang Xinhu Lvcheng Property Service Co. Ltd.*
CHIESRAI Y 2 RS AR A 7)) from January 2014 to July 2017. She
also worked as the assistant president, vice president and president of
Greentown Property Management from February 2015 to July 2017,
August 2017 to March 2018, and since March 2018 respectively. Ms. Jin
served as the chief operating officer ("COO") of the Company and the
chief financial officer (“CFO") of the Company from 23 March 2018 to 1
February 2022 and 21 June 2021 to 1 February 2022, respectively. She
has also served as a non-executive director of Zhong Ao Home Group
Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1538) since 17 July 2020.

In addition, Ms. Jin currently holds certain positions in various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Jin is the first deputy chief member of the Community Life
(FEMEE
), the vice president of Zhejiang Property Management
("HIEMEEEWE"), a member of the Hangzhou
Property Industry Association Committee of the Communist Party of
China* (FEMMTMETENRSZE ), a publicity member of
Hangzhou Xihu District Property Management Association Committee
of the Communist Party of China* (F MR EER NG EE
&) and the president of Hangzhou Xihu District Property Management
Association* (/T EHR Y EEIRIH ).

Committee of China Property Management Association*
B

Association

Ms. Jin was awarded as the “2023 Annual CEO of Top 10 China
Property Management”, the “Model Woman of Hangzhou in 2020"
and the "Excellent Alumni of China University of Political Science and
Law* (FEIBUEKRE) in 2019” respectively. She was qualified as the
by the
Department of Housing and Real Estate of the Ministry of
(R EMEEMEHESF) and “Property Manager” by
Zhejiang Provincial Human Resources and Social Security Bureau* (7

TEANNMEREERER).

“National Property Management Enterprise Manager”

Construction*

Ms. Jin graduated from China University of Political Science and Law in
July 2006 with a bachelor’'s degree majoring in philosophy, and
obtained her MBA degree from China Europe International Business
School* (FFEREIER T &%) in November 2018.
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Mr. Chen Hao (BR’#%), aged 54, has been our executive Director since
27 November 2015. He joined our Group in May 2015 as a vice general
manager and is primarily responsible for the management of
community products and services of the Group. He has been a director
of Greentown Property Management since November 2015 and a
director of Zhejiang Twin Cities Network Company Limited since April
2015. He is also the director of Ningbo Yule Investment Co. Ltd. (the
joint venture of the Group) since August 2018 and holds the director
position in MAG since July 2019. Mr. Chen studied in Jiangsu Xinhai
Senior High School (I8 &) (formerly known as Jiangsu Xinhai
Secondary School (T#RHT/EH £2)).

In addition, Mr. Chen currently holds directorship in various subsidiaries
of our Company.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shou Bainian (E#H£), aged 70, has been our non-executive
Director since 27 November 2015, and is responsible for providing
guidance and supervision regarding the business and operation of our
Group. Mr. Shou became an indirect holder of equity interests in
Greentown Property Management in September 2000. He worked as
the vice executive chairman and the general manager of Greentown
Property Group Co., Ltd.* (& EHEEEBR AR (being the wholly-
owned subsidiary of Greentown China Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3900)) from April 1998 to
March 2015 and was primarily responsible for its overall business
operation and financial management. He is the director of Greentown
Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* (4t 1T EHR A 7)) (“Greentown
Holdings"”) since January 2002 and is primarily responsible for its
overall business operation and financial management. He also served
as the executive director of Greentown China Holdings Limited from
July 2006 to April 2018.

Mr. Shou is qualified as a senior economist (S AXALERD) in enterprise
operation and management by Zhejiang Province Human Resources
and Social Security Department* (#T,T& A W E R E{REEE). Mr.
Shou graduated from Hangzhou University* ({11 X22) in Zhejiang
Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s degree majoring in history.
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Ms. Xia Yibo (E—i¥), aged 61, has been our non-executive Director
since 27 November 2015, and is responsible for providing guidance
and supervision regarding the business and operation of our Group.
Ms. Xia became an indirect holder of equity interests in Greentown
Property Management in September 2002. Ms. Xia was the chairlady of
Hangzhou Greentown Decorating and Design Co., Ltd. (TuNARSREE &
FBRETAMR A F]) from September 1996 to August 2002. Ms. Xia has been
serving as the director of Greentown Holdings since September 2002
and is now the chairman of this company.

Ms. Xia graduated from the Department of Chinese of Zhejiang Radio
and Television University (i T EEEIRZKE) in Zhejiang Province, the
PRC.

Ms. Li Hairong (Z=i8%§), aged 66, was our sole Director from the date
of the incorporation of our Company until 26 November 2015 and was
re-designated as our chairman and executive Director on 27 November
2015. Ms. Li resigned as the Chairman and was re-designated as a non-
executive Director on 30 December 2021. From June 1997 to
September 1998, Ms. Li held various positions in Greentown Property
Group Co., Ltd.* (S EHESE AR A F]), including being its vice
general manager, executive vice general manager and executive
general manager. She joined our Group in October 1998 and has been
responsible for the development strategy and strategic planning of our
Group as well as on making decisions for material operational matters.
Ms. Li was the chairman of Greentown Property Management from
October 1998 to March 2018, and was also its general manager from
October 1998 to February 2011, where she was primarily responsible
for its overall management and daily operation. She also served as the
executive general manager of Greentown Holdings from January 2006
to October 2015.

Ms. Li graduated from the Department of Basic Specialized Training for
Party and Government Officials* (ZE B2 # F AL Z(EHR]) of Zhejiang
Radio and Television University* (M TEHEERKNZE) in Zhejiang
Province, the PRC.
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Mr. Liu Xingwei (2|#&), aged 41, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director on 28 March 2023. He graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology (%88 T3 A in July 2006 with a bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering, and received a master's degree in
engineering from Harbin Institute of Technology ("8 f/E T K2 in
July 2008. From July 2008 to May 2010, Mr. Liu worked at China
Resources Land (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (EEEE (&) HBR2AF]). Mr. Liu
joined Longfor Group Holdings Limited (RE/8 % BEIE[% B R A al)
("Longfor Group”, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 960) in May 2010, and served as the general
manager of Shenyang Longfor Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (&%
EHEERREARAQR) from July 2018 to April 2021. He further
served as the vice president of Longfor Group from January 2021 to
September 2021. Since September 2021, Mr. Liu has been serving as
senior vice president of Longfor Group and the chief executive officer
of Longfor Property Services Group Limited (BEii¥1 % RGEEBR A
Al). Mr. Liu obtained the structural engineering engineer qualification
certificate issued by the Human Resources and Social Security
Department of Liaoning Province (BEEE A W BRI RIERE) in
December 2017.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (& El), aged 62, has been our independent
non-executive Director since 12 July 2016. He is responsible for
supervising and providing independent opinions to the Board. He has
over 30 years of experience in regulatory affairs, listed company
corporate finance, companies governance. He is an executive director,
vice president and company secretary of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336), whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange. He currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of the following companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange: Sany Heavy Equipment International Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 631), AUX International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2080), Sunac China Holdings Limited (stock code:
1918), Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (stock code:
2362) and China Isotope & Radiation Corporation (stock code: 1763).

Mr. Poon was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1292),
Yankuang Energy Group Company Limited (stock code: 1171), Yuanda
China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2789) and Honghua Group
Limited (stock code: 196), all listed on the Stock Exchange, from
September 2011 to June 2023, June 2017 to June 2023, April 2011 to
September 2023 and June 2017 to December 2021, respectively.
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Mr. Poon graduated from City University of Hong Kong with his
bachelor's degree of arts majoring in business studies in December
1994 and from the same university with his master’'s degree of Arts in
International Accounting in November 1997. He also obtained his
bachelor’s degree majoring in laws from University of Wolverhampton
in the United Kingdom in October 2004 and a postgraduate diploma in
laws from University of London in December 2010, respectively. He is a
fellow of CPA Australia, the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute, The Chartered Governance Institute, and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute, and a member of the Canadian
Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum.

Mr. Wong Ka Yi (E&H), aged 49, has been our independent non-
executive Director since 12 July 2016. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent opinions to our Board. Mr. Wong Ka Yi
currently serves as an investor director of Amoeba Capital Advisors
Limited. He is a licensed person to conduct type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO"). He was a director and investment director of Regent Capital
Management Limited from March 2019 to September 2021, a director
and investment director of HX Innovation Capital Management Co.
Limited from October 2017 to February 2019, a director and investment
director of China Metamorphosis Investment Limited from June 2017
to October 2017. He was a managing director of Fundatech Capital
Limited from February 2015 to May 2018, worked as a portfolio
manager in HT Capital Management Limited and Munsun Asset
Management (Asia) Limited. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst
recognized by the CFA Institute. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor's degree
in Economics from The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Li Feng (Z[), aged 65, has been our independent non-executive
Director since 5 December 2017, and he has years of rich experience in
property management industry. He served as the general manager of
Shanghai Donghu Property Management Co., Ltd. (L/85 A EEE
BRAR]) from February 2002 to February 2023. He also served as
management in Honggiao State Guest Hotel Shanghai (/84 f8:0E
£E), Dongjiao State Guest Hotel (228 £8) and Shanghai Lilac Garden
Hotel ()8 T BIEEEHE).
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Mr. Li was awarded as the Leader of the 25th anniversary of the Trade
Association of Shanghai Property Management (/8T ¥ ¥ & B1T¥
g25 AT RFREEEAY) in 2019, the outstanding Entrepreneur of
2018 Shanghai Modern Service Industry (20184 /@R R EES
%), Person of the Year of 2015 in Property Management Industry
(2015 EEBITEFEAY) in 2015, Shanghai Brand Strategy
Implementation of 20 Years Influential 50 People (/874 h2 8RS & 1620
FHFE50 A) in 2014, Shanghai World Expo Advanced Individual (-
HHEEE#EMA) in 2010 and China's Economy 100 Outstanding
Figures (R BIALZ B B H A YD) in 2003. Mr. Li was qualified as a senior
economist by Shanghai Accreditation Committee for the Qualifications
of Senior Professional and Technical Positions Majoring in Commercial
and Industrial in the Economic Field (/8 MAE RS T BE X R R
EERNBBERERETZEE). He was also qualified as a Shanghai
government procurement review expert (/8T B RETEER). He
graduated from Shanghai University (/8 X2) in Shanghai, the PRC
with a master’s degree majoring in management engineering.

Mr. Jia Shenghua (B4 %), aged 62, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2023. He is currently a
professor and a tutor of doctoral students of the School of
Management of Zhejiang University* (I KXZ). He worked at
Northwest Agricultural University* (FEdE R ARE) from July 1989 to
February 1995, where he was engaged in teaching and research of land
economic management. He has joined Zhejiang University since March
1995. Mr. Jia is currently also a standing director of the Global Chinese
Real Estate Congress* (tE 2 AT B EZ ).

In addition to the working experience above, Mr. Jia is currently an
independent non-executive director of Greentown China Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3900), as
well as an independent director of each of Hangzhou Binjiang Real
Estate Co., Ltd.* (MBI EHERHDBRAF], a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002244)), Nandu Property
Services Group Co., Ltd.* (FI#EMZERGEE RN BRAF], a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603506)) and
Guangyu Group Co., Ltd.* (BEF&E RN BRAF], a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002133)). Moreover, Mr.
Jia served as an independent non-executive director of Dexin Services
Group Limited (B{=iRI5EEBR AR, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2215)) from June 2021 to April 2023.

Mr. Jia obtained his bachelor’s degree in agricultural economics and
management from the Northwest A&F University* (FA3L 2 ZFT) in the
PRC in July 1983 and his doctor’s degree in agricultural economics and
management from the Northwest Agricultural University in the PRC in
July 1989.
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Senior Management
For details of Ms. Jin Keli (£%I28), please refer to the sub-section
headed “"— Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Xia Yun (EE), aged 44, has been appointed as the CFO on 1
February 2022. He is responsible for the financial and accounting affairs
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in February 2022, Mr. Xia
worked as an auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian Certified
Public Accountants (General Limited Partnership)* (= kEHR K5
B EBATEHREBA ) from August 2002 to December 2002. From
September 2003 to August 2005, he served as the financial manager of
Zhonglianyuntong Holdings Group Co. Ltd.* (FHHEEZEREBEGR A
Al) (formerly known as Shenzhen United International Shipping Agency
Co. Ltd.* (RYIE: & BB AA AR IZHBR A R)). He joined China Resources
Group in February 2006 and held various positions, such as the deputy
manager of property financial management in Shenzhen region and
the deputy manager of asset management of the property
management department of South China region of China Resources
Land Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1109), and a financial director, general manager
of financial department and assistant general manager in China
Resources Property Service Co., LTD. (currently named as Runying
Property Technology Service Co., Ltd.* (BRI ZEEHERIEBRAR)), is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services
Limited ("China Resources Mixc”, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1209)). As of January 2022, he
served as the deputy general manager of the finance department of
China Resources Mixc.

Mr. Xia graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics
(L8B4 KE) in Shanghai, China in July 2002 and obtained a
bachelor’s degree in economics majoring in taxation and a bachelor’s
degree in management with the second major in accounting.

Ms. Xu Yaping (fRZE5), aged 44, is now our Chief Marketing Officer,
she is now responsible for market development of our Group. Ms. Xu
joined the Group in October 1998, she is now vice president of
Greentown Property Service Company Limited. She has held various
positions of the Group, including being vice general manager of
Greentown Real Estate Consulting Group Company Limited* (4k35 5 i
EfRASEARAE]) (formerly known as Zhejiang Greentown Real
Estate Consulting Group Company Limited* (#1474 B = A S E
AR F]). She has also been the general manager of Greentown Real
Estate Consulting Group Company Limited from January 2013 to May
2022. Ms. Xu graduated from the Program of Marketing of Hangzhou
Commercial School* (i) £2Ft) in Hangzhou City, the PRC and
obtained a master degree in international real estate from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University* (782 T KZ) in 2018.
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Report of Directors

EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in the provision of residential
property management services in the PRC, which includes four types of
services: property services, consulting services, community living
service and technology services. An analysis of the principal activities
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 133 to 134 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.150
per Share (2022: HK$0.100 per Share) for the year ended 31 December
2023. The final dividend is subject to the approval of Shareholders at
the AGM to be held on 21 June 2024 and will be paid on or before 11
July 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 28 June 2024.

No Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend during the
year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend is the embodiment of the operational capability of the
Company, which is also a commitment to share the results of the
Company'’s growth with all Shareholders. The payment and the amount
of dividends (if any) depend on our results of operation, cash flows,
financial position, future prospects, and other factors that we may
consider relevant. Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company
disclosed in the Prospectus, and combined with the payments of the
dividends after Listing, we intend to pay dividends in the amount of
not less than 25% of our profit after tax for each year. Annual dividend
is subject to the approval of general meeting of shareholders. The
payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the laws
of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong and the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, a discussion on the Group's future
business development and an analysis of the Group’s performance
during the Reporting Period using key financial performance indicators
are contained in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 23
to 42 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has been working on sustainable development and
environmental protection. We spare no effort in making the most out
of resources in our business. Laws and regulations in terms of
environment and health are strictly complied with. Meanwhile, the
Group holds various activities to promote environmental protection in
our business. Our goal is to educate proprietors and all walks of life on
creating a green city for the future.

The Group has completed its 2023 environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2023
and the requirements under the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. The ESG
report of the Company for 2023 will be published at the same time as
the publication of this annual report on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.lvchengfuwu.
com).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group clearly understands the importance of regulatory
compliance and the risk of non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. To the best of the Board's knowledge, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2023, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years are set out on pages 11 to 16 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the sales revenue from the five
largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 10% of the
Group's total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 20% of the Group's
total purchases.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 31(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 31(d) to the
consolidated financial statements and pages 137 to 138 of this annual
report under the section headed “Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity”.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution (including share premium, share option reserve and
retained earnings of the Company), amounted to approximately
RMB3,374,375,000 (31 December 2022: RMB3,956,274,000).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of bank loans was RMB290.4
million. Save as disclosed above, the Group had no bank loans. The
Group is flush with cash.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman)

Ms. Jin Keli

Mr. Chen Hao

Mr. Wu Zhihua (Resigned on 10 February 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shou Bainian

Ms. Xia Yibo

Ms. Li Hairong

Mr. Liu Xingwei (Appointed on 28 March 2023)
Mr. Zeng Yiming (Resigned on 28 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023)
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Jin Keli,
Mr. Shou Bainian, Ms. Li Hairong and Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok shall retire
by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
Company's circular to the Shareholders dated 26 April 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 47 to 54 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent throughout the year ended
31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which is renewable automatically
for successive terms subject to termination as provided in the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years, which may be renewable automatically subject to
both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract or an appointment letter
with the Company which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or entity connected
with the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management, having regard to the Group's operating
results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted an emolument policy that combines a fixed
compensation mechanism with a long-acting share option scheme. For
details, please refer to the sections headed "EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES” and the “Share Option Schemes” of this
annual report.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 7 and 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in note 5(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The main business of the Company is conducted in China, and for this
purpose, in accordance with the applicable Chinese laws, we
participate in a social insurance plan (including pension insurance) (the
"Social Security Plan”) organized by the Chinese government. Under
the Social Security Plan, both employers and employees are required
to make contributions at a specified rate by relevant laws and
regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group also participated in pension or
similar plans for all its eligible overseas employees in accordance with
local laws: (i) the Group participated in the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF") Scheme for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong, and
contribution was made by each of the employer and the employee to
the scheme at 5% of the employee’s monthly income and the
maximum total contribution is HK$3,000 per month; (ii) the Group
participated in the Super Guarantee plan for its eligible employees in
Australia, and contribution was made by the Group to the plan at a
certain percentage of the employee’s monthly income in accordance
with the relevant rules and the Super Guarantee rate increased by 0.5
percentage points to 11% during the year; and (iii) the Group
participated in the Pension Plan for its qualifying employees in
Indonesia, and contributions were made by both the employer and the
employee to the plan at a certain rate subject to the maximum
contribution limit as specified by the relevant rules.
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Under the above plans, the Company may not use the forfeited
contributions to reduce the existing contribution level.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THEIR INFORMATION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 10
February 2023. As a result of personal health reasons, Mr. Wu
Zhihua (REZE), resigned as an executive Director, and an authorised
representative of the Company (the “Authorised Representative”)
with effect from 10 February 2023. On the same day, Ms. Jin Keli
(2% ) was appointed as an Authorised Representative.

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated
28 March 2023. Mr. Zeng Yiming (&) resigned as a non-executive
Director due to work adjustment and Mr. Liu Xingwei (£ £ {Z) ("Mr.
Liu”) was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 28
March 2023. The Company entered into an appointment letter with Mr.
Liu in relation to his appointment as a non-executive Director for a
term of three years commencing on 28 March 2023 and subject to
automatic renewal upon expiry, unless otherwise agreed in accordance
with the appointment letter. Mr. Liu was eligible and was re-elected as
a non-executive Director at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 16 June 2023.
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Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated
29 May 2023. With effect from 1 June 2023, (i) Ms. Wu Aiping (R &%)
resigned as an independent non-executive Director, and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee due to her desire to devote more time to her
personal affairs; and (i) Mr. Jia Shenghua (B 4 #E) (“Mr. Jia”) was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. The Company entered into an
appointment letter with Mr. Jia in relation to his appointment as an
independent non-executive Director for a term of three years
commencing on 1 June 2023 and subject to automatic renewal upon
expiry, unless otherwise agreed in accordance with the appointment
letter. Mr. Jia was eligible and was re-elected as an independent non-
executive Director at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 16 June 2023.

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (%), an independent non-executive Director,
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of China
Isotope & Radiation Corporation (the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1763) on 30 June 2023, and resigned as
an independent non-executive director of each of Yankuang Energy
Group Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1171) and Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics
Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1292) on 30 June 2023, and resigned as an independent non-
executive director of Yuanda China Holdings Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2789) on 9
September 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors confirmed that no other

information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

(i) Interests in Shares
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Number of
underlying
Shares held
pursuant
to the share Approximate
Number of options granted percentage of Long
Shares (other under the share shareholding position/
than pursuant option scheme in the Short
Name of Director/ Capacity/ to equity adopted on Company position/
Chief Executive Note Nature of interest derivatives) 25 May 2018 (%) Lending pool
BER2018 F
5 25 A &4
ROBE NERETERLN RAERD T
B2/ (fkERE BREATHRENE HOBREI N e/ %R/
ERTHABRS Wi 56/ ButE FTET AR BRGEHE (%) THREHNREG
Ms. Li Hairong (5)  Interest of controlled 423,868,339 - 13.27 Long position
BRIt corporation it
B EEER
(6)  Interest of spouse 28,000,000 - 0.88 Long position
[ HE
(7)  Beneficial interest - 800,000 0.03 Long position
EnfEn (underlying e
Shares under
the share options)
(BREETHHRE
kiH#E)
Mr. Yang Zhangfa (8)  Beneficial interest 60,000,000 - 1.88 Long position
BEEEE Balkn 59}
©)  Beneficial interest - 3,520,000 0.1 Long position
BafEn (underlying e
Shares under
the share options)
(BiREET MR
RiH#E)
Ms. Jin Keli (10)  Beneficial interest 4,240,000 - 0.13 Long position
PRERT Balkn He
(11)  Beneficial interest - 4,060,000 0.13 Long position
BaiEs (underlying e
Shares under
the share options)
(BREET MR
BinEE)
Mr. Chen Hao (12)  Beneficial interest - 1,350,000 0.04 Long position
BT e BalEs (underlying i)
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Notes:

Mr. Shou Bainian holds all issued shares in Lily International Investment
Company Limited (“Lily International Investment”), which holds 39% of the
issued shares in Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited (“Orchid
Garden Investment”).

Ms. Xia Yibo holds all issued shares in Shenalan International Investment
Company Limited (“ShenaLan International Investment”), which holds 21%
of the issued shares in Orchid Garden Investment. Ms. Xia Yibo is the spouse
of Mr. Song Weiping. Therefore, Ms. Xia Yibo is deemed to be interested in
the Shares which Mr. Song Weiping is interested in. Mr. Song Weiping holds
all issued shares in Osmanthus Garden Investment Company Limited
(“Osmanthus Garden Investment”), which holds 40% of the issued shares in
Orchid Garden Investment.

Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan
International Investment are indirectly interested in the Shares through
Orchid Garden Investment. Therefore, Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily
International Investment and Shenalan International Investment are deemed
to be parties acting in concert.

As such, Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo, together
with their respective holding companies (being Osmanthus Garden
Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan International
Investment), are all deemed to be interested in the Shares directly held by
Orchid Garden Investment (being 1,020,000,000 Shares).

Mr. Song Weiping, being the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo, holds all issued shares
in Delta House Limited. Accordingly, Mr. Song Weiping is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Delta House Limited (being 3,500,000 Shares
in total). Ms. Xia Yibo is also deemed to be interested in such Shares.

Ms. Li Hairong holds all issued shares of Lilac International Investment
Company Limited (“Lilac International Investment”). Accordingly, Ms. Li
Hairong is deemed to be interested in the Shares directly held by Lilac
International Investment (being 423,868,339 Shares).

Ms. Li Hairong is the spouse of Mr. Ju Jianhua. Therefore, Ms. Li Hairong is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. Ju Jianhua is interested in.
Mr. Ju Jianhua is one of the grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Award
Scheme (as detailed in the Prospectus) and is beneficially interested in the
Shares.

Ms. Li Hairong is the holder of the share options.

Mr. Yang Zhangfa is a beneficial owner of the Shares.

Mr. Yang Zhangfa is the holder of the share options.

Ms. Jin Keli is a beneficial owner of the Shares.

Ms. Jin Keli is the holder of the share options.

Mr. Chen Hao is the holder of the share options.
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Interests in associated corporations

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by

means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their

spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the

FERRRRS R EBEKREG A
BmRAR

M2023F12A31H > REZMA > TIAL
(XFFEEHARAHZEHITHRAR) R HAE
RAR A0 o 7 A IR IBCRE 5 R B B 15 1) 3 XV #B
F2NIDHEARRRRKELEELRNRAR
AR 75 M ERG)E B IRETHFZ
BRMAZEEIAE

SFO:

Approximate

Percentage of Long

Shareholding position/

in the short

Capacity/Nature Number of Company position/

Name of Shareholder of Interest Shares (%) Lending pool
RAQEH

BARR Be/ KR/

RREAEB 513 ERME RO EE B (%) AHERNRS

Orchid Garden Beneficial interest 1,020,000,000 31.93 Long position

Investment Note D (1) Emgn )

Osmanthus Garden Interest of a controlled corporation  1,020,000,000 31.93 Long position

Investment Notes 1 21 -2) ZEfEEER )

Delta House Beneficial interest 3,500,000 0.1 Long position

Limited MNete 20%2) Emgn )

Mr. Song Weiping MNetes 1.2 Interest of a controlled corporation  1,023,500,000 32.04 Long position

REFRENED REFEBER R

Lily International Interest of a controlled corporation  1,020,000,000 31.93 Long position

Investment Notes 1. 9 HIEE - 3) ZERHEE R )

Ms. Yao Huanjing MNete4 Interest of spouse 1,020,000,000 31.93 Long position

i E 2 £ e [T g R

Shenalan International Interest of controlled corporation 1,020,000,000 31.93 Long position

Investment Notes 19 (11 - 5) ZERfEEER )

Lilac International Beneficial interest 423,868,339 13.27 Long position

Investment (Note 6) (FitzE6)

B
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Approximate
Percentage of Long
Shareholding position/
in the short
Capacity/Nature Number of Company position/
Name of Shareholder of Interest Shares (%) Lending pool
REXFN
BAR BR/ KR/
BRREE, B8 5/ EEHE ROBE BO(%) ATHEHBRG
Mr. Ju Jianhua (Netes7.8) Interest of spouse 424,668,339 13.30 Long position
B A e L E 1R
Beneficial interest 28,000,000 0.88 Long position
Enigs Sy
Longfor Group Holdings Ltd. MNete? Interest of controlled corporation 294,674,363 9.23 Long position
BENEEERAR AR M REFERER 1B
Yiheng Capital, LLC Note? Beneficial interest 163,381,816 5.12 Long position
v {ER-VNUER Enigs Sy
Notes: MiEE

m

Orchid Garden Investment is owned as to 40.0%, 39.0% and 21.0% by Osmanthus
Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan International
Investment, respectively.

Given Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan
International Investment are indirectly interested in the Shares through Orchid
Garden Investment. Therefore, Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International
Investment and Shenalan International Investment are deemed to be parties acting
in concert.

As such, Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan
International Investment (together with their respective sole shareholders, being Mr.
Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo, respectively), are all deemed to
be interested in the Shares directly held by Orchid Garden Investment (being
1,020,000,000 Shares).

Each of Osmanthus Garden Investment and Delta House Limited is wholly-owned
by Mr. Song Weiping. Mr. Song Weiping is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Osmanthus Garden Investment and Delta House Limited for the purpose of
Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Song Weiping is the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo.

Lily International Investment is wholly-owned by Mr. Shou Bainian. Mr. Shou Bainian
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Lily International Investment for
the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Yao Huanjing is the spouse of Mr. Shou Bainian. Therefore, Ms. Yao Huanjing is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. Shou Bainian is interested in.

Shenalan International Investment is wholly-owned by Ms. Xia Yibo. Ms. Xia Yibo is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shenalan International Investment.
Ms. Xia Yibo is the spouse of Mr. Song Weiping.
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Lilac International Investment is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Hairong. Ms. Li Hairong is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Lilac International Investment for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO (being 423,848,339 Shares in total).

Mr. Ju Jianhua is the spouse of Ms. Li Hairong. Therefore, Mr. Ju Jianhua is deemed
to be interested in the Shares which Ms. Li Hairong is interested in.

Mr. Ju Jianhua is one of the grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (as
detailed in the Prospectus) and is beneficially interested in the Shares.

The information disclosed is based on information provided on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of
the Directors, they were not aware of any persons (who were not
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or

short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered

in the register referred to therein.

Share Option Scheme

M

2018 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 May 2018
(the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) which was terminated on 16
June 2023. Please refer to the circulars of the Company dated 24
April 2018 and 26 April 2023 for details.

The purpose of the 2018 Share Option Scheme is to provide the
people and the parties who are working for the interests of the
Group an opportunity to obtain an equity interest in the
Company, thus aligning their interest with the interests of the
Group and thereby providing them with an incentive to work
better for the interests of the Group.

Under the 2018 Share Option Scheme, the employees of the
Group (including Directors and senior management) and such
other persons as the Board may consider appropriate may be
granted options which entitle them to subscribe for Shares
representing, when aggregated with any Shares subject to any
other scheme(s) of the Company, up to a maximum of 10% of the
Shares in issue of the Company as of 25 May 2018, unless the
Company obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders to
renew the said limit or the Shareholders specifically approve the
grant.

Pursuant to the 2018 Share Option Scheme, the amount payable
by a grantee on acceptance of a grant of the option is HK$1.00 (or
its equivalent in RMB or any other currency acceptable to the
Company).

() Lilac International Investment 1 2=/ 88 22 + & &
B EHFRHERIDEXVHmE  TEELL
18 A7 Lilac International Investment Ff 5 8 #9 %
PR (B4 $£423,868,339 B ik (7))

(7)) EBREAEDNTERLIMNEME - Bt WEEEL
ERRARAF TR L EARRNRN T EAE

o

©  EEREEERSBERAMBENRNEBTH(FER
REE)MER —RERA  YEREFZZRD ©

9) FITit 58 & ) 2 E R B 22 BT 48k (www.hkexnews.hk) BT
REMERMEL o

B EXCPRIREEE SN - 2023 F 12 A31H » #t
EEMA MECHEMAL(LFEERA
RARBITBABR) RO LAAREBRDFHEE
RIBCEF R E 1R GIDSE XV#B2E 2 K2 377 #F A
THE - HABLINES LIE RG] 336
{RATd ) B e M A 2 e SOA R ©
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(1) 2018 FEHERETE
RAFIF20184F 5 A 25 BN B AR HE AT
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The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted and to be granted pursuant
to the 2018 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company to each participant in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant of the options must
not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any further
grant of options which would result in the number of the Shares
issued as aforesaid exceeding the said 1% limit must be
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting at which such
participant and his or her associates must abstain from voting.

Any grant of share options to a participant who is a Director, chief
executive, or substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associate must be approved by the independent
non-executive Directors, excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the grantee of the share options.

The exercise periods of the share options may be specified by
the Company at the time of the grant, and the share options shall
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of the grant.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
11 September 2018. On 11 September 2018, the Company
granted a total of 133,500,000 share options to certain Directors
and employees, subject to acceptance by the grantees. Since
some of the grantees are no longer eligible participants or do
not meet the issuing conditions, 33,419,375 share options have
automatically lapsed in accordance with the rules of the 2018
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
23 January 2020. On 23 January 2020, the Company granted a
total of 33,150,000 share options to an associate of an
independent non-executive Director, a senior management of
the Company, as well as certain employees of the Group, subject
to acceptance by the grantees. Since some of the grantees are
no longer eligible participants or do not meet the issuing
conditions, 10,011,900 share options have automatically lapsed in
accordance with the rules of the 2018 Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
14 September 2020. On 14 September 2020, the Company
granted a total of 25,770,000 share options to an associate of an
independent non-executive Director and certain employees of
the Group, subject to acceptance by the grantees. Since some of
the grantees are no longer eligible participants or do not meet
the issuing conditions, 5,990,100 share options have automatically
lapsed in accordance with the rules of the 2018 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
26 July 2021. On 26 July 2021, the Company granted a total of
33,130,200 share options to certain Directors, senior management
of the Comapny and certain employees of the Group, subject to
acceptance by the grantees. Since some of the grantees are no
longer eligible participants or do not meet the issuing conditions,
9,880,200 share options have automatically lapsed in accordance
with the rules of the 2018 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
8 December 2022. On 8 December 2022, the Company granted a
total of 41,464,500 share options to certain Directors, senior
management of the Company and employees of the Group,
subject to acceptance of the grantees. Since some of the
grantees are no longer eligible participants or do not meet the
issuing conditions, 5,620,800 share options have automatically
lapsed in accordance with the rules of the 2018 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Each of the share option granted under the 2018 Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance objectives as set out in the respective offer letters,
including but not limited to the respective job objectives as
determined by the Group, and subject to a waiting period of 12
months from the date on which the grantee has achieved the
length of service in the Group.

The vesting period is 3 years from the expiry date of the waiting
period under the 2018 Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2018
Share Option Scheme is 151,697,400 Shares (representing
approximately 4.7% of the issued share capital of the Company
as of the date of this annual report (i.e. 3,194,113,627 Shares)).
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As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total number of
Shares available for grant under the 2018 Share Option Scheme
were 10,762,900 Shares and nil respectively.

The subscription price for the Shares under the 2018 Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and notified to a participant, provided that such price
shall be at least and the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of offer of a share option which must be a trading day; and
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five consecutive trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer.

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a Black-Scholes model.
Reference is made to note 28(a) to the financial statements.
Regard to the subjectivity and uncertainty of the values of options
to the effect that such values are subject to a number of
assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the model.

The 2018 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 16 June 2023.
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2023 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 16 June 2023
(the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) to replace the 2018 Share
Option Scheme. For details, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 26 April 2023.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to replace the
2018 Share Option Scheme and to enable the Company to grant
share options to the selected Eligible Participants (as defined
below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the development and long-term growth of the
Group.

Under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the employees of the
Group (including the Directors and the senior management) and
Related Entity Participants (as defined under the Listing Rules)
(the "Eligible Participants”) may be granted options which
entitle them to subscribe for Shares representing, when
aggregated with any Shares, up to a maximum of 10% of the
Shares in issue as at 16 June 2023, unless the Company obtains a
fresh approval from the Shareholders to renew the said limit or
the Shareholders specifically approve the grant.

Unless approved by the Shareholders at the general meeting, the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
share options (whether exercised or outstanding) together with
all other options and awards granted under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company in any
12-month period to each grantee must not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue.

Insofar and for so long as the Listing Rules so require, no share
option may be granted to any substantial Shareholder or
independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective
associates or any person whose associate is a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director), which
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all share options and other options and awards already
granted (excluding those lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme) to such person under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
and any other scheme(s) of the Company in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of the grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the number of Shares in issue, unless
such further grant is approved by the Shareholders at the general
meeting.
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Where any share option is proposed to be granted to an Eligible
Participant who is a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates,
it must first be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors or, if required by the Listing Rules, the Remuneration
Committee (excluding any Director who is or whose associate is
the Eligible Participant to whom the share option is proposed to
be granted or is himself/herself an associate of such Eligible
Participant).

The exercise periods of the share options may be specified by
the Company at the time of the grant, and the share options shall
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of the grant.

Each of the share option granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance targets as set out in the respective offer letters and
the share option shall be held for a minimum vesting period of 12
months. The Board has the discretion to accelerate the vesting
schedule of the share options, subject to compliance of the
requirements under the 2023 Share Option Scheme and Rule
17.03F of the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

Each grantee shall accept the offer within the period specified in
the offer letter. The Group has not provided any financial
assistance to the grantees to facilitate the purchase of Shares
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price under the 2023 Share Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and
notified to a participant, provided that such price shall be at least
and the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of a
share option which must be a trading day; and (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme will expire on 15 June 2033 and
the remaining life of the scheme is around 9 years and 2 months.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2023
Share Option Scheme is 323,237,962 Shares (representing
approximately 10.1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as of the date of this annual report (i.e. 3,194,113,627 Shares)).
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As at 31 December 2023, there were no share options granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total number of
share options available for grant under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme were nil and 323,237,962 respectively.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total number of
outstanding share options under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
was nil.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under all share option schemes of the Company
(including the 2018 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme) during the Report Period divided by the
weighted average number of the Shares in issue for the Reporting
Period is 14.8%.

202312 A31 8 + 20234 B8 AR 5t &
AT BB ERE - 176 - &
BRI -

72023F 1818 K2023F 128318 -
A AR #2023 G B AR AE R 81 1% ) 1 B AR 4
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Details of the share options granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled  RELZE 2023412 A31 BILEE - 1RIE20184F
in accordance with the 2018 Share Option Scheme during the year BEREZIEZHY - 2178 SR N D TH

ended 31 December 2023 are as follows: HEBRRHERF B R TI0T -
The
weighted
average
closing price
immediately ~ Closing price
No. of Share No. of Share before the ~ of the Shares
Options ~ No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share Options exercise  immediately
Outstanding Options Options Options Options  Outstanding date of the before
atthe Granted ~ Exercised ~ Cancelled Lapsed atthe Period during which Exercise share  the date
Beginning during during during during End of Share Options are Price per options of grant
of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year Date of Grant Exercisable Share (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
H2EERE ROERE
fikEH  RhEH
£ £ £ £R £f £X ZAfmE P i
HAGRE  BREN  BARN  BEEN  BAWM  HAGREN BROKE TFHUTE LG
Name of Grantee BEARS BREZR BREXR BREYA BREHE BREME EREHE RUEH URRERENIR (#7) (%7 (#r)
Director iz
Ms. Li Hairong FERRT 800,000 - - - - 800,000 11 September 2018 From 11 September 2019 to 6116 - 606
018598 11A 10 September 2028149
N9F9A118%
ABEIR10BI
Mr. Yang Zhangfa BEERE 2,020,000 - - - - 2020000 11 September2018  From 11 September 201910 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028727
N9F9A118%
ABEIR10BI
500,000 - - - - 500,000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94
A1ETAA 25 July 2031128
NNEFIRBAE
WNETRBAIS
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 8 December 2022 From 8 December 2023 to 5.580 - 510
NN E12R8R 7 December 2032127
NBF12A8AF
NRF12R7802
Ms. Jin Kel SMERT 1,810,000 - - - - 1810000 11 September2018  From 11 September 201910 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028727
N95F9A118%
08%F9A 1081
2,250,000 - - - - 2250000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94
A1ETAA 25 July 2031128
N02FTAWAZ

W3NETRBRI
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The
weighted
average
closing price
immediately ~ Closing price

No. of Share No. of Share before the o the Shares
Options  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share Options exercise  immediately
Outstanding Options Options Options Options  Outstanding date of the before
atthe Granted ~ Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed atthe Period during which Exercise share  the date
Beginning during during during during End of Share Options are Price per options of grant
of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year Date of Grant Exercisable Share (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
H2EERE ROERE
fikEH  RHEH
£ £ £ £R £f £X ZAfmE P i
HAGRE  BREN  BAEN  BEEN  BAMWM  HAGRN BROKE TFHUTE LG
Name of Grantee BEARS BREZR BREXR BREYA BREHE BREME EREHE RUEH UARERENER (#7) (%7 (r)
Mr. Chen Hao AR 850,000 - - - - 850,000 11 September 2018 From 11 September 201910 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028+
N9F9ANAZ
NBEIA0E

500,000 - - - - 500,000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94

A1ETAA 25 July 2031128

N2FTAWAZ

NNETRBRI

Subtotal It 9,730,000 - - - - 9730,0000
Connected Person BEAL

Ms. Lv Hanyao BN 210,000 - - - - 210,000 23 January 2020 From 23 January 2021 o 9.214 - 9.3
NNF1A3A 22 January 203044
WNEIABAE
WNETRNA
320,000 - - - - 320000 14 September 2020 From 14 September 2021 to 9.30 - 9.09
NNF9R14A 13 September 2030129
NNEIAURE

N0F9R13R12

Subtotal gt 530000 - - - - 530,000
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The
weighted
average
closing price
immediately ~ Closing price
No. of Share No. of Share before the o the Shares
Options ~ No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share Options exercise  immediately
Outstanding Options Options Options Options  Outstanding date of the before
atthe Granted ~ Exercised ~ Cancelled Lapsed atthe Period during which Exercise share  the date
Beginning during during during during End of Share Options are Price per options of grant
of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year Date of Grant Exercisable Share (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
E2EERE ROERE
fikEH  RhEH
£ £ £ £R £f £X ZAfmE P i
HAGRE  BREN  BARN  BEEN BN HAGREN BROKE TFHUTE LG
Name of Grantee BEARS BREZR BREXR BREYA BREHE BREME EREHE RUEH URRERENIR (#7) (%7 (#r)
Employees BI
Other certain employees  A£E £ 53216425 - - 119815 45536550 11 September2018  From 11 September 2019 to 6116 - 606
ofthe Group (other ~ #TEE WIBEIAI1A 10 September 2028 129
thanthepersonsas (S EREH N1959A118E
disclosed above) AR ABEIR10BI
24,032,850 - - - 2435600 21,597,250 23 January 2020 From 23 January 2021 9.214 - 9.3
N0F1A3A to 22 January 2030124
MF1ABAZ
NETRNE
20429900 - - - 970,000 19459,900 14 September2020  From 14 September 2021 to 9.30 - 9.09
N0FIA14A 13 September 2030 129
AMNFIAURE
NEIR13BIS
23,164,000 - - - 3164000 20,000,000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 894
AM1ETAA 25 July 2031024
N02FTAWAZ
WNETRBAIS
39,837,300 - - - 4993600 34843700 8 December 2022 From 8 December 2023 to 5.580 - 510
NN E12R8R 7 December 2032 127
KAESVEEIEES
AR E12A78M
Subtotal gt 160740475 - - - 19303075 141,437,400
Total it 171,000475 - - - 19303075 151697400
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Notes:

33% of the total number of the share options granted will be vested on the next day
following the expiry date of the 12 months from the date on which the grantee has
achieved certain length of service in the Group (the “Waiting Period”) and the date
on which certain performance conditions were satisfied (whichever is later). 33% of
the total number of the share options granted will be vested on the next day
following the first anniversary of the expiry date of the Waiting Period and the date
on which certain performance conditions were satisfied (whichever is later). 34% of
the total number of the share options granted will be vested on the next day
following the second anniversary of the expiry date of the Waiting Period and the
date on which certain performance conditions were satisfied (whichever is later).

The vesting period is 3 years from the expiry date of the Waiting Period.

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 11
September 2019 to 10 September 2028 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of
11 September 2020 to 10 September 2028 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the
total number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest
of 11 September 2021 to 10 September 2028 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 23
January 2021 to 22 January 2030 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total number of
share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 23 January
2022 to 22 January 2030 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total number of
share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 23 January
2023 to 22 January 2030 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 14
September 2021 to 13 September 2030 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of
14 September 2022 to 13 September 2030 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the
total number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest
of 14 September 2023 to 13 September 2030 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 July
2022 to 25 July 2031 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total number of share
options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 July 2023 to 25
July 2031 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total number of share options
granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 July 2024 to 25 July
2031 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 8
December 2023 to 7 December 2032 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 8
December 2024 to 7 December 2032 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 8
December 2025 to 7 December 2032 (both days inclusive).

Each of the share option granted under the 2018 Share Option Scheme is
conditional upon the achievement of certain performance objectives as set out in
the respective offer letters, including but not limited to the respective job objectives
as determined by the Group.

For details of the fair values of share options granted under the 2018 Share Option
Scheme at the dates of grant and the accounting standard and policy adopted,
please refer to notes 1(1)(ii) and 28(a) to the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN AT
THE SUBSIDIARY OF THE COMPANY

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 29 March
2019. Pursuant to the shareholder deed, MAG will establish a
management equity incentive plan based on the shares of MAG held
by the Group. On 29 June 2021, the Board of the Company approved
the MAG's management equity incentive plan, and agreed to grant to
the eligible grantees up to 5% of MAG shares held by the Group, and
the exercise price of the incentive shares granted is based on MAG's
EBITDA for the latest financial year (which is consistent with the pricing
strategy adopted by the Group when it acquired MAG shares). As at 31
December 2023, the granted incentive shares representing 4.21% of
the outstanding shares of MAG.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (as defined in the
Prospectus), the 2018 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, the Company has no equity- linked agreements that
were entered into or subsisted during the year of 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
repurchased a total of 44,344,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange with
an aggregate amount of HK$142,395,926.60, and 38,266,000 Shares of
which were cancelled on 29 December 2023.

The Board considers that the trading price of the Shares does not
reflect their intrinsic value and the future business prospects of the
Group in the future, and that it is the appropriate timing for the
Company to repurchase Shares. The Board believes the share
repurchase and subsequent cancellation of the repurchased Shares can
enhance the value of the Shares, thereby improving the return to
Shareholders. The Board believes that the exercise of the repurchase
mandate is in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole, and the financial position of the Company is solid and healthy,
which enables it to implement the share repurchase.
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Details of the Shares repurchased during the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out as follows:

No. of Shares

REZE 2023512 A 31 B IEFERIBHORD &F
BEIIT

Price per Share

repurchased FRER Aggregate
by the Company Highest Lowest consideration
Month of Repurchases AR T EE paid
e A6 R 8B Be &I EEENRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT A& TT
August 2023 1,830,000 3.60 3.49 6,463,405.00
2023F 8 A
September 2023 12,258,000 3.60 3.37 42,823,394.80
2023F 9 A
October 2023 14,524,000 3.58 2.99 47,155,091.40
2023 10 A
November 2023 5,654,000 3.23 3.05 17,848,555.80
2023 F11 A
December 2023 10,078,000 3.20 2.60 28,105,479.60
2023 F12 A
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its B _EiltIRFESN - AN &) 3k B (o] i /B A =) 481 4

subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s
listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's
securities.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners.
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POTENTIAL COMPETING BUSINESSES

Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza Property Management
Company Limited (“Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza”)

As at 31 December 2023, Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza is
indirectly owned by Greentown Holdings (which is indirectly owned by
Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo as to 40%, 39%
and 21%, respectively) as to 75.875%. Zhejiang Greentown Century
Plaza is engaged in the business of property management, housing
and building facilities maintenance and repair, the provision of
gardening services, cleaning services, home services, renovation
services and parking services. The business operated by Zhejiang
Greentown Century Plaza is subject to a non-competition undertaking
executed by Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza in favour of our
Company on 13 January 2016 (as supplemented by a confirmation
letter dated 7 March 2016) (the “Century Plaza Non-Competition
Undertaking”).

The management of Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza is independent
of the management of the Group and there are no overlaps. For further
details of Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza and the Century Plaza
Non-Competition Undertaking, please refer to the Prospectus.

Excluded Group
The below entities (the “Excluded Group”) have limited competition
with the Group, details of which are set out as follows:

Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering Company Limited
("Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering”)

As at 31 December 2023, Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering is
a company established under the laws of the PRC in September 2005
and owned as to 50% by Hangzhou Dangui Investment Company
Limited ("Hangzhou Dangui Investment”) and 50% by Hangzhou
Guangri Elevator Engineering Co., Ltd., an independent third party.
Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering is engaged in the business
of elevator repair and maintenance services as well as carrying out
actual repair work. Our Group's property management services relating
to elevators are limited to regular inspection of the normal operation
of elevators and supervision of maintenance and repair work relating to
elevators. The management of Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator
Engineering is independent of the management of the Group and
there are no overlaps.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BEBRBER
WIZBELEESYEEERRATR
TRt L ES )
MR2023F 12 A31 8 » L&t &2 &35 Ty @
BWER(ERREFEE  SHFLERE
—F £ BB %A 40% « 39% K 21%)
BWEE 75.875% ° Tt 48 EIS N B
BEERG - EFEMEFRERENES  BE
IRTS « RBIRTE - KBRS - BIERBIUALE
BHRT o AT L BB AT S EB RS
SRR BB ISR ELESUAELA R AR R
AEE BHEIA2016F1 A138 (FRBEA2016
FIA7ENERB R T FA ([t
BESGTHRBAE] -

([

TR L ESNERERE YN AEBNE
BE MEMEABEE FZHBENNLE
Wt LG ML E S T HEFEAFENFS B
2 EHBRE -

MINEER

Ty EE ([BRINEE ) BAEBENRFHR -
FHEBMYIIT
WNIRBEERIRAERARA (IIERE
BEREIR)

R2023F12A31H IR EBEBRTIES
20055 9 AREBRPBUA R AT + BT
MR EERAR(RMNAEREDES
50% MMM EBEH TREMAR QG (5B

ZH)EES0% - AT IREBEH TR
TIPS R GEERRTS - UWRETEREE T
TERET - AEBREHBEENYEETIERY
ERRTHREESECRIEEEMNEBEHEE
HEBEEREETIE - MIBEBEST
ENEEEBURASENETERE  MEME
ANBES -



Report of Directors

EEERE

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition undertakings entered into
amongst Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian, Ms. Xia Yibo,
Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment, Shenalan
International Investment and Orchid Garden Investment (the
“Covenantors”) on 13 June 2016 (the “Deed of Non-competition”),
each of the Covenantors has irrevocably and unconditionally
undertaken, jointly and severally, with the Company that he/she/it shall
not, and shall procure that its/his/her associates (other than members
of the Group) shall not directly carry on, engage in, invest in,
participate in, attempt to participate in, render any services to, provide
any financial support to or otherwise be involved in or interested in,
whether alone or jointly with another person and whether directly or
indirectly or on behalf of or to assist or act in concert with any other
person, any business or investment activities in the PRC and Hong
Kong which is the same as, similar to or in competition or likely to be in
competition with the business carried on or contemplated to be carried
on by any member of the Group from time to time.

For details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the
Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Period for disclosure in this annual
report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting
Period based on the information and confirmation provided by or
obtained from the controlling Shareholders, and were satisfied that the
controlling Shareholders have duly complied with the Deed of Non-
competition.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following parties are our connected persons.

REBRERS
THEH ARMOBEAL -

84

1. Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering FIRBEEHTE
Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering, a company MIRBEBRESTREANPEKINE
established in the PRC with limited liability, is principally BAF TBEKASETHIZHESH
engaged in the provision of elevator maintenance services in &R 7% - H50% Mz N AR E
the PRC, which is held as to 50% by Hangzhou Dangui EE(E51% R AR BEmImk (322
Investment (with 51% of its equity interest being held by AIRAREFLEE SHFLERE—K
Greentown Holdings (which is indirectly owned as to 40%, 39% 24 Bl 5 4 B 40% ~ 39% 2 21% 1
and 21% by Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia )FH  HER A% IR AR R B SR
Yibo, respectively), and the remaining 49% equity interest being KEEEBLE(BREE)IFE %%
held by Ningbo Ronghua Investment LLP (2 g 8EXKE A B0 M¥E L+ RFB LD RIFEHB80%
= (BRER)), which is in turn held as to 80% and 20% by Ms. Ju K 20%  MA¥YAREEELTHREK
Yao (¥93%) and Ms. Li Haizhi (/82 ) (both are family members B)EA HMIKREREHE IIEARE
of Ms. Li Hairong). Therefore, Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator EhA S BRELE E—FTLERE
Engineering is an associate of Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou HEZTHBEBEA  WARRRREEE
Bainian, Ms. Xia Yibo and Ms. Li Hairong and hence a connected AT e
person of the Company.

2. Zhejiang Lansong Supply Chain Management Company W IEEHEREBEER AR ([E

Limited (“Lansong Supply Chain")

Lansong Supply Chain is held as to 35.19%, 33.78% and 31.03%
by Zhejiang Greentown Community Service Group Company
Limited (a subsidiary of the Company), Bluetown Agricultural
Technology Company Limited (“Bluetown Agricultural
Technology”) and Ningbo Chenfeng Agricultural Development
Company Limited, respectively. Bluetown Agricultural
Technology is indirectly wholly-owned by Bluetown China
Holdings Limited (“"Bluetown China Holdings”), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Delta House Limited, whereas Delta House
Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Song Weiping. Mr. Song
Weiping, through his wholly-owned company Osmanthus Garden
Investment, is indirectly interested in 40% of Orchid Garden
Investment, a controlling Shareholder which holds approximately
31.93% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Mr.
Song Weiping is also the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo, a non-executive
Director. Lansong Supply Chain is therefore an associate of Mr.
Song Weiping and hence a connected person of the Company.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TEptpESE )
EMEEEEANTIARETREEES
RARNARRZHBAR) BEWAEZE
BHARAR(EHEBERNE ) hER
FEEEXZERBERAADIEFEA
35.19% ~ 33.78% K 31.03% #E s - EW A
ERFARERPBIERAR AR ([ EH
FEEZER)EZ2EER - MERT
7% Bllf Delta House Limited 2 & ¥ A -
i Delta House Limited B 7R &7 3 5L & &
EHE ARETEEBBEE2ERT
Osmanthus Garden Investment fE1#& % &
22 BE A% B Orchid Garden Investment 40%
#E%5 M Orchid Garden Investment BlJ3
EARBZHEEITIRAL31.93% R
BERENABERTERTE —FZLN
BB - Rt EEEHER ARG FEEY
BEA  TEEAERAR ZBEEAL -



Report of Directors

EEERE

3. Bluetown Real Estate Construction Management Group
Limited) (“Bluetown Real Estate Group")
Bluetown Real Estate Group is held by Mr. Song Weiping as to
70%. Mr. Song Weiping, through his wholly-owned company
Osmanthus Garden Investment, is indirectly interested in 40% of
Orchid Garden Investment, a controlling Shareholder which holds
approximately 31.93% of the total issued share capital of the
Company. Mr. Song Weiping is also the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo, a
non-executive Director. Bluetown Real Estate Group is therefore
an associate of Mr. Song Weiping and hence a connected person
of the Company.

The Group has entered into a number of continuing connected
transactions with its connected persons in the ordinary and usual
course of business, which are subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules:

1. Provision of Elevator Maintenance Services by Zhejiang
Gelingtong Elevator Engineering to our Group
We engage the elevator maintenance services of Zhejiang
Gelingtong Elevator Engineering in the ordinary course of our
business.

3. ENEEEREEKREARAFA(E
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Details of the transaction

On 10 June 2016, Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering entered
into an elevator maintenance services framework agreement with the
Group, and renewed on 28 December 2018 and 31 December 2021
respectively. Pursuant to the renewed elevator maintenance services
framework agreement (the “New Elevator Maintenance Services
Framework Agreement”) on 31 December 2021, Zhejiang Gelingtong
Elevator Engineering agreed to provide elevator maintenance services,
including but not limited to providing elevator inspections, safety
maintenance, and repair services to our Group for the properties
projects managed by our Group (“Elevator Maintenance Services”),
for a term commencing from 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2024.
For details, please refer to Company’s announcements dated 31
December 2021 and 10 February 2022.

Consideration

The fees charged for the Elevator Maintenance Services provided by
Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering to our Group was
determined based on (i) cost of raw materials and wages needed for
carrying out the Elevator Maintenance Services; and (i) the comparison
of the fee quote provided by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator
Engineering to our Group with the fee quotes provided by other
independent third party elevator maintenance companies engaged by
our Group for its other property management projects. When
comparing the fee quotes, our Group considered factors including the
price, scope of services and the efficiency and ability of the service
providers to perform such services in a timely manner. The New
Elevator Maintenance Services Framework Agreement was entered
into on normal commercial terms.

Annual caps

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fee payable by our
Group in relation to the Elevator Maintenance Services to be provided
by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering under the New Elevator
Maintenance Services Framework Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2024 would not exceed
RMB17,056,943, RMB18,592,068 and RMB20,265,354, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fee paid by the Group for
the Elevator Maintenance Services provided by Zhejiang Gelingtong
Elevator Engineering amounted to RMB11,990,569, and the payment
for the same period last year was RMB11,670,619 .

As the applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules (other than
the profits ratio) in respect of the annual caps of the Elevator
Maintenance Services provided by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator
Engineering to the Group are expected to be more than 0.1% but less
than 5%, the transactions under the New Elevator Maintenance
Services Framework Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual
review and announcement requirements, but are exempted from the
independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

2. Services provided by Lansong Supply Chain to the
Group
We receive the goods supply service provided by Lansong
Supply Chain to the Group in the ordinary course of business.

Details of the transaction

On 10 January 2017, Greentown Property Management, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the sales
framework agreement (the “Sales Framework Agreement”) with
Lansong Supply Chain and renewed on 31 December 2019 and
29 December 2022.

According to the renewed Sales Framework Agreement dated 29
December 2022 (the”2022 Sales Framework Agreement”),
Lansong Supply Chain agreed to supply various agricultural
goods and products, including but not limited to fresh products
and food, to Greentown Property Management and/or its
subsidiaries, for three years commencing from 1 January 2023
and ending on 31 December 2025. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2022.
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Consideration RE

The price for the goods to be supplied under the 2022 Sales 022FHERERHRETHEERNE
Framework Agreement shall be determined principally by arm'’s BEETEHEEINIBREAFTLER
length commercial negotiations, based on the prevailing market BB B A FEEERRRITMEETE
prices and in accordance with the principles of fairness and Ehg2E0T

reasonableness between the relevant parties with reference to
the following:

(i)  the wholesale prices or retail prices of relevant products () B-FERELTEQMEBEE
published from time to time on third-party pricing websites MR EERTEE(RE T
(including the “Zhejiang Grain and Qil Trading Website” BHXSE] - [TMMmEET
and "Hangzhou Vegetable Basket Website"); CENDR

(i)  the average retail prices of related products sold in the (i) AMNEEEEERBT - ok
China Resources Vanguard Supermarket, Century Lianhua ERMAOKEEMHERBEERS
Supermarket and Yonghui Supermarket in Hangzhou EBNFEHE &
region; and

(i) the purchasing costs of such goods from time to time and (i) EE DA E R AR IR 2022 F SH S AE
the operation costs (including packaging, processing and ZRAZ S TRV AR D S RS NS L B
distribution costs) incurred by Lansong Supply Chain for BARMHEERMIREENZS
supplying goods to Greentown Property Management and/ EmBNEBRAREEKRN(BIE
or its subsidiaries under the 2022 Sales Framework B EERDHEEA)
Agreement.
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Annual caps

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual amount
payable by the Group to Lansong Supply Chain for each of the
three years ended/ending 31 December 2025 would not exceed
RMB24,150,000, RMB27,800,000 and RMB32,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount payable by
the Group in respect of the goods supplied by Lansong Supply
Chain was RMB13,247,745 and the payment for the same period
last year was RMB24,950,790.

As the applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules (other
than the profits ratio) in respect of the annual caps for the goods
supply service provided to the Group by Lansong Supply Chain
are expected to be more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
transactions under the 2022 Sales Framework Agreement are
subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements, but are exempted from the independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

FELR
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Services provided by the Group to Bluetown Real
Estate Group

We provide services relating to smart construction, lighting
construction and smart design to Bluetown Real Estate Group in
the ordinary course of business.

Details of the transaction

On 14 December 2021, Zhejiang Greentown Architectural
Technology Co., Ltd.* (/T 4% ZEERHE B R A 7)) (“Zhejiang
Lvke"”, which, after completion of the acquisition of 51% equity
interest by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
became a subsidiary of the Group) entered into the framework
cooperation agreement (the "Framework Cooperation
Agreement”) with Bluetown Real Estate Group. Pursuant to the
Framework Cooperation Agreement, Zhejiang Lvke agreed to
provide services relating to smart construction, lighting
construction and smart design to Bluetown Real Estate Group
and/or its subsidiaries for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2021 until 31 December 2023. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 14 December 2021 and
10 January 2022.

Consideration

The fees charged to Bluetown Real Estate Group by the Group
for provide services was determined at arm'’s length commercial
negotiations with reference to (i) the areas, service types and
required time of the projects involved in the services; (ii) the
product costs, labor costs and reasonable profits involved in the
services; and (i) the price of providing the same or comparable
type of various services to independent third parties in the
Group's ordinary and usual course of business. In determining
the price, the Group also collected the relevant market
information, reviewed and compared the costs and profits of
transactions in the most recent year for the provision of the same
or similar type of services with at least two independent third
parties.
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Annual caps

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual amount
payable by Bluetown Real Estate Group to the Group for each of
the three years ended 31 December 2023 would not exceed
RMB33,083,000, RMB35,517,000 and RMB37,553,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount payable by
Bluetown Real Estate Group to the Group in respect of the
services was RMB17,190,866, and the payment for the same
period last year was RMB18,336,864.

As the applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules (other
than the profits ratio) in respect of the annual caps for the
services provided by the Group are expected to be more than
0.1% but less than 5%, the transactions under the Framework
Cooperation Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual
review and announcement requirements, but are exempted from
the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The internal control measures adopted by the Company in
relation to all continuing connected transactions are as follows:

(@) before entering into any specific agreement or conducting
any transaction contemplated under an agreement for
continuing connected transactions, the internal control unit
of the Group comprising personnel from various business
departments and functional departments (the “Internal
Control Unit") would review the proposed terms thereof to
ensure consistency with those of the governing framework
agreement and compliance with the applicable pricing
policies, and approve the same as appropriate;

(b) the Internal Control Unit is responsible for closely
monitoring the volume of individual connected transactions
and, before entering into any new transaction, confirming
whether there are still sufficient unused annual caps for
carrying out additional transactions under the respective
governing framework agreement(s). If it is anticipated that
the annual caps may be exceeded, it would take all
appropriate steps in advance to comply with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules, such as seeking to
revise the relevant annual caps;
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regular researches are conducted to assess the prices
charged and payment terms offered by or to independent
third parties to keep abreast with the prevailing terms in the
market and the market conditions, so as to assess
continuously whether the fees charged and payment terms
set for specific transactions are fair and reasonable;

regular internal reviews are conducted to assess whether
the continuing connected transactions of the Group are
being transacted or conducted:

(i) in accordance with the terms of the respective
governing framework agreement(s) and applicable
pricing policies;

(i)  on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable to the Company compared to those
offered by or to independent third parties; and

(i) taking into account the aggregate transaction
amounts, within the applicable annual cap(s); and

the independent non-executive Directors shall review the
Internal Control Unit's reports on the transactions during
each reporting period on an annual basis in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that the Company’s internal control

measures are adequate and effective to ensure that transactions
are so conducted. The Directors also confirm that the Company
has followed the policies and guidelines set out in the Guidance
Letter (HKEx-GL73-14) when determining the price and terms of
the transactions conducted during the reporting year.
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During the Reporting Period, the independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor (the “Auditor”) were engaged to report
on the Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor
has issued its letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules:

1. nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that
causes the Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

3. nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and
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4. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to
their attention that causes the Auditor to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

The financial performance of Zhejiang Lvke

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 14
December 2021 and 10 January 2022. On 14 December 2021, a subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”) and Bluetown Real Estate Group (the
“Vendor A") and Yingkou Aixun Enterprise Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)* (8 AT MBI b X B RSB DL E(BRAE ) (the
“Vendor B") (among other parties) entered into the equity transfer
agreement ("Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Purchaser agreed to purchase 51%, and Vendor A and Vendor B agreed
to sell 30% and 21% respectively, of the equity interest in Zhejiang Lvke for
an aggregate consideration of RMB209.1 million (the “Acquisition”).
According to the Equity Transfer Agreement, Vendor A and Vendor B
agree that Zhejiang Lvke shall achieve a certain performance target for the
accumulated revenue or net profits of the three years ended 31 December
2021 to 2023, and they would bear the obligation to make up the
difference.

Mr. Song Weiping is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
Vendor A is held by Mr. Song as to 70% and therefore is an associate
of Mr. Song. Therefore, the Acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Rule 14A.25 and Rule 14A.28 of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.63(3) of the Listing Rules, the Company is
required to disclose in the 2023 annual report whether the actual
performance of Zhejiang Lvke meets the guarantee.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the accumulated revenue and
net profits of 3 years of Zhejiang Lvke have reached the performance
target respectively.

As at the date of this annual report, the Purchaser has not exercised
the right to acquire the remaining equity interest in Zhejiang Lvke (the
"Acquisition Right”) and does not have any present plan to exercise
the Acquisition Right. If the Purchaser exercises the Acquisition Right,
the Company will comply with the applicable Listing Rules
requirements (if any).
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 34 to the
financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which is subject to disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions
described in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, in respect of which the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied
with.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
the Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this Report of Directors, during the Reporting
Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered
into any contract of significance or material contract with the
controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its
subsidiaries, and there is no entering into of any material contract in
respect of the services provided by the controlling Shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MAJOR EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF
THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as the matters disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements, no
other significant events which have an impact on the Company have
occurred after the end of the Reporting Period.
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SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 19
July 2022, 20 October 2022, 21 March 2023 and 21 August 2023 in
relation to the Legal Proceedings involving Greentown Real Estate
Consulting Co., Ltd* (4 F b E A S E B A F]), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. On 21 August 2023, the Group received a
judgment from the Shanghai High People’s Court* (/8T m R ARE
B ) in relation to the Legal Proceedings, the case no. being "(2023) 8
R #4265% ", which stated that the appeal filed by the Company was
dismissed and the first instance judgment shall be upheld. The Legal
Proceedings did not have a significant impact on the development of
the Group’s core operating business. At present, the Legal
Proceedings is in the process of litigation enforcement procedure and
the Group has made provisions, where appropriate, for what may be
required for the settlement of the Legal Proceedings. Details of the
provision made for what may be required for the settlement of the
Legal Proceedings are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at the date of this annual report, to the knowledge of the Directors,
other than the above, there are no other outstanding or material legal
proceedings or claims would materially affect the normal operations of
the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company maintained liability insurance during the year of 2023
and is currently maintaining liability insurance for Directors and senior
management (being the liability insurance for Directors and senior
management and prospectus liability insurance) to provide the
appropriate coverage for the Directors and senior management of the
Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and
external Auditor, reviewed the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 98 to 120 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company'’s total
issued Shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, was held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period
and as of the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The Auditor has not changed in the past three years. KPMG was
appointed as the Auditor for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs have been audited by KPMG.

KPMG shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will
offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
KPMG as the Auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Zhangfa
Chairman

Hangzhou, the PRC, 26 March 2024

* For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the "“CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions under the CG Code.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

The Board has formulated and adopted guidelines, policies and
procedures such as the code of conduct regarding the securities
transactions by the Directors, terms of reference for Board committees,
board diversity policy and shareholders’ communication policy to
support the Group's corporate governance framework. These policies
and procedures enable the Company to follow and apply the principles
of the CG Code. These documents are reviewed from time to time by
the Board and the relevant Board committees and are updated in line
with the applicable legislations and rules as well as the current market
practices.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the
desired corporate culture of the Company which is underpinned by our
corporate values of committing highest standard of business ethics
and integrity. Our sound corporate culture reaches all levels of the
Group, and aligns with the Company’s mission, corporate values and
strategies.

For detailed information about the Company’s mission, corporate
values and strategies, please refer to the ESG Report of the Company
and the session headed “Join us — Culture of the Company” on the
Company's website.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors its business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the
senior management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, the Board has established three Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (each a “Board Committee” and, together,
the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations and act in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal actions against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman)

Ms. Jin Keli

Mr. Chen Hao

Mr. Wu Zhihua (Resigned on 10 February 2023)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shou Bainian

Ms. Xia Yibo

Ms. Li Hairong

Mr. Liu Xingwei (Appointed on 28 March 2023)
Mr. Zeng Yiming (Resigned on 28 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023)
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has, at all times,
met the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Mr. Liu Xingwei,
who was appointed as a non-executive Director on 28 March 2023, and
Mr. Jia Shenghua, who was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 June 2023, obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D on 28 March 2023 and 29 May 2023,
respectively, and confirmed that they understood their obligations as a
Director.

The Company believes that the diversity of the Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity
policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining the
composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms of,
amongst other things, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board appointments
will be based on merits and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of the diversity of
the Board. The Board diversity policy is summarized below:

The Company attaches great importance to the gender diversity of the
Board: the proportion of female Directors now reaches 27.27% of the
total directorship, which is in line with and higher than the ratio of most
listed companies. As to gender diversity, the Company targets to
maintain the level of female representation on the Board that is no less
than the average level in the industry.

The Board includes Directors with diverse backgrounds: executive
Directors have extensive industry management experience and are in
charge of the principal businesses of the Company; non-executive
Directors are highly experienced in corporate management, hence
they are able to provide effective recommendations on the Company’s
operation and development; independent non-executive Directors
have experience in the property management industry, investment,
finance, corporate governance and the international market.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the
Company considers all of them to be independent parties.

100 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BB FHHEANE3.10(1) 2 3.10Q) EEBEE
BLZEBUNRTEE(EREL BT
M ITESERBEENEEBR LSRN
A TEEIRE XA BT

RABNBEST ETRAIEII0AKEBEE
*E*Fi%ﬁﬁk,% D=5 2 —KB AT
EEMHTE o

RiE TR BIEE3.09D & - 7202343 A28 H
BEZERIENTTE BH B EE L £ KR 2023
FOATVREZEABY IR ITESNEELE
G4 5 RIFR20234F3 A28 H 202345 A
29 BEEEIIDETAMEEEER - WHER
PR EERESNRT °

ARBREEFTERBZ LB HREFARRT]
MRRDERZ - At ARRERMNESS
REZTEHE  WBERARFEREEES
KREHARKERZET EEEEEEKNEZTT
£ BRETRREFR  XERBEER &
KR RERAH - EFEMEREHUA
AMEA BIRA - SHEE B AERARBRITRE
rREZEREZTTILNmE EFTENEZTT
BRI ERIILT

ARREREFGIBI ST LEEELE
#27.27% - A LEAKEBEG LA DL
EF (L - EEBI BTN E - AR
REDRE LI KR FER KT FER
TEFEKF ¢

EEEHTRATEERNESHER TESF
PHREEENTEEELR  YAFRAEE

X% FMTESHRASENEREELR
EHSARNEE MERERERNER B
VBTEEFHAEMEEETE -KRE WM
% bERERRERMSEER -

MRS BIIFRTESTHERBELTRAE
BB GMEREBIUM - MARARREREFD R
BIANTL



Corporate Governance Report

EEERME

BARFH [EERSRERE| —HMEE

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
none of the Directors have any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships)
with any other Director and chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Board Committees.

Given the strong independent element on the Board composition,
independent views and inputs are always available to the Board no
matter through formal or informal channels. The Chairman of the Board
promotes a culture of openness and constructive relations between
independent non-executive Directors and other Directors to facilitate
effective contribution of independent non-executive Directors for
independent views and inputs. The Chairman of the Board also holds
separate meetings with independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors at least once a year. Independent
professional advice is sought when necessary or as required by
Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
composition and is satisfied with the independence and diversity policy
of the Board.

As regards code provision C.1.5 of the CG Code, which requires each
director to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments, the
identity of the public companies or organizations and an indication of
the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments and any subsequent changes to the Company in a
timely manner.

GENDER DIVERSITY ACROSS THE WORKFORCE

The Group maintains gender diversity in relation to employees of the
Group. Under the recruitment process of the Group, a candidate will
be appraised based on his/her qualifications, working experience, skills
and competence rather than his/her gender. As of 31 December 2023,
the number of female employees (including senior management) of the
Group is approximately 51.1% of the total number of employees of the
Group, and the Group will strive to maintain it.

The Group will continue to strengthen the gender diversity across the
workforce and to maintain the orderly and healthy development of the
Group.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of
the Company’s operations and businesses, as well as his/her
responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors
with updates on the latest developments and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time
to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a Director. During the year ended 31 December 2023, all
Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development trainings and provided the Company with their records
of the trainings they received. These trainings included reading
regulatory updates, attending seminars, conducting training sessions
and exchanging views.
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Continuous Professional
Development Training
BEERBEE
Reading or attending briefings
and/or seminars and/or
conferences relevant to
regulatory and governance updates

MESLFREERER
Name of Director ENEREBNERER R
EEnA BER/HEE
Executive Directors HTE=Z
Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman) BEEEE(EE) Yes
Ms. Jin Keli sHBLL Yes B
Mr. Chen Hao BREEE Yes B
Mr. Wu Zhihua (Resigned on 10 February 2023) REELE(R2023F2 A1088HT) Yes B
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Shou Bainian ShELE Yes B
Ms. Xia Yibo BE—Rut Yes B
Ms. Li Hairong TR L Yes B
Mr. Liu Xingwei (Appointed on 28 March 2023) 2IMELE (R2023F3 A28 BEZT) Yes &
Mr. Zeng Yiming (Resigned on 28 March 2023) LA A (R 202363 A 28 HEHT) Yes B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok EREEE Yes B
Mr. Wong Ka Yi ERHAE Yes B
Mr. Li Feng FEEE Yes B
Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023) EAELE (R2023F6 A1 REZT) Yes B
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023) REFLLT(R2023F6 A1 BEHE) Yes B
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The Chairman of the Board and the CEO are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Yang Zhangfa and Ms. Jin Keli, respectively, with
clear distinction in responsibilities. The Chairman of the Board is
responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance on the
business development of the Group, while the CEQO is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Appointment Letters

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which is renewable automatically
for successive terms subject to termination as provided in the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of three years, which may be renewable automatically subject to both
parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract or an appointment letter
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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Board meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
propose matters for the agenda of the regular Board meetings.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board also
held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period in
compliance with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given by the Company. The agenda and accompanying
meeting papers are dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee
members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared
for the meetings. When the Directors or Board Committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and be given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman of the Board prior to the meeting. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company, with
copies circulated to all Directors for their information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by the
Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, six Board meetings and one annual RMEHK  EEGLRTORNETERHN
general meeting were held. The attendance of each Director at these —XIEBFAE  EARESELEZZSEN

meetings is set out in the table below: EREHN TR
Number of
Number of general
Board meetings meeting
attended/eligible  attended/eligible
Directors to attend to attend
BHE/ =174
EHEEEE PR E
Bx SRR RERY
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman) BEERLE(EE) 6/6 171
Ms. Jin Keli SREBLTL 6/6 1/1
Mr. Chen Hao BRE LA 6/6 1/1
Mr. Wu Zhihua (Resigned on 10 February 2023)  REZELA (7420235 2 A 10 HEHE) 0/0 0/0
Non-executive Directors FBITES
Mr. Shou Bainian SRFELE 6/6 11
Ms. Xia Yibo R e 6/6 1/1
Ms. Li Hairong ENE Sy 6/6 17
Mr. Liu Xingwei (Appointed on 28 March 2023) RIBELE(R2023F3 288 ERT) 4/4 1
Mr. Zeng Yiming (Resigned on 28 March 2023) WA A (R 2023 F 3 A28 HEET) 2/2 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok BB A 6/6 1
Mr. Wong Ka Yi ERAfAE 6/6 171
Mr. Li Feng FREE 6/6 111
Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023) BHELE (N2023F6F1HEZT) 3/3 1
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023) REFE (N 2023F6 A1 BEHE) 3/3 0/0
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3

to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Specific enquiry has been made to all
Directors and each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the provisions set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. The Directors have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the Executive directors and the senior management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by
the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions being entered into by the management of the
Company.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and the
employees of the Group;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and report to the Board on related matters; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised four
members, namely Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman), Mr. Wong Ka Yi,
Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua. All of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1.

to review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the
work performed by the Auditor, their fees, and terms of
engagement and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the Auditor;

to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the
Board; and

to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control and risk management
system, and the associated procedures, including the adequacy
of the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs, and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on

the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four meetings of the Audit

Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

to review the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2022;

to review the interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

to review the Auditor’s report in relation to the audit plan and
strategy of the Group;

to review and approve the expected list of non-assurance services
to be provided by the Auditor in 2024 and the policy on the
provision of non-assurance services by the Auditor ;and
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o to review the financial reporting system, compliance procedure, e
internal control (including the Company’s internal control of
corruption risks and the handling and identification of business
conflict of major shareholders in listed companies), risk
management system and procedures, and re-appointment of
external Auditor. The Board did not deviate from the
recommendations of the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external Auditor.

AP ERBEL - ARIET - NEEE
(BFEZR 2 A] 58 R fen 19 PR BB 4% 1) %
B LT AR EZERRNEHERNE
BEEFIE)  BRERERGREFAR
BRINEZBEEL R - EESAE
RHEZZEREE ZE REX
R INE R BEDEH M AT EE -

The attendance of each Audit Committee member is set out in the BBEREZE@RKEHEZSSEMERHERT
table below: B
Number of
meetings
attended/eligible
Directors to attend
BHE
=== EHESRRH
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman) EBBRL A (FE) 4/4
Mr. Wong Ka Yi ERELE 4/4
Mr. Li Feng FREE 4/4
Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023) BEEESRA (R2023F 6 A1HEZT) 2/2
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023) REF LT (FR2023F 6 A1 BEHE) 2/2
Nomination Committee BREZEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprised four 202312831 H ' ERZEEemNULZKE
members, namely Mr. Wong Ka Yi (Chairman), Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok, #8pk - BlE=ERE (F/F)  EREEL - F

Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua. All of them are independent non- @ %4 M BEAELLE - RED2 I ABLIEHNIT
executive Directors. B%o

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the EZZEeWMFEBSNT ¢

following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 1.

knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board 2.

members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorship;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive 3.

Directors;
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4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEQO; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses candidates or incumbents on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skills, and ability to commit time
and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.

Nomination Policy

For an optimal composition of the Board with sustainability, the
nomination will be in pursuit of a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives in the Board appropriate to the requirements
of the Company's business as well as succession continuity.

The criteria listed below will be used as reference in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate:

J Character and integrity

J Skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the Company'’s
business and corporate strategy

o Willingness and availability to dedicate sufficient time and
attention to ensure the diligent performance of Directors’s duties
in concurrence with his/her other major appointments and
significant commitments

J Attributes enhancing the Board diversity in line with the
Company'’s Board diversity policy

J Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company's business

° Requirements in respect of independent non-executive Directors
under the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules
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For appointment of new Director, the Nomination Committee as
delegated by the Board shall identify and evaluate candidate based on
the criteria set out above to determine whether the candidate is
qualified for directorship. If the candidate is considered qualified, the
Nomination Committee shall recommend to the Board for
consideration and the Board, if considered appropriate, shall approve
the appointment of the proposed candidate as a new Director.

For re-election of Director at general meeting, the Nomination
Committee as delegated by the Board shall review the contribution
made by the retiring Director and whether he/she can continue to fulfill
his/her role as required with reference to the criteria set out above. The
Board shall then, under advice of the Nomination Committee, make
recommendation to Shareholders for the proposed re-election of
Director(s) at the general meeting.

For any candidate (other than a retiring Director) nominated by the
Board or Shareholder(s) to stand for election as a Director in general
meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall, upon
receipt of the proposal of nomination and the biographical information
of the candidate, evaluate his/her suitability based on the same criteria
as set out above. The Board, under advice of the Nomination
Committee, may or may not make recommendation to Shareholders
on their voting to the proposed election in the relevant announcement
and/or circular to Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will review the director nomination policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held to review the structure, composition,
size and diversity of the Board and relevant recommendations were
made to the Board, which included the appointment of Directors and
the re-election of retiring Directors. The summary and progress on
achieving objectives of the Board diversity policy are disclosed on
page 100 of this annual report.
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BEREZEGNEHEZEEZNERERT

The attendance of each Nomination Committee member is set out in
the table below:

Number of

meetings

attended/eligible

Directors to attend
BHE EHE

&% FHRH
Mr. Wong Ka Yi (Chairman) BRESE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok ERRBISE 2/2
Mr. Li Feng FREE 2/2
Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023) BEAELE (R2023F6 A1 BEERT) 0/0
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023) REF LT (FR2023F 6 A1 BHE#E) 2/2

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprised four
members, namely Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman), Mr. Wong Ka Vi,
Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua. All of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
overall policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

3. to review and approve the management's remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including but not limited to benefits in kind,
pension rights, and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

5. to assess the performance of the executive Directors and approve
the terms of their service contracts;
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6. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of 6.  BIEMITEENHMREE SR ES
non-executive Directors;

7. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time 7. EERBEAT MO - B
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions MEREE U RAEEANE MR T ER
elsewhere in the Group; 615

8.  to review and approve compensation payable to executive 8. i@ RHLEMBITEERSREEE
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of HfEASKRIEBBELEZEMAEZNOE
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with B UERZSEEEEASNGER T
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; BARBEEEG BN BETARF

518 TEURZE

9. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to 9. &N RHERBE ST AL E M FIELE
the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure SEBEZITS NN EZHE - UHERZ
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise LG KGR B BARELES DG
reasonable and appropriate; and F—B O FARENAESEEE &

10.  to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined 10, H{R{E{AE Bk H(E B A (BB L

in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held to discuss and consider the
following matters:

the adoption of the 2023 Share Option Scheme;
the remuneration policy of the Company and its subsidiaries;

the remuneration of the Directors and senior managements and
proposed adjustment to the Board; and

the share schemes of the Company and its subsidiary and their

HMAMER )OSR HE T EFH -
HNE B & = T B 4 80 B A B XX P AR A A
UL AT AR o
HE2023F 1231 BIEFER FTHEES
BHETRAEE  AidwmEkEBEATRE
o R 2023 FEERRAERTE
o ARBIREMBR BN EFIEE

s EBX SNEHEZFH YRNEFE
REFEERRE M

ARE R EWEREZ B8 RER

implementation. 1TIE
The attendance of each Remuneration Committee member is set out KHWEESKEHEZZTEEZMBERENRT
in the table below: *®

Number of
meetings
attended/eligible
Directors to attend
BHE/
5= EHEERAH
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman) ERRBISAE () 2/2
Mr. Wong Ka Yi EmEXE 2/2
Mr. Li Feng FRSEE 2/2
Mr. Jia Shenghua (Appointed on 1 June 2023) BEELRAE (R2023F 6 A1 HEEE) 0/0
Ms. Wu Aiping (Resigned on 1 June 2023) RENE L (FR2023F 6 A1 BE#E) 2/2
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Company is determined by reference to the Group’s remuneration
policies and based on the role and responsibilities of the Group, the
performance and contribution during the year, the overall performance
of the Group, the economic environment and market trends at the
time.

Details of the remuneration by band of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on pages
47 to 54 of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB)

ESRSREEBOTH
EERARASRERENFHH - DHE2ER
SENFHBEREREEARATEEZABR
BE FAXRBALER  AEENEBEXRE
ERNKEERRENTSBEET -

HE2023F12A31HILFE  EFRARTA
SRERE(REZRERARNAFREIAEE
FS4B) MM EFREINNT

Number of individuals

MEER(ARE) AB
0-2,500,000 11
2,500,001-4,500,000 3

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 121 to 132 of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound risk
management (including environmental, social and governance risk) and
internal control system is established and maintained within the Group,
as well as its responsibility to review its effectiveness. Such system aims
to manage and reduce the business risks faced by the Group to an
acceptable extent, but not eliminate the risks of failure to achieve
business objectives. Moreover, it can only provide reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Board has authorized the Audit Committee to take charge of the
on-going monitoring of the Group's risk management and internal
control system, as well as the annual review of its effectiveness. Such
review covers all material control aspects, including financial control,
operation control, and compliance control.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of the risk management and internal control system,
thereby ensuring, in particular, (i) appropriate policies and procedures
are designed and established to safeguard the Group's assets from
misappropriation or disposal; (ii) compliance with any relevant laws,
regulations or rules; and (iii) reliable financial and accounting records
are kept properly in accordance with the relevant auditing standards
and regulatory reports.

The key features of the Company’s risk management and internal
control structure include: (i) designated departments are responsible
for the implementation and execution of the Company’s risk
management and internal control system and heads of major operating
units or departments are in charge of the management and mitigation
of identified risks; (i) the management ensures appropriate measures
have been taken in relation to significant risks that may affect the
Group's business and operation; and (i) the internal auditor provides
independent confirmation to the Board, the Audit Committee and the
management on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control.
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FEHERA - AEFEREE R ARRESIRE
ZTIFERA

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s main duties on risk
management and internal control include:

each of the major operating units and departments carried out
daily risk management activities, which included identifying
significant risks that may affect the Group's results, assessing and
evaluating significant risks identified based on their impacts and
possibilities of occurrence, formulating plans for and
implementing measures, control and emergency response plans
to manage and reduce such risks;

the management and finance department monitored and
reviewed the risk management and internal control system on an
ongoing basis and reported to the Audit Committee on its status;

the management regularly followed up and reviewed the
measures, control and emergency response plans in place for the
significant risks identified and built security risk management,
classification of risk prevention and control of double prevention
mechanisms, so as to ensure sufficient attention, monitoring and
response is given to such risks;

the management regularly reviewed the risk management and
internal control system for the purpose of identifying deficiencies
in the procedures and control function and designed and
implemented rectification for such deficiencies;

the management ensured the normal functioning of the
appropriate procedures and measures, such as making sure there
is no unauthorized use or disposition of assets, controlling capital
expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records and
ensuring the reliability of financial information for business
operation and public disclosure; and

built and improved the safety protection system of the Company,
enhanced the safety protection ability of the area in the service
scope, maintained the safety of lives and properties of the
owners and staffs, and ensured that the Company operates
orderly.

BEERELEMNFMIEERTERR
BEAE BRAMNEFZERNEES
MEOEBEREAR  REEFZERZELENA
REERTEM A D ERAIMEARR R -
MEIME RIS - EHIARESTER
IAE IR MR R AR

BEEALMBEHPISELRAREER
MEBIE S RAUETEENRN - AEE
REEGRZRGNBEETRE

EHEETHREN R HDHBNEX
RBREROES  EHARESTES
BHBRZ2ARSREENEESS
EERMES - URREZEFEARER
MEER - BEEMEL

EEE F B AT LA B R N A R AR I B
B LeRFMEbhieamkE - B
Rt MEHAEREE - ABRIR UL RS

EEERREENETHNERETE
17 PIIRIEE E T & REEEWRED
HEEIE - BEHEATE REEENS
FHRCER RN LR A0 7% DA S A e 69 B 75
EERMASEES &

BREEEALAZLHBEER %D
BB EENESZE PN B
HHETNBINEDHER 2 RIRE
AREFEE -

2023FEHE SWREEEERAA

115



Corporate Governance Report

EEERME

The Company focuses on clients’ documents and supplier relationship
management. For clients’ information, the Company collects, uses and
protects the clients’ information, in compliance with the laws related to
information security protection, and the information security
management system of the Company. For supplier relationship
management, by public bidding, batch purchase, vendor assessment,
and other forms, the Company strictly controls the supplier selection,
quality of products and services, to make sure that cost control is
suitable and the quality of products and services is assured in the
meantime, with a further improvement of our overall competitive
advantage.

To ensure that the information was transmitted successfully, the
internal communication system has been continuously improved. Risk
control measures have been landed to help the management in
decision- making with timely and accurate feedbacks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's ESG working group is mainly
responsible for the Group’s ESG review and risk assessment/
implementation. The working group is responsible for formulating
relevant management policies and specific measures, implementing
sustainable development policies determined by the Board and/or the
Audit Committee, and regularly reporting on the Group’s ESG work.

The internal audit function monitors the Company's internal
governance and provides independent confirmation on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system.
The chief executives in charge of the internal audit function report
directly to the Audit Committee, submit the internal audit report to the
Audit Committee based on the auditing plan as approved by the
Board, and report the results of the internal audit to all Directors.
During the Reporting Period, the internal audit function performed
analysis and evaluation on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal control system; in particular,
it inspected the documents in relation to risks, prepared by operating
units and the management, and interviewed staff members at all levels.
The chief executives in charge of the internal audit function attended
the meeting of the Audit Committee, explained the results of the
internal audit and answered questions raised by the Audit Committee.
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During the Reporting Period, the internal audit department of the
Company reported and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems to the Audit Committee every six months. The content
covers the resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company'’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and their training programs and budget. The Board of Directors and
the Audit Committee reviewed the above content and were satisfied
with its effectiveness and adequacy.

The Company has established the inside information policy for fair and
timely dissemination of information to public based on applicable laws
and regulations. The chief executives authorized by the Group to take
charge of the investor relations, corporate matters and financial control
functions are responsible for ensuring and monitoring compliance with
the applicable disclosure procedures for inside information. The
relevant chief executives may access inside information on an “as
needed” basis at any time. Personnel and professionals involved are
reminded to keep inside information confidential until public
disclosure. The Company has other procedures in place to prevent the
mishandling of inside information, including prior approval of any
trading of the Company’s securities by the Directors and the
management, regular notice of black out periods, restrictions on any
securities trading by the Directors and staff and the use of codes for
project identification.

The Company has established arrangements for employees and other
stakeholders to raise concern on suspected misconduct in financial
reporting, internal control or other aspects in confidence. The Audit
Committee carries out regular reviews to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigations and
proper actions for such matters.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The annual review included: (i)
reviewing the financial control, internal control and risk management
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries; (i) regular discussion with
chief executives at the management level on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control and the work of the internal audit
function; (iii) evaluating the scope and quality of the management's on-
going monitoring of the risk management and internal control system;
and (iv) reviewing the ESG report of the Company, evaluating related
policies and providing suggestions.
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Based on the above, the Audit Committee was not aware of any
significant issues that would adversely affect the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately as follows:

AR bt - BREEGWAREREFAHARF
K EKE A RH R EE R AREN RGN E
MIEM R ANER TR E e EMEARE -

BB A &

BZBET A B E 20236 12531 A LLFERA
BRI B NI RBRTY 2 BB R
T

Type of Services Amount (RMB'000)

PR 2 5 SH(ARETR)

Annual audit services FEETR®

Professional review services on 2023 2023 FrHh HRBA AR S W HE RS 1,150
interim financial report

Professional audit services on 2023 2023 FE MR BT EERS 4,150
annual financial statements

Non-audit services IEEET AR 332

Total HEt 5,632

Non-audit services mainly include: Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, Hong Kong Country-by-Country Reporting
Service, Hong Kong Profits Tax Return Service and Shareholders’
Annual General Meeting Monitoring Service.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and the applicable Hong Kong laws, the
Company engages Ms. Ng Sau Mei (“Ms. Ng"), a director of the listing
services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial
service provider), as the company secretary of the Company. The
primary corporate contact person of Ms. Ng at the Company is Ms.
Wang Zhenyan.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Ng has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding the Group's business, performance and strategies. The
Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of the Company’s information, which will enable the
Shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees
will attend the annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also attend the annual general meetings to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the Auditor’s report, the accounting policies and Auditor’s
independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy, which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at www.
Ivchengfuwu.com, where up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy. With the
above measures in place, the shareholders’ communication policy is
considered to have been effectively implemented. For detailed
information about the communication with the Shareholders, please
refer to the section headed “Investor Relationship” of this annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the Company for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.
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BHARREIAERIZEZESR

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals

The Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition;and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies
Laws of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Written requisitions to the Board and the company secretary of the
Company shall be sent to ir@lvchengfuwu.com.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the Company via
email (email address: ir@lvchengfuwu.com).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change in the
Articles of Association.
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Greentown
Service Group Co. Ltd. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 133 to 312, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and note, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

HEEITER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FFEZEERBERFNEELLE - RAH
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated AREGFAEFERERNEAREEERNEIE - &
financial statements of the current period. These matters were LEELEERMABATELELMGHREAREER
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial ERBHETEIEN - K TS L ELEEREMH
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do  BEMEFR, °

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

BEZRURBEZAMEEBERE

Refer to accounting policy note 1(p), note 21 and note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

AR E BRI 1(0) YR TR - Mt 21 R et 32(a)

The Key Audit Matter
CET HE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNEANAEEZER

As at 31 December 2023, the Group s gross trade
receivables and a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") amounted to RMB4,654.49 million and RMB389.7
million, respectively.

M2023F12A31H - EXEEZREFRLERERER
FER(EREEBE) 2BREBOIRARKE4654498
BTRARBI8TBEET

The Group' s trade receivables comprise mainly receivables
from property owners and property developers.
EEENESRUFIBEEIZBREETIRYEZREBNH R
I8 o

Management measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL of trade receivables based on the loss
patterns for different customers grouped according to the
shared credit risk characteristics, ageing of trade receivables,
historical loss rates, current economic conditions and
forward-looking information at the end of each reporting
period.
ERERTRAEPNERERRBERAB 2 EERARTE
B 5 RWGIARKRER  BEBEREX - BB RATIEIEE
MoANBERIZESNEZREFIEKARAEEER
e RERT 2EEEE -
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Our audit procedures to assess the ECLs allowance
for trade receivables included the following:

B EE SR IE RS EEBIERENENE
FrEtE

o obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating to
credit control, segmentation of trade
receivables, ageing analysis review and
estimation of credit loss allowance;

TR ERIEEES  BHRUGRIRE S - KK
o REE B RE AL R AR EE
HERET - B RGETARIE

° evaluating the Group's policy for estimating the
credit loss allowance with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standard;
2RBTEENMERGE EREMEHEE
EE BB RIR
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REETEE (A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables (Continued)

B2 BRUWHERzRMEEERRE (H)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(p), note 21 and note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

R RIAR B IR M 1(0) (U B SR ~ HTEE21 KA 32(a)

The Key Audit Matter
BREER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMHEANAEEZSR

We identified the ECL allowance for trade receivables as a
key audit matter because the balance of trade receivables is
material to the Group s financial statements and the
recognition of expected credit loss is inherently subjective
and requires the exercise of significant management
judgement.

HRNESRUKRIBENESRY BESEVBHREIMEBEA
BEHEEFENERAE AT  FEEEEED
BERAME - HBPIBEZRRFAZ BREEBEREEHER
REARESEE -

obtaining an understanding on the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by management, including the basis of
segmentation of trade receivables based on
shared credit loss characteristics, historical
default data and assumptions involved in
management’s estimation of loss rate;
THERERANERHEEBSERILNEREN
kE#® BREREBEAAZEEBEFHETES
W FIRB D EE  BEENERNRERERL
FAEEXRMSRONERER

assessing the appropriateness of management’s
estimation of loss allowance and examining the
information used by management to derive such
estimates, including testing accuracy of the
historical default data and evaluating whether
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information;

A EREEHERRELITNEEEREREERE
ERGHZSHEMANER  BREARBEE
MBENERE M A BEERXETRIEER
BN MBI ERETTEE A

assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were categorised in the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing with
the demand notes, invoices and other relevant
underlying documentation, on a sample basis;
and

FRMBERERARERNTBNE  ERELE
fARRA ST L - HHERRT (4 2 5 e W FR AR e ¥R
TAMERRENBEEENREER - &

re-performing the calculation of the loss
allowance as at 31 December 2023 based on the
Group's credit loss allowance policies.

BE EXEGFEEFRRBRE  EMAER
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REETEE (A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments

ERMIAAVERGE

Refer to accounting policy note 1(g), note 18 and note 32(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

A LB BRI AT 1(9) (YR ATIBUR ~ HIaE 18 R It 32()

The Key Audit Matter
BREER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMHEANAEEZSR

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments carried at fair value was RMB1,628.7
million, of which RMB149.3 million, RMB1.2 million and
RMB1,478.2 million were classified under the fair value
hierarchy as level 1, level 2 and level 3 financial instruments
respectively.

M2023F12A318 - ESEENUATFEFENSRIANA
FEAARK16287HE T HRFARKBI1493BET - A
RE12ABAINAREI4IB2AELD D EAATES
W2E—H F_ERE=—REHBMTE -

The valuation of the Group’s financial instruments is based
on a combination of market data, valuation models and
valuation reports, if any, issued by an independent external
valuer. The above valuation results often require a
considerable number of inputs, including risk-free rate, share
price volatility, expected dividends, discount rate and market
multiples. Some of these inputs are obtained from readily
available data for liquid markets. Where such observable
data is not readily available, as in the case of level 3 financial
instruments, estimates need to be developed which can
involve significant management judgement.
EEESRIANMGENERTSER  MERE KB
L EMATEMAEMMERS (NE)NES - FlfhEARB
BERERERAE  REERRAE  REKD  FEHKS -
BBERNTSEH - Hh—LH AB LR TIENEKE
KRS - WA BRENITT SRS I=A2RIA
AR EEITF - SRS RERNETRE T -

124 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Our audit procedures to assess the fair value of
financial instruments included the following:

HARAFHERTAN A FENEZEFERE

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the valuation, independent price
verification and valuation model approval for
financial instruments;

AN SR T AME  BULERRERMAEER

EHHOBERABEIEOR  BERIETAR

M

o assessing the fair value of level 1 financial
instruments, on sample basis, by comparing the
fair values applied by the Group with publicly
available market data;

FREE ESEEKANATFERQIFTSE
B A AR - R ITANRFE

° reading investment agreements entered into
during current year, on a sample basis, to
understand the relevant investment terms and
obtaining the information related to the
valuation of financial instruments in accordance
with the terms of the agreements to evaluate
the accuracy of the information used in the
valuation;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) RAEETSIE(E)

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

EWMTADPERG(E)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(g), note 18 and note 32(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

A 2k E BTSRRI AT 1(9) Y E AT ~ HIaE 18 R FTaE 32(f)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREER B ETNAEEZER

We have identified assessing the fair value of financial evaluating the methodology adopted by
instruments as a key audit matter because of the degree of management and assessing the reasonableness
complexity involved in valuing certain financial instruments of the inputs and assumptions used by
and because of the degree of judgement exercised by management in the valuations of material level
management in determining the inputs used in the valuation 2 and level 3 financial instruments;

models. FHEEEERANTE LA EEBEEERN
ERIUETERIAMENEREREEANERENEEM F_RLEFE=FcRITAMGEPERNBAENL
EELMABAERELNABEE  HMAZESRIAD BRROEIEN

NHE G AR ETEHE -

° obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group in the valuation of material level 3
financial instruments, if any, on which the
directors’ assessments of the fair value of these
financial instruments were based;
RETiaEl SHEEZREIMNIEERMMLERS
F=FemIA (WA MEMRRNMERS
EERLTGLEERTENATE

o assessing the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity and independence;
FHESMBEEMNER  BREFEXENE > X E
REEBME LB
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) RAEETSIE(E)

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

EBTADPERG(E)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(g), note 18 and note 32(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

A 2k G TSI M AT 1(9) Y E AT ~ MIaE 18 R MTaE 32(f)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREER BEMHWESFNAEEZER
o assessing the valuation methodology adopted

by management and the external valuer with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards, challenging the key
assumptions and parameters adopted in the
valuation, including risk-free rate, share price
volatility, expected dividends, discount rate and
market multiples by comparing these key
assumptions and parameters with available
market data and other publicly available
information and establishing our own valuation
models to perform revaluations; and
2RI NN T HEIRE RIMNDEE
AR A ES L BRERETNEERR
ZEEABTISERNREMAFERBETH LM
EREEFTIZRI[E2H(BEERRBRAE R
BRE FAHKRE  BRRXRTISEE) - W2
YHEMECHMMEEETER &

o assessing whether the disclosures in the financial
statements reasonably reflected the Group’s
exposure to financial instrument valuation risk
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
DERITGFTAERNE R - FEMBHREPIRE
2EAERR EEENSRIAMGERR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

REETEE (A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of potential impairment of goodwill and brand with an indefinite useful life

PR K BAER W LA F 0 @ A R E RS

Refer to accounting policy note 1(f), note 1(k), note 14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

ELBIAR BRI 1) ~ AT 1(k) B9 B S BOR R Mot 14 RMaE 15

The Key Audit Matter
BREER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMHEANAEEZSR

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying value of the Group s
goodwill and brand with an indefinite useful life amounted to
approximately RMB661.3 million and RMB213.1 million,
respectively, which in aggregate represented 4.8% of the
Group s consolidated total assets at the reporting date.
2023512310 - ESENHERABERAEAFH
WMz REAEBEDHIORARBGIBETIARK
2BNEEL  RBERPEHE EEEGSREENLE% -

These assets have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a result of businesses
acquisitions completed in current and previous years.
HRAFEMBEFEESTREBRE RFEECNES
PR IRK P RER -

Management assesses annually whether goodwill and brand
with an indefinite useful life are impaired by means of
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared for each cash-
generating unit to which goodwill and brand with an
indefinite useful life have been allocated, on their own or
with the assistance of an independent external valuer, if
considered necessary for relevant cash-generating units.
EREFFETRABILIMBEEM R T (1R R L8R
ReELsEUMEBLE)RAAE —ECE ERERAR
BERAERAFHNRMEONReELEURRUERRESRER
BIREHEEE R AAERAMEAFHO MBS HIRRE -

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment
of goodwill and brand with an indefinite useful life
included the following:

HIPIR AR SRR K AR ER AR FHN RS E
ERENEARF B

o evaluating the methodology applied by
management in the allocation of goodwill and
brand with an indefinite useful life to relevant
cash-generating units and its preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

SBBTEFTENER - FEEREERBE
SELBMNHENAGERERAFHNMmE
DB R ARBALIRIR E R ETE R ERAN T

° assessing the qualifications, experience and
expertise of the external valuer appointed by
management in assessing the impairment of
goodwill and brand with an indefinite useful life
and considering their objectivity and
independence;
FHEERERENINEEMNER  KRRE
FAE G EEE R AR ER AT
R EDR(E) B B EH BB SB T

° discussing future operating plans with
management and evaluating the reasonableness
of the assumptions including revenue growth
and future profitability;

B IR B A e R SRR 2 B R 8 - AR IAE R N
RRENENFRENEEME
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

REETEE (A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of potential impairment of goodwill and brand with an indefinite useful life (Continued)

PR & BA R R W8 A S A0 R YT AR B ST S ()

Refer to accounting policy note 1(f), note 1(k), note 14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

IJH/

The Key Audit Matter
BREER

BIAR A BITSRAMIAE 1) - AT 100 B9 BB SR e 3 14 B BHAE 15 o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMHEANAEEZSR

Management's impairment assessment involves significant
judgement, particularly in determining short and long term
revenue growth, future profitability and the discount rates
applied, all of which can be inherently uncertain.

B ERRENGE S REXHE - 5 R R AT R AN &S
WA R - REBMGENLBERNBRETH - 289FE
EA T HEEME -

We identified assessing potential impairment of goodwill
and brand with an indefinite useful life as a key audit matter
because determining the key assumptions used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts involves a significant degree
of management judgement and may be subject to
management bias.
HREETHRASRERNFEANIZERRSLBER
EMEREHE  YrRRXEEERFTZE  SRMLEFME
FENAEAERAEAFHNRENETRERIRERE
FHEIE -
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performing a retrospective review by comparing
the prior year's discounted cash flow forecast
with the current year's results to assess the
reliability and historical accuracy of
management's forecasting process;

BRH - FENBRR MR EAFEN
BRETEPHERN  URHEEEERABRE
B A] SENE RGBT SERR N

evaluating the appropriateness of the discount
rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;
FBEARTTEEM AT LA R BB AR X
BIRE M

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts
and considering the possibility of error or
management bias; and

HEEEERMRARSRERAKANZETE
BRFETOHERESN - TERLRERKE
BRERENATRMLE : &

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to goodwill and
brand with an indefinite useful life with reference
to the requirement of the prevailing accounting
standards.

2RBTEFEMER - FHEERA MK HRED
BB LR AR ERAEBFHNREHBE



Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

e B HR KR BENRE L

E/l—l\

EEFTUHEMERAER - HESBETER
FRANZIES  BETBEGFEMBHRER
BT ZBRED IR o

BAEGEEMBHRRNERL MREEME
B R HZFEMERBEREMTE AN

FrUIRUN
E e R

ARABZGEYBHRERME - RANEER
BEEMER  HLEES  ZEEMESZ
BHEEAMBHRKBMEFZBEFEETN
BRFEEANT  IUFFEERHERR

[

3);'[0

ERRPIEETOTHE - HERFRBSEME
SHREAERRL - RMEARESEHEEE -
BAIBLUL W BALAARENFIA ©

ESHGAMBERRARENER

ERARBARBBEESHMAERMAER
MR EERDREB(RBERPDH K E ZK
BREREMTENSAMBEHRE  WHERR
REERE M BERROFE T FHE BN REF S
R 1T B ) B K B8 RR BRI P 7R O R BB ) &

= ©

ERBEAMBREAE  EFARE &
BB ENEE N SWHEBRIER TR R
BREFENER  ULERFHBLE RS
At BRIEFEAEN BXREBRRAFLE
& RPIEEMERNERAE -

ERZBEHPEFTRTEE
WEBEMET -

BERENMG
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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BB E R S M| RAEN
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PRt - W HBARME RN ZEEN RS -
PERBERRES - RIS BAIOERE
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BEREBERBKFHRE  BTEREBRR
(BREFEADETETG  EX —BRER
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

BB E R S M| RAEN
BE (&)

s HEZRAUBELKLE/EMNEZE
ERREFELER  LRECERDE
FHRE MEERAY EKEREK
EORENBREARBOHEHNBERE
ERTHERE - WEMAR/FEEK
THEE R - RAIFE R BED S 12
FEAEIBRAVBERRANBEE
B RHERERES R - AERT RN
ER - w2 ENZBEREA
IEPTEVS VAT RRE - R - RAREMH
HIERATEEN ERETRIFELE -

s HERAMBHRR(ERFEHEE) NHE
BIHRSTA  RERAT  UREGEAH
BHREZERERAAIIHRERR Z NEH

e B EREREBRIEXHIDOMKE
BERER  EENETRE  UEYH
REMBRERERER - BRMAE =B
SEBFOTR - EEMBT - R/
BPNBEZERAZE2HEET -

BREMERS  RAEERZE BB TE
MESTRE  KRZH EXFAERE B
R APIFEF R A R h R BB B Y (R KR
B

BfERECZEGRIBH  FHARMSN
BAEBEBELIENHERERERER - WRMM
BBEURSENERR/SFERMBLIEN
FIBREMEMER  AREERNERLT -
AEBREVE M ERENATTEV S AT A MBI 845
I °
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yue Tat Wai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaREt2EKER

for the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2023F 12 A31 BIEFEE
(AAREITTHIR)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥T T AREEF T
Revenue WA 3(a) 17,393,272 14,856,343
Cost of sales HEXA (14,479,886) (12,454,390)
Gross profit EF 2,913,386 2,401,953
Other revenue Eblg A 4 112,266 157,135
Other net losses H bR E 8 4 (191,320) (8,302)
Selling and marketing expenses tHE RN (342,566) (266,274)
Administrative expenses THFRX (1,274,846) (1,154,772)
Expected credit losses on ST EMEREERX
financial instruments 5(c) (201,722) (193,118)
Other operating expenses Hi & (168,201) (73,762)
Profit from operations P3| pies| 846,997 862,860
Finance income A WA 76,263 48,267
Finance costs b & Ak 2N (78,339) (85,502)
Netfinance costs = BERFRE&® Sa) (2,076)  (37.235)
Share of profits less losses of associates {2 A BB E5 18 145,186 26,458
Share of profits less losses of AMEEERFFERERE
joint ventures (113) 2,079
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEME QG (B1E) W= (17,768) 10,064
Lossondisposal of associates = WEBEARMER o OO o8
Profit before taxation BAIRE 5 972,226 863,941
Income tax FTiSH 6 (256,096) (232,518)
Profit for the year FRFE 716,130 631,423
Attributable to: AR ARG
Equity shareholders of the Company AAEEEEE 605,374 547,501
Non-controlling interests JEIE IR RE RS 110,756 83,922
Profit for the year FRFE 716,130 631,423

2023FEHE SWIRBEEBRAR 133



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaREtEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2023
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HZE20235F 12 A31 BIEEE
(AAREITTHIR)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARET T ARBFT
Other comprehensive income FRAHME2ERA BRBER
for the year (after tax and EN S BERHER)
reclassification adjustments) 9
ltem that will not be reclassified to TEEMH B2 EBmnEE -
profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive DRIRERB 2 H iR E W
income of the investees 26,610 (36,984)
Financial investments at fair value BAFER ARSI
through other comprehensive income  ([{RAFEFFAH 2 mEUE])
("FVOCI") — net movement in STEMNERISE — AT ERE
fair value reserves ZIREE (4,395) (561)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ #E A2 7] AN A 7R B At
financial statements of the Company  E4MTEB A 7 (GEIEIMEE)
and the Company’s subsidiaries WMk R FTEE 2 B AT
outside the mainland China with
non-foreign operation 32,604 186,203
54,819 148,658
ltems that may be reclassified Hig g EFT B E R mIEH
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of  #8 f & (X1 B SN E A )
financial statements of subsidiaries (IBHMEE)
outside the mainland China with SRR AMEE ZIER 50
foreign operation 6,494 2,078
Other comprehensive income FAHMZEKRA
for the year 61,313 150,736
Total comprehensive income FREZEABA
for the year 777,443 782,159
Attributable to: BT AL RS :
Equity shareholders of the Company AAEERIE 666,149 697,275
Non-controlling interests JEIERR = 111,294 84,884
Total comprehensive income FRE2EAWA
for the year 777,443 782,159
Earnings per share SREF 10
Basic (RMB) ERN(ARKETT) 0.19 0.17
Diluted (RMB) BE(ARET) 0.19 0.17

FIMNEINEZMFBATHBREK 2 —2 5 -

The notes on pages 141 to 312 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR Rk

at 31 December 2023 72023412 A 31 H
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (A AR¥ITEIR)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Not RMB’000 RMB'000
P EE AR¥T T ARETIT
Non-current assets kRBEE

Investment properties WEYH 11 365,725 528,397
Property, plant and equipment ME  BMENREKE 12 1,038,845 917,242
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13(a) 934,995 937,618
Intangible assets WA E 14 592,341 529,028
Goodwill (SRS 15 661,261 657,562
Interest in associates Bt N m) e 16 837,436 659,203
Interest in joint ventures R /NEIL 17 9,430 28,681
Other financial assets HEMemEE 18 475,154 1,038,902
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBE = 29(b)(ii) 519,073 355,640
Trade and other receivables B 5 ME M WA 21 69,078 215,555
Prepayments B FOE 19 93,658 66,546
Time deposits TFHFH 23 372,961 78,723
5,969,957 6,013,097

Current assets REEE
Other financial assets HihemEE 18 1,158,480 882,056
Inventories FE 20 673,789 570,217
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A e FaE 21 5,044,833 4,610,396
Prepayments FETRIE 19 212,079 229,968
Restricted bank balances SRR ESRI TR 22 491,243 364,577
Time deposits TEBITE R 23 452 -
Cash and cash equivalents WERREEEY 24 4,530,836 4,183,381
12,111,712 10,840,595

Current liabilities REEE
Bank loans IRITEK 25 267,406 124,294
Contract liabilities EHEaE 26 2,095,751 1,528,834
Trade and other payables BN EMENFRIE 27 4,871,605 4,733,736
Lease liabilities HEAE 13(b) 287,750 257,762
Current taxation BNEAFR 18 29(a) 901,996 684,553
Provisions B 30 133,017 58,295
8,557,525 7,387,474
Net current assets REEETEE 3,554,187 3,453,121
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERS 9,524,144 9,466,218
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR ¥Rk

at 31 December 2023 72023412 A 31 H
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (A AR¥ITEIR)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P EE AR¥T T AREEF T
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank loans RITER 25 23,018 186,638
Trade and other payables B 5 hEMENTIE 27 1,369 5,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 13(b) 1,129,962 1,257,608
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIAEE 29(b)(ii) 97,663 100,514
Provisions B 30 46,928 40,315
1,298,940 1,590,075
NET ASSETS EEFHE 8,225,204 7,876,143
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital R 31(c) 27 28
Reserves s 7,405,508 7,120,961
Total equity attributable to equity =~ 2D FRERRRE(GAER
shareholders of the Company 7,405,535 7,120,989
Non-controlling interests R AERS 819,669 755,154
TOTAL EQUITY RS 8,225,204 7,876,143

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 EE & 2024 F 3 A 26 B #L W RAEITT -
March 2024.

Yang Zhangfa Jin Keli
BE* ERE
Directors Directors
EF 3

The notes on pages 141 to 312 form part of these financial statements.  $F141 23128 7 [WiEB AR EHREx 2 —3 5 ©

ok
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

meEEm 2R

for the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 202312 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (JAARITAI7R)

Atributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KDTRRRREG
People's
Republicof Share of oher
Chin Fairvdue  comprehensive
(the "PRC") Share reserve income of Non-
Share Share statutory option Other Specia Exchange (non- the imvestees Retained cortroling Totdl
capital premium Tesenve resene resene resene resenve recyeling)  fronecycling) profs Totl inferests equity
PEAR AbREER
4iE HEKRE
(1)) LTEER L

BE o BMEE  AERE  BBRRE  AbRE WBR EMRE (E®) (FTEE) AR L. b
Noe  RMBOD MBI RWBON  RVBOD  RMBOD  RBOD B  RMBIO  RNBOD  RVBOD  RMBOD  RVBOW  RWBUD
Wi ARETR  ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ABRTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2022 RunE1A182E8 il 4087755 6300 4n (139,193 1066 (1ds,709) 19,563 16993 331478 7019312 350950 1310262
Changes in equityfor 2022: NNFERERE:
Proftfor theyear FEHE - - - - - - - - - 301 301 039 0143
Other comprehensiv income Lk - - - - - - 187319 (%1) (36,984) - w9 92 150736
Totelproft and comprehensive income: FRHER2ENEEE

forthe year - - - - - - 187319 31) (36984 TS0 91275 4 804 819
Equity settled shere based ransections BREEIRARER LS b - - - % - - - - - - 136 - 036
Shares issued under share option scheme REEREERGRR 3l ' R/AIK] - 14 - - - - - - 258 - 24585
Capltlinectionin subsiaries rom FERBRANBATLE

non-controllng inferests - - - - - - - - - - - 149 Y
Acguistion of subsidiares EHBAT - - - - - - - - - - - 3744 3744
Acquisiton of adoitonal nterests WEHELANE S

nsubsidares - - - - (3663 - - - - - (38663 (17724 (36.387)
Disposal of subsiies HERRAA - - - - - - - - - - - 18 18
Repurchase and cancelaton of hares [EEVes v . 18079 - - - - - - - - 18079 - (18079
Dividend declared and paid to BERREFARERNRS

non-contrllng inteests - - - - - - - - - - - (503 (503
Dividenos declared in respect HBLEEERRS

ofthe previous ear 31l - (542891 - - - - - - - - (302891 - (542691
Balance at 31 December 2022 RNRENFNRZEE il 3498832 63000 128465 (17785) 106 2593%0) (10,144 (19991) 3898979 112099 195,154 1876143
* Amount less than RMB1,000. * SRER AR 1,0007T -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

meEEm S ER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023412 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (A AR¥ITEIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FDTRERRAS
Share of other
comprehensive
Fair value income of
PRC Share reserve  the investees Non-
Share Share statutory option Other Specil Exchange (non- (non- Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve recycling) recycling) profits Total interests equity
REREHZ
HEMRE
ATERE L]

BE  R#EE GEEEEE  BRERR 0 RRBR  RREE  ERRR  (FTE®)  (FUiW)  ReWE &t FEREE LI
Note  RMBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOIO  RWBOOO  RVBOD  RWBOD  RWBOOO  RWBOD  RWBOD  RVBOO VRO RMBON  RWBON

Bt ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTZ  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTZ  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR

Balance at 1 January 2023 ROBE1R1B2ES 2 3,498,852 63,000 126,445 (177,856) 1,066 (259,390) (10,144) (19.991) 3898979 7120989 755,154 1876143
Changes i equityfor 2023: ABERERE:
Proft for the year FEHE - - - - - - - - - 605,374 605,374 110,756 7164130
Other comprehensive income Ef2AhE - - - - - - 38,560 4,395) 26610 - 60,775 538 61313
Totalproft and comprehensive income SRHERRENRLEE

forthe year - - - - - - 38,560 (4395) 26610 605,374 666,149 111,294 43
Equity settld shere based ransections REREIRABERIRS B - - - 313 - - - - - - 373 B B3
Capialnection in subsidiaries fom HARERARBATIE

non-controllng interests - - - - - - - - - - - 13,994 13,994
Acquistion of subsiciares FEHBAT = B = = = = B = = = = 1,645 1,645
Acquistion of acitonel interestsin subsiceres WEMBATHENER - - - - 06 - - - - - 9% (6541) 6,05)
Disposel ofsubsicries HERRAR - - - - = = = = = = o (24,044) (24,044)
Repurchese and cancelaton o hares HERHRA Ul (115,241) - - - - - - - - (115,242) - (115.242)
Repurchase ofshares (o be cancelled) BERG(EFEE - (15,465) - - - - - = = = (15.465) o (15465)
Transfer of ther comprehensive income LERRTEAR B2 AN

of the investees upon the disposal of SHERRERRENRZ

financial assets &t VOCI A2aEkE - - - - - - - - (12 12 = - =
Dividend declared and paid o BERRENEARERNRE

non-controllng interests - - - - - - - - - - - (31,833) (31,833)
Divdends declared nrespect HBEEEERRE

of the previous year 1)) - (285,115) - - - - - - - - (285,115) - (285,115)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RBE12831B 248 0 3,083,031 63,000 160,168 (177,360) 1,066 (220,830) (14539) 6,607 4,504,365 7,405,535 819,669 8,225,204

The notes on pages 141 to 312 form part of these financial statements. F1NZEINEZHTBERGBEREK 2 —59 -
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mEBERER

for the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

HE2023F 12 A31 BIEFEE
(AAREITTHIR)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B et ARET T ARBFT
Operating activities RETER
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIRE 24(b) 1,641,412 896,863
Income tax paid BATFTSHE (205,340) (201,587)
Net cash generated from RETHAEREFH
operating activities 1,436,072 695,276
Investing activities RETH
Payments for the purchase of BEREME UE BER
investment properties, property, e PREEENEEE
plant and equipment, right-of-use (E
assets and intangible assets (502,911) (453,793)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - WERBEEHIE
plant and equipment 2,824 3,419
Acquisition of subsidiaries, W@ AR - BRAESHRS
net of cash acquired (415) (3,394)
Disposal of subsidiaries, HEMBAR - MIBRAAERE
net of cash disposed (15,128) 6,208
Payments for purchase of: BETIISENK
— financial assets classified as — oBEARATESAER
fair value through profit or (MEATEETAEBZ DB
loss (“FVPL") CRVEE (1,141,521) (1,018,236)
— financial assets classified as FVOCl  — S AE AFEFAEMEE
Wi &R & ZE = (7,117)
Proceeds from redemption of: fER T F BTG FIE -
— FVPL — BN EEAER 1,186,332 1,147,526
— listed debt investments — EEBKRE 4,141 27,998
Payment for interests in associates MBS A RIFE E QA
and joint ventures DB/ (42,248) (28,800)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in LEBEQNTNEE QAR
associates and joint ventures FR1S5/IE - 10,967
Investment income received from REMESREEMBIEERA
other financial assets 63,256 35,806
Dividends received from associates BUEE L N FI A ENRIIRE
and joint ventures 56,615 4,564
Interest received BUF B 68,382 62,645
Placement of time deposits, net FHUE BifF k2 558 (285,450) 307,000
Payments for loans and advances ERRBHRAH (88,754) (261,665)
Proceeds from repayment of loans BREERKRBRAERIE
and advances 317,347 26,103
Net cash used in investing activities REEZEFTAREFE (377,530) (140,769)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

meBERER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023412 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (A AR¥ITEIR)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B et AR®ET T AREFT
Financing activities mEEE
Proceeds from new bank loans and FTIZRITE R R EMER
other borrowings SRS 24(c) 329,151 480,725
Repayment of bank loans Tﬁiﬁﬁﬁgm 24(c) (359,846) (321,325)
Capital injection from IEERERTE
non-controlling interests 13,994 24,449
Proceeds from exercise of share options 77 B A4 BT 15 7018 - 24,585
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ BHEER S 2 EAREH 24(c) (154,480) (159,092)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERS 2RSS 24(c) (69,807) (58,852)
Payment for acquisition of W B JEHE AR R 2R 1< 3R
non-controlling interests (6,045) (56,387)
Payment on repurchase of shares B3 BB 1D FUR 31(0)(i) (130,707) (78,079)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders B KA RIS AL R AL &
of the Company 24(c) (285,115) (542,837)
Dividends paid to BRI EERERAIRE
non-controlling interests 24(c) (31,833) (5,283)
Interest paid B F 8 24(c) (22,558) (28,327)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEEAARLS T (717,246) (720,423)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HRERBEEZEYE M, (GRL)
cash equivalents FEE 341,296 (165,916)
Cash and cash equivalents at R1A1EBZRERREEEEY
1 January 24(a) 4,183,381 4,306,619
Effect of foreign exchange ERgnTE
rate changes 6,159 42,678
Cash and cash equivalents at R12A3MAZERER
31 December REEEY 24(a) 4,530,836 4,183,381

The notes on pages 141 to 312 form part of these financial statements.  F£ 141523128 7 i sT B A IEHRER 2 — 55 ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the Group
are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group's interest in associates and joint ventures.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
24 November 2014 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The Company's shares were listed on the
Main Board on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 12 July 2016 (the “Listing”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand, which
is the presentation currency. It is prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial assets that are stated
at their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out below:

— investments in equity and debt financial instruments
measured at fair value (see note 1(g)); and

—  derivative financial instruments (see note 1(h))

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to the entity (the “functional
currency”).

RMB is the functional currency for the Company's
subsidiaries established in the mainland China. The
functional currency of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries outside the mainland China (excluding the
Company's subsidiaries in Australia) are Hong Kong dollars.
The functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries in
Australia is Australian dollars.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following new and amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group. Of these, the following developments
are relevant to the Group's financial statements:

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: International
tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(BR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances, and transactions and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI") either at fair
value or at NCl's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

NCI are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
NCl in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of NCI and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with note 1(r) or (s) depending on the nature of
the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(B&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(e)

(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and
any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(m)(iii)), unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group or the
Company has joint control, whereby the Group or the
Company has the rights to the net assets of the
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations
for its liabilities.

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method, unless it is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held
for sale). There are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI") of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with the Group's long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or the joint venture (after
applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests
where applicable (see note 1(m)(i))).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 1(m)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of business is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 1(m)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Other investments in financial instruments

The Group's and the Company'’s policies for investments in
financial instruments, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in financial instruments are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss.
For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 32(f). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i)  Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

—  Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 1(w)(ii)(c)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

—  FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as if the financial
asset was measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recognised in OCI. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCl is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Other investments in financial instruments
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

(ii)

Non-equity investments (Continued)

—  FVPL, if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity financial instruments is
classified as FVPL unless the investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
OCI. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’'s perspective. If such election is made for a
particular investment at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other net income (see note 1(w)(ii)(b)).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage

its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract
and accounted for separately if the host contract is not a

financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with changes

therein recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B&

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(4)

Investment property

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Rental
income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 1(w)(ii))(a).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the costs of
investment properties, less a residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their lease term.

Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1(m)(iii)):

—  buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land (see note 1(l)); and

—  other items of plant and equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative

periods are as follows:

— Buildings situated on shorter of the unexpired term

leasehold land of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more

than 20 years after date of

completion

— Leasehold shorter of the unexpired term

improvements of lease and their estimated

useful lives

— Office equipment and 3-5years
furniture

— Motor vehicles 3-10years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised
only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
future economic benefits are probable and the Group
intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
upon acquisition of subsidiaries are measured at fair value
upon initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
those intangible assets are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 1(m)(iii)).

150 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

1

SITERAIN  BUAARBITIIR)

FTESEFEE (&)

()

(k)

W - BERRE(E)
= A K Lo B ERRE A0 b 5T R £ A A 1
LI

URHE  mAEmOHEERR

T bR B hETRI{ AR A
gF ¥ SEY-2 .
B iEBim% T A E
%20F)ITE
HEME ERAEMNHEEHRK
= H ST AI{58 AR A 5P
(A& B%E)
e
MAEHZE 3ESF
MRE
B 3104

FEE  AIERFHERMRER
REHREBMBHALAR(NEE
) e

BEE (BRI
AN HRNEELRRER
miER - MEERARABEEMER
SHWFE  EmSURIEERMKLE
E AT - RRQENSAREES
RASEER LA RHERTKEA
ERERKNHEZEENBRL TS
SEXNME - BRI HREERRE
P HERR o

BARMEH) R AR IR IR AR R
FHEEE M AT RETRE BB -

NEBERIRENE R RIBETIRED
HEEEEERIREREEATF
BFFE - RYIIRTEREZ - 258
BERKAR 25T AR R
BEEERT 2 (RHTEE 1(m)ii) °



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible
assets with finite useful lives less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in profit or
loss. The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

— Software 2-10 years
— Customer relationship 6-10 years
— Unfulfilled service contracts remaining contract

periods

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B S4TaERASN -

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

() Leased assets
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items such as
laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease
payments are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (Continued)

(M

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(j)
and 1(m)(iii)), expect for the right-of-use assets related
to car parking space held as inventory are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value (see note

(n)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 1(g)(i) and 1(m)(i)). Any excess of the nominal
value over the initial fair value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and
is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

(BrS1TREEASN

1

BIAARETTIIR)

FTESEFEE (&)

()

HEEE(E)
(i) Vﬁi%ﬂ?#ﬁk(%)
FHEWRENE RIHER

BEAEE A ENEE N K
MR EETT IR MR - A (E
RZAHEN RSN ETR
HMRASHNEELEFE
o AME R MIEE B R
MR- MIaHERK > HER
BABHKATE - BNE
ERRIKRAERMN XL
Ao NEURRHE Bl M & 1
AEHENRETEERE
EREMNFES  XERIR
HEAR AR -

HEEAREE D ERHEM
REERERAETIGEA
E HFBHEMEEAENT
mEeR REBEEARFESRA

&2 BIE L E N FETT

SR I EELESNEA NS
ERERLKHE  MEBEMR
MEELERMBEELE
FE P FE 4 B A0 (A RT AR - R
ZoHBmEEERE - £F
A E BRI AR £ R
FEMRERBRSIMR (M

10) 2 1(m i) + HEERAE R TE
545 ) 12 5 32 75 B0 9 1
BEE  RKA R ERF

BZEEEARRMER)

AR B A 70 DA 38 S R AR 51 B
IR AR SR E NS
R K E1(9)0) B Am)i) -
AREHESRSHEREER
EDHAAKR - ek HEE
B A FENEFMZER
EEREERMEIINEER
RAR - XEFAEREEE
PR o

2023FEHE SWREEEERAA

153



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FEGHBEEE)
(CONTINUED)
() Leased assets (Continued) () HEEEE)
(i)  Asalessee (Continued) (i) MERFEBAE)
The lease liability is remeasured when there is a IR AR EH) 5| KRR
change in future lease payments arising from a THEMREBEAES: HAE
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the E pt R EER T B EN®
Group's estimate of the amount expected to be SREEEEL A EEK
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the BHERTHEEE - THSK
Group changes it assessment of whether it will WIEREENTEE BIE
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. NEEREaGE - 2HESR
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a BEAKATAEF = 8
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying FREEENEREAGEBEED
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in MHERAE  NEREEE
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use MEEEEBERLEES - BT
asset has been reduced to zero. N
The lease liability is remeasured when there is a lease HEETER BEH:t
modification, which means a change in the scope of a EHEaE HEBFER
lease or the consideration for a lease that is not EHETAZLHEELD
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such RESERENHERESR
modifications not accounted for as a separate lease. E8 MBRBIEITRIEA
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on EENEEARK  AINE
the revised lease payments and lease term using a HEEaBETE =
revised discount rate at the effective date of the EzZEBR HERERE
modification. The only exceptions are any rent KIEFTMHEN A HEEH
concessions which arose as a direct consequence of PR A& ETHYBEIR R 1
the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the BETEMBEHT=E - E—
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 K BI5NERE COVID-19 & 1B M
Leases. In such cases, the Group took advantage of BEEELEMNTMESER
the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent ERaEEMBREENSE
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised 1655 71 & 55 46B B AT &L A9 15
the change in consideration as negative variable lease o EZZEBRAT  A&H
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the ENAATEE R ETEA
event or condition that triggers the rent concessions CRAEER/EEET#ET
occurred. AP WA SRS BRI
=Mt EEHENER
NEREZESHEARBAE
HERR -
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not HR TR EREMETEN
meet the definition of investment property in “right- FHEEE WREETER
of-use assets” or “inventories” if they are held for EEBREF AEEMES
sales in the ordinary course of business and presents Bl [ AEEE |k [FE]
lease liabilities separately in the statement of financial R WA B IS AR R
position. BRI THEHEARE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRATTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FEESTEEE)
(CONTINUED)
() Leased assets (Continued) () HEBEESE)
(i) As alessor iy EBHEA

The Group determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A
lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee.
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance with
note 1(w)(ii)(a).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in note 1(I)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECL"s) on:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances, trade and other receivables,
listed debt investments and those loans to
associates that are held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest);

—  lease receivables; and

— loan commitments issued, which are not
measured at FVPL.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FESTHEXR(E)
(CONTINUED)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (m) EEBEREEREE)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) (i) EWMIENEEEFEE)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash
shortfalls are measured as the difference between (i)
the contractual cash flows that would be due to the
Group if the holder of the loan commitment draws
down on the loan and (ii) the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate; and

— loan commitments: current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B S4TsERASN -

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date(or
a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (x5

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when measuring ECLs, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
group'’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

—  the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any

is held).

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in non-
equity securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised
in OCI and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount of
the financial asset in the statement of financial
position.

158 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TTRERASN -

1

BIAARETTIIR)

FTESEFEE (&)
(m) FEBBEREEREE)

(i)

ERMIANEERE(E)
1= B R R Z 10
RETERIANGEERR
B HERBARE D AR L
FHRERREEEHEEER
B AREeERHELE
ANHBZRALE HANA
BEZEERASZER - It
\L%E*EFE$EIZQE?EW%§
REMEEFERBHE
EHEER R ’T%HI EJ%
HEE# -

HeEMmEEAMBB=1
B ARBEREEEERR
RIE LT -

AREBERRERATERE
TREEHLEN:

— BBATAREHEER
EHASENEESR
15 MARE X EER
HERER (WA)FT
) o

TEHREEEBBESEFREH
W EH 2 R B 1A
BRUAREHRTAEZERR
W& - BHEERBESRE
RSB ER AR ERE
wme AEERRAESHMT
AR EERE WBBEIE
BRERYERADSEETH
JEFE  BUARAFEETA
HEtbrmz=(rElsg) srE
RIFERR R B HIG BRI - H

Eﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁuﬁlﬁnﬁ@
R IAAVNS RN ))
2t 2REELEM BRI
FAEMEREETSERD



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRATTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

1

FTESEFEE (&)
(m) FEBBEREEREE)

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) () SWMIANEEEBEE)
Credit-impaired financial assets ZREENZERE
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a REREEE  AEEEFT
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is HERMEERTEBEZER

credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:
—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

B ER4E-HAZHEHS
MEEGBAAKRRESRER
THEENEHE  SRE
EHREERE

ERMEELREERENE
EEBATABRESEMF

— EBALBEBRENBR
B

— BEREH WHERME
FARE

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the — AEBEZRBEREMIB
group on terms that the group would not ATTEEENERE
consider otherwise; HEERSEF

— it is probable that the debtor will enter — ERABAEEESSE

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

TEMPBER 3k

—  the disappearance of an active market for a — BT AMGREHEE
security because of financial difficulties of the A FERTIE o
issuer.

Write-off policy WA

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group otherwise determines that the

TREERGNEENKRE
RBEERAERATAORE
B R N T LAMEE - —R18
SRR AN B A E A 7 U

debtor does not have assets or sources of income FEEBARBEE S WK
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the RALELERZHRESRE MU
amounts subject to the write-off. ERMEE s 25 -

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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W pA Uk o] 25 A HAR RERR A 18
R ERE o

2023FEHE SWREEEERAA

159
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
"holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at
fair value, which is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or to
interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is made
available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available,
where reliable estimates of such information can be
made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is
recognised in accordance with the group's policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

The amount initially recognised as deferred income is
subsequently amortised in profit or loss over the term
of the guarantee as income (see note T(w)(ii)(e)).

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than property carried at revalued amounts, investment
property, inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment.

160 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

1

SITERAIN  BUAARBITIIR)

FTESEFEE (&)
(m) FEBBEREEREE)

(ii)

(iii)

ERHMBREARNEESR
I EREEREITA (BN
RAVELREN R - LAFHIE
ERZEA(HEAD) AR
EEBARERBREH LA
B 168 3R ST A< B A R 0R 1 4
BRONEH -

EHANPBERNSER
FEER  MaFAFETD
LB E T A R T UER
B B IR M) R B 0 40 3 SR E AR
TET7 AR B ET A = (fim
BREMAEL A SME)
% 2ERURBOHDFR
P ATE R &R (R A &S
RZEERE)RMEEZEME
E o MR AZERKE DI
Husl e U B (B - iR R E R
REASBERNZBEE
R ER T T HER o W B AR
BT WER R E T 4B AR
Ba P ERARRAX -

MR ERREERAN SR
PERNERBAREBRT %
HHRWA (R EE1(wW)i)e)) °

HittFRBEERE
REFSEH AEEHHE
FemEE(REGSRIIK
MYE REWE FER
HMBHAKA aNEER
EREHBEERSIN) WEREE
ETRN  UBERRAME
OREIR R - fis th 3R £l
AR - QAT ZEENA
Yo BESFETR
BRI - 2075 7£ (X fa) bk 2R B
o AHEEMNAIKRESER
TG MBEEFET
RO BRI, °



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(B&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising from
a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the
CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iv)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Financial
Instruments on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of
the financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial
year (see note 1(m)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.

(n) Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, cost of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

(ii) Other contract costs
Other contract costs are either the incremental costs
of obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to
fulfil a contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 1(n)(i)), property,
plant and equipment (see note 1(j)) or intangible
assets (see note 1(k)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate
or enhance resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are expected to
be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a contract,
which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
recognised in profit or loss when the revenue to which
the asset relates is recognised (see note 1(w)(i)).

Contract liabilities

A contract liabilities is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(w)(i)). A contract liability is also
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding
receivable is also recognised (see note 1(p)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 1(w)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at
fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note 1(m)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, property pre-sale proceeds held by solicitors
that are held for meeting short-term cash commitments,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see note 1(m)(i)).

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
note 1(y).
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

(t)

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Contributions to the PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the PRC are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share
based payments granted to employees is measured
using the binomial lattice model. The amount is
generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service conditions are expected
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised
is based on the number of awards that meet the
related service conditions at the vesting date.
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivables on the taxable income, or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

— temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the extent
that the group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

—  those related to the income taxes arising from tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in
the group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or
settle of the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on historical
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to
fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see note 1(m)(iii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FEGHBEEE)
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (w) UessBEH MU A
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers iy REAEFEHZWA
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it AEEBERRAEEBEE
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services HEBEPHEER  RHER
or the use by others of the Group’s assets under T E A A AREBEAE
leases in the ordinary course of the Group's business. EEEMEEANBASER
Wz o

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or U 25 PR & R Bk AR 75 B 120 I A
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee BREEEPRAHEARS
has the right to use the asset, at the amount of ZEEFHERER HE4
promised consideration to which the Group is HMANEBEEHERESHN
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts EERE TRERERE=
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes FUWE &5 WETBE
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after HERSEMEER T
deduction of any trade discounts. HBERZ S5 -

Where the contract contains a financing component MEHNTBREAERFPIRIERE
which provides a significant financing benefit to the BI2EANEREE MRE
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is mE Iy - Al SEERS
measured at the present value of the amount EHRETE YHEAER
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that FHE—SRER P R
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction B BLIR R BLIR - M R B U A
with the customer, and interest income is accrued REBRNEESITRS -
separately under the effective interest method. Where ENFREAAEEREHRE
the contract contains a financing component which ABMEFZRELD > 8l
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, BRIEZAENERNRZEIE
revenue recognised under that contract includes the RERFNEEZAENEREA
interest expense accreted on the contract liability BEEEMNFERYL - A&
under the effective interest method. The Group takes EEREBVBREEDSE
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 155 BRI ERETR
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration % BRLE BB A 1218 A sk
for any effects of a significant financing component if UTE BITEmE A/mE
the period of financing is 12 months or less. BOWMEAZEFHBENRE -
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

SITERAIN  BUAARBITIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FESTEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (Continued) (w) WEREEHAMWA (B)
() Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) iy REEFEFEHNZWAE)

B RN SE S R E AR A
RHRAE—ZFHBAOT

Further details of the Group's revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

VRIRFE - iR

(i) Property service fees, consulting service fee, (i)

community living service fee and technology
service fees

For property services, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount to which the Group has
the right to invoice based on the value of
performance completed.

For property service income arising from
properties managed under lump sum basis,
where the Group acts as principal, the Group is
entitled to revenue at the value of property
management service fee received. For property
service income arising from properties managed
under commission basis, where the Group acts
as an agent of the property owners, the Group
is entitled to revenue at a pre-determined
percentage or fixed amount of the property
service fees the property owners are obligated

to pay.

Consulting services mainly include management
consulting services and property under
construction services. The Group recognises
revenue as the services are provided based on
the value of performance completed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(1)

Property service fees, consulting service fee,
community living service fee and technology
service fees (Continued)

Community living services mainly include
community products and services, home living
services, community space services, property
asset management services and cultural &
education services. For sales of goods in
community products and services, and
brokerage services in property asset
management services, the Group recognises
revenue at point in time when the property
owners take possession of and accept the
goods and services. For home living services,
community space services, cultural & education
services and other community living services,
the Group recognises revenue when the services
are rendered. These community services are
normally billable immediately upon the services
are provided.

Technology services mainly include software
development services, information technology
services and intelligent lighting engineering and
design services. For intelligent lighting design
service, the Group recognises revenue at point
in time when the customers take possession of
and accept the services. For software
development services, information technology
services and intelligent lighting engineering
service, the Group recognises revenue as the
services are provided based on the value of
performance completed.

1
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*®A
(i

BEFERZBA(E)
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B HREERE D
FXEETERBE X
BB RS - LR
Em L REH O E i
& KMREETER
B RLERY - N%
BREXHAEREEE
an B AR % Ry g iR Mk o
HRRERS - LRz
IR - XL EHE R
B R Bt @ AR - A
S EERHE R ER
Wat - 7% 5 B R AR B
FER AR & L B
.

B RS E 2 RREEM
R IR - 2 BBk
BB IRA TIE MR
FHIRTS o L RERRAA R
ARBMmE  AKEE
BEP A LZ S RIS

RUTA o BLE R B
AR ~ 15 B B AR TS A0
BReRBPAIREREM
5 AEBEERHERS
R IR X A B (B
TERRUA -

2023FEHE SWREEEERAA

171



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(w) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(il Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an
integral part of the total rental income,
over the term of the lease. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are
earned.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or
loss on the date on which the Group’s
right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The “effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired
subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no
longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to
the gross basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1
(CONTINUED)

FTESEFEE (&)

(w) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(w) WERBEEAMmEA (&)
() XREFEFEHNZIWAGE)

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income (i) B FK R E K

(Continued) A (%)

(d)  Government grants d B
Government grants are recognised in the fird 7] & 32 (R 78
statement of financial position initially W ER BT 6 B B
when there is reasonable assurance that AEBETEH
they will be received and that the Group B 7 A BIER
will comply with the conditions attaching RGN I-R RN
to them. 81 75 1R S & o

o,
Grants that compensate the Group for AREEREH
expenses incurred are recognised as EELARXHNHE
income in profit or loss on a systematic BHERXELD
basis in the same periods in which the ENEEE RS
expenses are incurred. Hh7E 18 P HERR
R o
Grants that compensate the Group for the AREEREE
cost of an asset are initially recognised as BEKAKBOHE
deferred income and consequently are ML HERBEL
effectively recognised in profit or loss as W g & A it B R
other income on a systematic basis over HEEEZAFEA
the useful life of the asset. FHAE RS
HEEERHE MK
N BE AR -
(e) Income from financial guarantees issued (e) BEEITHBER
WA
Income from financial guarantees issued is BEITHEER
recognised over the term of the Yo AR 2 AR B
guarantees (see note 1(m)(i). NIER (B2 kK

& 1m)(i)) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(B&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in OCI:

— an investment in equity securities designated as at
FVOCI (except on impairment, in which case foreign
currency differences that have been recognised in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss);

— qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the
hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

(y)

(2)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the group disposes of part of its interest in a
subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

1
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBTTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EEEHBEXRE)
(CONTINUED)
(z2) Related parties (Continued) (2) FBAEERA (BB)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following by FEUTERIBEBRLT  HEE
conditions applies: BB RN
(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the ) ZEELMAEEYZRE
same group (which means that each parent, —S£BENKERF (R
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the BRAE - WEAR KR
others). ZAMBEAEI 5B EHE
i) °

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (z)(a).

A person identified in (z)(a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(aa) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies, which are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The following critical accounting policies involve the most
significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of
the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (x5

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES 2

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment for financial instruments

The impairment allowances for financial instruments are
based on assumptions about risk of expected credit loss
rates. The Group adjusts judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting inputs for computing such
impairment loss, broadly based on the available customers’
historical data, existing market conditions including forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Any
change in such assumptions and judgement would affect
the expected credit loss to be recognised and hence the
net profit in future years.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward
and deductible temporary differences are recognised and
measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the relevant assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of each reporting date. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a number of
assumptions relating to the operating environment of the
Group and require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such assumptions
and judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the net
profit in future years.

Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets, goodwill, interest in associates, interest in
joint ventures and investment properties may not be
recoverable, the assets may be considered impaired and
are tested for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised
when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined below
its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
determining the recoverable amount which requires
significant judgements, the Group estimates the future cash
flows to be derived from continuing use and ultimate
disposal of the asset and applies an appropriate discount
rate to these future cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARTDEHE2H
(a) Revenue (@ WA
The principal activities of the Group are provision of AEENFEXBARBEYER
property services, community living services, consulting % BREARTS - B RS RRHE AR
services and technology services. 7 o
() Disaggregation of revenue iy WAED
Disaggregation of revenue by major service line is as BREBZRBREWANE D
follows: mT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARETT
Revenue from contracts with ERMBRMEERE 1SR
customers within the scope of HEANZREEEFEYN
HKFRS 15 HIBA
Disaggregated by major service lines 12T BIRF 4R 21D
Property services YRR 11,101,501 9 446,258
Community living services & & AR 7 3,521,880 2,820,751
Consulting services BHARE 2,295,256 2,066,796
Technology services B AR 427,954 489,390
17,346,591 14,823,195
Revenue from other sources H g A R
Gross rentals from investment REMEHRCHER
properties
— Community living services — BE&E R 46,681 33,148
17,393,272 14,856,343
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BR S 1TRERASI

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(a)
(i

Revenue (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 by timing of

revenue recognition is as follows:

F BAARETTIIR)

3 WARZHEH(E)

(@) WA(E)
(i) WAEBD(E)

MAEBBMBEREERES
FEENT P A HRARRE
AFERR B DT -

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Revenue recognised over time: BERS R Z WA
Property services E T
Property services YRR 7 11,101,501 9 446,258
Community living services BER%
Home living services BERAERE 547,453 256,420
Community space services 6 7= FET AR 7% 280,635 249,788
Property asset management services #)% & &E &2 RS 253,132 148,343
Cultural & education services MALEE R 690,827 547,740
1,772,047 1,202,291
Consulting services 3 AR A
Property under construction services TEZ¥) % RT% 2,020,899 1,821,093
Management consulting services EIEA AR 274,357 245,703
2,295,256 2,066,796
Technology services B R
Technology services BHR R 407,984 448,796
15,576,788 13,164,141
Revenue recognised at point RERBRBRIZEA :
in time:
Community living services E &R
Community products and services & & E A RS 1,272,004 1,138,251
Property asset management services #)% & &E &2 R 477,829 480,209
1,749,833 1,618,460
Technology services BERH
Technology services B R 7 19,970 40,594
1,769,803 1,659,054
17,346,591 14,823,195
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographical location is disclosed in
note 3(b)(i).

No revenue from transaction with single external
customer amounts to 10% or more of the Group's
revenue for each of the periods presented.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

For property services and consulting services, the
Group recognises revenue as the services are
provided and recognises to which the Group has a
right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the
value of performance completed. The majority of the
property service contracts do not have a fixed term.
The term of the contracts for consulting services is
generally set to expire when the counterparties notify
the Group that the services are no longer required.

For community living services that involved provision
of services and goods and technology services that
involved software development services, information
technology services and intelligent lighting
engineering services, they are rendered in a short
period of time, which is generally less than a year, and
the Group has elected the practical expedient for not
to disclose the remaining performance obligations for
these types of contracts.

There were no significant incremental costs to obtain
a contract.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARDIHE2HK(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (b) 7EEHK
The Group manages its businesses by geographical NEBZMEVEEEEER - £
location. In a manner consistent with the way in which HERNILE2HRFAEERSITHE R
information is reported internally to the Group’s most AEBERE RS EMKRRTENE
senior executive management for the purposes of resource BERENAR—BMIERT » K&
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has EIRA TFIEAT 28,6 -

presented the following seven reportable segments.

. Region 1: Hangzhou (include Yuhang) o MBE1: HUMN(BIEET)

] Region 2: Yangtze River Delta Region (include o HE2: R=AlE (B
Ningbo) =)

o Region 3: Pearl River Delta Region . WE3: KA

. Region 4: Bohai Economic Rim Region e R4 RIELCHEEME

. Region 5: Australia o HMfE5: JEAAFD

. Region 6: Other overseas and Hongkong Regions o MiB6: EHMEIMIEE

i
. Region 7: Other mainland China Regions . @7 REARREEMME
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (x5

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's senior executive management monitors the
results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all non-current assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables of the individual segments and bank
borrowings managed directly by the segments with
exceptions of current taxation and deferred tax
liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
profit before taxation. In addition to receiving
segment information concerning profit before
taxation, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue (including inter
segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly by
segments, depreciation and amortisation, impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

TTRERASN -

BIAARETTIIR)

3 WARZHEH(E)
S (E)

(b)

i)

DEEE  EENEE

B ERBEF LD HBHE
BERABE AEENSRE
BABRTNIIEELEERRA
EWNHNRE EERA

,fEE.

/\ﬁB§EE$§Fﬁﬁ3ENIL§U§
ERRBEE(EERBEE
BRoN) - DEBEREERMND
B B 5 I H e A~ 5k I8 LA
FEASMBEEETENRITE
R (BN ELREREAE
BRAN) o

WARRXEREZE DS
PrEENRALZED BE
EREE T E SR LK
M mMOBER 28D A0 -

3

ARFrEmS KA EE
EAERTAFE - REEAE
8 bR B AT R B A o 28 & R
Sh BEIEEEREFEBEKA
(&ﬁ’\*ﬁ?ﬁfﬁﬁ) moE

= EEMNASEBRLER
@EH'U%'JE'%U\&F%SE #r
B3 REBEBURR
BENHEEFAERE DS
BENDEBER o o EPE 8
E 2RI UET EHEIN
BBATHEBEMERTEE °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARDIHE2HK(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DEEI|(E)

()  Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (iy WEE BENEGBE)
Information regarding the Group's reportable ATLEE 2023 F [ 2022 F 12
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior A3NBIEFENERD B &
executive management for the purposes of resource D ERBFFE T RAEKE K
allocation and assessment of segment performance BITHERAEBREMAE
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set Hr ;o pEREHNNT ¢
out below:

Year ended 31 December 2023

BEA23F12831ALEFE
Hangzhou Yangtze River Delta Region
il REAKE

Yangtze Other
River overseas Other
Hangzhou Region Pearl River Bohai and  mainland
(exclude Yuhang (exclude Ningbo Delta  Economic Hongkong China

Yuhang) Region Ningbo) Region Region  Rim Region Australia Regions Regions Total

A5

AiM REAKE RHSLE HEN  HEAR

(TRESN) HRLE (FEEER) ERME H=A%E E#E AANE  BEME  AHME @it
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARRTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTz ARET:R

Revenue from external customers MBERPPA 5,450,790 638,138 4832377 1,022,007 1,047,719 2053919 581,234 5377 1,761,711 17,393,272
Inter-segment revenue AHREEA 233,730 55,986 59.0M 2,360 3,904 9,809 - 5 22,400 387,265
Reportable segment revenue A2HAPUA 5,684,520 694,124 4,891,448 1,024,367 1,051,623 2,063,728 581,234 5382 1784111 17,780,537
Reportable segment profit AEHRAPAE 451,622 62746 320,787 39777 18,609 76,445 17969 (224,882 209,153 972,226
Interest income HMEHA 61,800 15 2,336 642 139 658 2,960 6,731 982 76,263
Interest expense HERx (FeEEAMAR)

(excluding expense capitalised) (13,192) 919) (1,872) (10,888) (414) (5.093) (41,823) (220) (3.918) (78,339)
Share of profits less losses of associates M E A AFEREE 133,798 = (13) = = 266 = 11135 - 145186
Share of profits less losses of AMERERTHEREE

joint ventures (206) - 87 - - 6 - - - (113)
Depreciation and amortisation for the & %14

year (excluding expense capitalised)  (FBEEALER) (220859)  (16,799)  (46,833)  (29.931) (8182)  (45533)  (92,720) (26)  (23,669)  (484,552)
Reportable segment assets A2HAPEE 38,994,478 822,614 9384271 2,327,188 1765939 2,969,030 1486204 2,947,661 2,840,432 63537817
Including: (R

Interest in joint ventures RegnamEs 8,801 - 535 - - 94 - - - 9,430

Interest in associates REEDRMER 544,540 - 10,581 - - 553 - 281,762 - 837,436

Other financial assets AbeRAE 810,612 - 35,025 - - - 1164 786,833 - 1,633,634

Additions to property, plant and ERRENE  BRRRE
equipment, right of use assets, FRREE RENE:

investment properties, intangible BVEAENRER
assets and goodwill during the year 245,208 13,825 63,890 19,261 23,032 50,418 17,797 75 23,896 611,402
Reportable segment liabilities FE: VRt 37,535,472 804718  7,416410 1952366 1310171 2,266,868 1,379,963 98,805 2,078,273 54,843,046
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARZERZHH (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (by DERW|(E)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) iy oHEE BEENEERE)
Year ended 31 December 2022
HEARFRANBLEE
Hangzhou Yangtze River Delta Region
i REAHE
Yangtze Other
River Bohai overseas Other
Hangzhou Region PearlRiver  Economic and  mainland
(exclude Yuhang (exclude Ningbo Delta Rim Hongkong China
Yuhang) Region Ningbo) Region Region Region Australia Regions Regions Total
Etogsh
i R=fAitE RABEE HER HEARE

(TEEAR)  SNtE (TEEER) ERE  HKZAtE Bite  EANE  EEME  AMHE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTL ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Revenue from extemal customers HBEPUA 4,560,537 606385 4066425 899388 954900 1824951 452385 2721 1488405 14856383
Inter-segment revenue BEELON 111,145 20371 46,563 2,295 3875 5,182 - - 18829 208,260
Reportable segment revenue T2HAPUA 4,671,682 626,75 4,112,988 901,683 958,775 1,830,133 452,385 2,121 1507474 15,064,603
Reportable segment profit PES V- 180,228 38642 354,260 79,362 95,136 81,030 5589 (9171) 128,865 863,941
Interest income HMEHA 26971 10 3,085 23 25 438 286 15712 1317 48,261
Interest expense (excluding FERT (TREEALER)
expense capitalised) (18,183) (1,607) (2,32 (2,005) (278) 2791 (51,963) - (6,350) (85,502)
Share of profits less losses of associates  HEBE A FIFIEEERE 7,586 - - - - (57) - 21,69 (2,769) 2648
Share of profits less losses of AMEAERANEIER
joint ventures 1,45% - (1) - - (161) 795 - - 2019
Loss on disposal of associates LEBENANEE (285) = - - - - - - - (285)
Depreciation and amortisation for the ~ FEE R
year (excluding expense capitalised)  (TEEER{FR) (178,023) (10,209 (#2713 (23614 (5,500) (44925 (105454) (13 (284)  (43332)
Reportable segment assets 2RI HEE 28,237,360 758,211 7,810,053 2,280,655 1,512,795 2,412,364 1,573,667 255473 2617079 49,754,717
Including: i
Interest n joint ventures RAERANER 6,008 - & - - 8 - 2138 - 28,681
Interest in associates REERANER 32411 - - - - 27 - 286,505 - 659,203
Other financial assets EheREE 910499 - 5 - - - 295 1,007,500 - 1920958
Additions to property, plant and ERTENE BRERHE
equipment, right of use assets, RREAE REDE-
investment properties, intangible BYAENRER
assets and goodwill during the year 489,013 20,663 55,207 262,455 19,862 31519 229,385 - 2912 1,137,016
Reportable segment liabilities A2HAPEE 27493635 512,583 5,926,684 1,606,459 1,070,210 1,676,333 1,259,811 60,093 1783339 41,449,147
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARZE2H (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DERW|(E)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, iy A2HLIBURA-BE &
profit or loss, assets and liabilities EREENHIR
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Revenue LN
Reportable segment revenue A 23k o EU A 17,780,537 15,064,603
Elimination of inter-segment revenue %59 S8R A (387,265) (208,260)
Consolidated revenue (note 3(a)) LA WA (M7 3(@)) 17,393,272 14,856,343
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT

Profit FHE
Reportable segment profit A] 250 S8 F)E 972,226 863,941

Elimination of inter-segment profits 1§55 2B & %1 & - -

Reportable segment profit derived R B A& B HNEE F 0] 2 )
from Group's external customers 7 2R A 972,226 863,941

Consolidated profit before taxation & A4z & FE 972,226 863,941
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

(ii)

(B = TTRERASN -

3 WARZHEH(E)

(b)

BIAARETTIIR)

DE2H (B)

(i) TEHRTBYA - BFE &

profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) EREENEHEE)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREEFTT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A2WmMOEEE 63,537,817 49.754,717
Elimination of inter-segment 58 o 20 e W FR08
receivables (45,975,221) (33,256,665)
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 519,073 355,640
Consolidated total assets IR HEE 18,081,669 16,853,692
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities A2HoHatE 54,843,046 41,449,147
Elimination of inter-segment 35 S0 e IR
payables (45,986,240) (33,256,665)
Current taxation BNERFH 18 901,996 684,553
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 97,663 100,514
Consolidated total liabilities LEBaE 9,856,465 8,977,549
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B&

4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSSES

SITERIN

BIAARETTIIR)

4 HWAMEAMFER

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT

Other revenue Hig A
Government grants (note (i) BT B (B EE () 66,021 93,060
Value-added tax deductible (note(ii)) IRE R (BT Gi) 28,749 51,949
Others Hih 17,496 12,126
112,266 157,135

(i)

Government grants mainly represent unconditional

discretionary financial support from local municipal

government authorities.

Value-added tax deductible mainly included additional
deduction of input value-added tax applicable to certain

() DRATHEBHE B T7 TR TR
HEEGHFRBI IR -

(i)

BEVANEZREERRAEE

LY B8 2 A ASB B FH RO B A

subsidiaries of the Group. A -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Other net losses HiFEE
Net loss on sale of property, HEME - HE R&#FEE
plant and equipment (2,297) (1.273)
Net realised and unrealised losses BAFEFABENEEIRM
on FVPL ARERFER
— Convertible notes (note 18(ii) — AT RR R (5 18() (127,434) -
— Project investments (note 18(iv)(vi)) — BB &% & (M5 18(v)(vi) (18,279) 27,383
— Unlisted equity investments — FETRAEKRE (60,856) 963
— Treasury products — ESEM 63,281 5,730
— Listed equity securities — P TIRAES (22,923) (19,937)
— Funds —He (19,213) 2,710
Net foreign exchange losses bE 3% 5 1R (3,599) (23,878)
(191,320) (8,302)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 BArRE
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BEIALEIG S GEA) TS EEBES -
2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
(a) Net finance costs (a) RERAKFEE
Interest income on financial assets NHBRATENSREE
measured at amortised cost EORIPSNI PN (76,263) (48,267)
Interest expense on bank loans RITEZRE L H 22,559 28,327
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 74,576 68,265
Less: interest expense capitalised W EREERTERN
into assets under construction* B> (18,796) (11,090)
Net finance costs BUE KA FRE 2,076 37,235
* For the year ended 31 December 2023, the interest expense have been *

HE202F12A3NALEFE  FaZHE

capitalised at a rate of 6.23%~7.71% per annum. 1REF 6.23%7.71% R EEITERL -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED) 5 BiarFE(E&E)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
(b) Staff costs (b) BIMA
Salaries and other benefits HEAREMET 4,997,860 4,355,298
Equity-settled share-based R EER DI NER
payment expense (note 28) (PfF5E28) 33,724 39,396
Contributions to defined FTEHFET SR
contribution scheme (note (i) (F3EG)) 785,288 669,834
5,816,872 5,064,528
Included in: A
— Cost of sales — HERAR 4,734,542 4,114,336
— Administrative expenses — TR X 898,001 795,868
— Selling and marketing expenses — HE LAY 184,329 154,324
5,816,872 5,064,528
()  Employees of the Group's PRC subsidiaries are required to () ARNEENTEFNBRAREEESM
participate in a defined contribution scheme administered Bt BB NESHR TR
and operated by the local municipal government. The HEHE - AEFEM P HEM B A TR
Group's PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are WHTEFRENREEHSETA
calculated on certain percentages of the employee salary D AEEMERR - AR EBRK
as agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme &A o
to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
The Group has no other material obligation for the payment B Pt EEHERIN  NEEHERE
of retirement benefits associated with these schemes b Bz Z st 2 A R R R T X
beyond the annual contributions described above. HEKXEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

5 HATAE (&)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
(c) Otheritems () HEAR
Expected credit losses on financial TRIAEHEREX
instruments
— trade receivables (note 32(a)) — B SR (FiaE32(a)) 124,102 125,614
— other receivables (note 32(a)) — H b U TR (B 5E 32(a)) 62,304 16,442
— listed debt investments* — B LmEHRKE
(note 184(i)) (B 5 18()) 15,316 51,062
Impairment losses VERIEN S|
— investment properties (note 11) — WEEWZE (1) 11,708 -
— interest in associates (note 16) — R E R RIS
(KiEE16) 31,870 25,759
Depreciation charge FrEmx
— property, plant and equipment —ME - BEREE 175,043 147,060
— right-of-use assets — [ HEEE 196,188 186,782
— investment properties — BB E 56,721 50,245
Amortisation charge B
— intangible assets —EBIVEE 56,600 49,235
Expense relating to short-term leases RHEEMEEER
(note 13(a)) (BF3E13(a)) 121,269 130,904
Expense relating to leases of HIEEEEERSHEBN
low-value assets, excluding X TEEEHEEE
short-term leases of low-value BEEME (M3E136@)
assets (note 13(a)) 728 849
Provision for lawsuit (note 30) BEIREREA (FI7E30) 91,415 20,000
Cost of inventories FEKA 1,134,658 771,689
Outsourcing labor costs ShE B TR AR 5,398,139 4,652,133
Auditors’ remuneration IZE BB &
— annual audit services — FEERE 4,150 3,850
— review services — &M RS 1,150 1,150
* Comparative figure of 2022 previously included in other operating expenses. * 20225 HILL BN » SERTET A H MR LR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBTTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 HZeBRmkIEMEEKRERZ
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND PiEEE )
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) HmEBEZERZBEREK:
loss represents:
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARMET T
Current tax — PRC corporate BEABiTE — PR EREBH
income tax
Provision for the year F B 396,308 333,044
Under-provision in respect BEFEEEHTR
of prior years 2,075 3,218
_________________________________________________________________________________ Bl 336282
Current tax — Overseas corporate  EIHiFi1E — B DEFFRER
income tax
Provisionfortheyear  FEE® 2269 10232
Deferred tax ELEBE
Origination and reversal of R AR 7 B A S D
_temporary differences oo (164990) [113976)
256,096 232,518
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRATTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and

6 HeEEkHMEEKRERZ
Frig®i ()

(b) RERAHREROBKWERR

accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

B FBZ B

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Profit before taxation FATAE 972,226 863,941
National tax on profit before taxation, BRI ATAEF - 1Z@EB N AR
calculated at the rates applicable to HMEEEROFENHETE
profits in the tax jurisdictions (F3EG)
concerned (note (i)) 260,362 224,113
Tax benefit of subsidiaries subjectto ~ HIB A REAEEHR R
preferential tax rates (note (ii)) F8 (3E (i) (20,063) (21,770)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses, TAIFIBRE RN L
net of non-taxable income HERFEFER A 50,291 18,759
Additional deduction for qualified B BRI B RREINIR
research and development cost (B3 Gin))
(note (iii) (9,267) (7,128)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not REER 2 R EATIEER
recognised mBTE 19,589 23,149
Recognition of temporary deductible ~ H#ERBE FREARERBIELER
differences and tax losses not THEENERA MM EZ5EN
recognised as deferred tax assets HiEEE
in previous years (23,007) (6,610)
Reversal of deferred tax recognised in & 1F F /& FERIEER THE O]
prior years 11,420 5,126
Tax effect of share of results of [ERBE AR REERRIEREL
associates and joint ventures BT E (35,304) (6,339)
Under-provision in respect BEFERETE
of prior years 2,075 3,218
Actual tax expense BRI X 256,096 232,518
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

6

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and BVI.

The income tax rate applicable to Group entities
incorporated in Hong Kong for the income subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax is 16.5%. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits
Tax during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The income tax rate applicable to Group entities
incorporated in Australia for the income subject to
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 during the reporting
period is 30%.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

(BRBTTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

6 HeEEkHMEEKRERZ
Frig®i ()

(b) RERAHREROBKWERR
S FBZENER - (F)

@i

RBEFRSES MG 7B
E(REBHERES AR
KB AEBHBARBRE
AFEHENRBHERES
HIFTIS R »

REBEMKRLINEEE R
BRFRNBREFBNEHL
WARBERFAERHER
16.5% ° B 7 & 2 2023 F K
20226 12ANBIEFE - K
SEIYERREAAHNE
BRBHROBA  BHAEE
WER B EFE B LB -

FA B K R 25 5 1 A 37 B = [
EREAN1997 F(EH
AHEEMRER IR B
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)
(i) PRC Corporate Income Tax (ii)
The Group's PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC
income tax at 25% unless otherwise specified.

melEERkEMEZERERZ
Frig®i ()

(b) RERAHRERNBKNERR
S FABzENER - (F)

Lal= Tk
BRRBMREN  NEBEEF
B0 ) BfY JB8 2 B) 78 12 25% 41 4

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group's certain subsidiaries fulfilled the criteria
required for preferential income tax rate granted
to small and low profit-making enterprised in
the PRC, and were entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 5% on taxable income within
RMB3,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group's certain subsidiaries fulfilled the criteria
required for preferential income tax rate granted
to small and low profit-making enterprised in
the PRC, and were entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 2.5% on taxable income for
the first RMB1,000,000 and 5% on taxable
income for the subsequent RMB1,000,000 to
RMB3,000,000.

Pursuant to Chapter 28 of the Law of the
People's Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax, enterprises are entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% after the
recognition of high and new technology
enterprise.

B DTS ©

B £2023F12H31H
LEFE - AEBE K
BRI EPENEE
BB EEEN
MERE AR
300 & 7T LA A ) JIE 4 752
FGEEXS%NER
PSR -

B 220224 12A31H
EFE - REB R LM
BRRNARENEE
B BEMEHESRHR
RIFE - F—EARE
1008 JT e M T P 1S 58
FX2%ERMEMR
ME BBARE
1,000,0007C & A K ¥
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 HZEeBEEFEMEZEWERZ
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND Fris®i (&)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(ii) PRC Corporate Income Tax (Continued)
The following list contains subsidiaries of the Group
obtained high and new technology enterprise
certifications and entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15%.

(b) RERAHREROBKWERR

S FBZENER - (F)

(i) HEEEAER(E)
ARERFSSAEMERR
& A EXIS%NAEHE
EREMBRRFRL TR

Concessionary Applicable
tax rate period
BEE 318 PR HARR

Hangzhou Greentown Information and Technology
Company Limited 15% 2021 to 2023
M ERIAE B XM AR AR 2021 % 2023
Lvman Technology Company Limited 15% 2022 to 2024
BRI AR AT 2022 % 2024
Zhejiang Huixiang Information and Technology Company Limited 15% 2023 to 2025
MIZZEERXARAT] 2023 % 2025
Zhejiang Greentown Architectural Technology Co., Ltd. 15% 2021 to 2023
LA ERR AR AR 20212 2023
Caizhiyunxiang (Hangzhou) Data Information Technology Co., Ltd. 15% 2022 to 2024
ME=Z (M) BIRESRMAR AR 2022 % 2024
Zhejiang Greentown Housing Service System Co., Ltd. 15% 2021 to 2023
HLEHEERB ZRBRA A 20212 2023
Zhejiang Chunling Technology Group Co., Ltd. 15% 2022 to 2024
T BRI EEAR AR 2022 % 2024

(iii) Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
relevant regulations, additional tax deduction is
allowed for qualified research and development costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRATTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 7

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the

EEME
IR E AL 0I5 3830) R AR (3]
BEFFSERROIE2H  EEHS

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation WEIT :
are as follows:
Salaries, Equity settled
allowances Retirement  share-based
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme  transactions 2023
fees in kind bonuses  contributions expense Total
NEREE
¥ RER WRHRER 023%
Ezhe ENEA BERAL  BAGELR LRERR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT TR ARETT ARETR ARBT T ARETT ARETT
Chairman E3:4
Mr. Yang Zhangfa BEETE - 2,096 960 125 854 4,035
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Jin Keli SHELT - 1,669 960 125 122 2,876
Mr. Wu Zhihua RESRE (R
(resigned on 10 February 2023 2810 BEHE) - 194 - 20 - 214
Mr. Chen Hao RAEE - 1551 374 2 46 1973
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Li Hairong Fhsat 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shou Bainian B 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Xia Yibo Bt 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Zeng Yiming BRRRE(R0BEF
(resigned on 28 March 2023) 3ABEEIT) 75 - - - - 75
Mr. Liu Xingwei HEB s (RB3%
(appointed on 28March 2023 3 8 BEZAT) 225 - - - - 225
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok EREELE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Wong Ka Yi ERELE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Li Feng FEEE 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Wu Aiping REFRL (R AB3F
(resigned on 1 June 2023) bR 1RET) 125 = = = = 125
Mr. Jia Shenghua EfEnk (R
(appointed on 1 June 2023) 6A1REZE) 175 - - - - 175
2,400 5510 2,294 272 1,022 11,498
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

7 DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 7 EEMe (&)

Salaries, Equity settled
allowances Retirement  share-based
Directors' ~ and benefits  Discretionary scheme  transactions 2022
fees inkind bonuses  contributions expense Total
WEREE
Fo RMR DA RER WF
£ 2k BN KB RAGHEIEE  2R5FX &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFL  ARBTL  ARRTL  ARETL  ARETL  ARETRL

Chairman £33
Mr. Yang Zhangfa BEREE - 2,091 621 88 358 3,158
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Jin Keli SRBRL(RANE

(appointed on 1 February 2022) 251 REZf) - 163 886 78 139 399
Mr. Wu Zhihua RESLE - 1,612 703 85 - 2400
Mr. Chen Hao BEEE - 1,524 776 - 317 2617
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Li Hairong el S 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shou Bainian SHERE 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Xia Yibo E-kat 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Zeng Yiming BEREE 300 - - - - 300

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEZS

directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok BRELE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Wong Ka Yi BRELL 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Li Feng FEEE 300 - - - - 300
Ms. W Aiping REMLT 300 - - - - 300
2,400 6,863 2,986 51 2,074 14,574
(i)  There were no emoluments during the above periods paid () M EMEIRS  AREEMERES
by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid TXHsFsFiim A RSEH AT
individuals set out in note 8 below as an inducement to join SRR S - VEABEFRE A
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of WANAKNE E 1% 5 2 E) o BE B
office. In addition, no director has waived or agreed to & o kAN - A LERR - HimES
waive any emoluments during the above periods. WENXEEHRETAME o
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8 &‘R&EHAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2022: A& ZeHFEALH = A20224F : [T
four) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. N BES HENMESHRMFE7EE -
The emoluments in respect of two (2022: one) individual are as M (20225 + —%&) AR B & & 5 10
follows: T:
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Salaries, allowance, and benefits-in-kind 4% - 3285 R E¥WIEF 2,486 1,453
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAL 1,475 64
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGHEIHE R 280 83
Share based payment LARRAD A BT 2 PR 213 -
4,454 1,600
The emoluments of the above individual with the highest LitgaHATHMESEREMT :

emoluments are within the following bands:

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A N

HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 77T 2 2,000,000 % 7T = 1
HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 %8 7T & 2,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T & 3,000,000 7% 7T 1 -
HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 % 7T % 4,000,000 7 7T = -
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

9 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 9 HzmEmuzs
2023 2022
2023 % 02F
Before-tax Before-tax
amount Tax benefit  Net-of tax amount  Taxbenefit  Net-of tax

BARR  HEEE fi&  HAe®E  HAER Btk
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB'000

ARETR AR®TRE ARBTRT ARETT ARETR ARETR

Exchange differences on WTHRECERZE -
translation of:

— financial statements of — BERM NS S B BERT
subsidiaries outside the Bk (n2%)
mainland China with foreign
operation (recycling) 6,494 - 6,494 2,078 - 2,078
— financial statements of — KRB RARERRER
the Company and WIAINEEEE R
the Company's subsidiaries Wk (T ElE)
outside the mainland
China with non-foreign
operation (non-recycling) 32,604 - 32,604 186,203 - 186,203
Equity investments at FVOCI AT AT AR 2 EE
—netmovementinfairvalue  FEZRAEE —AF
reserves (non-recycling) BREEFED
(Tr2E) (4,508) 113 (4,395) (519) (46) (561)
Share of other comprehensive ~ DMERBURHEMEE
income of the investees Wegs (R gleE)
(non-recycling) 26,610 - 26,610 (36,984) - (36,984)
Other comprehensive income  Hft2EHH 61,200 113 61,313 150,782 (46) 150,736
10 EARNINGS PER SHARE 10 SREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREFRZEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BREKRBFARR R L BERR
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the B H 7B A R 605,374,000 7T
Company of RMB605,374,000 (2022: RMB547,501,000) and (20224 : AR #547,501,0007T)
the weighted average of 3,210,924,000 ordinary shares MERNDETERRMNEFHE
(2022: 3,243,688,000 shares) in issue during the year, 3,210,924,000 I I i@ i% (2022 F :
calculated as follows: 3,243,688,000% )51 & - 5TEMT :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares LEBRINETEIH
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
‘000 ‘000
T TFh&
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January N1 A1TBZE3TEmE 3,227,696 3,245,296
Effect of share options exercised R EETE o E - 2,801
Effect of shares repurchased BRI 7 & (16,772) (4,409
Weighted average number of ordinary 712 A 31 B 2 L@k
shares at 31 December NOREE g8 3,210,924 3,243,688
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
(b) Diluted earnings per share

The Company issued potentially dilutive instrument such as
equity settled share-based transaction (see note 28) in
previous years. However, the Company did not include this
instrument in its calculation of diluted earnings per share
during the year ended 31 December 2023, because the
effect of such inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Therefore,
diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic
earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares, which is
the share options granted to certain directors and
employees of the Group which were vested at 11
September 2018 (see note 28(a)).

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
by the assumption of the conversion of all potential dilutive
ordinary shares arising from these equity settled share-
based transactions.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB547,501,000 and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjusting of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares amounting to
3,248,462,000 ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

10 SKREF ()

(b)

BREERR
ARBRNBEFEETTEENH
BUTA WERBEEERND
R Z (RHIFE28) - AT - HEH
E2023F12ANALEFEF - K
ARRBEESREERNNTE
TEEZIAE RAREBRMANE
ERENHED - Qi SRS
BANEEE2023F12A31HIEF
EREREARRFIER -

EEZE2022F 12 A3 B IEFE -
RARB—HEEHEELERK /1
R2018FEIANB R FAEEE
EEFE THRZHE - (RH
£¥28(a)) ©

BREERNLARKRETEER
BN BUA R R L T A 2 4
BRSO RHELHAEEE
BHE BRI D BERE -

SREERFIRIEANA AL BER
f% = FE 16 ' B A R % 547,501,000
TL RIEARZIMETR L ER
3,248,462,000 A% & iE A% 18 R HETT(E
ZEBRMETHEESE &
T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) TiERR M8 (KEE)
2022
2022 F
‘000
TR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 712 A 31 B 2 % 3@ % bt 7 14 81
at 31 December 3,243,688
Effect of equity settled share-based NEREERN X NN SNTE
transactions 4,774
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 7212 A 31 B Z % @A h0#E 7 5 8 (S 85%)
(diluted) at 31 December 3,248,462
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

SITERAIN  BUAARBITIIR)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 11 BREWE
Leased Leasehold
properties  improvements Total
HEWME MHEMEREE wEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARBTT
Cost: R :
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1H1H 250,043 26,235 276,278
Additions NE 281,327 3,347 284,674
Acquisition of subsidiaries LN =YNG 64,400 - 64,400
At 31 December 2022 K2022%F12A31H 595,770 29,582 625,352
Additions NE 9,677 2,027 11,704
Disposals HE (154,910) - (154,910)
At31December 2023 == M2023F12R31H 40537 31eo 482,138
Accumulated depreciation: REHIE -
At 1 January 2022 R2022% 1418 (31,144) (195) (31,339)
Additions NE (53,620) (1,830) (55,450)
Acquisition of subsidiaries LT B T BB A (10,166) - (10,166)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 431 H (94,930) (2,025) (96,955)
Additions NE (56,104) (617) (56,721)
Disposals ak= 37,255 - 37,255
At31December 2023 == M2023%12R31H | s @642 (116421
Accumulated Impairment: ZFHE
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A 31 H - - -
Additions NE (11,708) - (11,708)
Disposals HeE 11,708 - 11,708
At31December2023 ~~ M2023%12A31B S S -
Net book value: BREEE
At 31 December 2023 A 2023F12A831H 336,758 28,967 365,725
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 A31H 500,840 27,557 528,397
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

11

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

No depreciation charge (2022: RMB5,205,000) for the year ended
31 December 2023 has been capitalised in “investment
properties” when these costs are relating to development
activities.

The investment properties are valued by management to be
RMB407,380,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB597,678,000)
using discounted cash flow techniques based on contracted and
expected cash inflows and outflows arising from the investment
properties.

The decrease is mainly arising from an investment property with a
net book value of RMB105,542,000 and lease liability of
RMB136,477,000 under a certain lease arrangement have been
derecognised as the lessor exercised the right of unilateral
termination under the lease agreement resulting in a gain on
disposal of RMB1,576,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023. The Group has also made a provision for impairment loss
of RMB11,708,000 for the leasehold improvement affixed to this
investment property.

11 REWE(E)

HZE2023F12A3MHIEFEIWETE
S (2022 4F © AR¥5,205,0007T) I
BRSNS S E AR &AMt
E[HEWE] -

EIBEBR2023FE12A3BHREYE
R {H1E A A R 407,380,000 70 (2022 4F -
AR ¥E597,678,0007T) © Jh{E A ERE
BYEELENBITHOREHRERAR
MEREIRIR & R e IR EST -

WMOEBTIEEHR  BE2023F12 A
JNEFE BRIEERX -HELHRA
TEREHE A A R ¥ 105,542,000 TTHY IR
EMENMEEAEARK136,477,000
T REASHBEATREHEERAETHE
FHEEIE KMESEEREARE
1,576,0007C » AEEE T AR EMERN
MERETIE AR 11,708,000 7T HY
BEEES -
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - BERKRE
Office
Leasehold equipment Construction-
Buildings  improvements  andfumiture  Motor vehicles in-progress Total
BF HENEEE Rfx(E nE TRIk @t

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR  ARBTR  AREBTR  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR

Cost: 7
At 1 January 2022 RA2%1A18 223958 682,084 218970 35,590 668 1,221,270
Additions HE 10,870 180,631 74511 6,589 5993 278,594
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEENI B A 7,33 629 8,809 1,689 - 18463
Exchange adjustments EHRE - 8,807 1,235 9 - 10,051
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEKBAA] - (1,082) (1,121) (113) - (2.314)
Disposals L& - - 9.727) (3929) - (13,655)
Transfer from BRatRIR

construction-in-progress 3,004 - - Al (3,165) -
At 31 December 2022 RA22%12A318 245,258 871,069 352,677 39,907 349 1,512,407
At 1 January 2023 R2023F 1718 245,258 871,069 352,677 39,907 3,49 1,512,407
Additions RE 15430 194,326 61,307 6,113 4723 281,899
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEENI B A - 1,648 1491 - - 3,139
Exchange adjustments e - 18,645 2232 10 - 20,887
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMBAR - (1) 876) - - (887)
Disposals ek (23) - (13513) 4,490) - (18,026)
Transfer from BEEERIR

construction-in-progress - - 2,325 - (2,325) -
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 260,665 1,085,677 405,643 41,540 5894 1,799,419
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - BMERRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Office
Leasehold equipment Motor  Construction-

Buildings  improvements  and furniture vehicles in-progress Total
HRERE

By HENERE RixB E EEIR st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR

Accumulated depreciation: Z3HiE

At 1 January 2022 R2F1A18 (52,405) (222,826 (154,970) (18,234) - (448,435)
Charge for the year EEYH (8,361) (78939) (56,244) (3,516) - (147,060)
Acquisition of subsidiaries B BAF (868) - (6072) (974) - (7914
Exchange adjustments R - (1,384) (323) ) - (1.712)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - 538 47 38 - 993
Written back on disposals (& - - 7115 1,848 - 8,963
A3 December 022~ RARFRANE sy B8ty @0om o S 95165
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1718 (61,634) (302,611) (210,077) (20,843) - (595,165)
Charge for the year EEXH (7,358) (81,298) (81,778) (4,609) - (175,043)
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEENI B A - - (125) - - (125)
Exchange adjustments e - (2,888) (1,536) @® - (4432)
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMBAR - 3 378 - - 381
Written back on disposals ~ tHE & 9 - 10,616 3,185 - 13810
At31December 023 RABFANA G I N . @ S 760.574)
Net book value: BREE -

At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A318 191,682 698,883 123121 19,265 5,894 1,038,845
At 31 December 2022 R 202F12A318 183,624 568,458 142,600 19,064 3,496 917,242
As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's property, plant R2023% 12 A318 - BREE A 118,256,000
and equipment with carrying amounts of Australian dollar SBIT (R ) (FBE R A R# 543,542,000
(“AUD") 118,256,000 (equivalent to RMB543,542,000) (2022: 2) (20224 © 93,738,000 38 5T (FHE A A
AUD93,738,000 (equivalent to RMB441,860,000)) were mortgaged B #441,860,0007T)) 2 R EEE T4
as security of certain bank loans of the Group (see note 25). 2 MELMRECEBIEAREREET

RITER (RMRE25) 2 HIR G o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 13 ERAEEEREERR
LIABILITIES
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FERAEEE
Leasehold
properties for
own use
carried at
depreciated
cost Other leases Total
BT E AT BR
ZBREEMX Hilg st
note (i) note (ii)
BEEG) R (i)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTT ARBTT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 202291 A1H 1,135,396 72,890 1,208,286
Additions NE 242,697 37,473 280,170
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ YZEEHI B A F) 17,604 - 17,604
Exchange adjustments ME AR (3,553) - (3,553)
Disposals HE (140,305) (120) (140,425)
At_ _3_1_ _Pﬁqgml?_e_r_?_qg?_ o _EA_\_?OZZ F£12HA31H 1,251,839 110,243 1,362,082
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H 1,251,839 110,243 1,362,082
Additions (note (i)) WNE (PEE() 184,621 16,474 201,095
Exchange adjustments 0EE 3, 8 23,498 - 23,498
Disposals HeE (123,792) (3,516) (127,308)
At_ _3_1_ _I_D_e_c.:t?r_'r]l?_e_r__Z_O_Z_i o _75"(‘_\_?023 F12A831H 1,336,166 123,201 1,459,367
Accumulated depreciation: ZEFHiTE :
At 1 January 2022 R2022F 1 A1H (316,985) (19,020) (336,005)
Charge for the year FEXH (179,938) (18,822) (198,760)
Exchange adjustments bE N AR (3,065) - (3,065)
Written back on disposals 1 & #[El 113,246 120 113,366
At_ _3_1_ _I:_)_e_c_gr_tjl_)_e_r_ _2_0_2_?_ o _E‘%_?O_Z_Z_fﬁ 12A31H (386,742) (37,722) (424,464)
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H (386,742) (37,722) (424,464)
Charge for the year FEXH (160,653) (45,059) (205,712)
Exchange adjustments D 34, 8 (7,611) - (7,611)
Written back on disposals R B 109,899 3,516 113,415
At31December 2023 ~ M2023%12A31R | @aston (79,265) (524,372)
Net book value: BRIENFE :
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 891,059 43,936 934,995
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 865,097 72,521 937,618
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13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 13 EAREEREESRE ()

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) FHREEE(E)
For the right-of-use assets which meet the definition of MERAREERSAIREMERTFSE
investment properties and inventories (car parking places), CREM) 2 E%E - BIRKEEZSE
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets as investment FHEEERRAREYMENTE
properties and inventories (see notes 11 and 20). (RMIFE11 2 20) »
Depreciation charge of RMB9,524,000 (2022: HE2023F12A31BIEFE 2
RMB11,978,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023 has € S AR #9,524,000 7T (2022
been capitalised in “Property, plant and equipment” when £ ARE11,978,0007T) B R %
these cost are relating to development activities. SERANERAETHABEERNMEE

(% - BB NMakte] -

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases BN BEEER2HEEZRAYIER
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: DATEAT :
2023 2022
2023 F 20226
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 74,576 68,265
Expenses related to short-term leases %2 EAFE & HFERIE A (5L 5(c)
(note 5(c)) 121,269 130,904

Expense relating to leases of low-value R{K(EEEEMEHEHNER
assets, excluding short-term leases THEEERHREEEEENE

of low-value assets (note 5(c)) (P 5E5(c)) 728 849
COVID-19-related rent concessions B COVID-19 /M & TR
received - (8,563)
() Leasehold properties for own use iy BRAEEYE
The Group has obtained the right to use properties as AREBDFEAHEHZIES
its office spaces, teaching buildings, service FRENEEREERA
apartments and retail stores through tenancy = HEE BREALEN
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial TEME - HEZPIIAFH
period of 2 to 10 years. Lease payments are usually BEB2EI0F - HENK
increased every 2 years to reflect market rentals. —MEWRELFFH— N UK
IS HEE
(i) Other leases (iiy HtHESE
The Group leases office equipment and furniture AEBLA2E10F 2HHME
under leases expiring from 2 to 10 years. ERNERERRE -

2023FEHE HWIRBEEBR AR 207



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 13 EAREEREESRE ()
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) FEAEEEE)
(iii) Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (i) COVID-19{HEEHEEER
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group B E2023412A8318 1t &
did not receive any rent concessions in the form of a € ' £ BiBHICOVID-19%& 18
discount on fixed payments during the period of i B ER ER B 8 4 22 2 B K
severe social distancing and travel restriction PR IS e HARE - AL E I
measures introduced to contain the pandemic of EUBEENREZEITNOE
COVID-19. The amount of fixed lease payments for NEBSHEESER - BLZ=2022
the year ended 31 December 2022 is summarised as F12ANBILEEE  BEEM
follows: EffREEMARIT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HZE202F12A31HIEFE

Fixed COVID-19 rent Total
payments concessions payments
COVID-19

BEMFK  EEESER 4858
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T AREFT
Trade buildings B 5 KE 11,173 (8,563) 2,610

(b) Lease liabilities (b)y HEERE

At 31 December 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable R2023F 124310 EEEHS
as follows: BEMT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR  ARMTR

Within 1 year —F R 287,750 257,762
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERERFEA 313,683 261,603
After 2 years but within 5 years MEEREREFA 564,818 496,360
After 5 years FE% 251,461 499,645
1,417,712 1,515,370
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14

(B&

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 BR.EE
Capitalised Unfulfilled
development Customer service
Software costs  relationship contracts Brand Total
e RETZ
Eagis BR  EPBE  RBAY i @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETR ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1R18 237,901 - 87,281 51,242 203,169 579,593
Acquired from acquisition of  WEEKBE R AITE
subsidiaries 392 - 45,686 - - 46,078
Exchange adjustments [& % - - 391 - 4,036 4,427
Additions NE 80,380 19,810 - - - 100,190
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 8318 318,673 19.810 133,358 51,242 207,205 730,288
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1/1H 318,673 19.810 133,358 51,242 207,205 730,288
Acquired from acquisition of UK BA RIS
subsidiaries 445 - - - - 445
Additions NE 116,704 - - - - 116,704
Reclassified ENAE 19,810 (19,810) - - - -
Disposal HeE (4,592) - - - - (4,592)
Exchange adjustments E e - - 573 - 5916 6,489
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 128318 451,040 - 133,931 51,242 213,121 849,334
Accumulated amortisation: S
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1 818 (120,091) - (11,444) (17,588) - (149,123)
Charge for the year FEYH (25,140 - (10,971) (13,124 - (49,235)
Exchange adjustments [EN A= - - (2.902) - - (2.902)
At 31 December 2022 R202%128318 (145,231) - (25,317) (30,712) - (201,260)
At 1 January 2023 #2231 A18 (145,231) S 30712 - 01.260)
Charge for the year FESH (27,093) - (16,382) (13,125) - (56,600)
Written back on disposals HERD 1,334 - - - - 1,334
Exchange adjustments [EN A= - - (467) - - (467)
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 (170,990) - (42,166) (43,837) - (256,993)
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12 8318 280,050 - 91,765 7,405 213,121 592,341
At 31 December 2022 R 2022% 12431 R 17342 19810 108041 20530 207205 59028
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

14 EBREE (FH)

The Group acquired MAG on 5 July 2019 and recognised the REBER 201947 A5 B K EMAG ([ @
related brand of MAG (“the Brand”) of RMB211,679,000 at the 1) WE RIS B B MAG Z 107
acquisition date. MAG is principally engaged in the provision of kR A R #211,679,0007C - MAGE &
nursery services and day-to-day education services. The Brand is MERUEIE TR R A EHE R -
stated at cost and not amortised while its useful lives is assessed Mz o FAERF G AERE - A%
to be indefinite, and the Group performs impairment assessment MBEKAZ2H BT ETE#E  BEAAR
annually or when indicators of potential impairment are EETTFRAERTBEREEZESEE
identified. The Brand is allocated to the cash-generating unit EITRERE c ZmE A EEMAG 2
("CGU") of MAG, and the recoverable amount of this CGU is cELEEN(BHeELESEN])  BZBE
determined based on value in use calculations (see note 15). SELEMZAINESRENIRBERE
Bt EEFE (RHE15) -
15 GOODWILL 15 E@&
RMB’000

ARBFT
Cost: A :
At 1 January 2022 20221 411 450,988
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries KRB B ARIREE 192,860
Exchange adjustments DEE 3¢, 8 13,714
At 31 December 2022 202212 431 H 657,562
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries REH B ARIRES 1,212
Exchange adjustments b 5 8B 2,487
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 661,261
Carrying values: BRTEIE :
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 661,261
At 31 December 2022 202212 431 H 657,562
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15 GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 15 HE(E&E)

Impairment of CGU containing goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is
allocated to a group of CGU (being subsidiaries acquired in each
acquisition). Such group of CGU represents the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.

REeELEV(BE2HE)RE

RETHEREND  HEEIEE—
MRTELEM (ESREETEAN
MERR) - EUReELFUMAREKAN
SERABEREMNERBEZRERE

S
IN °

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTT

Digital intelligence space (formerly named 225 228 (18 [ 1T 4% 258

"Zhejiang Greentown Architectural BHERBER AR

Technology Co., Ltd.”) 226,387 226,387
MAG MAG 169,281 166,794
Other subsidiaries in property services R EERRTS 2 H AL M B A7) 184,351 184,351
Other subsidiaries in other services REM RS 2 H AL M E A7) 81,242 80,030
Total mEt 661,261 657,562

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections primarily based on the respective financial budgets of
the CGU covering a five-year period estimated and approved by
management.

Digital intelligence space department

The following table sets each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of on acquisition of Digital intelligence space
department as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

ReELBEMZzROeRVIRRERE
REEAEETE %FAEEANRS
MEETRENEEEEBHEAL AT
EReEABUDFHIUBES -

HEEEIM

TRV EEER2023F12A318 &
2022 12 31 BEREB & RkEE T
AZRARESRE =MAHEENEENR
RIERERAREAZ S EEEM/H

Revenue (% annual growth rate) WA (FIEREY)
Cost of sales (% of revenue) SHERA(WAZ%)
Long-term growth rate REEREX

Pre-tax discount rate TATITIR =

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
24.0%-5.4% 25.5%-5%
55.8%-54.6% 55.5%
2.2% 2.3%

17.4% 15.0%
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15 GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 15 HE(E&E)

Digital intelligence space department (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the estimated recoverable amount of
Digital intelligence space department exceeded its carrying
amount by approximately RMB95 million. Management has
identified that a reasonably possible change in four key
assumptions could cause the carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by
which these four assumptions would need to change individually
for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying

amount.

Revenue (% annual growth rate) -3.8%
Cost of sales (% of revenue) 5.1%
Long-term growth rates -4.2%
Pre-tax discount rate 2.4%

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted
average growth rate of 2.2% (2022: 2.3%), which is consistent with
the Chinese Consumer Price Index from 2023 IMF World
Economic outlook. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
CGU operates. The cash flows are discounted using a discount
rate of 17.4% (2022: 15.0%). The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

MAG
The following table sets each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill and the Brand arising on
acquisition of MAG as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022:

HETZEIM(E)

R2023F 1283180 HE =M EF9E
AR S EE L EREEmeEOARIS
BAET - EREDLRE  HEFXFER
RPAER MBI EBIEEER
mETEeRE - TRETT &M EE
BORNFENENSEE  LUEHFTHT
WESEENRE SR -

WA (FERES) -3.8%
HERAR(WAZ%) 5.1%
RHIRRE -4.2%
AT X 2.4%

ReELESBMMAKESEAFERE
Bt E R AEE - ZEE R ERAR
REBEEMENATHYEEENRS
TRIER o BRI R BRRY IR & 5 A B 2R
B 2023 £ IMF World Economic outlook
MERBEERESE —BRMINET
PIB R 2 2% M BT (2022 F : 2.3%) ° FT
AEREVEBRRCELESBAEERN
EEBHRAFEHERE - ZFHEN
Ty ¥ AL IR R17.4%8F 3R (20224 ¢
15.0%) ° FTABLIR K BFLAT - KB
85 2B A By e Bk o

MAG
TREHEEEBR2023F12831H X
2022F 12 A31 BERER & RIEE TS
772 AU MAG E A M2 & R IR E
BRFERAzSBEERE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022

Revenue (% annual growth rate) WA (FIEEZRY) 15%-5% 22.7%-5%
Staff cost (% of revenue) BTHRA(WAZ %) 58.5%-57.6% 55%
Long-term growth rate RHERX 2.5% 2.6%
Pre-tax discount rate AT X 15.7% 15.1%
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15 GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 15 HE(E&E)

MAG (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the estimated recoverable amount of
MAG exceeded its carrying amount by approximately RMB74
million (2022: RMB331 million). Management has identified that a
reasonably possible change in four key assumptions could cause
the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount. The
following table shows the amount by which these four
assumptions would need to change individually for the estimated
recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.

Revenue (% annual growth rate) -1.0%
Staff cost (% of revenue) 1.0%
Long-term growth rate -0.9%
Pre-tax discount rate 0.5%

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted
average growth rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.6%) which is consistent with
the Australian Consumer Price Index from Economic Intelligence
Unit. The growth rates used do not exceed the long-term average
growth rates for the business in which the CGU operates. The
cash flows are discounted using a discount rate of 15.7% (2022:
15.1%). The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.

In respect of goodwill arising on acquisition of other subsidiaries,
the value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections primarily
based on the respective financial budgets of the CGU covering a
five-year period estimated and approved by management. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated to be similar
to that of the respective final forecast years on existing service
capacity. The pre-tax discount rates ranging from 15.01% to 24%
(2022: from 10.10% to 27.40%) reflect current market assessment
of the time value of money and specific risks relating to the CGU.

Based on the results of the above assessment, the Group
determined that there was no impairment on goodwill as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

MAG (&)

2023512 8318 * MAGTE T AT Y @
CHBHEESHEOARBEIAEE T
(20225 : A\R¥ESITEHETT) - BB
BRI NEEZH\RTAIE LN
BB EAEEBRTRES
e TREN T EHERED AT ER
BHEE  UEGHHANITRKESESH
PRESE -

WA (FIEEE%) -1.0%
BIAAMAZ%) 1.0%
RE#ERR -0.9%
FRATITIR & 0.5%

REeEEBMMNAKRESETAFERE
Bt EREET - ZEERERBE
REREBIENTFHUBEENRS
TRTERI o B H T BRIV IR & MR A EE 2R
B Economic Intelligence Unit 8 J8 i JH
BYEHEYE —BMMANETEERE
2.5% (20225 : 2.6%) el - PRAIE R X
WEEARECESESMEEMEEERN
REFHERE - ZEREMIVIRAE
K 15.7% (20224 : 15.1%) BL3R - AT A AL
WERBBAT - RLEAED I E BN
TE LR o

BRRAWEEMKMB AR MEENR
2. . FTHREENTEIZEENERER
A ENBReELEE T AFHMZA
M GRTEERERRS RS - AFH
LAE MR &M E B RETEIFRNIE
BB B - BATRIIRE A15.01%
E24% (20224 : 10.10% £ 27.40%) * =
T EA s HEERREEENFE -
AR BIIR S E A BTN ABRER -

BEEMFHEER ~AEERTHZ
20234 12 A 31 HEm &~ F 12 8 E (2022
F12H31H )
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16

(Bx %

TTRERASN -

BIAARETTIIR)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 16 REE QT 2R
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Investment in associates REERRZI%E 690,322 518,892
Amounts due from associates (note 34(d)(i) & U 2~ 72038 (K 5F 34(d)(i)) 147,114 140,311
837,436 659,203

The following list contains only the particulars of major associates

of the Group. Except for Zhong Ao Home Group Limited which
was listed equity securities in Hong Kong, others are unlisted
corporate entities whose quoted market price is not available:

TREJNLAEEIERE QA ZE

B B RBIREH
MRAFEHIN » HAb
EhEERE:

BRRAARRER L
REMISREZIE

Place of Effective interest
Form of business ~ incorporation Registered held by the Group Principal activity
Name of associate structure and business capital At 31 December and legal status
ERALER AEEM2A310
RELTLR FRRREA EESE &R FRNERER TERB RN
2023 2022
piirkk:3 AN0E

Yiwu State-owned Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMB3,000,000 40% 40%  Property management,

Services Company Limited limited liability company
AETTRSANERIERLT ik o ARE30007 NEEE AREFLA
Shanghai Xinhu Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMB20,000,000 34% 3%  Property management,

Services Company Limited limited liability company
LERBAE R i 7 ABEBONMO7 NEES AREEL
Shenyang Xinhu Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RIB5,000,000 34% 3%  Property management,

Services Company Limited limited liability company
ERASnEREARAR Bl i AR 50000007 NEEE  BREMLT
Quzhou Xinhu Greentown Incorporated the PRC RMBS500,000 34% 3% Property management,

Services Company Limited limited liability company
BN EERARLT i o8 ABESOIDT NEER BRRIELT
Jurong Xinhu Baohua Conference Incorporated the PRC RIMB100,000 34% 3%  Meeting and banquet services,

Center Company Limited limited liability company
anfEEEeETLARLT Bl i ARHE1000007 eaREeRy ARELLA
Zhejiang Xinlv Commercial Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 34% 3% Commercial Management,

Management Co, Ltd. limited liability company
IS HEREEERERAT i ke ARH10,0000007 BXEE BREMLT
Jiangxi Xinlvjing Property Services Incorporated the PRC RIB5,000,000 17% 17%  Property management,

Company Limited limited liability company
IBHEENEREERAR Bl i AR 50000007 NEEE  BREMLT
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16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16 REE QT 2= (&)

Place of Effective interest
Form of business ~ incorporation Registered held by the Group Principal activity
Name of associate structure and business capital At 31 December and legal status
AMHLR AZEMM2A31R
BELTER RRRRRA gXnY ifEx RENERER TERBRERN
2023 2022
A23% w0E
Zhejiang Xinhu Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 34% 34%  Property management,
Services Company Limited limited liability company
RN RREERAT AL Gl ARH 100000007 NEEE  BREMLT
Greentown Lvcheng Ia Community Incorporated the PRC RMBS0,000,000 15% 15%  Property management,
Service Company Limited limited liability company
SR ERREEEARAD i ke ARE500000007 NEER  BREELA
Tuotuo Network Technology Co,, Ltd, Incorporated Cayman lslands, ~ USD100,000 share of 40% 40%  Music education,
business USD0.0001 each limited liability company
operation
inPRC
ZRRGHRARAT Bl FEEE RNPE  10000ETER BRHE BRELAA
EEhEE 00001 £ R {3
Ningbo Yule Investment Co., Ltd. ("Ningbo Yule")  Incorporated the PRC RMB50,000,000 40% 40%  Investment management,
limited liability company
ERRERARRLAA(ERAE ) i hE AEH 500000007 REEE ARELLA
Beijing Oriental Star Technology Co., Ltd Incorporated the PRC RMB33,163,637 12% 12%  Technical advisory,
limited liability company
LRRTZEMERHARLR i hE ARE3163637 7 it ARELLA
Zhong Ao Home Group Limited Incorporated Cayman Islands HKD80,000,000 19% 19%  Property management,
("Zhong Ao Home") limited liability company
hRHFEEARAA ((MRHR ) AL RERE 80,000,000 7 NEEE  BREELT
Greentown Technology Industry Incorporated the PRC RMB50,000,000 10% 10%  Information Technology
Services Company Limited Consultant, limited
liability company
BUNRERRESIARLT AL Gk ARRH 500000007 ARBRER  AREAAA
Zhejiang Yunbang Security Incorporated the PRC RMB10,500,000 31% 3% Security Senvice Technology,
Service Technology Co., Ltd. limited liability company
HIEALREHRARAT AL Gk ARH 105000007 HREMS - AREARA
Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental Technology Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 31% 31%  Environmental Technology
Service Co,, Ltd. Service, limited
ligbility company
HIEZRAHRREARAR i i ABRH10,000,00070 BRNRRE ARELAA
Shandong Tiefa Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RIMB5,000,000 15% 15%  Property management,
Services Company Limited limited liability company
WRERRINFERARAA" i hE AR 50000007 NEEE BRELLT
Hangzhou Jiancheng Asset Incorporated the PRC RMB50,000,000 20% 0% Asset management,
Management Co,, Ltd limited liability company
HMRAEEERARAR i A i ABRH 5000000070 HEEE  BREALT
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16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16 REBERNT 2= (&)
Place of Effective interest
Form of business ~ incorporation Registered held by the Group Principal activity
Name of associate structure and business capital At 31 December and legal status
ERALR KEER12A318
BELTER RRRRRS gXnY &R HENRRELR TERBR RN
2023 2022
223 W0E
Zhejiang Jinlu Property Service Co,, Lid Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 45% 45%  Property management,
\ limited liability company
MIEENRRBERLA AL Gl AEH10,0000007 NEEE BRAMLT
Xi"an High-tech Zone Chuangfu Lvcheng Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 49% 49%  Property management,
Property Senvice Co, Ltd \ limited liability company
BxmhafRe R xR ERA FililzA i ARH100000007T NXER  BREALA
Zhejiang Lancheng Henghui Incorporated the PRC RIV100,000,000 41% 4%  Software and information
Technology Development Co,, Ltd technology services,
‘ limited liability company
WIENEENRERARAA" i e AKEE 100,000,000 AR REEA ARELAT
Zhejiang Greentown Ideal Life Commercial Incorporated the PRC RIMB20,000,000 30% 30%  Management Consulting,
Operation Service Co,, Ltd ‘ limited liability company
WIER R AR B e R AR AR e ke AR 200000007 EREN ARAELT
Shanxi Lvcheng Huamei Property Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 40% - Property management,
Service Co, Ltd ‘ limited liability company
REGHEXNZREEREEAA" AL Gk MK 100000007 NEER  BREALT
Zhejiang Zhijiang Property Service Co,, Ltd Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 49% - Property management,
‘ limited liability company
WL INFERARAR" e k! AR 100000007 NEER  ARAMLT
Zhejiang Lanzheng Enterprise Management Incorporated the PRC RIMB20,000,000 21% - Management Consulting,
Consulting Co, Ltd ‘ limited liability company
MIELCXERFAARLT" AL e AEB 200000007 ERHN ARELLT
Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain Incorporated the PRC RMB20,040,000 49.9% 100%  Supply Chain Management,
Management Co,, Ltd ("Zhejiang Yunyong")i) ‘ limited liability company
WIZBHERERARAR" i T AR 20,040,000 ffEdER  EREALT
(THIZRED
* The English translation of the company name is for reference only. The * NAIGHOEXTZEMRS2E - ZZ QAN

official names of these companies are in Chinese.

(i) On 31 August 2023, a third party injected capital amounted to
RMB10,400,000 into Zhejiang Yunyong, a sole subsidiary of the Group, and
held it's effective interest of 50.1%. The Group's interest is diluted to 49.9%
and holds one-third voting rights of the board of directors after the capital
injection.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
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16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summary financial information on principal associates:

16 RBHE DTz & ()
EEMEATZ M ENME -

FRIRZUWHEMUE (CRAFER
SR BREAEZERELFE) MG A 3%

Summarised financial information of Zhong Ao Home, adjusted
for fair value and any differences in accounting policies, and a

reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial HEREEEHEFRENT
statements, are disclosed below:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Gross amounts of Zhong Ao Home FRIREEEER A
Current assets MENEE 1,392,285 1,333,274
Non-current assets ERBNEE 666,745 939,793
Current liabilities ViEIR=RE 986,042 1,085,076
Non-current liabilities JERBAG 40,281 149,849
Equity R 1,032,707 1,038,142
Revenue for the year FEIRA 1,709,642 1,664,839
Profit for the year FE R 83,972 70,577
Total comprehensive income P ERE 83,972 70,577
Included in the above current assets: FTALIURENEE
Cash and cash equivalents RWENRIREEEBY 531,583 448,311
Reconciled to the Group’s investment  EAXREERBHE QA TREZHE
in the associates
Gross amount of net assets B N R EEFEERE
of the associates 1,032,707 1,038,142
Group's effective interest REBERER 18.67% 18.67%
Group's share of net assets REBSIhZBE AR EEFE
of the associate 192,806 193,821
Goodwill HES] 17,259 42,829
Exchange adjustments [E T 22,770 19,443
Other adjustments Hith 7% 27,123 18,578
Carrying amount in the consolidated SEVBFHRRERE
financial statements 259,958 274,671
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16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of Ningbo Yule, adjusted for

16 RBHE DTz ()
ERARLZHHEANEE CERATER
G BB EAERIFHER) REAH S

fair value and any differences in accounting policies, and a

reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial MERBEEEZHERENT
statements, are disclosed below:
2023
2023 F
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Gross amounts of Ningbo Yule ERRLEHMER 2L
Current assets MENE E 475,525
Non-current assets IMBEE 190,623
Current liabilities VEIN=NE 247,359
Non-current liabilities FRBAE -
Equity e 418,789
Revenue for the year FERKA 2,281,518
Profit for the year FEME 455,898
Total comprehensive income PHEWHAER 455,898
— Attributable to equity shareholders — AR AR EG
of the Company 323,189
— Attributable to Non-controlling interests — R R R IR 132,709
Included in the above current assets: STALMRENAE ¢
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 284,091
Reconciled to the Group’s investment HAEEREE QATAREZHER
in the associates
Gross amount of net assets of the associates BiE AR EEFEERE 348,826
Group's effective interest REEEEEZR 40.00%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REBOEZEE AR BEFE 139,530
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial e B mAREE
statements 139,530
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16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16 REE QT 2= (&)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:

BRI T ERRB SRR MR B EH

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 6
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Aggregate carrying amount of e S ImRAR N A B FEE KR E
individually immaterial associates RNRIHERREE
in the consolidated financial statements 404,794 244,221
Aggregate amounts of the REEEREZEHE N FNEST
Group's share of those associates’
Profit from continuing operations HEEETE 145,186 13,281
Other comprehensive income Efb 2wz - -
Total comprehensive income FHEN=BE 145,186 13,281

Impairment losses

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of investment in Zhong Ao
Home was RMB63.6 million based on its quoted market price,
which was below its carrying amount by approximately 75%.
Management of the Group performed an impairment test and
determined the respective recoverable amount of the investment
based on its value in use. The calculation has considered pre-tax
cash flow projections of Zhong Ao Home for the five years ending
31 December 2026 with an extrapolation made to perpetuity. The
discount rate used to discount the cash flows to their respective
net present values was 13% (2022: 12%) based on cost of capital
used to evaluate investments of similar nature in Mainland China.
Management judgement is required in estimating the future cash
flows of Zhong Ao Home. The key assumptions are determined
with reference to external sources of information. Based on the
management’s assessment results and sensitivity analysis
performed, an impairment of interest in Zhong Ao Home
amounted to RMB25,570,000 was recognised as other operating
expense for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In addition, some of the associates of the Group incurred
continuous losses. In view of this, management of the Group
performed impairment test on interest in such associates and
made a provision for impairment loss of RMB48,059,000 at 31
December 2023 (As at 31 December 2022: RMB41,759,000) based
on the results of the assessment, an impairment of interest in
such associates amounted to RMB6,300,000 was recognised as
other operating expense for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BEEE

202312318 - RIBEHH RE -
PRITOEEAFEAARE66H
Bt WERmMEN75% - AEEEE
BHEITHRENR  TiZEFEREEETE
BEMNERATKE SR - ZTEEEE
FEBIREE2026F12A31HIERE
FEUREGEHZ KERBMOFRANIE
SRETEN - HIREREIR BHEEF
B RFAT 3 A B9 RG IR R 5 13% (2022 4F -
12%) » TYER A E R B A R A E
PRI E B E AR ARMIERE o Bt
BRERKRRESREN NE B HE -
BRBRE2EINBERTRET - BiE
EEBIGERNBRELN  BE
2023F 12 A31HILFE - RAEIRE
R RE AR 25,570,000 0 R A
EMageE s -

AN AEBOBEEBE QAR ESHE
BiE - BERI  ~EBEEEELHNE
LR N ERETRENS 822
2023 12 A 31 BR B HERFTIRRE
B9 1 B 1 AR5 48,059,000 7T (72 2022 4F
128318 AR¥41,759,0007T) © H =
202312 A3 BILEE » REEHAN
A A 2R E A R 5 6,300,000 T B FERR
BHMEERS -
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17 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

SITERAIN  BUAARBITIIR)

17 REERT 2=

The following list contains only the particulars of joint ventures,

which are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements:

TREFINRAMEER G A M HEE
N A BATZEH

Form of Place of Effective interest
business incorporation held by the Group Principal activity
Name of joint venture structure and business Registered capital At 31 December and legal status
ML AEEM2A31A
RELNRER EBRRER xR EMER HAENERESR TERBRARBA
2023 2022
2023 0225
Shanghai Huamu Greentown Property Incorporated  the PRC RMB1,000,000 50% 50%  Property management,
Management Company Limited limited liability company
EREARSHNEREER AR AL i AR#1,000,0007T WEER  BREMLA
Anhui Yanye Greentown Property Incorporated  the PRC RMB3,000,000 60% 60%  Property management,
Management Company Limited limited liability company
RHEXRHNEREBR AR AL i AR 3,000,007 WEER  BREMLA
Xiangtan Chengfa Greentown Property Incorporated ~ the PRC RMBS5,000,000 51% 51%  Property management,
Service Company Limited limited liability company
MEDREEANZRBEERLA MR P AR#5,000,0007T DEEE  BRALAF
Sensegain King (Hong Kong) Limited Incorporated ~ Hong Kong HKD50 million ordinary 40% 40%  Investment holding,
("Sensegain King") (note (i) share of HKD1 each limited liability company
USD29,780,000
preference shares of
USD1 each
Bte () ERAR(HEE)) ML &R SNEEETERIET REZR  BRAELH
(REEE () Lak
29,780,000 =5 R
1 X2 BER
Zhejiang Lvshu City Operation Incorporated  the PRC RMB10,000,000 50% 50%  Property management,
Service Co,, Ltd limited liability company
MIREAmELREERAR" MR PE ARH10,000,0007T DEEE  BRALAF
* The English translation of the company name is for reference only. The NFILBHEYFEEERIE - ZENFN

official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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17 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

All of the above joint ventures in which the Group participates
are unlisted corporate entities with no quoted market prices
available.

()  Sensegain King is a joint venture in which the Group has
joint control through its acquisition of 40.30% equity
interests in its preference shares as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Sensegain King is an investment vehicle structured for the
purpose of investing in common shares of Palantir
Technologies, Inc. ("Palantir”), a big-data company in the
United States, which was listed in New York Stock Exchange
in September 2020.

Furthermore, major operating decisions of Sensegain King
and the eventual disposal of Palantir Technologies, Inc.
requires the unanimous approval of the ordinary and
preference shareholders. According to the shareholders’
agreement, the Group is only responsible for the
proportionate share of the profit and loss, assets and
liabilities arising from its indirect investment in Palantir.

17 REERT & (K)
e LA EES RN A E AR R
ETREER - BAETISRE -

() BRit&AAERE AEEEBR
2023 K 2022412 A31 BB H
18 5E B% 40.30% 1 % 1 B R 2
4 o

B RREZBER  URER
=S R B & X FlPalantir
Technologies, Inc. ([Palantir]) (7
20209 A HEHI IR 5 P 1) B
EBAR -

PEoh - Bx i © 2 F B EEREK i
# 1) & Palantir Technologies, Inc.
JE A8 AR N B o R IR R — Bt
e RIBIRRG®E - AKBEEBER
2 B ) o> 8 H R 298 & 7 Palantir
EEZER BERAE-
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17 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 17 REZE QAR ZE: ()
Bite 2 HEMRE (CHREHREL
AZRELFE) RMFaPBRRERE

Summarised financial information of Sensegain King, adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the

carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, are ZHBEEBENT
disclosed below:
2022
2022 F
RMB’000
ARETT
Gross amounts of the Sensegain King's BittSEHER 24
Current assets mEBEE 19,247
Non-current assets JEMENEE 55,833
Current liabilities ik N=NE 4,323
Equity Pt 70,757
Revenue WA -
Loss for the year FERE (104)
Other comprehensive income from fair value NP EEE 2 H 2 E K (T E1E)
change (non-recycling) (99,022)
Other comprehensive income (recycling) Hh 2 E W (T 818) 7,356
Total comprehensive income PHEWH AR (91,770)
Transfer of other comprehensive income HEmrEBat AT ESE (T gsE)
from fair value change (non-recycling) RS IREE A H
to retained profits -
Included in the above current assets: SFALMURENEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIREEED 21,478
Reconciled to the Group's interest in HAEERERItE R ZHER
Sensegain King
Gross amount of Sensegain King's net assets Bt EEFEERE 70,757
Group's effective interest REEEEER 40.30%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REBOhZEE RRBEFE 28,515
Exchange adjustments VE 5 B 6,377)
Carrying amount in the consolidated rEMBHRRENE
financial statements 22,138

Sensegain King disposed all of remaining common shares of
Palantir in 2023. Accordingly, the group of such the realised gains
was transferred from other comprehensive income to retained

profits.
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17 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 17 REZE QAR z#E: ()

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually ERETEANELARNEGEEER
material:
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 6
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBET T

Aggregate carrying amount of individually #R& B BImEAERIZEEREE

immaterial joint ventures in the NARIWARRREE

consolidated financial statements 9.430 6,543
Aggregate amounts of the Group's AEBEREZFAERFEETH

share of those joint ventures'’

(Loss)/Profit from continuing operations BEgL (E1E),/FE (113) 2,079

Total comprehensive income FEWEETE (113) 2,079
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18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 18 HittEmEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Current Non-current Current Non-current
mE IETRED k) FERE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AREBFIT AREBFIT
Financial assets measured at BB AT EZ
amortised cost CREE
— Listed debt investments, — FTEKERE
net of loss allowance MR EERE
(note (i) (PH=E () 1,356 3,612 6,457 16,168
Financial assets measured at FVPL 32 AP {EzH AEZ 2
— Treasury products — B8 EM 35,025 - 64,668 -
— Listed equity securities — ETRAES 147,582 - 168,220 -
— Convertible notes (note (i) — AR SRR (P FE (i) 338,179 - - 459,604
— Unlisted equity investments — kETRAKE
(note (iii) and note (iv)) (P & (i) B2 PR (iv)) 41,868 86,614 33,528 154,764
— Investment in China CVS — # China CVS
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited
("China CVS") ([China CVSJ) &Y
®E - 27,147 - 53,530
— Investment in other unlisted — REMIELTERE
entities 2IRE 41,868 59,467 33,528 101,234
— Unlisted equity investments of ~— ZMIBEIEEZ
underlying project investments ELTRARE
(note (iv)) (PREE (iv)) 97,822 - 133,696 -
— Project investments (note (vi)) ~ — HE & & (FI3E (vi) 246,411 382,092 210,908 400,000
— Funds (note (v)) —H&Z& (W) 249,072 - 264,579 -
1,155,959 468,706 875,599 1,014,368
Financial instruments measured at 2 AP EF AR 2 E
FVOCI (non-recycling) WHtEZSRIA
(“Rer&lEE)
— Interest rate swap arrangements — F| RS Hi 2 4k 1,165 - - 2,953
— Listed equity securities — FRARES = 1,706 - 3,192
— Unlisted equity investment — JELTIRAIEE = 1,130 - 2,221
1,165 2,836 - 8,366
1,158,480 475,154 882,056 1,038,902
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18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

The listed debt investments are measured at amortised cost
using an effective interest rate of 4.85% to 9.65% per annum
(2022: 4.43% to 9.65% per annum). An impairment of listed
debt investments amounted to RMB15,316,000 (31
December 2022: RMB51,062,000) was recognised according
to the ECL model (See note 5(c)).

China CVS is principally engaged in operating retail stores
in the PRC. On 28 September 2017, China CVS issued
convertible notes to the Company for a principal amount of
USD54,000,000. The convertible notes bear interest at 6%
per annum. On 26 October 2022, the Company and China
CVS agreed that China CVS shall execute a deed of
modification. Pursuant to the modification, the maturity
date shall fall on 26 October 2024. The Company
reclassified the investment to current financial assets as at
31 December 2023.

The Company has used a market approach to measure the
underlying share fair value of the China CVS and adopts
Binomial Option Pricing Model to determine the fair value
of the convertible notes as at the end of each reporting
period. Key valuation assumptions used to determine the
fair value of convertible notes are presented in Note 32(f).

Unrealised losses recorded on convertible notes in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2023 is RMB127,434,000.

TTRERASN -

BIAARETTIIR)

18 HitE@EE (&)

(i)

(i)

TTEBREEATERFNX
4.85% % 9.65% (2022 4F : 4.43% &
9.65% ) FE# SHAN AAFTE o ETHIET
WA RE AR 15,316,0007T (2022
F12A8318 « AR¥ES51,062,0007T)
TR EEHEEEEEXER(A
FEE5(C)) ©

China CVS Holdings Limited
([China CVS]) EZH ER R B
ETEPE - B 2017969 A281 -
China CVSM R A Rl 1T RN & 58
54,000,000 3% 7T < AJ #A AR =R © 3%
SR EBRERRFNEOHWR -
R2022F 104268+ &N A 7 &
China CVS1 5 ' China CVS#5 %
E—MEFIRIE - BIEZIER] - 5
HEBAE2024F10A26H - XA
AIR2023F 12 A3 B ZIREE
MoBERRBEREE

A BB H A ™% A5 &2 China
CVS Z iR D B A F1{E » I RN
“HEHARRETERAE TN SRS
iR mERAN A TE - ANE
FEAEREREATENEZHER
BRETIRHIFE32() ©

HE2023F12A3MBLEFE 24
AEZREMEEKGR P A ER
EBRBEGAEREBEAARE
127,434,000 7T °
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18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The unlisted equity investments at FVPL of RMB128,482,000
(2022: RMB188,292,000) mainly represent non-controlling
interests in private entities. None of the shareholdings
exceeds 20% of the issued capital of the respective investee
and the Group did not have significant influence on these
invested entities.

The unlisted equity investments of underlying project
investments at FVPL of RMB97,822,000 (2022:
RMB133,696,000) mainly represent non-controlling interests
in a partnership with underlying project investing to certain
company.

The Group entered into several contracts of funds (the
"Funds”) with financial institutions. The return of the Funds
is determined by reference to the performance of the
underlying instruments including equity and debt securities.

Project investments mainly represent project to certain
companies that up to the Group's credit quality
requirements. The gross amount of RMB400 million,
bearing interest at 6.4%, will expire before August 2025.
The remaining RMB211 million, bearing interest at 6.5%,
has no fixed due date.
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

BAFER ABm 2 I EMRAR
& R/ A R #128,482,000 7T (2022
F: AR®188,2920007T) + £ Z
RYNERE IS - FTEs
BRI REBBEREHREHETR
KEN20% > AEBEUZFREHR
BEAVE -

ERAFEFAERCERER
BEZELETRAEBEBAR
#97,822,000 70 (2022 F : A R #&
133,696,0007T) * TERREFHE
WMIEERENE TARAIERHF
R FEEAR M2 o

AEEESREBIVENES
TE2DEH - Eem®wH2ER
ERAREGESFOEBTAZ X
REE -

HEKRETERAELFEEAEE
EEEREROARRMEEE - A
REA0EB L2425 BA X
6.4%%F B ¥ 120258 A A B
H- B THARE2NEE L &
FIE65% S EETERHH ©
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19 PREPAYMENTS

19 FENFRIE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 &
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Prepayments for purchase of BEE M RRBENHKIE
goods and service 212,079 229,968
Prepayments for purchase of BEEREEARDE BEK
intangible assets and property, BAETEN I
plant and equipment 90,908 66,546
Others Hib 2,750 -
305,737 363,064
Less: Amount included under W SAITRBEE] S HE
“current assets” (212,079) (229,968)
93,658 66,546
20 INVENTORIES 20 7€
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 ¢
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Properties held for re-sale* H{EEEy ¥ 542,967 422,509
Merchandise for re-sale e 120,746 129,392
Others Hih 10,076 18,316
673,789 570,217

Properties held for re-sale represent right-of-use assets relating to car

*

parking places purchased by the Group for re-sale.

BEFBENXEARERELRFESENA
BfERREE -
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21 ESREMEWRRK

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 %
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P 5T ARET T AREEFIT
Trade receivables (i) B 5 FEUEIA (i) 4,654,489 3,840,857
Less: Loss allowance of A B S EBGRIEEERE
trade receivables 32(a) (389,695) (324,094)
Trade receivables, B S RINGIE - IR EIERE
net of loss allowance 4,264,794 3,516,763
Payments on behalf of REREFZNHFIE
property owners 319,187 354,517
Deposits e 325,640 313,562
Loan receivables TEE = 204,286 468,495
Advances to staff HAFET 53,934 79,780
Receivable from disposal of HE M B A B EU R IE
subsidiaries 38,359 35,374
Others Hi 41,243 128,985
982,649 1,380,713
Less: Loss allowance of B H AL R G IE A B EME
other receivables 32(a) (133,532) (71,525)
Other receivables, net of loss E b fE IR - OB E IR R
allowance 849,117 1,309,188
Less: Other receivables due after B —FREIEREA
one year, net of loss allowance FEUSFRIA - FOBRES 1B B S (69,078) (215,555)
5,044,833 4,610,396

Trade receivables are primarily related to revenue recognised B RENGET BRI ERE
AR - 7K AR TS B B e AR 75 P e B2 Y

WAKERE

from the provision of property services, community living services,
consulting services and technology services.

For other provision of services and sales of goods, trade

HREMRBRENEDHEE  Z5E

receivables are due when the receivables are recognised. HRIBALFEU R AE RS R HR o

(i) Included in the balance of trade receivables, there is a sum (i)
of cash-in-transit of RMB 143,546,000 which has been settled
subsequently in the bank of the Group.

A R #143,546,0007T - B E 1%
HEEEAKERITERER -
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21 BEZRHMEYK(E)
(CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis AR DT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of BEREHKR - BRIBEWATEZHE B &I
trade receivables based on the date of revenue recognition and GESEWNRIERERENE SRR
net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as follows: TEERE DTN ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Within 1 year —FR 2,734,183 2,704,165
1to 2 years —EMF 1,041,867 737,506
2 to 3 years ME=F 427,564 58,199
3to 4 years =EmE 55,581 14,011
4 to 5 years MERF 5,599 343
Over 5 years AFEE - 2,539
4,264,794 3,516,763
For further details on the Group's credit risk management policy FEAREEEERRERBIKRRESHE
and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note WHRIEFTE & E B R AE — T FIEH
32(a). RHIFE32(a) ©
22 RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 22 ZRFIBITHER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Escrow funds held on behalf of REEPHANTEES
customers (note 27 and note (i) (K5E 27 B M5 G)) 64,112 45,900
Cash collected on behalf of the owners’ REEZSWEHNIES
associations (note 27 and note (ii) (B 3E 27 B2 BT 52 (i) 320,383 272,609
Funds for litigation preservation of HoMBARFRAREES
some subsidiaries 59,546 -
Restricted deposits (note (iii) R #5177 20 (BT i) 47,202 46,068

491,243 364,577
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22 RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED) 22 ZRHISRITHEER ()

(i)  Escrow funds represents the advance cash deposits ) FEEERARNREEMERERS
received from buyers as requested by sellers to secure the BREERERAERKNEMNIRE
transactions during the provision of real estate agency S -
services.

(i) The Group collects cash on behalf of the property owners’ (i) AEERXREZSWEIRSE A
associations as part of its property management service EYMEEERBEBSBHN—ZD - B
business. Since the property owners’ associations often face NEZeKRENHRETERELER
difficulties opening bank accounts, the Group opens and RS At AREBRRRESZSH
manages these bank accounts on behalf of the property BN EBZERITERER -

owners' associations.

(i)  As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, restricted deposits (i) PM2023F K2022%F12H318 - ¥
represent certain deposits in the designated banks as REFRAEE T ERETRITIER
guarantees for the execution of cleaning services and HITREZIRBOERTRREREE
deposits for utilities. He o

23 TIME DEPOSITS 23 EHER

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBFT
Time deposits held at the bank RERITFRIA 2 EBFER 373,413 78,723

Less: Amount included under B IIATRBEE| WERE
“current assets” (452) _
372,961 78,723

As at 31 December 2023, the time deposits held at the bank have 2023FE 128318 REBETHABEZTE

annual interest rate ranging from 1.55% to 3.70% (2022: 2.65% to B EFIE N F1.55% & 3.70% (2022

3.70%). F 1 2.65% & 3.70%) °

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 BERRELZEEY

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BERKRLEBEYWEIE:

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARMET T

Cash in hand FHEE® 501 945
Cash at bank RITER 5,021,578 4,547,013
5,022,079 4,547,958

Less: Restricted bank balances (note 22) & : R R #1745 65 (B3 22) (491,243) (364,577)
4,530,836 4,183,381
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 BERBREEEY (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BEAAHERCEEBRTEN
generated from operations: REHER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
ks AR¥ET T ARBTT
Profit before taxation B B B 1R 972,226 863,941
Adjustments for: SERE
Depreciation charge FrEX W
— property, plant and —mE - BEREE
equipment 5(c) 175,043 147,060
— right-of-use assets —EREEE 5(c) 196,188 186,782
— investment properties —REME 5(c) 56,721 50,245
COVID-19-related rent Bl COVID-191H@HE S
concessions received W = (8,563)
Amortisation of intangible assets 7 & &= # §5 5(c) 56,600 49,235
Expected credit losses on TRITANEREERXKX
financial instruments 5(c) 201,722 193,118
Impairment of Investment property & & Y% EE 11,708 -
Impairment losses of interestin B &E Q&) 2 R EEE
associates 5(c) 31,870 25,759
Interest expense FERXZ 5(a) 78,339 85,502
Interest income B U A 5(a) (76,263) (48,267)
Equity-settled share-based NEmEERND XN ER
payment expenses 5(b) 33,723 39,396
Net realised and unrealised BRATEFAEZHEER
losses/(gains) on FVPL MABIREEER, (W) 185,425 (16,849
Net losses on sale of property, &Y - HE R&#E 2
plant and equipment ERFE 4 2,297 1,273
Share of profits less losses of DA R BN R EE
associates (145,186) (26,458)
Share of profits less losses of AihEE R B FEREE
joint ventures 113 (2,079)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEWBRRM
subsidiaries e (as) 17,768 (10,064)
Gain on a bargain purchase ZEBEOWS = (286)
Loss on disposal of associates HERE QAR = 285
Realised exchange gains EERE N K (16,510) -
Changes in working capital: HEEREY
(Increase)/decrease in inventories & (3&H0) 2> (57,767) 48,791
Increase in trade and B 5 I H b FEWRIG AN
other receivables (771,789) (1,304,368)
Increase in restricted bank PR G ER1 T FIG N
deposits (126,666) (81,674)
Increase in contract liabilities BB EEM 502,024 95,972
Increase in trade and B 5 I E Ath - FRIEIE AN
other payables 313,826 608,112
Cash generated from operations #&&&FT5H G 1,641,412 896,863
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 RERBELEZEY (&)
(CONTINUED)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () BMETBFRELZAEBYHRE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRANAEERMETETELS Y
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash BEEH(RERS MRS E
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are ) MEEDEACEEARS
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will mEdAKBEREF BB A
be, classified in the cash flow statement as cash flows from WERERZAE EHMERS R
financing activities. EzAE-
Lease  Loan froma Dividend
Bank loans liabilities third party payable Total
RHE
BITER HERE HFZHER EARE st

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®Tn AR¥Tn ARBTr AR%Trn

(Note 25)  (Note 13(b)) (Note 27)

(MtzE25)  (Bi=E13(b)) (M 27)

At 1 January 2023 M2023F181H 310,932 1,515,370 22,698 - 1,849,000
Changes from financing MERLRELT:

cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank MERITERREMER

loans and other borrowings g 3E 329,151 - - - 329,151
Repayment of bank loans BEFTER (359,846) = = = (359,846)
Capital element of lease ERNHEERS 2 EXHEH

rentals paid - (154,480) - - (154,480)
Interest element of BERHERE ZFIEHS

lease rentals paid - (69,807) - - (69,807)
Interest paid BERFIS (22,558) - - - (22,558)
Dividends paid to equity BRARDAIERRERN

shareholders of the Company ~ f& 8 - - - (285,115) (285,115)
Dividends paid to non- [RERELE 2S¢ =0l 8,

controlling interests - - - (31,833) (31,833)
Total changes from RERGTELDEE

financing cash flows (53,253) (224,287) - (316,948) (594,488)
Other changes: Hitt#5
Increase in lease liabilities FABFEHEMEMN

from entering into new HESHE

leases during the year - 176,086 - - 176,086
Decrease in lease liabilities RENERERE

from disposals - (145,873) - - (145,873)
Interest expenses (note 5(@)) &7 (H7E5(a)) 22,559 74,576 - - 97,135
Acquisition from subsidiaries  UEEH B A 7] 4,000 = = - 4,000
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBRR - - - - -
Exchange adjustments [E X A% 6,186 21,840 329 - 28,355
Profit distribution FEA IR - - - 316,948 316,948
Total other changes Hih @)@ 32,745 126,629 329 316,948 476,651
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12831H 290,424 1,417,712 23,027 - 1,731,163
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 RERBELEZEY (&)
(CONTINUED)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing ) METBHFELEZEEHE
activities (Continued) (&)
Lease Loan from a Dividend
Bank loans liabilities third party payable Total
RE
RITER HEEE E=FEX FERTAR S @5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®ETR ARBFr AR&Tr AREFR
(Note 25) (Note 13(b)) (Note 27)
(f5E25)  (MIEE13(0) (Fi=E27)

At 1 January 2022 202251818 152,487 1,150,338 20,775 249 1,323,849

Changes from financing MERSRELE !

cash flows:

Proceeds from new bank loans  ¥1IER1TE 7 R EMED

and other borrowings fiigsoa 480,725 - - - 480,725
Repayment of bank loans BEETER (321,325) - - - (321,325)
Capital element of lease ENRERE 2 EXRTEH

rentals paid - (159,092) - - (159,092)
Interest element of lease ENHERE ZFIEHS

rentals paid - (58,852) - - (58,852)
Repayment of loan from BEREE=FER

a third party - - - - -
Interest paid BEAFIE (28,327) - - - (28,327)
Dividends paid to equity BRRAAIERRERN

shareholders of the Company &8 - - - (542,837) (542,837)
Dividends paid to B IFERERERE

non-controlling interests - - - (5,283) (5,283)
Total changes from RERGRELHEE

financing cash flows 131,073 (217,944) - (548,120) (634,991)
Other changes: Hi 25 :

Increase in lease liabilities FREFNEEEmE M

from entering into new HEBRE

leases during the year - 503,266 - - 503,266
Decrease in lease liabilities REREAGERE

from disposals - (10,666) - = (10,666)
Interest expenses (note 5(a))  F BB T (MizE5(a)) 28,327 68,265 - - 96,592
Acquisition from subsidiaries  YtBEH B A7) - 17,287 - - 17,287
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAT (3,800) 97) - - (3,897)
Exchange adjustments [& 3 2,845 4921 1,923 - 9,689
Profit distribution AR - - - 547,871 547 871
Total other changes HitgsEHE 27,372 582,976 1,923 547,871 1,160,142
At 31 December 2022 M2022%12831H 310,932 1,515,370 22,698 - 1,849,000
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 BERBLSEEY (H)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d)y #EERSAKD
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases HINHEERSRERTHLEN
comprise the following: T
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET AREEFTT
Within operating cash flows REEIRESREN 121,997 131,753
Within investing cash flows RIRERESRENRN 38,110 36,123
Within financing cash flows RRERESREN 224,287 217,944
384,394 385,820
These amounts relate to the following: e TS RAR
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Lease rentals paid ENEERS 346,284 349,697
Prepayment for leased properties ENEEYE 38,110 36,123
384,394 385,820
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25 BANK LOANS

(a)

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

25 RITERK

Short-term bank loans (a) SEHIBRITER
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P 5T ARET T ARETIT
Secured AR 0) = 19,094
Unsecured it (ii) 49,230 105,200
49,230 124,294

Add: current portion of m: REFRITBEZUREI D

long-term bank loans (iii) 218,176 —
267,406 124,294

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2022, secured bank loan with a
carrying amount of RMB19,094,000 was secured by
restricted bank deposits with the carrying amount of
RMB3,039,000.

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured bank loans with a
carrying amount of RMB49,230,000 (31 December
2022: RMB105,200,000) were interest bearing ranging
from 1.8% to 5.8%, among which carrying amount of
RMB4,000,000 was jointly guaranteed by a subsidiary
of the Group and Bluetown Agriculture Technology
Limited, a non-controlling shareholder of the Group's
subsidiary.

As at 31 December 2023, secured bank loans of
AUD45,000,000 (equivalent approximately to
RMB218,176,000) (31 December 2022:
AUD39,000,000(equivalent approximately to
RMB183,838,000)) were secured by certain property,
plant and equipment of MAG with the carrying
amount of AUD118,256,000 (equivalent approximately
to RMB543,542,000) (31 December 2022:
AUD93,738,000 (equivalent approximately to
RMB441,860,000)). The secured bank loan bears
annual interest rate of 4.18%-7.53% (31 December
2022: 3.47%—6.55%) and will be due in 2024.

Such loan is subject to the fulfilment of certain
financial covenants of MAG. If MAG was to breach the
covenants, the drawn down facility would become
payable on demand. MAG regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants. As at 31 December
2023, none of the covenants relating to drawn down
facility had been breached.

(i)

(i)

R202%F 128318 REEAA
R#19,094,000 L2 B EIFIRITE
)0 BR E A A A R 3,039,000
T2 SR BRI TR SRAEI AR o

MR2023F 128318 EEEAA
R # 49,230,000 7T (2022 % 12 A 31
B AR¥105,200,0007T) 2 £iK
HIRTER  EFEFNENF1.8%
E58%F B EFEREEBEBARK
4,000,000 7T F1 A £ B 2 — FE Y /B
AaEl Kk —FEK B AR 2 IR AR E
EWEENEBRARER -

R2023F 12 A31H » AR
B 5145,000,00008 L (5ERHAR
#£ 218,176,000 7T, ) (20224 12 A 31
H : 39,000,000/ T (R4 AR
#183,838,0007T)) Jh A MAG BR Al
B4 118,256,000 7T (ZE AR
& 543,542,000 7T ) (2022412 A 31
B : 93,738,000 T (H R % AR
¥ 441,860,00070)) 2 & T ¥ % -
i KR e IR - BEIPRITE
AR F F T 4.18%-7.53% (2022 F
12 A31 8 : 3.47%-6.55%) & B o
ZE G 2024 F I HY o

BBEEFRBEETMAGE TH KR
o MMAGE RZ 4 BIE R
BE IR BR(EIE - MAGTE B E
REUWZEZHNETERL - B
2023128310 WEENREH
IREURE H ALY -
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25 BANK LOANS (CONTINUED) 25 RITER(E)
(b) Long-term bank loans (by RHEIBITER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B &E AR¥T AREFT
Secured I
— CNY denominated — UAREEHE (i) 23,018 2,800
— AUD denominated — URTTEHE 25(a) (iii) 218,176 183,838
241,194 186,638
Less: current portion of B RERITERREH S
long-term bank loans 25(a) (iii) (218,176) -
23,018 186,638
()  As at 31 December 2023, a secured bank loan of ()  H2023F12A31H  HHE
RMB10,218,000 was secured by certain property, plant iR 17 B & A R #10,218,000
and equipment of the Group with the carrying amount T HAAEBRKREEAAR
of RMB10,829,000. The secured bank loan bears #10,829,0007T 2 & FH% -
interest rate of 4.35% per annum. R KR E K - B
R1TE FIRF F F4.35% 51
B o
As at 31 December 2023, unsecured bank loan with a R2023F12 A31H - BREAE
carrying amount of RMB12,800,000 bears interest B A R #12,800,0007T 2 &
rates 5.10% per annum and will be due on 12 January HEHETEL  BHEHMX
2028. 5.10% 518+ W7 2028 F 1

R12B %8 -
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26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

26 ENEE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 &
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Property services R 1,740,579 1,304,496
Community living services & AR 7 338,823 203,203
Consulting services BHARE 11,100 11,312
Technology services BHE RS 5,249 9,823
2,095,751 1,528,834
Movements in contract liabilities: SHBEESET :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREEFTT
Balance at 1 January ®1A1BZ &% 1,528,834 1,343,105
Revenue recognised that was included FItAGRaEER
in the balance of contract liabilities B R A
at the beginning of the year (1,503,197) (1,318,498)
Increase in contract liabilities as a TEWBRTG R E 2 & H B E1E N
result of receipts in advances of
provision of services 2,070,114 1,504,227
2,095,751 1,528,834

BHEBERBEKRENMERKE - &N
RGE - HRREELBEREE -

Contract liabilities represent prepaid property services fees,
consulting services fees, community living service fees and
technology services fees received.

WA TE #) BT WER B BB TR B 0 BB — 5
‘R RE RN SR AR 43,099,000
70 (20224 + AR 24,186,0007T) ©

The amount of receipts in advance of performance expected to
be recognised as income after more than one year is
RMB43,099,000 (2022: RMB24,186,000).
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SITERAIN  BUAARBITIIR)

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 B RHMENRE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B =E AR®T T AREFT
Trade payables E S ENFIE 2,004,758 1,941,839
— Billed trade payables — BH#EE S ENFIE (a) 1,825,281 1,800,977
— Accrued trade payables — BB S EA IR 179,477 140,862
Bills payable EREE 81,097 226,734
Trade and bills payable B 5N FOE MM iR 2,085,855 2,168,573
— third parties —%=5 2,054,709 2,150,896
— related parties — BB 34(d) 31,146 17,677
Less: trade and bills payable W —FRIENE S
due after one year N FRIE R ENEE (1,369) (5,000)
Trade and bills payable (current) BoENZIBRLRENEZE
(BNER) 2,084,486 2,163,573
Refundable deposits REES (b) 589,032 537,477
Escrow funds held on behalf of REBEFEHANIEES
customers (note 22) (FftzE22) 64,112 45,900
Cash collected on behalf of the REEZSWEMIES
owners' associations (note 22) (ft7£E22) 320,383 272,609
Temporary receipts B B SR (0) 470,053 502,237
Amounts due to related parties FE A~ BB 5 FR0E 34(d) 102,326 91,489
Loan from a third party E=ZHER 23,027 22,698
Other payables H b e I8 259,028 262,656
Financial liabilities measured REBENTTENSRAE
at amortised cost 3,912,447 3,898,639
Accrued payroll and other benefits 5T T & B M E {th 18 553,010 504,880
Other tax, charges payable HMFR - ERBRA
and accruals fEztIEH 406,148 330,217
4,871,605 4,733,736
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27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 27 EZ R H A ETIE (H&)

(@)  Trade payables mainly represent payables arising from sub- (@) BIEMNFEXEESBRE(E
contracting services including cleaning, landscaping, IEHEFEFPTIRENREZ 28 - @&
maintenance and security services provided by suppliers, ERRERS) EERENFKIE
and payable for the purchase of goods and car parking LA K B8 B 7 @b R B BB AL Y FE A5 3K
places. 5 o
As of the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis BESHREHR  EREEREHN
of billed trade payables, based on invoice date is as follows. EHEESRNREBERE TN

—|? o
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Within 1 month —fEAR 1,363,728 1,332,920
After 1 month but within 3 months —EABE=EARN 149,035 136,361
After 3 months but within one year A R&ET R —F 207,908 186,833
After one year —E 2% 104,610 144,863
1,825,281 1,800,977

(b) Refundable deposits represent miscellaneous decoration b) FHREREANEEHENEETR
deposits received from property owners during the BEFEIRRERS

decoration period.

(c) Temporary receipts represent utility charges received from © BREEREREXLAREARRIE
residents on behalf of utility companies. PWEE NRAREER °
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

The Company

Pursuant to a resolution of shareholders of the Company
passed on 25 May 2018, a share option scheme was
adopted (“Share Option Scheme”) for purpose of providing
incentives to certain directors and employees of the Group
("Eligible Participants”). Pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company are authorised, at
their direction, to invite Eligible Participants.

On 11 September 2018 (the “First Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to 4 directors of the Group
and certain employees of the Group (“the First Grantees”)
at nil consideration and the First Grantees finally
acknowledged to subscribe for 122,410,000 shares of the
Company under the Share Option Scheme at an exercise
price of HKD6.116 (the “First Grant”). The closing prices of
the Company's shares immediately before the Date of Offer
and on the Date of Offer were HKD6.06 and HKD5.71,
respectively.

On 23 January 2020 (the “Second Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to certain employees of
the Group (“the Second Grantees”) at nil consideration and
the Second Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for
33,150,000 shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme at an exercise price of HKD9.214 (the “Second
Grant”). The closing prices of the Company's shares
immediately before the Second Date of Offer and on the
Second Date of Offer were HKD8.92 and HKD9.214,
respectively.

On 14 September 2020 (the "Third Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to certain employees of
the Group (“the Third Grantees”) at nil consideration and
the Third Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for
25,770,000 shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme at an exercise price of HKD9.3 (the “Third Grant”).
The closing prices of the Company'’s shares immediately on
the Date of Offer and the average closing price for the five
business days immediately before the Third Date of Offer
and on the Third Date of Offer were HKD9.28 and HKD9.3,
respectively.
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R AR DB RER 201845 A 25
FIBBHORZESR - RABRE S
(TSR] URAKEET
ExLERE((RER2HEE DRRHK
AR - RIBERERE ARRE
FERENBAFAERSEE -

R2018F9ANMBIHEEAELYNH
B ) AR RIE BB E A
6NMEBTLHITEENETREMAE
EENEEERAEBETRE
([B—FEADRTERE  F—
AR A B KRR TR 122,410,000
BADRRG (TEREE]D » AR
AR BEEHASIERENA
BT (B 5 Bl & 6.06 7 7T &% 5.71
PBIT ©

R2020F1ABB(EF-_EZ Y
BER]) + AR alRRERRAERT S
9214 B TTWTEENETREMAE
EEETRERE((FE_ARADELY
BIEHE © 5 AR AR TERRE
33,150,000 % A2 A1 R 17 ([ 28 =X
Bl e RRBRMNERF _@AZ
ABHAENE —EZE4 B BB
TEDRIE8.928TK9.21478 7T °

R2020F9 A4 E =24
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93BTTHMITHEENETERERASE
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

The Company (Continued)

On 26 July 2021 (the “Fourth Date of Offer”), the Company
granted share options to 2 directors of the Group and
certain employees of the Group (“the Fourth Grantees”) at
nil consideration and the Fourth Grantees finally
acknowledged to subscribe for 33,130,200 shares of the
Company under the Share Option Scheme at an exercise
price of HKD8.902 (the “Fourth Grant”). The closing prices
of the Company's shares immediately on the Date of Offer
and the average closing price for the five business days
immediately before the Fourth Date of Offer and on the
Fourth Date of Offer were HKD8.31 and HKD8.803,
respectively.

On 8 December 2022 (the "Fifth Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to 1 directors of the Group
and certain employees of the Group (“the Fourth
Grantees") at nil consideration and the Fifth Grantees finally
acknowledged to subscribe for 41,464,500 shares of the
Company under the Share Option Scheme at an exercise
price of HKD5.580 (the “Fifth Grant”). The closing prices of
the Company’s shares immediately on the Date of Offer
and the average closing price for the five business days
immediately before the Fifth Date of Offer and on the Fifth
Date of Offer were HKD5.318 and HKD5.580, respectively.
The options have vesting periods of 3 years commencing
after 12 months from the date on which the Eligible
Participants have achieved the length of service in the
Group and have a contractual life of 10 years. Each option
gives the holders the right to subscribe for one ordinary
share in the Company.

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

28 LUESEHEIURDAER ZX

5 (18)

(a) 2T (E)
R2021F7 2683 ([ FEWEZ 4
BEID) » AR AR RERAERTEIA

8.902/8 TLHTT{E B A TR ERA
SEMBEERAKEETEE
([FmARA DR HEBRE - B0
AN R AR TE R PR BB 33,130,200 %
AR ([FOXREL ) - AR
AROERZHBEHANKHERE
EFENEZYHBEHAELEBRR
FOEZA B BMFHRTEDH R
8.31 87T & 8.803 87T °

M2022E12 B8R ([ FEHEAZE L
BE]) - AARIRBIERERT A
5.580 8 T HITT B AT RE M A
EE-—XEERAEBETRE
(IERARADELERE  £1
EAR AR ERRE 41,464,500 %
AARBH (FERXRE]) - AR
AR BE BB MU (E R
BEERAESHAHAAELER R
FEREZHBHFHRTES BB
5.3183 7T K 5.5808 IT © 2 H A%
ENRBHABAAK2EENRA
SERNTHEFRBE 2B EB12(E
AR3F aNFHAI0F - &
BN T 5B AN RIE — %
RATEBIL -
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28 UEREEUROGRERZX
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 2 (&)
(@) The Company (Continued) (a) EAT(E)
The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: B Z G B AEHIT -
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREZ

THEE REGH BHER

Options granted to directors:

RYEZZBERE

— on 11 September 2018 10,800,000  The first exercise period shall commence from 10 years

— 201859/ 11 A trading day after expiry of the 12-month period 104

— on 23 January 2020 210,000  from the date on which the Eligible Participants

— 202051 A 23R have achieved the length of service in the Group.

— on 14 September 2020 320,000  The share options shall be exercisable separately in

— 202059 A 14 R the subsequent 3 exercise periods, whose

— on 26 July 2021 1,000,000  percentages of options exercisable are 33%, 33%

— 202157 R 26 R and 34% respectively, subject to the Eligible

— on 08 December 2022 1,000,000  Participants’ performance as the conditions of

— R2022F12A8H exercise.

FETEHERAERZEENFRENTEFR
mEZBE12EARNOEERS B « TTEEF I
BRRABRSEENRE  BRETNZROE
BIMITERTARTE  BHOTELID A
33% ~ 33% }.34% °
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28 UEREEUROGRERZX
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 2 (&)
(@) The Company (Continued) (a) EAT(E)
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREZ
TEHE BEGH BHEH
Options granted to employees:
RYREEZBRE -
—on 11 September 2018 111,610,000  The first exercise period shall commence from 10 years
— 201859 A 11 A trading day after expiry of the 12-month period 104
— on 23 January 2020 32,940,000  from the date on which the Eligible Participants has
— 202051 A23H achieved the length of service in the Group. The
— on 14 September 2020 25,450,000  share options shall be exercisable separately in the
— 2020569 A 14H subsequent 3 exercise periods, whose percentages
— on 26 July 2021 32,130,200 of options exercisable are 33%, 33% and 34%
— 2021467 A26 R respectively, subject to the Eligible Participants’
— on 08 December 2022 40,464,500  performance as the conditions of exercise.
—R2022%12F8H F-EATRHEEERZEENAEENTEFR
MRz B 12A AR EER S B « TR IR
BURRNA BRBEENEE - BRIEATN 2 %10 E
BIETEREBFARITE - BROTERLOH A
33% ~ 33% }:34% °
Total share options granted 255,924,700
RHBREEE
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28 UREREEURDAER X
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 5 (18)
(@) The Company (Continued) (@) ERAT(E)

BERRAE Y BA RITEBMT -

The number and exercise prices of share options are as
follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  options ("000) exercise price options ('000)
Pk B BREHE g1 RS A
THEE (FR) T1EME (FRO
Outstanding at the FEXEARITE HKD7.244 % T 171,000 HKD7.8037%&7T 148,847
beginning of the year
Forfeited during the year FERIRIR HKD6.985 it (19,303) HKD8.5787& 7T (14,628)
Exercised during the year FERITE - - HKD6.1167 T (4,684)
Granted during the year FRRH - - HKD5.580%7T 41,465
Outstanding at the end FRERITE HKD7.277 %7t 151,697 HKD7.76678 7T 171,000
of the year
Exercisable at the end FARATTE HKD7.452 %t 92,693 HKD7.06277C 71,138

of the year

The options outstanding at 31 December 2023 had exercise
prices of HKD5.580, HKD8.902, HKD9.300, HKD9.214 and
HKD6.116 (2022: HKD5.580, HKD8.902, HKD9.300,
HKD9.214 and HKD6.116) respectively and a weighted K 61167570 (20224 + 5580 T -
average remaining contractual life is 6.6 years (2022: 7.6 8.902/8 7T ~ 9.300/8 7T * 9.214 7T
years). K 61168 7T) R EFERGBE L
FHR6.6F (2022F : 7.6%F) °

R2023F12A31H » MARTEZ
B AE 2 1T (B S R A5.580/48 7T
8.9027 7T ~ 9.300/8 7T * 9.21478 7T
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRATTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28 UEREEURODARR 2R
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 2 (18)
(@) The Company (Continued) (@) AERAT(E)
Fair value of share options and assumptions BREZATERRERE

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a Black-Scholes

FUIR B R P ER IR TS 2 A R
D2ERLBREZ ATERE -
B hBRE 2 (A5t 2 ET A
N EFBATEAGE - PTAERD

model. The input variables under the applied model are as BMAZSIT ¢
follows:
Grant date
RitiAE
18 September 23 January 14 September 26 July 08 December

Fair value of share options and 2018 2020 2020 2021 2022

assumptions BREZATERBR 2018E9A118 202017230 2020595148 202157A26H 20225125 8A

Fair value at measurement date REEREZATE HKD154BT-  HKD2068i87T-  HKD214177T-  HKD1689i87L-  HKD1493/871-

HKD2.0178 7T HKD2.487 7T HKD2.420 T HKD2.064 7T HKD1.704 7T

Share price RE HKD5.7107 7T HKD8.92 /7L HKD9.287%7T  HKD8.310AT  HKDS.580/87

Exercise price R E HKD6.116ETT  HKD9.2147 7T HKD93®TL  HKDSYO2ATL  HKD5.S80MTT

Expected volatility (expressed as BERHE(CRELNIRER  3478%-3756%  3117%-3192%  30.80%-3223%  31.60%-3250%  3391%-34.27%
weighted average volatility used HEARERAAMETY
in the modelling under RBERT)

Black-Scholes-Merton model)

Option life (expressed as weighted  EREEH (NRERNRE R 55 years F - 55 years F - 5.5 years F - 55 years - 5.5 years F-
average life usedinthe modelling  EriR= 2R A MIE 9years 9yearsE 9years 9yearsF 9yearsE
under Black-Scholes-Merton model) ~ FHEHEKR)

Expected dividends RERS 1.90% 220% 2.14% 235% 331%

Risk-free interest rate BERFEGUNEESSEIES  2254%-2316% 15149%-15573%  0.334%-0472% 05212%-09625%  3.303%-3496%
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) BE)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There were
no market conditions associated with the share option
grants.

TaHAR B K Ty PAJE 2R B R (10
PR R IR F I RIBRFRAE) B
EE - WHRBARAGENERS
BRNBENOEMEBELAR -
BEEIRENEL IR REE - TH
BARRZEHIREZELATE
ftiat »

B TIRB RIS R R MR
FRFF BT RIS TR X B # R0
RFAER I BT EER o BB
R I T T IS IR
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (x5

28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

MAG

Pursuant to a resolution of shareholders of MAG, the
subsidiary of the Group passed on 30 June 2021 (the
"Adoption Date”), a share option scheme was adopted (the
"MAG Share Option Scheme”) for purpose of providing
incentives to certain employees of MAG ("MAG Eligible
Participants”).

On 18 February 2022, MAG granted share options to certain
employees of MAG (“the First Grantees"”) and the Grantees
finally acknowledged to subscribe for 351,000 shares of
MAG under the MAG Share Option Scheme at an exercise
price of AUD10.51. The options have vesting periods of 3
years from the date on which the Eligible Participants have
achieved the length of service in the MAG and satisfied
personal key performance indicator set as a target for the
Grantees by MAG and other vesting condition. Each option
gives the holders the right to subscribe for one ordinary
share in MAG.

On 30 June 2022, MAG granted share options to certain
employees of MAG (“the Second Grantees”) and the
Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for 35,000
shares of MAG under the MAG Share Option Scheme at an
exercise price of AUD10.51. The options have vesting
periods of 3 years from the date on which the Eligible
Participants have achieved the length of service in the MAG
and satisfied personal key performance indicator set as a
target for the Grantees by MAG and other vesting
condition. Each option gives the holders the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share in MAG.

On 30 June 2023, MAG granted share options to certain
employees of MAG (“the Third Grantees”) and the
Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for 46,000
shares of MAG under the MAG Share Option Scheme at an
exercise price of AUD12. The options have vesting periods
of 3 years from the date on which the Eligible Participants
have achieved the length of service in the MAG, and
satisfied personal key performance indicator set as a target
for the Grantees by MAG and other vesting condition. Each
option gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in MAG.
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1TRERASN -

BIAARETTIIR)

28 LUESEHEIURDAER ZX
& (&)

(b)

MAG

RIEA BB A T MAG IR R
202156 A30R (IR B H ) A
BHORFR S RMBRESE
(IMAG BERUERT 81 1) - AR/MAG
ETEE(MAGRERZEE])
TR MRE -

7202252 A18H * MAG & MAG
BE R AE ST 2 LA10.51 R TR 1T 18
MMAGE TRE(E—F&KAD
R HE - AR A RRERRE
351,000 18 MAG & 17 » 25 BE R
MNEBHABEAERSEEELN
MAG &) TYEF BRI & MAG A7
BAZRTEHEABRESEZERIE

BEKGZ AREIF - §HE
fRER THE AEMNRE K
MAG 3% -

720225 6 A30H * MAG & MAG
BE R AE ST 2 LA10.51 R TR 1T 18
MMAGHE TRE ([ERADEL
E%Hﬁ*g 7%&/\E—ixﬁgwuwmﬁ§
35,000 i MAG B 17 © % 55 B I 1
MNEBHABAERSEEEN
MAG #) TYESF BRI i & MAG A&
BAZRTEHEABRESEZEIE

BEKGZ AREIF - §HE
fRER THE AEMNRE K
MAG 3% -

720235 6 A30H * MAG & MAG
B EETEI AR T T EE R
MAGE TREE ([EF=ERERAE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁg 7¥KTMAE—Z&EEWL:WL: %
46,000 1% MAG % 17 © 32 55 B I i
MNEBHABAERSEEEN
MAG &) TAYEF IR I & MAG 775
BAZRTEHEABRESEZERIE

BBt AR3F - BHE
fRER THE AEMNRE K
MAG 3% -
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28 UREREEURMPAERZR
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) & (&)
(b) MAG (Continued) (b) MAG (&)
On 22 December 2023, MAG granted share options to R2023F 12 A 228 » MAG %
certain employees of MAG (“the Forth Grantees”) and the MAG 8 BE BERT 8 LA 128 T R 1T (3
Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for 28,000 BEMAGE TEE (TFEMLARA LD
shares of MAG under the MAG Share Option Scheme at an B HEENRRE - AR A S RIERRE
exercise price of AUD12. The options have vesting periods 28,000 i& MAG B 17 5% 55 B I 1
NEBHREAER2EEEY
MAG ) TYESE PRI B MAG 77
BRARTENEAABRESIEERE
tFEBGEGF 2 BRF3IF - BHE
R THAAENRE -
MAG %

of 3 years from the date on which the Eligible Participants
have achieved the length of service in the MAG, and
satisfied personal key performance indicator set as a target
for the Grantees by MAG and other vesting condition. Each
option gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in MAG.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: BH IS REHETDT :
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREZ
TAHE BEHRH BREH
Options granted to The options have vesting periods of 3 years from 3 years
employees (MAG): the date on which the Eligible Participants have 3%

R TE & Z BRI (MAG) : achieved the length of service in the MAG. The

— on 18 February 2022 357,000  share options shall be exercisable separately in the

— 202242 R 18H subsequent 3 exercise periods, whose percentages

— on 30 June 2022 35000 of options exercisable are 20%, 40% and 40%

— 202266 A30A respectively, subject to the Eligible Participants’

— on 30 June 2023 46,000 performance as a target for the Grantees by MAG

— 202356 A30A and other vesting condition.

— on 22 December 2023 28000 ZEBRENGBHAESERZEEERMAG

— 202312228 B TEFRZ AR 3F - MAG BER ARTENIE
BREMEBGHTRRREERSEBENEE
BREA RN RO =ZETERR 2 HTTE - SH80
TTEELL 15 B 4 20% ~ 40% J2 40% ©

Total share options granted 466,000

RERERR
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

28 LUESEHEIURDAER ZX

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 5 (18)

(b) MAG (Continued) (b) MAG (&)
The number and exercise prices of share options are as BRECHEERTESNT -
follows:

At 31 December 2023
®2023%12H31H

At 31 December 2022
M202%12A31H

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options ("000) exercise price options ('000)
¥ BRERE FEF1 BREHE
TR (FR) 17 (FH&)
Outstanding at the R RITE AUD5.255 #7¢ 386
beginning of the period
Granted during the period B AUD6.000 % 7T 74  AUD5.25538 7T 392
Forfeited during the year FRRIL AUD5.960 8 7T (24)  AUD5.25527T Q)
Outstanding at the end IR EARITE AUD5.357 &t 436  AUD5.255%7T 386
of the period
Exercisable at the end BAR AT {T{E - - _ _
of the period

The options outstanding at 31 December 2023 had exercise
prices of AUD 5.357 and a weighted average remaining
contractual life is 1.38 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

28 UEGHEURBAER 22X
2 (&)

MAG (Continued) (b) MAG (&)

Fair value of share options and assumptions BREZATERRERE

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a Black-Scholes
model. The input variables under the applied model are as
follows:

FLIR BB R P R BN BR S 2 A A
D2ERLEREZ ATFEE -
B B E 2 (b5t A FE T A
NREFREEXGE - FTAEAH
WAFEMT :

Grant date
BEAH
18 February 2022 30 June 2022 30 June 2023 22 December 2023

Fair value of share options and assumptions BR#Ez A FERBRR 2022%2R18A  2022%6A308  2023F6A30H 2023F12H22H
Fair value at measurement date Rt EREZATHE AUD2914RTT AUD2914ETT AUD5.83027T AUD5.83027T
Share price kB AUD10.51 87T AUD10.51 87T AUD12.00;27C AUD1200;27C
Exercise price 78 AUD5.255 87T AUD5.255 27T AUD6.00RTT AUD6.00RTT
Expected volatility (expressed as volatility BERBHE (UREHR IR 35% 35% 55% 55%

used in the modelling under AT B

Black-Scholes-Merton model) FARBXERT)
Option life (expressed as life used in the BRETH(URERNR 10 years & 10 years & 10years & 10 years &

modelling under Black-Scholes-Merton HRMEARETHRA

model) FHRT)
Expected dividends TEHRE 4.00% 4.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Risk-free interest rate (based on the current  EERFIE (A ZHIE & 1.775% 1.775% 3.220% 3.220%

Wk A% 4R
BRHERRHEE)

Treasury Bond yields with a maturity
approximating the expiry date of the shares)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There were
no market conditions associated with the share option
grants.

TR HAR B K Ty PAJE 2R B R (10
BRI FARBRFRAE) B
EE - WHARBARAGENERS
BRNBEOEMEBELAR -
BEEIRENEL IR REE - TH
BARRZEHIREZELATE
ftiat »

B TIRB RIS R R MR
FRFF BT RIS TR X B # R0
RNFER B EER o RHBK
R I T T IS IR
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

29 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29 FEMBMRRBERNAMER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEHMEBEMRABROEBHE
financial position represents: E:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREFIT
At 1 January ®W1A1H 684,553 512,094
Provision for current taxation FAENERT IR
for the year 421,042 346,494
Acquisition of subsidiaries g 100 =PNG 1,741 27,552
Payments during the year FRNRFK (205,340) (201,587)
At 31 December W12A31H 901,996 684,553
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

29 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29 ZEUBMRRBERNFAED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CHERELEHEEERARE
()  Movement of each component of deferred tax () EESEEEREESAR
assets and liabilities IR0 B Y
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) RERNGEEUBIRRLERE RN
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MRNELEHRBEE (&
position and the movements during the year are as &) M4E R SR R AR & g
follows: T
Investment
Provision for income from  Intangible
trade and Other deemed assets arising
Accrued other financial ~ disposal of an from  Right-of-use Lease
expenses  receivables  Provisions  Taxlosses assets associate  acquisitions assets liabilities Total
BARE BiELE
fElsE BENEe  WEELZ

553 2B R RAER HfeBEE  RRWA  EPEE GRERE  ARAR &5t
RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMB00  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO  RMBOO0  RMB'000
ARRTR  ARETR ARBTR ARRTR ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR ARWTR  ARMTR  AR%TR

Deferred tax arising from: &4 B T&EH

ELHE:

At 1 January 2022 RANE1R1H 95,244 68949 18,311 4243 (1,587) (4.498) (719,562) (240952 262315 160,656
Credited/(charged)to ~ RIEZETA/(418)

profit o loss 26,234 vl 622 21293 (187) - 5175 (8759 21307 13976
Credited to reserves HAGE - - - - (46) - - - - (46)
Acquisition/(disposal) of [/ (L&) HBAR

subsidliaries - 1,069 - 12618 - - (27.706) - (14019
Exchange adjustments ~ [E 5% b - 163 - - - (5,8%) (167) 453 (5,441)
At 31 December 2022 RANE1AINE 121,484 112309 19,09 76,347 (1.820) (4.498) (107,989) (249.878) 290,075 255,126
At 1 January 2023 RABEIR1H 121,484 112309 19,09 76,341 (1,820) (4.498) (107,989) (249.878) 290,075 255,126
Credited/(charged)to ~ RIEZTA/(418)

profit or loss 17,901 29188 18,120 61426 12099 - 5217 (23942 4877 164,946
Credited to reserves SAEE - - - - 13 - - - - 113
Exchange adjustments B 3% 25 - 205 - - - (846) (1,259 2900 1225
At 31 December 2023 RABENANHE 139,610 141497 3742 131773 10392 (4.498) (103,558) (275079 337,852 2140
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

29 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29 REMBERRBERNABH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (£8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERAELEHEEEREE:
(Continued) (&)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) HZAEFBRRBRNYER

financial position

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Net deferred tax asset recognised 4R A B FSAR N RERFER K

in the consolidated statement RERRIBFEE

of financial position 519,073 355,640
Net deferred tax liability recognised 474 BA#iA SR MR

in the consolidated statement RERIEFAE

of financial position (97,663) (100,514)

421,410 255,126
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B S4TsERASN -

29

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

BIAARETTIIR)

29 FmEMBRRBROAED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () KRERELEHRIBBEE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Unused tax losses RENBIREEE 378,389 469,019

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
1(u), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
RMB&40,976,000 (2022: RMB113,880,000) in respect of
unused tax losses of certain subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023. The directors consider it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be available will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the unrecognised tax losses at the end of the reporting
period will expire in the following years:

IREEMEE 1) B A FEEE - R
2023412 A31H  KEBARKE
THBARABAREBEERA
R #60,976,0007T (20224 : AR
#5113,880,000 7T ) IEEFRLIB & EE ©
EERBTIAAEEEBERIEEE
W & EREES A B A AR R ER
TRAE LA S &R -

RBFBEBRREARENRER  RWE
HIR B R RER R E BAS A T4
JE & -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

2023 20234 - 29,723
2024 2024 5 60,507 67,736
2025 20254 83,636 88,056
2026 20264 81,362 107,302
2027 2027 £ 62,811 124,114
2028 2028 £ 37,246 -
325,562 416,931

The tax losses of RMB52,827,000 (2022: RMB52,088,000) for
the Hong Kong subsidiaries do not expire under current
Hong Kong tax legislation.

BIBERITEBRBEEG - BEWE
A A B A R ¥ 52,827,000 7T (2022
£ AR #52,088,0007T) 5 IE &
BAEER
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

29 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29 MEMBRRBERMVWAER

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB552,108,000 (2022:
RMB375,916,000) were not recognised in respect of the 10%
PRC dividend withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of retained profits of RMB5,521,076,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB3,759,164,000) in respect of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC as the Company controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it was
determined that it was probable that these profits would
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(%)

(d)y KRERELEHREERE
M2023F12A31H - WAL
B 5 R B A B B A B Y 2 TR AR 28
AR EES,521,076,0007T (20224 -
A R #£3,759,164,0007C ) M 78 X
FH10% F BBk B TR R AR
% 552,108,000 7T (2022 4F : AR¥E
375,916,000 70 ) RIRIERI A& & -
FERRAQGEHZENB A RN
EHER  MECETZSFEES
Alge N EEA RS R DK ©

30 PROVISIONS 30 B
Onerous Leave  Reinstatement Legal
contracts obligations cost obligation Total
BEEEH BAEE BERE EREE At
note(i) noteii) noteiii) note(iv)
HRE (i) HE (ii) Wi (iii) B (iv)

RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT  AR%TR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AR®TR  AR®TR

At 1 January 2022 R2022F1 51 H 30,941 16,368 16,482 - 63,791
Acquisition of subsidiary ~ WEEMB LA - 284 293 - 577
Exchange adjustments P& 3 50 - 212 86 - 298
Provisions made B 9,107 2,579 9,819 20,000 41,505
Provisions utilised RE L (7,561) - - - (7,561)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 831 H 32,487 19,443 26,680 20,000 98,610
Less: Amount included under J& : ZIA [REEE]
“current liabilities” ofea:c] (22,800 (15,495) - (20,000) (58,295)
9,687 3,948 26,680 - 40,315
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 32,487 19,443 26,680 20,000 98,610
Exchange adjustments B 5 BE - 668 958 - 1,626
Provisions made EETRRE 13,243 3,972 6,870 94,048 118,133
Provisions utilised BERRE (10,888) - - (27,536) (38,424)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 B 31 H 34,842 24,083 34,508 86,512 179,945
Less: Amount included under J& : ZIA [REIEE]
“current liabilities” ofca:c] (27,119) (19,217) (169) (86,512) (133,017)
7,723 4,866 34,339 - 46,928

254 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (x5

30 PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group was in contracts with certain communities that
were operating at a loss. The obligation for the future
payments of these communities, net of expected property
service income, has been provided for.

Leave obligations cover the Group’s liabilities for long
service leaves and annual leaves, including all of accrued
annual leaves, the unconditional entitlements to long
service leaves where certain employees have completed
the required period of services and also those where
employees are entitled to pro-rata payments.

The Group is required to restore certain leased premises to
their original condition at the end of the respective lease
terms under certain contracts. A provision has been
recognised for the present value of the estimated
expenditure required to remove any leasehold
improvements. These costs have been recognised as part
of the cost of leasehold improvements and are amortised
over the shorter of the term of the lease or the useful life of
the assets.

References are made to the announcements of the Group
dated 19 July 2022, 20 October 2022, 21 March 2023 and 21
August 2023 in respect of the claim proceedings that the
Group is involved because of joint liability with a third party
for an associate under a lease arrangement. As at 31
December 2023, the Group has made the additional
provision of RMB?1,415,000 for what may be required for
the settlement of this claim.

TTRERASN -

BIAARETTIIR)

30 #HiE (&)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

AEEEETAELBERNERR]

MAH - B FE EA AR R
ﬁ&(?ﬂ%fﬁi%ﬁ%%ﬁ&i‘%%)\){’ﬁﬁ
B -

BRAEPRE R E AN EB R ARG IRE
MEBEML BEMBEER -
AT IREEBZREREXRISERM

EIEFZENRBRIS BRI LE
Eﬁ%ﬁzthﬂﬁ% SHHH R IRG
fRHEA -

REETEH  AEEARSEH
MR A THESAREZY
WIREE - AR B B CARBE RSB
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31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 31 EX - RERRE
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) REEZITHEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AREBGAERSBYOFEY NE
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated REBE RSN G EERZEHEK -
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes AARSHEETPREY RFRE
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s HEFEISEST

individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company XA F
Share of other
comprehensive
Exchange Fairvalue  income of the
Share Share Share reserve reserve investees Retained
capital premium  optionreserve  (non-recycling)  (non-recycling)  (non-recycling) earnings Total
ElREHS2
EXRR ATERRE  RtE2E4E
e RitaE BRERE (FT8E) (FoE8) (FT&d) REEA &t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i3 ARBTR NG ao ARMFR ARBTR ARMTT ARMF 7 ARETR ARMTT
Balance at 1 January 2022 R20251 18268 2 4,087,755 Q4477 (464,307) (9,583 16,993 350,75 4076119
Changes in equity for 2022: NW2EFERRRT:
Profitfor the year EQFIE - - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income A2 ERE - - - 214817 (561) (36,984 961) 176311
Total profit and comprehensive income  £AKIBR2ARE L%
for the year - - - 24817 (561) (36,984 (961) 176,311
Equity settled share-based transactions  EmiENRITARR RS 28 - - 39,39 - - - - 39,39
Shares issued under share option scheme 18 B 1E: 212 247 2R3 - 2013 (7428 - - - - 24,585
Repurchase and cancellation of shares &2 R 48R 17 * (78,079) - - - - - (78,079)
Dividends declared in respect HBEERERRE
of the previous year 31(b) - (542,837) - - - - - (542,837)
Balance at 31 December 2022and R 2022512 31BR
1 January 2023 WRE1R1A2ER 2 3,498,852 126,445 (249.490) (10,144) (19.991) 349,795 3,695,495
Changes in equity for 2023: NBFERERT
Profitfor the year ERAE - - - - - - (218,631) (218.631)
Other comprehensive income A2 ERE - - - 13524 (A1) 26610 - U3
Total profit and comprehensive income W7 E R 2 B 25
for the year - - - 13,524 (5,411) 26,610 (218,631) (183,908)
Equity settled share-based transactions  E#EENRAAREIRS B = = 33723 = = = ° 33723
Repurchase and cancellation of shares B REF R (7 (1) (115,241) - - - - - (115,242)
Repurchase of shares (to be cancelled) BRI (FiF ) = (15,465) o = = = o (15,465)
Transfer of other comprehensive income  HERATEH AZHZE
of the investees upon the disposal of Wi HAEKERARE
financial assets at FVOCI HR AR ERE - - = = = (12) 12 o
Dividends declared in respect HBRERTRRE
of the previous year (o) - (285,115) - - - - - (285,115)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023E12831 AL 2 3,083,031 160,168 (235,966) (15,555) 6,607 131,176 3,129,488
* Amount less than RMB1,000. * SEER AR 1,0007T
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 31 EX - RERRKRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Dividends (b) RE
() Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () FREMEAQGEREERZ
Company attributable to the year: BLE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

A final dividend of HKDO0.15 per RERE BREERIRS R
share proposed after the end of B& B EA%0.158 7L (2022 4F -

reporting period (2022: a final KR EHAREERIRA

dividend of HKDO.10 per share REARR B2 0.10787T)

proposed after the end of

reporting period) 434,185 288,739
The final dividend proposed for shareholders’ RNBEEBARBEFREREZ
approval after the end of the reporting period has not R RERR B AR R E
been recognised as a liability at the end of the HRERAEEE -

reporting period.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) FREOHEMKNZ E—BF
Company attributable to the previous financial year, BFEEREMNANRERDRE
approved and paid during the year: RYSE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTT
A final dividend of HKD0.10 RERDHERIKNZ £—
per share in respect of the previous BB & REIR B & 0.10
financial year, approved and BT (20225 - REREHE
paid during the year (2022: a final MK 2 F—BRFE
dividend of HKDO.16 per share REARR BT 0.16 BT R IF

and a special dividend of HKD0.04  BIIi% 8 &A% 0.04757T)
per share in respect of the
previous financial year, approved

and paid during the year) 285,115 542,837
The dividends approved during the year ended 31 A B E20234F K 2022412
December 2023 and 2022 were paid on 11 July 2023 A3MBIEEER #ILHEN KA
and 12 July 2022 respectively. EoRIR2023F7A1MA R

20227 R12BIRfT -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 31 EX - RERRKRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Share capital () B=&
(i) Issued share capital (i) BRITERE
2023 2022
2023 % 2022%
No. of shares No. of shares
('000) RMB'000 ('000) RMB'000
REAEE RHER
(FHR) ARBT R (F&) ARETFT
Ordinary shares, issued and BETRHZLER:
fully paid:
At 1 January ®1A18 3,232,380 28 3,245,296 28
Shares issued undershare  IBIEEIRIE:F2IE %17
option scheme (note (i) EraEA) - - 4,684 *
Cancellation of shares FEERRR 1 (B2 (i)
(note (iii)) (38,266) (1) (17,600) *
At 31 December ®12A31H 3,194,114 27 3,232,380 28
* Amount less than 1,000. * HUFEER 1,000 ©
(i)  Shares issued under share option scheme (i) RBBERESEBRITZRE
During the year ended 31 December 2022, 4,683,700 H =202 128318 1t F
share options under a share option scheme were EOBREIIETH
exercised at exercise prices of HKD6.116 per share. 4,683,700 & B 12 12 & %
The proceeds of HKD47 (equivalent to RMB40) bI6E TR TR EEITEE -
representing the par value, were credited to the HEIBET(HERARE
Company'’s share capital and the excess of proceeds 4070) PTG SIEE ST AR R
totaling HKD28,645,000 (equivalent to RMB24,585,000) BN o B Z 20229 12 A 31
were credited to share premium during the year HILFE  BBMERIEA
ended 31 December 2022. #E28,645,0007% 7T (FHE A A

R #24,585,000 7T ) #9251
AR HME -
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31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 31 EX - RERRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Share capital (Continued) () BAE(E)
(iii) Repurchase and cancellation of shares (iii) BERITHERHG
During the year, the company repurchased its own FR - RRBREEBAR
ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong SRERRRIBEATESR
Limited as follows: T
Number
of shares Highest Lowest Aggregate
repurchased price paid price paid price paid
Month/year £/8 ('000) per share per share ("'000)
BEROHAE SR H SR H THEER
(FR) meER RIEER (F7)
August 2023 20238 A 1,830 HKD3.60/% 7T HKD3.497% 7T 5,930
September 2023 2023F9 A 12,258 HKD3.60/% 7T HKD3.37 7T 39,393
October 2023 202310 A 14,524 HKD3.58 87T HKD2.99% 7T 43,375
November 2023 2023F 11 A 5,654 HKD3.23/8 7T HKD3.05 7T 16,406
December 2023 202312 A 10,078 HKD3.20/% T HKD2.60/8 7T 25,603
130,707
The repurchase was governed by section 257 of the Z B [0 S EB AR EBIE 257
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The total amount RE - -BOROANESE
paid on the repurchased shares of RMB130,707,000 A AR ®130,707,000 7T + 3
was paid wholly out of retained profits. BREFEEE -
38,266,000 shares of the repurchased shares have 38,266,000 f% B 1 f% {7 B 52 2023
been cancelled on 29 December 2023, and 6,078,000 F12 A29H 8 + 6,078,000 B
shares have not yet been cancelled as at 31 BRI 2023F 12 A 31 B AR
December 2023. 8 o
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(BR

31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d)
@i)

(ii)

(iii)

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference between the
total amount of the par value of shares issued and the
amount of the net proceeds received. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PRC statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group (excluding foreign
investment enterprises) are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after taxation, as determined under the
PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholdings or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held
by them, provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the surplus/deficit between
the consideration paid/received and the net assets of
a subsidiary acquired/disposed regarding the
transactions between the Group and the non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside the mainland China.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(x).

(v)  Fair value reserve (non-recycling)
The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period (see note

1(g))-

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of its
net gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided
by net assets. Net debt is calculated as total debt (including
all bank loans and lease liabilities as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents.
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31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group maintained
at net cash position.

Under a loan agreement of MAG, there is a fulfilment of
certain financial covenants (see note 25(a)). If MAG was to
breach the covenants, the drawn down facility would
become payable on demand. MAG regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants. As at 31 December 2023,
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facility had
been breached.

Except abovementioned subsidiary, neither the Company
nor the other subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed
capital requirements.

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises

in the normal course of the Group's business. The Group is also

exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in
other entities and movements in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash at bank, treasury products, other financial assets
measured at amortised cost and trade and other
receivables.

Except for the financial guarantee given by the Group to
associates as set out in note 30 and note 34(c)(i), the Group
does not provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit
risk in respect of this financial guarantee at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in note 30 and note 34(c)(i).
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Cash at bank and treasury products

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash at
bank is limited because the counterparties are well-known
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk.

The Group's treasury products classified as FVTPL are
issued by well-known financial institutions. The Group has
determined that there is no significant credit risk associated
with these treasury products, and these products did not
cause any losses during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group's credit risk in other financial assets measured at
amortised cost is mainly attributable to listed debt
instruments. The credit risk arises from default of the
issuers, with a maximum exposure represented by the net
carrying amount of financial assets as at the end of each
reporting period.

The Group adopts a credit rating approach in managing
the credit risk of the listed debt investments portfolio. Debt
securities are rated with reference to major rating agencies
where the issuers of the securities are located. The net
book value of listed debt investments analysed by the
rating agency designations as at December 31 are as

SITERAIN  BUAAREITIIR)

32 BREREEREMIAND
FE ()

(a)

EERR(E)
RTERREMER
AEBERBITERELNEERR
BR - ARRZHFHHRNESE
B  AEER/ZFTREE
AAEREERR

REBEDEAZATFEFTABRN
BHEMIANAS BEEIRET -
rEBEBEZSEVERIMAE
EAEERE - BHEZ=2023412
ANBIEFEZSFERTB/EN
EfAIESE -

BERERATENHMSREE
AEBILEHK AT ENEM DR
BENEERBRERRN EHES
TA- - FERABRRNETAZLD
RARBAEREMRERHEEN
FREDHE -

AEBREAGEFAFEEEE L
MEFEEHANEERR - &/
BH2BESFHITANEEZTR
HENTA . R128318 E L
MEBREFEEFEZTREED
PRSI

follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREEFIT

Ratings FFAR
— Ba to Baa —Ba £ Baa - 1,286
— Below B —B AT - 12,318
— unrated — AR 4,968 9,021
Total Bt 4,968 22,625
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)
The Group applies the ECL model to calculate loss
allowances for its listed debt instruments. Method applied
by the Group in assessing the expected credit losses of its
financial assets is risk parameters method. The key
parameters include Probability of Default (“PD"), Loss
Given Default (“"LGD"), and Exposure at Default (“"EAD"),
considering the time value of money. Related definitions
are as follows:

—  PDis the possibility that a customer will default on its
obligation within a certain period of time in light of
forward-looking information;

—  LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a
default in light of forward-looking information. The
LGD is depending on the type of counterparty, the
method and priority of the recourse, and the type of
collaterals, with taking the forward looking
information into account;

—  EAD refers to the total amount of on- and off-balance
sheet exposures in the event of default and is
determined based on the historical repayment
records.

There have been no significant changes in estimation

techniques or significant assumptions made during the
year.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of debt security
instruments during the year is as follow:

BIAARETTIIR)

32 BREREEREMIAND
FE ()

EERR ()
AEEERELTAREREED
T -

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 %

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Balance at 1 January ®1 A1 HEES 72,433 21,371

Impairment loss recognised BRERBEEE 15,316 51,062

Balance at 31 December R12 A 31 BR & 87,749 72,433
Trade receivables B S EWRIE

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. The Group has no concentrations of credit risk
in view of its large number of customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.

AEENEERREIEREREP
FENEMTE  MIETFEBM
EMTESER  AEERRE
Z2ETRAKEHERNEFEEX
BB O 2 B ELE - R ASKER
EFHERL BUREERRSE
FRYBEMR

HRFAERETIEESR RS
e TERIE R - RS
BB S BN B R
BREBNRES  LEEESE
RIEH R ARIE @SB
52 A -
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix and individually determined to be
impaired.

(i) At 31 December 2023, the Group's trade receivables
of RMB189,938,000 (2022: RMB39,450,000) were
individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers
that were in financial difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered and certain amount of
RMB120,753,000(2022: RMB31,860,000) as at 31
December 2023 is past due over 1 year against which
the Group held collaterals. On that basis, specific
allowance for impairment of trade receivables of
RMB69,185,000 (2022: RMB7,590,000) were
recognised.

(i)  For the provision matrix method, as the Group’s
historical credit loss experience indicates significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on ageing
information is further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS F{E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) E=ER(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEWFIE(E)
The following tables provides information about the TERE AL E E B AR R
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade AEEERR NG S ERRIBTER
receivables by using a provision matrix: EEEEBR
2023
2023
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
AHEER B [ 48 88 EIERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARBFR ARETT

Trade receivables W RE

Amounts due from non- £ EFIE
property owners

Within 1 year —FR 1.1% 1,082,196 11,570
1 to 2 years —ZEWF 3.1% 464,124 14,548
2 to 3 years ME=F 15.0% 204,862 30,828
3to 4 years =24 43.6% 29,159 12,705
4 to 5years NERF 97.1% 5,468 5,312
Over 5 years FE L 100.0% 5,198 5,198
1,791,007 80,161
Amounts due from il E e
property owners
Within 1 year —FR 3.4% 1,668,588 57,004
1to 2 years —EMF 11.8% 641,523 75,589
2 to 3years ME=4F 24.2% 297,853 72,207
3to 4 years = Z=MUF 54.2% 65,580 35,549
Over 4 years PHEE 100.0% - -
2,673,544 240,349
4,464,551 320,510
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS F{E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) E=EERR(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B 5 EWFIE (&)
2022
2022
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHRES 1B X IREARsE g
% RMB’000 RMB'000

% ARBTTT ARBETT

Trade receivables B ZEWRIE

Amounts due from non- FEWIEEERIE
property owners

Within 1 year —FE X 1.0% 1,212,999 12,397
1to 2 years —EWF 9.4% 271,244 25,418
2 to 3 years —E=F 20.0% 39,743 7,932
3to 4 years =ZUF 50.0% 27,030 13,515
4 to 5 years WERF 80.0% 1,702 1,362
Over 5 years REFELE 100.0% 4,200 4,200
1,556,918 64,824
Amounts due from PEWEEERRIE
property owners
Within 1 year —&FR 3.4% 1,535,085 52,316
1 to 2 years —EMF 10.3% 541,901 55,769
2 to 3 years R4 75.2% 96,266 72,357
Over 3 years =FLAE 100.0% 71,238 71,238
2,244,490 251,680
3,801,408 316,504
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience EHEEXRERBTRE TR
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect KR  c AL RO FHBRERMR
differences between economic conditions during the W B FF 5P BB HARS 2 &R ~ 3]
period over which the historic data has been collected, FEROn BN S B T RR A FE W SR IE T8
current conditions and the Group's view of economic HFE 7 & AR N B EE -

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) E=ER(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B R EWRE(E)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade FRNEGEUFEREBREED
receivables during the year, including both specific and (BIEER M HEREBEIBD)WT

collective loss components, is as follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT

Balance at 1 January M1 A1B &% 324,094 213,837

Increase from acquisition of subsidiaries Y& 8 1 & A 7118 1 - 33,676

Decrease from disposal of subsidiaries B H &} B A FIHIRE (217) (16)

Impairment loss recognised R RERE 124,102 125,614

Uncollectible amounts written off W EE AT U O] & 58 (58,284) (49,017)

Balance at 31 December K12 831 Bz &8 389,695 324,094

Other receivables o FE IR

For other receivables, management performs periodic mEMEKRZENS @ E1EERE

collective assessments as well as individual assessment on BLEE L RBIERHILEER

the recoverability of other receivables based on historical B & ) it L b JE U SR TE Y R Uk (B

settlement records and past experiences incorporating (T T HR B s R BRI EE S

forward-looking information.

The Group considers counter-parties as follows: ANEBIKRUTENZSEEF T :

. “Stage 1" Counter-parties who have a low risk of o [FE1H| —RERELHRARIL
default and a strong capacity to meet contractual ERGEHmESYNE S
cash flows; MENHF

o “Stage 2" Counter-parties whose repayments are past . (28] —ERE@EABES
due but with reasonable expectation of recovery; and IBIEHRRI N B BRI S FE R

K

° "Stage 3" Counter-parties whose repayments are past ° [F34 ] — BHEEaEETR

due and with low reasonable expectation of recovery. KA e S BTEHKE ZIESY
HFH o

2023FEHE HSWIRBEEBRAR 269



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBTTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS F{E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) E=EERR(E)
Other receivables (Continued) H e WRRIE (48)
The following tables summarised the loss allowance for T FR M 1% T [R) B B 0 AT B E A R
other receivables as analysed by different stages: WA R R
2023
2023 F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RAEsER SR [ 48 8 BERE
% RMB’'000 RMB'000
% ARMT ARBT
Other receivables H e KR
Stage 1-12-month ECL E1H —12{A ATEH
EEEE 2.64% 796,036 20,996
Stage 2-Lifetime ECL 2/ — K ATEER
EEBE 29.72% 105,400 31,323
Stage 3-Lifetime ECL 3R/ — KATEH
FEEE 100.00% 81,213 81,213
982,649 133,532
2022
2022 %
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHEIE X FRmE 2R ERRE
% RMB’000 RMB'000
% ARETT ARETTT
Other receivables H e KR
Stage 1-12-month ECL F1R— 121 AEH
FEEE 0.55% 1,316,421 7,233
Stage 2-Lifetime ECL B2/ — K ATEHR
EEFEE - - -
Stage 3-Lifetime ECL 3}/ — KATEH
FEEE 100.00% 64,292 64,292
1,380,713 71,525
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of other
receivables during the year, including both specific and
collective loss components, is as follows:

BIAARETTIIR)

32 BREREEREMIAND

FE (&)
(a) fSELRBE(4)
Ho PR OB (48)

F A H i 8 R TR (B B B
(BHREERRAREBEEIED)WT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

Balance at 1 January M1 A1B &% 71,525 62,358
Increase from acquisition U B B JB8 2 B3 N

of subsidiaries - 484

Decrease from disposal of subsidiaries B H & i B A FIHIRE 4 (3) (1,009)

Impairment losses recognised EHERRERE 62,304 16,442

Impairment loss written off S RUE 5 18 (294) (6,750)

Balance at 31 December K12 831 Bz &8 133,532 71,525

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBELRER

The Group's management reviews the liquidity position of
the Group on an ongoing basis, including review of the
expected cash inflows and outflows and maturity of loans
and borrowings, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions and/or from other Group
companies to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

AEENEEREERERNAREN
MEBEERIN - BREBIERRES
MARRE - AR EFR R E RN
HIA - UEREARTEEREHE
kEXEemBERREMEE
NEVERRWAEERTR R
HEREREMRSDHESHENX -
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (&)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBEELRM (E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINRAEBRFEHRRESHTE
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's EETALYER - HREBEALER
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual TREESRE(BEERBAELOFE
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments STEMRNBENR mEEE - Bl
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on WEHRROFRGE) RAEET
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the BEEES MR FHEE -

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

2023
2023
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRHURFRERERY

More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but

1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—FRg BB-F BBRE

RER BREA BEER BBAF L fREE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTRT ARETR ARETR AR%T:R

Trade and other payables B REMEMNTE
(excluding accrued payroll (R a &Rt TA
and other benefits, other tax, R EMAEF] - Hfb
charges payable and accruals) [ERHIE - B R

fEER) 3,912,447 1,369 - - 3,913,816 3,913,816

Bank loans BITER 278,815 10,415 13,482 - 302,712 290,424

Lease liabilities HEEE 328,328 329,135 576,702 662,154 1,896,319 1,417,712
Liabilities associated with SN EBBRREH

financial guarantees issued ~ FIBE 83,879 = = - 83,879 83,879

4,603,469 340,919 590,184 662,154 6,196,726 5,705,831
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KEREEREMIAND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBEELRM(E)

2022
2022 F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AHATERS A

More than More than
Within Tyearbut 2 yearsbut

1 year or less than less than More than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5years 5years Total amount
—FR% BE—F BBmE

e BmER BRERA BBNE it FREME

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARBTT ARKTT ARETR ARBT:E

Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNTE
(excluding accrued payroll (TBEE;TE
and other benefits, other tax, R EMEF] + Eb
charges payable and accruals) FEFTIA - BFF

LIEER) 3,898,639 5,000 - - 3,903,639 3,903,639
Bank loans BITER 145,526 187,823 3,145 - 336,494 310,932
Lease liabilities HERE 305,490 319,843 652,615 832,745 2,110,693 1,515,370

4,349,655 512,666 655,760 832,745 6,350,826 5,729,941

2023FEHE SWIRBEEBRAR 273



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBTTRERASN - BIAARETTIIR)

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

32 BREREEREMIAND
FE ()

(CONTINUED)
() Interest rate risk () FI=Epx
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIRER

AEEMMEREREERA
BeMkREEEY IR
Re Lt B8R - KEEE
BEFEERNEEREEME
FEAEEEN AR -

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
interest-bearing loans. The Group manages its
interest rate exposure by maintaining a prudent mix
of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

AEBYBEARSRALE
BORERHRETMASE
KRB - T R
ROGERHETEAEAR

The Group is not exposed to significant interest rate
risk for cash and cash equivalents or restricted cash
because the interest rates of cash at bank are not
expected to change significantly.

@J o
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAMAEEERETED
the Group's total borrowings: FIRFR -
2023 2022
2023 & 20224
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRAI= YIRS
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
% AR®T T % AR¥EFT
Fixed rate borrowings: EEBH:
Lease liabilities (note 13(b)) HESRE (FHE13b) 3.55%-4.90% 1,417,712 3.80%-4.90% 1,515,370
Bank loans RITER 1.80%-5.80% 72,248 1.25%-4.8% 127,094
1,489,960 1,642,464
Interest rate swap MEF#H 2.20% 109,088 1.76% 91,003
1,599,048 1,733,467
Variable rate borrowings: BEER:
Bank loans RITER 4.18%-7.53% 218,177 3.47%-6.55% 183,838
Interest rate swap MEF#H AUD-BBSY Bid AUD-BBSY Bid
B — 81T BT — |7
EBOHE (109,088) EROHRE (91,003)
Net exposure FRRHO 109,089 92,835
Total borrowings [Epet: 1,708,137 1,826,302
Fixed rate borrowings as EEERIGEREE
a percentage of =l
total borrowings 94% 94%
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(c)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit after taxation
and retained profits by approximately RMB764,000
(2022: RMB650,000) in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's profit after
taxation (and retained profits) and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period. The Group does not account
for any fixed rate borrowings at fair value through
profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rate at
the end of the reporting period would not affect profit
or loss. In respect of the exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
profit after taxation (and retained profits) and other
components of consolidated equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of
such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2022.

TTRERASN -

BIAARETTIIR)

32 BREREEREMIAND
FE ()

F=mEg (&)

(c)

(ii)
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk

(e)

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the respective functional currencies of Group
entities.

The Company, the BVI subsidiary and the Hong Kong
subsidiaries’ functional currency is Hong Kong Dollar (HKD).
Their businesses are principally conducted in HKD. In
addition, as the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group
considers the risk of movements in exchange rates between
the HKD and the USD to be insignificant. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries’ functional currency is RMB and MAG's
functional currency is AUD, and their businesses are
principally conducted in RMB and AUD. The Group
therefore considers the currency risk to be insignificant.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments held for trading and non-trading
purposes (see note 18). Other than unquoted securities
held for strategic purposes, all of these investments are
listed.

The Group's listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong and are mostly included in the
Hang Seng Index. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities
are based on daily monitoring of the performance of
individual securities compared to that of the index and
other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity
needs.

All of the Group's unquoted investments are held for long-
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed at
least bi-annually against performance of similar listed
entities, based on the limited information available to the
Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to
the Group's long-term strategic plans.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

32 BREREEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS F{E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(e) Equity price risk (Continued) (e) MAEHEM(E)

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 1% (2022: 1%) in the relevant stock price (for

MR2023F 124318 - fhEH AR K
BOETERE) LA (TRE)1%

listed investments), with all other variables held constant, (2022F :1%) - MATE EMhE =
would have increased/decreased the Group's profit after W H%?$$@I3$$R{§:fljﬂ
tax (and retained profits) and other components of (RREFHE) REAARE K
consolidated equity as follows: B, WA
2023 2022
2023 20224
Effect on Effect on
profit after profit after
tax and Effect on tax and Effect on
retained fair value retained fair value
profits reserve profits reserve
HRHEFE HERTEFE
RREHE HAYE RIREFE ESpN ?fﬁ
HWEE RENTE MyE REROYE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®T ARETT  ARETR
Change in quoted ~ REHREEH
share price
Increase 20 1% 1,476 16 1% 1,682 32
Decrease B (1%) (1,476) (16) (1%) (1,682 (32)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group's profit after tax (and retained profits) and fair
value reserve that would arise assuming that the changes in
the respective quoted share prices had occurred at the

BB DO RRR B # ARk A
Eﬁé’éimﬁ’%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ Ef S NARY
REFEARERENZETER
T AFEAREEEBRNREHROK

statement of financial position date and had been applied AERRER  EBRAEBNKRTEZ
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the T (2R B 7‘F|J,F'E]));2 NE(EEES
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the BIBS & &) o 5 47 J5 4% 2022 % FH A
end of the reporting period. The analysis is performed on LT o

the same basis for 2022.

2023FEHE SWIRBEEBRAR 277



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

(f)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

— Level 1 Fair value measured using only
valuations: Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date
— Level 2 Fair value measured using Level 2
valuations: inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available
— Level 3 Fair value measured using
valuations: significant unobservable inputs

The Group involved independent valuation specialist
to perform valuations for certain financial instruments,
including unlisted equity investments and convertible
notes which are categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS F{E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(f)  Fair value measurement (Continued) H 2DFEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAFENENESREER
value (Continued) a8&(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RFEER(E)

Fair value measurements

Befievellimen as at 31 December 2023 using
o | DRl AVEFEFRNR2023512A31 AER
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2023 F
12A31H
ZDYE -4 - E=R
Recurring fair value BEMAFETE
measurement
Asset: BE:
FVOCl BATESAEMRE
Wigs
— Listed equity securities — FHRAES 1,706 1,706 = =
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3F FRARE
(note (i) (PZEG) 1,129 = = 1,129
— Interest rate swap — =B RTH
arrangements 1,164 - 1,164 -
FVPL NS RPN 5
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — JE F TR AZE
(note (i) CiE0) 128,482 - - 128,482
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — 1E78 B X &H)
of underlying project FLEMBRARE
investments (note (ii)) (PE ) 97,822 = - 97,822
— Project investments (note (vi)) — BB &RE (i3 (vi) 628,503 = = 628,503
— Listed equity securities — EHRAES 147,582 147,582 = =
— Treasury Products (note (i)~ — IR 817 & (FI3E (i) 35,025 - - 35,025
— Funds (note (iv)) — &2 () 249,072 - - 249,072
— Convertible notes (note (v)) ~ — AT ZHE (5 (v) 338,179 - - 338,179
1,628,664 149,288 1,164 1,478,212
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KEREEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(f)  Fair value measurement (Continued) H 2DFEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BRAFEFENESBREER
value (Continued) E8&(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RFEER(E)

Fair value measurements
Fair value at as at 31 December 2022 using

31 December Z\\${E§-‘-§EK%\ZOZZE12H 31 El@}zﬁ

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R20225F
1283182
ATE E E-H E=H
Recurring fair value BEMAFETE
measurement
Asset: BE:
FVOC BATEFAEEARE
— Listed equity securities — LhRAES 3192 3192 - -
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — JE F TR AZE
(note (i) (i) 2221 - - 2221
— Interest rate swap —FIREHTH
arrangements 2,953 - 2,953 -
FVPL BATEARS
— Unlisted equity investments — 3k E AR E (FiH:E ()
(note () 188,292 . . 188,292
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — HERIERREH
of underlying project FEMBRARE
investments (note (i) (P ) 133,696 - - 133,696
— Project investments (note (vi)) — BB % & (FI5E (vi) 610,908 - - 610,908
— Listed equity securities — LhRAES 168,220 168,220 - -
— Treasury Products (note (i)~ — J281 & & (FI5E (i) 64,668 - - 64,668
— Funds (note (i) — 22 () 264,579 - - 264,579
— Convertible notes (note (v)) ~ — AR Z 1 (FT (v) 459 604 - - 459,604
1,898,333 171,412 2,953 1,723,968
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

32 BREREEREMIAND

FE ()

f AFEFEE)
() BRATPEAENEREER
aE(E)
FEZRRFEEREH

()  The valuation of the Group's unlisted equity () AEEFEEMEERE
investments is based on a combination of HEELDERTSEE
market data, valuation models and valuation * o (HEEE RE NN
report, if any, issued by an independent external B G ERTATE M E R

valuer. The Group measures the fair value of
unlisted equity investments in the following

(WA MAEA - K&
BIRIA T A E3F L

manner: MG ER QA

Unlisted equity investment of RMB17,048,000 A K 17,048,000 7T #J
(2022: RMB33,528,000) is valued based on a JE E R A& & (2022
liquidation discount as the investee is in F AR # 33,528,000
delinquent (2022: based on valuation model T EREIRE A

with PS ratio and lack of marketability discount
as key inputs)

Unlisted equity investment of RMB24,820,000 is
valued with reference to the net realisable value
of certain assets held by the investee (2022:
based on valuation model with PE ratio and lack
of marketability discount as key inputs).

Unlisted equity investment in China CVS of
RMB27,147,000 (2022: RMB53,530,000) are
valued with PS ratio of 2.05x (2022: 3.82x) and a
lack of marketability discount of 20% (2022: 22%)
was employed as appropriate.

Remaining unlisted equity investments of
RMB59,467,000 (2022: RMB65,233,000)
represents various equity investments valued
with PE ratios, PS ratios and liquidation
discounts, and lack of marketability discounts as
key valuation inputs.
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E(EEQ022F « HER
AT R R R Z TS
BEFRESEIEGA
BRI HERAGE) -

A B 24,820,000 7T &)
JEETBRAKREILE
WIBH#HETEE
# A IR R E G E
(2022 : ERUUTE
KRRz 5 RBET
FEATEHAZEN
HEEXGE) -

72 China CVSHI3E 1
B KB ANRE
27,147,000 7T (2022 4F :
A E % 53,530,000 )
Ty $22.051% (2022 F -
3.821F ) TS K (H1E -
WREERFRARZ T
% B I E20%
(20224 : 22%) °

A R # 59,467,000 7T K
RERIFELHERAKRE
(20225 A R %
65,233,0007T ) # A T
BE - MR NERT
AN R Z TR
IREREEMEERA
BT ENZ AR
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

(i) The fair value of the Group’s unlisted equity
investments of underlying project investments
of RMB97,822,000 is based on the fair value of
underlying project investments determined by
measuring the ECL associated with the project
financing (2022: the investment cost method).
Please refer to note (vi) for the method applied
to project investments.

(i) The fair value of treasury products are calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows.
The fair value measurement is negatively
correlated to discount rate. The discount rate is
determined according to market expected
return rate. As at 31 December 2023, market
expected return rates ranged from 1.00% to
3.83% per annum, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in fair value of wealth management
products by 1% would have increased/
decreased the Group's profit for the year by
RMB350,000 (2022: RMB628,000).

(iv)  The fair value of fund assets is determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows
which are secured by items of collaterals (mainly
unlisted equity interests) and guarantees. The
fair value of fund assets is thus positively
correlated with the realisable amounts of
collaterals or guarantees. Related significant
unobservable inputs include the factors used in
valuing collateralised unlisted shares.
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32 BREREEREMIAND
FE ()

AT E ()

(f)

(i)

BERAFEAENERMEER

aE(E)

FE=RRFHEIAENEH

(%)

(i) AKEHEBEEREN
FEMBRARENRF
B A K ¥ 97,822,000 7T
TEREEERERRM
MBI EEEEEE
EMHBEERENA
FAETS H (20224 © &
BRAR) © 2B
FE(vi)IE B R E P ER
MRt EIE

iy BHERAFERES
KEIBERE MR
o N EFEMEEEE
EEIEE - AR ERIE
MHEHRIREEE -
M2023F12 8318 -
MHERFLRHFENT
1.00% % 3.83% » i &t
TR HMZEERFT
SHBERT  BHER
AFEEI, B 1%
AN EFRFE g
m/ Ao ARE
350,000 7T (20224 : A
R #628,0007T) °

(iv) E2BEENXFETR
MR m(EZRIEL
A ) MR AR (R A
M TEEIR AR &R E AL
RETE- AHESEE
B AP {E B e iR
TRA] IR SRR IC AR -
HEANEAT A BSRE
ABEBEANFESE
AR IE £ B {0 B
%o
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

32 BREREEREMIAND
FE ()

H 2REFEGE)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BRLOAFENENESBREER
value (Continued) a8&(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements EZHRNFEAFEHNEN
(Continued) (&)

(v)  The fair value of convertible notes issued by
China CVS classified as FVPL is determined
using Binomial Option Pricing Model and the
significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

(vy HChina CVSE{THE D
HARANFENARR
R TSR EIEA AT E
RKAZEABETER
AIEETE - EARTAHER

BABRNT -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

Share price IR & USD0.73%7t  USD1.47%7T
Expected volatility SELINE) 53.14% 50.88%
Risk-free rate A, fo 1) 2 4.95% 4.48%
Pre-tax discount rate FATALIR & 19.,47% 14.03%
Issuer repurchase probability AT ARB B R 95% 75%
Issuer not repurchase probability 277 A 7~E& O] & 5% 25%
Liquidation discount TEEITE 25% 0%

(vi) The fair value of project investments is
determined by measuring the ECL associated
with the project financing (2022: investment cost
method). Significant unobservable inputs are a
PD of 8.09% for unlisted borrower and 0.2% for
a listed borrower, and a LGD of 75%.

Other than the above, there were no other changes in
valuation methodologies during the year ended 31
December 2023.

vi) BEEEREHQFERA
H1IE B B & AR TE
CEEBBTEET
(20225 : 3% & B &
K) e EANAI B
ABEEIEEMERA
B O R8.09% K +
MERANEHBER
0.2% * A RIEHIBARE
75% °

Bk bt EIRSN - B E 2023F

12ANBLEEFE - HEFZE
WimH ) -

2023FEHE HSWIRBEEBR AR 283



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1T3ERASN - HUAREITIIR)

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS F{E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) f DFEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAFENENESREER
value (Continued) E8&(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements EZRNTFEFEHNEFR
(Continued) (&)
The movements during the year in the balance of ZEE-RRTEFTERTF
these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: Niser 2 BT -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B sE AR®T AREFIT
FVPL: BRAFETFARS :
At 1 January M1ATH 1,721,747 1,652,024
Payment for purchases MEBEMNR 1,141,521 1,018,236
Amount transferred from BHMEETREREBE &
Level 2 fair value N EFTEMSE
measurements upon
contract amendment - 135,154
Proceeds from sales &S FT1S5IE (1,186,332) (1,159,168)
Changes in fair value FARBRERZ XA TE
recognised in profit or loss o)
during the year (225,758) 608
Exchange differences b H Z7E 27,273 74,850
Others H (1,368) 43
At 31 December ®12H31H 18 1,477,083 1,721,747
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32 KERBEEREMIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (&)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) H DEEFEE)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BOATVEFTENSBREER
value (Continued) a8&(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements EZHRNFEAFEHNEN
(Continued) (%)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE AR¥ET T ARBTT
FVOCI: BAVERARMET
Wz
At 1 January »1A1TH 2,221 1,615
Change in fair value FAREMEE S
recognised in other R AT EES
comprehensive income
during the year (1,129) 457
Exchange differences bE 5 =58 37 149
At 31 December ®12A31H 18 1,129 2,221
(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried (i) BEAFEUMNMIENERE
at other than fair value EREENATE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial 7R = B Fg kAR Bl B B AR AN B
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not FEMNemTENEREMRE
materially different from their fair values as at 31 R 20234F K% 2022 F 12 A31 H
December 2023 and 2022. MNAFEMEERER -
33 COMMITMENTS 33 A&iE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2023 not F2023F 12 A31 B M KRR B iR+
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: BENRBITEREENT ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Contracted for B4 63,969 64,114
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into
the following significant related party transactions.

(a) Name of and relationship with related parties
During the reporting period, transactions with the following
parties are considered as related party transactions:

Name of party
BB n A8

34 EXBEBERS
P B 7 R 5% i 75 45 0 BB O
ERSN - REBET AT EAMB T X
%O

(a) BAMETS BB EARAE TS HIRAR
RBEHRE - BUTETORHE
BREBIRS

Relationship with the Group
ERZ SR M £

Mr. Song Weiping, Ms. Xia Yibo and Mr. Shou Bainian

REFRE E—RRERSHAFLRE

Ms. Li Hairong

FHET L

Greentown Holdings and its subsidiaries
BERERERAR RENBAR*
("Greentown Holdings”)

RBIER SR B AR AR R A B AR > (TARMIER )

Hangzhou Dangui Investment Company Limited
("Hangzhou Dangui Investment”)
and its subsidiaries and joint ventures
MMAEREEREBERAF * ([MMNFHERE])
RKEMBARIREE AT

Zhejiang Greentown Hospital Investment

Company Limited (“Greentown Hospital”)

and its subsidiary
AT B IR B AR DA * (T4 R ) REMEB AR
MEARMEARMERR]

Bluetown Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd
("Bluetown Agriculture Technology”)

EWREMRERAR ([EREEMK])
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Substantial shareholders of the Company through
Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited
%38 Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited

ZARREZRER
Shareholder of the Company through Lilac

International Investment Company Limited
i##8 Lilac International Investment Company

Limited Z 782 B B R

Controlled by Mr. Song Weiping, Ms. Xia Yibo
and Mr. Shou Bainian

RAREFRE - Bt REBRAFEEES

Entities jointly controlled by Greentown Holdings

R ARE R LRI S ) B B8

Controlled by Mr. Song Weiping, Ms. Xia Yibo
and Mr. Shou Bainian

mAREFEE - BNt RBRAFREES

Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder

REF 54 RIERAR
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 EABEAIXRS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(@) Name of and relationship with related parties (a) BT BB EBESHWER
(Continued) (%8)
Name of party Relationship with the Group
B B8 BEAREERF

Zhejiang Yunbang Security Service Technology Co., Ltd  An associate of the Group
("Zhejiang Yunbang Security Service")

MTEARLZHRGREZARAR > (INTEH R REE M ENA]
ARIERHE )
Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental Technology Service An associate of the Group

Co., Ltd (“Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental”)
AIERREMEREERAR * (DINIERRE ) REEHEE AT

Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain Management An associate of the Group
Co., Ltd ("Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain”)
MIERHEREEARAR(DINIERHER]) REBENHE QT

Lishui Agriculture Development Co., Ltd Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
(“Lishui Bluetown Agriculture Development”)

BRKEREEBERARAF ([BRKEREEHR]) REFRERIEBRBR

Bluetown Real Estate Construction Management Group  Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
Co., Ltd Limited (“Bluetown Group”) and its subsidiary

ENFEEREESEERAR([EREE)) RETT & RIERAR
KEWB AR
Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering Company An associate of Greentown Holdings

Limited (“Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering”)
MIREBERIRARAR(DINIREREHIIE]) AR L QR

Xiangtan Chengfa Greentown Property Service A joint venture of the Group
Company Limited (“Xiangtan Chengfa”)
BB ERBER AR R (MR ]) AEBENEERT]

Shanghai Huamu Greentown Property Service A joint venture of the Group
Company Limited (“Shanghai Huamu")
PRI DEREERAE > ([ LFIEAR]) AEENEERA
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 EABEAIXRS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(@) Name of and relationship with related parties (a) BEAS BRWKEBE S HWER
(Continued) (%8)
Name of party Relationship with the Group
o) pat BEAREERF

Yiwu Guozi Lvcheng Property Service Company Limited  An associate of the Group
("Yiwu Guozi Lvcheng Property Service”)

EEMBEESUMERBERAF ([REMEERNY AKENEZ AR

EMR%51)

Greentown Technology Industry Group Company Limited An associate of the Group
BB EXRBREAR AR * AN SE b )L NE]
Hangzhou Tuotuo Network Technology Co., Ltd An associate of the Group

("Hangzhou Tuotuo Network Technology”)
MM ZZBBERHR AR QG ([N ZZ@ERIR]) ZAESE )k N

Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui Technology Development  An associate of the Group
Co., Ltd (“Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui”)
ADTEWMEERMRERARAR (DINIEREERKR]) AEBEEEE QT

Henan Bluetown Real Estate Construction Management  Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
Co Ltd (“Henan Bluetown Real Estate Construction")

ERFEEEZRERBRAFA(DIHERFERR]) RETEERERER

Jiaxing Bluetown Hailan Construction Management Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
Co., Ltd ("Jiaxing Bluetown Hailan Construction”)

HENBEZREEERAF ([FRENSERR]) REVFEERERER

Shanghai Xinhu Greentown Property Services Company  An associate of the Group
Limited (“Shanghai Xinhu and its subsidiaries”)

EEFRR I E RIS ERAF * REB R E N T
(BB R EMBAR])

Zhejiang Xinhu Greentown Property Services Company  An associate of the Group
Limited (“Zhejiang Xinhu and its subsidiaries”)

HLETRAR R R IRTG B R A * ZANSE )k N
(DT R KB R =)

Zhejiang Greentown Ideal Life Business Operation An associate of the Group
Service Co., Ltd. (“Greentown |deal Life")

WOLARB IR R AR R E LB AR DA REBENE LSRR
(MARIBAEAETE D)
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 EABEAIXRS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(@) Name of and relationship with related parties (a) BT BB EBESHWER
(Continued) (%8)
Name of party Relationship with the Group
2oyt HEAKERBRF
Greentown |deal Home Housing Technology Service An associate of the Group

Co., Ltd. ("Greentown Ideal home")

FIIREREEREIRB B R AR (TARRIZE S ) * REE M E QA

Ningbo Yule Investment Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Yule") An associate of the Group
ERREREERAB ([BRRLE]) REEHHE QT
Lvcheng Ivfa Community Service Company Limited An associate of the Group
("Lvcheng Ivfa”)
WA B R R E R AR A A (TR 1) * AEEHBEAT
Shanghai Ivrong Business Management Co., Ltd An associate of the Group
("Shanghai lvrong”)
PESEEBEERARQR ([ LE&ZE])* N SETE o) /N
Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (“Zhong Ao Home") An associate of the Group
REIREEFRAF ([HEBFK])* REBENEE QR
Hangzhou Jiancheng Asset Management Co., Ltd An associate of the Group
MR EEEREAR A REE R E R T
* The English translation of the Company name is for reference only. * NRAIGEBNEXBHEZEHRS2E - ZF
The official names of these companies are in Chinese. NAEHPEERBRPX
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) TEEEEAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AEETEEEEAENE (B
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as ERNAREE S8 IE (M
disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid TEER) METE=FHME TG
employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: WAKTEE 8 PAHRER) ) A0 T -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT R ARBTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REMA &
in kind 10,397 11,655
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 3,769 3,548
Retirement scheme contributions RRET IR 551 397
Equity-settled share-based payment  LARKHE 45 & 30 LARKAD B R
expense B SRR S 1,236 2,100
15,953 17,700
* Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)). * Me@BEE st A TEINA] (R
5(b)) °
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 EABEAIXRS (&)
(CONTINUED)

(c) Significant related party transactions () EXBHAIRS
Particulars of significant transactions between the Group e B B _E il B R 5 A s HAR Y

and the above related parties during the reporting period BARXGHBWT ¢
are as follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREBT T ARBFT
Property service, consulting service, VIR - FEHARS - BIERS
community living services, technology  REHEIRFSRHE T -
services provided to:
— Greentown Technology Industry — BRI EXEE
Group 10,660 4,218
— Bluetown Group —EHEE 17,191 18,337
Sales of goods to: HEEmT :
— Bluetown Agriculture Technology ~— — EE# 2 ¥ Rl & 713 15
— Lishui Bluetown Agriculture — EKEWEELERE
Development 447 1,090
Receiving property management BEMEERIEREE
support services from
— Subsidiary of Greentown Holdings — — &F 312 IR B9 BT /8 2 7 11,991 16,210
— Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental — I ERRIERER
Technology 7,021 3,054
— Zhejiang Yunbang Security Service  — 1T = F 2 AR 7 9,676 3,081
Purchasing goods from: BESmAE
— Bluetown Agriculture Technology ~— — EE# 2 ¥ Rl & 446 3,728
— Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain — I ERtEE 7,088 -
Loans and advances to: ERREBKRT -
— Greentown Ideal Life (note (i) — MR A AE (MIRE() 750 2,970
— Hangzhou Tuotuo Network — MM ZZ BB
Technology 900 3,000
— Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui — AT EREE 9,071 -
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(c)

SITEERIN

BIAARETTIIR)

34 EXBABERS (&)

Significant related party transactions (Continued) () EXBEHAERZ (B
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Receiving from repayment of loans: EESEFERA -
— Greentown Ideal Life (note (i) — BRIRIB A AE (MIRE() = 2,970
— Greentown Technology Industry — BRI EREE
Group 36,577 -
— Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui — I EREE 100 -
Interest income from: FMEWAKE :
— Greentown Ideal Life — RRSRIB AR AR = 1,003
— Greentown Technology Industry — BRI EREE
Group 952 2,495
— Henan Bluetown Real Estate — A EENFEEER
Construction 193 -
— Jiaxing Bluetown Hailan — REEWEEER
Construction 236 -
Health inspection service from: EREBRERERS
— Subsidiary of Greentown Hospital — — &z 35 B Bt /9 B /8B A &) 525 766
(i) In addition to loans and advances, the Group provided guarantee to 0} BEHRBEHIN  REBREZE 2023

Greentown Ideal Life during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at
31 December 2023, the bank loans of Greentown Ideal Life
guaranteed by the Group was RMB9,000,000 (2022: RMB24,900,000).

F12ANBIEFEMEBIBREE
REER - 20235128318 0 A
REEEROGIIBEEFRTER
A AR H9,000,0007T (20226 « AR
# 24,900,000 7T) ©
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 EABEAIXRS (&)

292

(CONTINUED)
(d) Balances with related parties (d) BABES EEER
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Trade nature ESME
— Amount due from entities — IR E GBS
controlled by Song Wei Ping ENEEE] 39,186 18,247
— Amounts due from subsidiaries and  — JE Y 4% 3 3% AL B /B A B
associates of Greentown Holdings PN NGIE O] 413 492
— Amounts due from associates — FEYEEZ N B A =N B FE
or joint ventures 28,963 10,696
— Amount due from entities — FEW%?’?$ SMFR
controlled by Song Wei Ping, — R PRI B R IR
Shou Bai Nian and Xia Yi Bo 69 69
68,631 29,504
Non-trade nature — non-current FEZHE — FERNEI(FHFEG))
(note (i)
— Interests in associates — amounts — BN T RS —
due from associates FELUGBSE S5 N B FRIB 147,114 140,311
Non-trade nature — current (note (i) JEE Z & — BIHA (I 7E (i)
— Amount due from entities — B RE TG E8EE
controlled by Song Wei Ping FRIE 14,163 9,136
— Amounts due from associates — EYEEE AR EE AR
or joint ventures E 29,776 61,252
43,939 70,388
Trade nature ESME
— Amounts due to entities controlled — JET KA AT E 82
by Song Wei Ping ENErE] 1,927 1,266
— Amounts due to subsidiaries and — FETARAE IR BT B A A
associates of Greentown Holdings B AN T 2T 2,311 2,622
— Amounts due to associates or joint — ETHEE AR A L QA
ventures %’)T\IE 25,542 12,161
— Amount due to entities controlled ~ — FEfTRETF - EHAE
by Song Wei Ping, Shou Bai Nian — R PRI E B R R IE
and Xia Yi Bo 1,366 1,628
31,146 17,677
Non-trade nature FEZHE
— Amounts due to entities controlled — JET KA AT H E 52
by Song Wei Ping HTRIE 71,488 71,489
— Amounts due to associates or joint  — JEfTEEE QA RS A & A A]
ventures %’)T\IE 30,838 20,000
102,326 91,489
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34 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Balances with related parties (Continued)

() As at 31 December 2023, amounts due from
associates are mainly unsecured loans and advances
to certain associates of the Group, among which
amount due from one associate of RMB141,222,000
(31 December 2022: RMB140,311,000) is interest-free
with no fixed payment term, amount due from
associates of RMB5,892,000 bear an interest rate of
3%—7.5% per annum.

(i) As at 31 December 2023, certain current amounts due
from related parties of RMB43,939,000 (31 December
2022: RMB89,890,000) are unsecured and interest-
bearing ranging from 3.85% to 8% (31 December
2022: ranging from 3.65% to 8%) per annum.

The other amounts due from/to related parties are
unsecured and interest-free.

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of receiving
services from subsidiaries of Greentown Holdings and
subsidiaries, purchasing goods from Lansong Supply Chain
and providing service to Bluetown Group above constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are provided in section “CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS" of the Directors’ Report.

The related party transactions in respect of receiving
services from the subsidiary of Greentown Hospital,
providing services to subsidiaries of Greentown Holdings
and sales of goods to Bluetown Agriculture Technology
above constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. However those transactions are exempt from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as they are below the de minimis threshold under
Rule 14A.76(1).

SITEERIN

BIAARETTIIR)

34 EXEBAIRS (&)
(d) PBAEE TS YRR (E)

(e)

() 202312 A31H - FEUREE
ERAIFEXFEZAMAEE
ATHERARNEKEER
R # R Eoh e — B
N AR IE A R# 141,222,000
JL(2022F12A318: AR
#140,311,0007T ) & % B -
7 [ E S SRR - R S
A EFRIE A R # 5,892,000 7T
RFEFEEBI%ZET.5%

(i) A2023F 128310 ETH
HipE B A REARKE
43,939,000 7L (20224 12 B
318 AR#89,890,0007C)
BEEA WIREFENT
3.85% % 8% (2022 £ 12 A 31
H: NF3.65%E8%):TAE o

Hofth e T A RS 77 FROE AR AR AR
ARRE -

FERRERZHE L HRA

i EEEEWER B AR R
MIE AR ERRE - B8 EftEsE
HKEEm RERSTENEE
BB A X SEK ETARAE 4AE
HETHEERSKIFERMERS -
FTARBIE14AZFIRE 2 W EH
REZERS (HEBEERS | —

B o

BRI E IR ER 2 B A R
AR - IR LRSS T AR kIR 2 B
BRI REEER TEMBER
2B AR S ETRAIE 14A
EETHHREIHIIBFEBRER
o RM - ZERFERER T
BMAIBUAZETHHEERTE @ B
HIENFE14A76(1) 1ETE T 8 &K
oK TFHE -
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35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 35 ARIEEMBERRE
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
12HA31H 12A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET T AREFIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries R B A BIM RS (a) 1,007,799 989,971
Interest in a joint venture R—EEEQREDR - 22,138
Interest in an associate R—EBE A RER 259,958 282,188
Other financial assets HiherptEE 388,822 568,243
Deferred tax assets EIERIBE E 10,957 10,163
1,667,536 1,872,703
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5N E M EI I8 (b) 1,573,315 1,761,564
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIREEEY 87,597 199,710
Other financial assets HithemEE 148,939 174,678
1,809,851 2,135,952
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B o5 NREMENIE 347,899 313,160
347,899 313,160
Net current assets REEEFE 1,461,952 1,822,792
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERABAS 3,129,488 3,695,495
NET ASSETS EEFH 3,129,488 3,695,495
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#EE 31(a)
Share capital N 27 28
Reserves H 3,129,461 3,695,467
TOTAL EQUITY R 3,129,488 3,695,495
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35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 35 RNEIEEmMBMRRRE)
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(a) Interest in subsidiaries (a) RKBRARERS
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARBF T
Cost of investments, unlisted FEETIRE A (FIFE()
(note (i) 267,807 237,823
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS P 2 B8 (PR (i)
(note (ii)) 739,992 752,148
1,007,799 989,971
()  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the () B ZE2023F12A831H It F
Company granted share options to certain employees B ARamENE RS
of its subsidiaries (see note 28). The Company does HETEEFREERE(RM:T
not require its subsidiaries to pay for the Company's 28) o NN ESKET S
shares in issue to settle the grant of share options. NAIEAR BB R B ER
Accordingly, the equity-settled share-based payment BHEZETRM MR-
expenses of RMB29,984,000 (2022: RMB39,396,000) It BREE 20234F 12 A 31
allocated to its subsidiaries with no requirement of BitFEHESETENB
payments during the year ended 31 December 2023 NABEENREROERS
are recognised as contributions from the Company RN ABERONZKFAX
and the amount was recorded as cost of investments A R #29,984,000 7T (2022
in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023. F AR 39,396,000 7T ) fE
REARATHHE M2
AR 202312 A 31
HRMBRARAIRERA -
(i)  Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, (i) FEUWHIBARRIEEEE
interest-free and have no fixed term of repayment. %8 B\ E FE R -
(b) Trade and other receivables (b) BEZRHEMEKR
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT
Amounts due from related parties JE Uk BB 75 ZROE
— Non-trade nature (note (i) — IFE S (M) 1,573,315 1,761,564
() Amounts due from related parties (non-trade nature) () FEYEERMTZREGEES N
are unsecured and interest-free. ) EEEFNES -
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 RBBRARINKRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries TREHIGAEEEE  SESEE
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BRETEFENNBRARES BEE
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise FEASN - FTIEIR TR AT B o
stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

RERERLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRLIREE
WEARRYL,/ it/ BEAR r5E ARE WERR
DRER SR B B4Ex  ERER BE BE  EIEXBREEBA
Greentown Service Group Investment BVI Not applicable/ 100% 100% - Investment holding, limited
Co. Ltd. 25 November 2014 UsD100 liability company
Greentown Service Group Investment ERGEREE T@/A,/100%7T 100% 100% - REBK BREELA
Co. Ltd. 2014511 F258
Greentown Service Group Hong Kong Not applicable/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
(Hong Kong) Co. Limited 06 December 2014 HKD100 liability company
BYRBEE(BE)BRAF B R,/ 1007 100% - 100% RARK BREMAF
20145 12R 68
Zigui Technology the PRC USD50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
29 July 2015 USD50,000,000 liability company
MMRERBZARRA 7 50,000,000%7T/ 100% - 100% REER BRECAF
015574298 50,000,000 7T
Greentown PM the PRC RMB200,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
16 October 1998 RMB 126,000,000 limited liability company
RAMERBEEERLF* i AR 200,000,000 7T,/ 100% - 100% WEER BREMLA
1998510 4168 AE 126,000,000 70
Zhejiang Lvsheng Property Management ~ the PRC RMB93,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 16 September 1999 RMB93,000,000 limited liability company
IR MERBERAF G AR%93,000,0007C/ 55% - 100% HEER BEREALA
1999469 A16H AE# 93,000,000 7
Hangzhou Xianggui Hotel Management ~ the PRC RMB30,000/ 63% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Company Limited 26 November 2013 RMB30,000 liability company
RMEREEEEARAR* EP AR%300007T,/ 63% - 100% BEEEE BRECAF
013511 A26R AR 30,0007
Shanghai Lvfeng Property Management ~ the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 31 August 2011 RMB500,000 limited liability company
LEBenFERaRAR" Gl AR#5000007T,/ 100% - 100% MEER - BRECAA
01F8A31H AR 5000007
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 REARNIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
FRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRLIREE
WHUARKIL,/ it/ ERTR F5E ARE KWELR
NRER SR B RAEr  HEER =2} BE  ERFRBRERBA
Hangzhou Yijia Property Management the PRC RMB500,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 01 September 2006 RMB500,000 limited liability company
MMt EnEERERAR> TE AR%5000007,/ 55% - 100% MNEEE - BREMCAF
2006%9A 10 AR 500,007
Ningbo Lvheng Property Management the PRC RMBS3,000,000/ 44% - 80%  Property management,
Company Limited 05 June 2012 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
ERBENERBARDR" TE AB%30000007T/ 4% - 80% WMEEE - ERELAF
01256850 AR 3,000,0007
Ningbo Greentown Property Management  the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 15 May 2006 RMBS5,000,000 limited liability company
ERSHMEERARAR" T ABR%5,0000007C/ 100% - 100% HEEE BEREALA
2006E5A158 AE#5,000,0007T
Jiaxing Greentown Property Service the PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 11 April 2008 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
ERSENERBERAF e AR 5,000,007, 100% - 100% HEER BREARA
200854 A11H AE#3,0000007C
Greentown Property Service Group the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
(Shanghai) Property Management 06 January 2003 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
Co., Ltd
BEMERBEE(LS) hEEE e AR%3,0000007T, 100% - 100% HEER BREARA
BRAR* 20035 1A6H AE#3,0000007C
Anhui Greentown Property Management  the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 30 October 2002 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
ZHEHNEERER AR e AR5,000,0007, 100% - 100% WEER BREARA
20026104307 AR H5,000,0007C
Beijing Greentown Property Management  the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 13 October 2003 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
EREHNFERERAR" T ABH10,000,0007/ 100% - 100% MNEEE - BRAMCAF
20034104136 AR 3,000,0007C
Greentown Real Estate Consulting the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Community leasing, sales
Company Limited 13 January 2005 RMB50,000,000 and other services, limited
liability company
BRENERASEERLF" i AR 50,000,000,/ 100% - 100% EEREE - HEREWRSE -
200514138 AR #50,000,0007C AREMLRHF
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 RIBARINIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE KWELR
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Zhejiang Greentown Culture Arts the PRC RMB 10,000,000/ 71% - 71%  Recreational activities,
Consulting Company Limited 17 July 2007 RMB2,265,005.66 exhibitions and market
promotion services,
limited liability company
WL L REBR AR i AR H10,000,0007,/ 71% - N%  FRED RERTSHE
2007678178 AR 2,265,005.66 7T R - BREAAR
Zhejiang Greentown Real Estate Agency ~ the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 55% - 55%  Community leasing, sales
Company Limited 20 November 2003 RMB10,000,000 and other services, limited
liability company
MR FEERBRAF EP AR H10,000,0007,/ 55% - 5% EEBE - BEREMRE -
200311208 AR 10,000,000 70 BREARR
Greentown Community Service the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Business consultant and
22 April 2009 RMB2,000,000 housekeeping services,
limited liability company
MR ERBEEERAR EP AR 150,000,007,/ 100% - 100% EEBRERKBE -
200964F228 AR#2,000,0007C BREARR
Zhejiang Greentown Hotel Management  the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 63% - 63%  Hotel management, limited
Company Limited 26 January 2010 RMB50,000,000 liability company
LB EEEARA R HE AR 50,000,0007T,/ 63% - 63% BEER BREMLF
201061 A 268 AR 50,000,000 7T
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Tulip Hotel the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Management Company Limited 16 November 2010 RMB500,000 liability company
nNBLEEERBEERARAR e AR¥5000007T,/ 100% - 100% BEEE BRAMLH
2010E 11 A 168 AR 500,007
Greentown Liuzhuang (Hangzhou) Hotel the PRC RMB 10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Management Co., Ltd 30 September 2009 RMB4,600,000 liability company
MBI (N BEERARAR e AR 10,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% BEER BREELA
2009469 A308 AR 4,600,0007C
Greentown Training School the PRC RMB600,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management
10 August 2011 RMB600,000 related training services,
limited liability company
N EE IR i AR 600,007, 100% - 100% WEERAWEIRE
01587108 ARH5600,0007T BRAMAH
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 RIBARINIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE WELH
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Xinjiang Greentown Property Management  the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 16 July 2008 RMB3,000,000 leasing and housekeeping
services, limited liability
company
HESHNERBERAR i AR 10,000,007,/ 100% - 100% WxEE BERKBERE
200857 A 168 AR#3,0000007C BREARR
Shenyang Greentown Property Services the PRC RMB6,000,000/ 80% - 80%  Property management,
Company Limited 22 October 1996 RMB6,000,000 limited liability company
EHSHMERBERAR" G AEH#6,000,0007T/ 80% - 80% MEEE ERELAF
199%F10R 2R AR 6,000,007
Qian'an Greentown Services Company The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Limited 26 December 2014 RMB500,000 limited liability company
BRGBNERBERAT e AR¥5000007T,/ 100% - 100% MEEE - BRAEMLLHE
2014E 128268 AR 500,007
Shandong Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 18 June 2012 RMB 10,000,000 limited liability company
WREHMERBER AR G ARH10,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% MEEE - HRAMCLF
2012%6A188 AK%10,000,0007C
Zhoushan Greentown Dongsha Hotel the PRC RMB30,000/ 100% - 100%  Undertake convention and
Management Company Limited 21 April 2014 RMB30,000 exhibition, hotel
management, limited
liability company
R D BEERERAF H AR 30,0007,/ 100% - 100% HEBEERRE BEEE
M4F4A21E ARH30,0007 BREFRA
Greentown Property Service Group Hong Kong Not applicable/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited 16 December 2014 HKD40,000,000 liability company
EHERBEE (FR)BRAR BE T /40,000,000 7T 100% - 100% REER BREERAF
20145128168
Lingshui Greentown Tiantangniao Holiday ~ the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Hotel and resorts
House Management Company Limited 15 March 2016 management, limited
liability company
BKGBREREREERARAT il ARH1,000,0007T/- 100% - 100% EEREREEE
016F3A158 BRAMAHE
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 RIBARINIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
FRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRLIREE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE KWELR
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Sanya Greentown Tiantangniao Holiday the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Resorts management,
House Management Company Limited 19 March 2016 limited liability company
CERBREREREERARA il AR#1,000,0007/- 100% - 00% EREER BRACAF
2016538198
Chongging Liangjiang Greentown Property  the PRC RMBS,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 24 November 2016 RMB3,725,578.14 limited liability company
ERMIRINEREERDA" 7 ARHE5,000,0007T,/ 51% - 51% MEEE AREMLH
2016F 11 A 248 AR3725578.14 70
Xinyang Greentown Property Management  the PRC RMBS500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 13 August 2014 RMB500,000 limited liability company
[EBSmERBARAR " G ARH5000007T,/ 100% - 100% HEEE - FRELLA
014587138 AR 5000007
Greentown Property Service Group the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Jiangsu Company Limited 03 July 2015 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
GRNERBELTIHFERAT T ARH10,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% MXEE - BRELLF
2015567 A3H AR 10,000,000 70
Zhejiang Twin Cities Network the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Computer networking
Company Limited 02 April 2015 RMB50,000,000 technology, consultant
service, limited liability
company
MIEREERRERERAR i AR50,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100%  ERBERG - FARE
201554820 A 50,000,000 70 BREARR
Zhejiang Greentown Lezhen Education the PRC RMB100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Education consultant service,
Technology Group Co., Ltd 08 July 2015 RMB90,000,000 limited liability company
LA EHENREEERAG HE AE#100,000,00070,/ 100% - 100% B - BREMLHA
2015567 A8H AR H 90,000,000 7
Haining Greentown Hongxiang Property  the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 50% - 50%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 11 November 2016 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
RGO INEBRERAT () % AR 30000007,/ 0% - 0% WEEE - AREAAA
016F11A 1A AR 1,000,0007C
Hangzhou Shide Supply Chain the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Financial service outsourcing,
Management Co., Ltd 07 March 2016 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
MMt EHERERERAR h AEH10,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% SREBIE FREERA
2016E3A7H AR 10,000,000 7T
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 REARNIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
FRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRLIREE
WHUARKIL,/ it/ ERTR e | ARE KWELR
DRER SR B RAEr  HEER =2} BE  ERFRBRERBA
Zhejiang Anji Greentown Yinrun Property  the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 19 December 2016 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
T ZESRRENEREER AR i AR 3,000,007,/ 60% - 0%  MEER FREMCAF
20165124 19A AR H1,000,00070
Jiangxi Gantie Greentown Property the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 16 December 2016 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
TREERANEREERAA 7 AB%30000007T/ 51% - 51% WEEE - ARALAF
2016512160 AR 3,000,0007
Zhejiang Zhilian Sharing Information the PRC RMB10,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Information Technology
Technology Company Limited 10 July 2017 Service, limited liability
company
MIERAZEIMBARRA i AR%10,000,0007,/~ 100% - 100% ERBIRY - BREMLAR
2017€7 108
Greentown Joyful Elder Life Service Hong Kong Not applicable/ 100% - 100%  Pension Service, limited
Company Limited 02 November 2017 HKD24,000,000 liability company
EHEZRBERAR Bk Tam/ 100% - 100% BERB EREERA
01711 A28 24,000,000 7T
Greentown Education Holding Group BVI Not applicable/- 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
29 June 2017 liability company
BRHEREERARAR" ERERES TER /- 100% - 100% RARR BRECAF
01756A298
Zhejiang Bokang Pension Service Limited ~ the PRC USD3,000,000/ 90% - 90%  Pension Service, limited
04 December 2017 USD3,000,000/ liability company
WImEEERBERAE w 3,000,000% 7T, 90% - 0% EERL BREALAA
017512848 3,000,000% 7
Suzhou Lvni Property Management the PRC RMB10,000,000/~ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 21 March 2017 limited liability company
BNERNERBERERRA" hE ARH10,0000007T,/~ 100% - 100% WEER BREMLA
017638218
Wenzhou Yayuan Property Management ~ the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 22 August 2013 RMB500,000 limited liability company
BMNERNREEREERDAA i AR¥5000007T,/ 100% - 100% MNEEE - BREACAF
01358 A28 AR 500,007
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 REARNIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
FRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRLIREE
WHUARKIL,/ it/ ERTR F5E ARE KWELR
NRER SR B RAEr  HEER =2} BE  ERFRBRERBA
Jilin Greentown Tianhsun Property the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 70% - 70%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 07 May 2013 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
EMENRIEDEREBR LA i ARH5,000,0007,/ 70% - 0%  NEEE FREAAF
01355870 AR 5,000,00070
Changchun Liancheng Property the PRC RMBS3,000,000/ 42% - 60%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 12 October 2013 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
RETEANERBERAF" TE AB%30000007T/ 42% - 0% MEER BAREMLF
20136104 126 AR 3,000,0007
Tianjin Inter Property Management the PRC RMB10,010,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 14 May 2008 RMB8,000,000 limited liability company
RETEBNERBERDF* e AR#10,0100007T,/ 100% - 100% WEER BREMLA
200858148 AE#8,000,0007C
Changge Greentown Property the PRC RMB500,000/- 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 28 September 2016 limited liability company
RETRANERBERLF e ARH500,0007T,/~ 100% - 100% HEER BREARA
201659A28H
Jiaxing Yada Greentown Property the PRC RMB500,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 26 July 2016 RMB500,000 limited liability company
RETEERANERBERAR" e AR5,000,0007, 60% - 0% MEER - BREFLF
201657 R 268 AR H5,000,0007C
Ji'nan Lixia Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 11 September 2017 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
BRETRANEERERAF TE ABH10,000,0007/ 51% - 51%  WEEE - AREATAR
017698118 AR5,000,0007
Wuhan Greentown Binjiang Property the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 17 November 2017 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
RESWBINZREERDA* i AE%3,000,0007/ 51% - 51% WEEE - ARELAF
2017E11A178 AE#3,000,0007
Zhejiang Happy Green City Marketing the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 69% - 69%  Market Promotion Services,
Planning Co., Ltd. 22 September 2017 RMB2,450,000 limited liability company
MIERENEHREERAA i AR 10,000,0007T,/ 69% - 6%  THHERY  ARATLT
017469828 AR 2,450,0007
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Proportion of ownership interest
BRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE WELH
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Zhoushan Blessed Housekeeper the PRC RMB30,000/ 100% - 100%  Business consultant and
Community Service Company Limited 21 April 2017 RMB30,000 housekeeping services,
limited liability company
FILERERERAEREERAT" HE ARH300007,/ 100% - 100% EXEMRRBRS -
M17F4A218 AR%30,0007 BREFRA
Lansong Supply Chain the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 35% - 35%  Supply Chain management,
28 October 2016 RMB16,218,000 limited liability company
HTEERERERERDA) HhE AR 30,000,0007T,/ 35% - 3% HEREE EREALT
2016E10A 286 AEH 16,218,000 7T
Ningbo Greentown Hotel Management the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Company Limited 18 September 2016 liability company
ERGREEERERAT el ARH1,000,0007T/- 100% - 100% EEEE HRAMLF
2016597188
Ningbo Greentown Yuhua Care Co., Ltd the PRC RMB 10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Education consultant service,
10 August 2017 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
BRERNBEREBRAF" e AR 10,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% HEFARE  BERECRT
2017487108 AR 10,000,000 7
Ningbo Greentown Yuhua Yaohong the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 70% - 70%  Education consultant service,
Childcare Co., Ltd. 16 August 2017 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
ERGNEERIEERRAR" # ARH3,000,0007T,/ 70% - 0% HEFARS  BREELA
20174687168 AR 3,000,000 7T
Zhejiang Twin City Cultural and Creative ~ the PRC RMB11,000,000/~ 71% - 100%  Education consultant service,
Company Limited 17 March 2015 limited liability company
TSR EARAR i AR 11,000,0007/- 71% - 100% #EHARE BRATAR
20156378178
Zhejiang Lebo Education Technology the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Education Technology,
Company Limited 31 May 2017 RMB2,000,000 limited liability company
LB RRREREEAT h AR10,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% HEFARY - BRECAF
017654318 AR2,000,0007
Green Flash Network Technology Co., Ltd  the PRC RMB50,010,000/ 80% - 80%  Information Technology
14 June 2017 RMB50,008,000 Service, limited liability
company
REBERRERAR h AR50,010,0007,/ 80% - 80% EERIRE BREEAR
01756 A 148 AR 50,008,000 7T
2023FEHE MRBEEFRLR 303
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Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE KWELR
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Hubei Changtou Greentown Property the PRC RMB8,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 06 July 2017 RMB1,375,848.75 limited liability company
ML RESNERBERAE il AB#:8,000,0007/ 51% - 51%  MEEE AREMLH
0175768 ARIE1,375848.757T
Zhejiang Lvbang Property Management the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Company Limited 25 April 2001 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
MTGANEERERAT G ARHE5,000,0007T,/ 60% - 0% MEEE ARALRT
2001464 A 258 AR 5,000,00070
Hangzhou Wulin Greentown Property the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 46% - 51%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 22 December 2017 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
MM ERBBRA R i AR 3,000,007, 46% - 51%  WEER BEREERA
201746128220 AE#1,000,0007T
Hangzhou Lianrui Advertisement the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 71% - 100%  Advertisement design,
Company Limited 08 April 2015 RMB763,800 limited liability company
MM EEEERAR il AR 3,000,007,/ 1% - 100% BEERE - BRELLRF
201554880 AR 7638007
Hainan Greentown Tianhe Property the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Service Co., Ltd. 23 January 2013 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
ERAERANNERBERAE e ABH5,000,0007/ 51% - 51% MEEE AREMLH
2013614238 AR 5,000,00070
Tianjin Greentown Lanxi Property the PRC RMB1,000,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Management Co., Ltd. 05 May 2016 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
REFHNERNEERBRAF i AR 1,000,007,/ 60% - 0%  MEER FEREAAF
2016%5A5H AR 1,000,007
Zhejiang Four Seasons Tube Home the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
Environment Co., Ltd. 09 January 2015 RMB35,000,021.37 Service, limited liability
company
TR R AR AR AT il ARH50,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100%  (ERRMRE  ARAALF
20151 A9A AE35,000,021.37 7
Beijing Jingliang Greentown Property the PRC RMBS,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 16 September 2019 RMB8,000,000 limited liability company
ERRESANERBERAF e AR 8,000,007, 100% - 100% WEER BREMLA
2019598168 AE#8,000,0007C
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Place of incorporation
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Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE WELH
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Greentown [T the PRC RMB21,333,333/ 92% - 100%  Information Technology
10 April 2014 RMB21,333,333 Service, limited liability
company
MR E R RITAR AR () G ARE213333337/ 92% - 100%  (EERMRE  ARALLF
2014547108 AR# 213333337
Hangzhou Greentown Air Conditioning the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Equipment Maintenance
Equipment Maintenance Service Co., Ltd. 02 July 2012 RMB12,500,000 Service, limited liability
company
MR E BRBEEREER AR h AR30,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% REHEERS BREERA
201267 A28 AR 12,500,000 7T
Wuhan Intelligence Greentown Services the PRC RMB1,000,000/ 40% - 40%  Property management,
Co., Ltd. 14 May 2018 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
RERSRINZERARAR N i ARH1,0000007,/ 40% - 0% MEEE BREALAF
2018457148 AR 1,000,007
Shanghai Bailong Network Technology the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 35% - 35%  Information Technology
Co., Ltd. 21 January 2003 Service, limited liability
company
LEEEAENEARRR ) i AR%1,000,0007,/- 35% - 35%  ERBIRYE - BREMLAR
2003614218
Zhejiang Lingfeng Education Logistics the PRC RMB55,000,000/ 42% - 53%  Wholesale and retail,
Management Co., Ltd. 16 August 2002 RMB38,000,000 limited liability company
MIBEHRKDERFRAF)F i AR 55,000,007,/ 42% - 5% HEREE BRAMLH
2002468 A 168 AR 38,000,0007C
Dalian Hengxin Property Management the PRC RMB4,500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Co., Ltd. 19 October 2010 RMB4,500,000 limited liability company
REBENERBERAT i ARHE4,500,0007T,/ 100% - 100% MEER FRECAA
2010104196 AR H4,500,0007C
Xi'an Hongji Property Management the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Co., Ltd. 26 April 2010 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
BRBENEERERAG E ARH3,0000007/ 100% - 100% MEEE - BRALLHF
2010564268 AR3,000,0007
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Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR e | ARE WELH
DRER SR B BE4Ex  ERER o] BE  IERBREEMM
Sunshine Greentown Property the PRC RMB11,111,100/ 55% - 55%  Property management,
Management (Nanjing) Co., Ltd. 10 November 1995 RMB6,666,700 limited liability company
BrasmmERy (R BRAR* e ARE11,111,1007/ 55% - 5% MEEE AREMLHF
199511 A10H AR 6,666,7007C
Beijing Yifang Real Estate Brokerage the PRC RMB2,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Community leasing, sales
Co., Ltd. 23 December 2016 and other services, limited
liability company
IREREHERLARAR il AR 2,000,000/~ 100% - 100% EREE - HERELBRY
0165128238 BREFRA
Anhui Shengan Greentown Property the PRC RMB7,500,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Management Co., Ltd. 25 November 1997 RMB?7,500,000 limited liability company
ZHEZERNEREER AR i AR#7,5000007T,/ 60% - 0%  MEER FREAAF
199711 B25H AR7,50,0007
Montessori Academy Group Holdings Australia AUD22,457,690/ 56% - 56%  Nursery services, day-to-day
Pty Ltd Acquired on AUD22,457 690 education services,
05 July 2019 limited liability company
Montessori Academy Group Holdings Pty BAFITE 22,457 69087,/ 56% - 5%  FERER - BEHERE
Ltd WIBR2019%7 A5 22451 90T BRAMAH
Lvman Technology Company Limited. the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 92% - 92%  Communication limited
Acquired on RMBS5,000,000 liability company
01 Jan 2020
BENBBRAF G AR 50,000,007/ 92% - 92% B AREMLA
WER202061A1E  ARH5,0000007C
Jinan High-tech Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited Acquired on RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
01 July 2020
BRI EERBRAR e AR10,0000007T,/ 51% - 51% WEER BREMLA
WiBER 202067 A1 AR 10,000,0007
Hangzhou Caizhixin Technology Co., Ltd ~ the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
4 February 2021 RMB10,000,000 Service, limited liability
company
MM EBHEBRAR* G AR 10,000,007/ 100% - 100% RERIRE  BREALA
2021462R4H AK%10,000,0007C
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Greentown Technology Group Co., Ltd the PRC USD100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
22 February 2021 USD50,000,000 Service, limited liability
company
R EEERAR h 100,000,000% 7T,/ 100% - 100% EEBIRS  BREEAR
0215228 50,000,000% T
Zhejiang Happy Greentown Parking the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Parking Service, limited
Industry Co., Ltd 17 March 2021 RMB10,000,000 liability company
FIERECEEEARAF HE AR 50,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% BERE EREERA
2021438178 AE#10,000,0007C
Xinjiang Greentown City Commercial the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 70% - 70%  Operation management,
Operation Management Co., Ltd 15 April 2021 RMB 10,000,000 limited liability company
MERRN AR ELERER DA el AR10,000,0007T,/ 70% - 0% EEEE ARAEAT
2021464 A158 AK%10,000,0007C
Hangzhou Chunyue Enterprise the PRC RMB22,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Business consultant, limited
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. 28 October 2021 RMB22,000,000 liability company
MNEREEEAERBRAR i AR 22,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% EXEM BREELA
2021410 A 28H AR 22,000,000 7
Zhejiang Greentown Architectural the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 51% - 51%  smart construction, lighting
Technology Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB10,000,000 construction and smart
14 December 2021 design services, limited
liability company
TR RENRERAT G ARH30,000,0007T,/ 51% - 51%  BRATE RATER
R 20215 AR%10,000,0007C BRALREARY - BR
128148 EEDH
Hangzhou Baiyi Enterprise Management ~ the PRC RMB750,000,000/ 99% - 99%  Investment management
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* 21 April 2021 RMB749,600,000 service company
MINBREEERAR LR (BRAY) i AR 750,000,000 7T,/ 99% - 9% REEERBAF
20214547218 AR 749,600,007
Zhejiang Ruite Construction Technology ~ the PRC RMB25,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Science and technology
Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB10,000,000 promotion and application
4 January 2022 services, limited liability
company
HITERRENRARAR H AR 25,000,007,/ 51% - 51%  MERERERRSE -
WiiER 202251 A48 AKH10,000,0007 BREART
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Proportion of ownership interest
FRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRLIREE
WHUARKIL,/ it/ ERTR e | ARE KWELR
NRER SR B RAEr  HEER =2} BE  ERFRBRERBA
Zhejiang Lvrui Security Service Technology  the PRC RMB11,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Science and technology
Co., Ltd 13 January 2022 RMB11,000,000 promotion and application,
service limited liability
company
WLEH R RBHRARA EP AR 11,000,0007,/ 100% - 100%  MEEERERRS
202518138 AR 11,000,000 70 BREARR
Zhejiang Yunqj Business Service Co., Ltd.  the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 70% - 100%  Business services, limited
8 June 2022 RMB10,000,000 liability company
MIECERREERAR* G AE10,000,0007/ 70% - 100% EERE  BRECAF
202266 H8H AR 10,000,000 7T
Ningbo Zhongjian Property Management  the PRC RMB15,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Co., Ltd Acquired on RMB15,000,000 limited liability company
30 June 2022
ERPRNEEEARAA" T AR 15,000,007/ 55% - 100% MEEE - BREACAF
s R 2022 AR 15,000,0007C
6H308
Huaikuang Anhui Property Service Co., Ltd.  the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Acquired on RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
30 June 2022
EBRZENERBEREML EP ARH5,0000007/ 55% - 100% MEXEE - BRALLHF
R 2022 AR H5,000,0007C
6H308
Anhui Xincheng Smart City Operation the PRC RMB8,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Service Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB8,000,000 limited liability company
30 June 2022
ZREAE BN EEREARAF 7 ABR%8000,0007C/ 55% - 100% MEER - BRECAF
iR R 2022 A #8,000,0007C
6H30R
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(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
EMRIRESE
WEARRYL,/ 2/ BEAR s3] ARE WELH
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Zhejiang Greentown Housing Service the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 50% - 50%  Property management,
System Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB50,000,000 limited liability company
30 November 2022
ISR ERBRGERRR i AR #50,000,0007,/ 50% - 50%  MEEE FREMLA
iR 20225 AR 50,000,007
1MA3NA
Zhejiang Xincheng Smart City Operation ~ the PRC RMB643,646,364.00/ 55% - 55%  Property management,
Service Co., Ltd. 13 June 2022 RMB643,646,364.00 limited liability company
HLEABE BT EEREARAR h AR 55% - 5%  MEER BREEAA
20256138 643,646,364.0070,/
AR 643,646,364.00 70

0]

(i)

The English translation of the Company name is for reference only. The
official names of these companies are in Chinese.

Pursuant to the agreements, the Group could control majority voting rights
of the board of directors, and could control the financial and operating
policies of the entities. Accordingly, these entities’ financial information was
consolidated into the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity interests of five subsidiaries have been
frozen in respect of the claim proceedings that the Group is involved
because of joint liability with a third party for an associate under a lease
arrangement (see note 30(iv)). The freezing of the equity interests of the
subsidiaries has not yet had any material impact on the normal operation of
the Group and its subsidiaries, but there is a risk that the equity interests of
the subsidiaries may be judicially disposed of due to the above matters.

(ii)

RAIBBHEXBEEHSE - ZERFN
EEABATX

REHHE  AEEARGESSNSHRE
BRZEEBOMHRGSEERE - At #
ZERBOMBEAN AR EEEZE 20235
12831 RIEFERMEREITME -

M2023F12A318 i AEBEREBE 5
T—REERAME—RE=ZFREETE
(R MIEE306v) © ARME R A KRR E R
4 o PN R BIRRAR R AL W R A S B e L
BARMEREEELETMNEARE  BF
A EMEEEBMERRRER RS
KRR °
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 AMBARNKRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
The following table lists out the information relating to MAG and TRESNEBAEENE R RMAG K
Zhejiang Xincheng, the subsidiary of the Group which has a TS (B ERIEERERZ(NC)) 2E
material non-controlling interest (NCI). The summarised financial £l o LT 258 BB E T T
information presented below represents the amounts before any (EPNGI S EEw ok

inter-company elimination.

MAG MAG

2023 2022

2023 2022 %

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Current assets TENEE 75,629 58,872
Non-current assets ETBNEE 1,448,271 1,326,579
Current liabilities mBAaE (516,899) (147,756)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (786,082) (1,037,337)
Net assets BEFE 220,919 200,358
Carrying amount of NCI NCIERHE & 79,978 81,224
Revenue WA 581,234 452,385
Profit for the year FARF)E 14,469 2,606
Other comprehensive income for the year F RH h 2 A 6,494 2,078
Total comprehensive income 2mE AU A 20,963 4,684
Total comprehensive allocated to OCI SERZEHMEERAZZ2EAIRA 9,224 2,061
Dividend paid to NCI ERINCIZRE - -
Cash flows from operating activities KETHMERSRSE 133,771 107,128
Cash flows from investing activities KEZEHBRERE (125,555) (111,788)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEFHEESRAE 792 (1,884)
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36 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 36 AMBARIKIKRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Zhejiang Xincheng AR
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARBF T
Current assets TENEE 1,390,015 832,697
Non-current assets ERBNVE E 241,682 250,384
Current liabilities mEaE (1,093,204) (757,593)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (30,857) (8,260)
Net assets BESE 507,636 317,228
Carrying amount of NCI NCI IR E & 316,604 289,630
Revenue PN 942,244 477,918
Profit for the year FARF)E 43,639 8,567
Total comprehensive income 2HE AU A 43,639 8,567
Profit allocated to NCI S ELZE NCIZ F)E 26,974 3,855
Dividend paid to NCI BNCIZREE = 3,716
Cash flows from operating activities KEEBFSReERE 254,566 (177,713)
Cash flows from investing activities KEETHMERESRSE 58,157 31,086
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHMSHRES A= (5,980) (3,390)
37 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE 37 REHEWIERAREIF
REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors BEREHARE EEEBEREAAKE
proposed a final dividend and special dividend. Further details KRS o B %5 :E31(0)IRE -

are disclosed in note 31(b).
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38 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 38 #HL £2023F12H31H Ik &

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED E B EME R RERIEET -

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR HEARZEUEEENZE

ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA HEFIRZEHBRREAE 52
has issued a number of amendments which are not yet effective i AE B B|HmEE2023F12H318 1k
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been FEMAERAIERZETERERE
adopted in these financial statements. These developments N ZIEIERT » LA MERT Al e B R £ [F
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. B -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTBEER

LA BISAEY

BHHBEXN

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of liabilities as 1 January 2024
current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)

ERGTERE VR ZIER] - HBBREXZIEL = - BESERREHIR 20241 A1 H

([2020 F1£5T 1)
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Non current liabilities with 1 January 2024

covenants (“2022 amendments”)

BB R ERNE1RZAER]  HHEHRE BT« M REZ IR A A ([2022F 55T 1) 202451 A1 H

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

BFEMBHREERNE 16K 2ER] HE - EXHECHERE 20241 A1 H

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: 1 January 2024
Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements

BB ERNB TR 2ER] - HenBEXRREBUBHEEERE 7 2 MEET 20241 A1 H
ERTA : KE  HEBHME LY

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: Lack of 1 January 2025
exchangeability

BRGMBUNBN R 2BR]  EXEEHFE BB 20251 A1 H

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sales or contributions of assets between an investor No mandatory
and its associate or joint venture effective date yet

determined

B EHREENF 10N EBRR ST ERFE 28R 2B  REFZMABLAAENA]  WAEERGIERAH

Z M EESH ETE
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the REBEGZESEH NG N ERBERIMNE
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of HAS AT G c BRI S &R AEE
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of EHEB KNGS BRERES
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated BAFE -

financial statements.
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